

Interspecific interactions between saprotrophic basidiomycetes: effects on ligninolytic enzyme activity, gene expression and metabolite production

> A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Cardiff University

> > Jennifer Hiscox

February 2010

UMI Number: U585363

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U585363 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

DECLARATION

.

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

STATEMENT 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of PhD

STATEMENT 2

This thesis is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated.

Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references.

STATEMENT 3

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

STATEMENT 4: PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BAR ON ACCESS

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loans after expiry of a bar on access previously approved by the Graduate **Development Committee.**

Signed AHAACR Date 3/2/2010

Contents

A	Abstract					
A	cknov	wledgements	2			
P	ublic	ations	3			
1	Intr	oduction	4			
	1.1	Decomposition in woodland ecosystems	5			
	1.2	The basidiomycete life cycle	7			
	1.3	Fungal competition	8			
	1.4	Mechanisms of combat	11			
		1.4.1 Mycoparasitism	11			
		1.4.2 Hyphal interference	12			
		1.4.3 Gross mycelial contact	12			

	1.5	Outcomes of interactions	14
	1.6	Studying interactions	15
	1.7	Production of volatile and diffusible organic compounds	16
	1.8	Metabolic changes during interactions	18
	1.9	Molecular studies of interactions	19
	1.10	The role of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions	21
		1.10.1 Laccase	22
		1.10.2 Peroxidases	23
		1.10.3 Localisation of laccase and peroxidase activity	25
		1.10.4 Regulation of gene expression	26
		1.10.5 Functions of ligninolytic enzymes	27
	1.11	Ecological implications of interspecific interactions	28
	1.12	Industrial applications of interactions	29
	1.13	Project objectives	30
2	Ligr	inolytic enzyme activity during interspecific interactions	32
	2.1	Introduction	32
	2.2	Materials and Methods	36

	2.2.1	Isolates and culture conditions	36
	2.2.2	Localisation of enzyme activity by staining	36
	2.2.3	Sample preparation for enzyme assays	37
	2.2.4	Assays	39
	2.2.5	Effect of interaction diffusibles	42
	2.2.6	Statistical analysis	44
2.3	Result	S	44
	2.3.1	General observations on morphology during interspecific inter-	
		actions	44
	2.3.2	Staining	45
	2.3.3	Enzyme activity of <i>T. versicolor</i> self-pairings on 2% MA	47
	2.3.4	Enzyme activity	49
	2.3.5	Enzyme activity during interactions on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar	52
	2.3.6	Effect of interaction diffusibles and hydrogen peroxide	54
2.4	Discus	sion	56
	2.4.1	Ligninolytic enzyme activity increased during interactions but	
		was not linked to interaction outcome	56

		2.4.2	Enzyme activity was highly localised to different regions within interactions	58
		2.4.3	Minor changes in enzyme activity were found in the A and B regions of interactions	59
		2.4.4	The lack of LiP and catalase activity may be due to assay sen- sitivity or intracellular localisation	60
		2.4.5	Addition of Mn^{2+} to the medium increased ligninolytic enzyme production	60
		2.4.6	DOCs affect extension rate but not ligninolytic enzyme production	61
		2.4.7	H_2O_2 -inhibition of growth is not linked to changes in enzyme activity	62
3	Exp tion	oression Is	n of genes encoding ligninolytic enzymes during interac-	64
	3.1	Introd	uction \ldots	64
	3.2	Materi	als and Methods	70
		3.2.1	Fungal isolates, culture conditions and interactions	70
		3.2.2	Extraction of mycelium from interactions	70
		3.2.3	Extraction of RNA	71
		3.2.4	DNase treatment of RNA	71

	3.2.5	Generation of cDNA by reverse transcription	72
	3.2.6	Extraction of DNA	72
	3.2.7	Primer design	73
	3.2.8	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR	74
	3.2.9	Normalisation of data	76
	3.2.10	Statistical analysis	77
	3.2.11	Purification of PCR products	77
	3.2.12	Ligation into pGEMT-Easy vector	78
	3.2.13	Transformation of <i>E.coli</i> DH5 α competent cells	78
	3.2.14	Plasmid DNA purification	79
	3.2 .15	Sequencing of plasmid DNA	80
3.3	Result	S	80
	3.3.1	RNA extraction	80
	3.3.2	Primer testing	81
	3.3.3	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR: expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and	
		catalase genes	82
	3.3.4	Sequencing of PCR products	85
3.4	Discus	sion	88

4	Cha	inges i	n volatile production during interspecific interactions	93
	4.1	Introd	uction	93
	4.2	Mater	ials and Methods	95
		4.2.1	Fungal cultures	95
		4.2.2	Effect of VOCs produced during interactions on mycelial exten-	96
				00
		4.2.3	Interspecific interaction systems for VOC analysis	97
		4.2.4	Sampling VOCs	97
		4.2.5	GC/MS analysis of volatiles	98
		4.2.6	Statistical analysis	100
	4.3	Result	S	100
		4.3.1	Effect of VOCs produced during interactions on extension rates	
			of target fungi	100
		4.3.2	General observations on VOC production during interspecific in-	
			teractions	101
		4.3.3	VOCs in malt control	103
		4.3.4	VOCs from T . versicolor growing alone (Tv) and in self-pairing	
			$(\mathrm{Tv}\mathrm{Tv})$	103

		4.3.5	S. gausapatum growing alone (Sg), in self-pairing (SgSg) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvSg) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		4.3.6	B. adusta self-pairing (BaBa) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvBa)
		4.3.7	H. fasciculare self-pairings (HfHf) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvHf) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		4.3.8	Changes in VOC profiles over time
	4.4	Discus	sion
		4.4.1	Species specificity
		4.4.2	Relationship between pigmentation and VOC production 112
		4.4.3	Antagonism at a distance and temporal changes
		4.4.4	Function of VOCs
5	Con erol	nbative caryons	e ability and enzyme production by homokaryons and het- s of <i>T. versicolor</i> 116
	5.1	Introd	uction
	5 .2	Materi	als and Methods
		5.2.1	Fungal isolates
		5.2.2	Extension rates

		5.2.3	Wood decay rates
		5.2.4	Interspecific interactions
		5.2.5	Enzyme assays
		5.2.6	Statistical analysis
	5.3	Result	s
		5.3.1	Extension rates
		5.3.2	Decay rates
		5.3.3	Outcome of interactions
		5.3.4	Enzyme assays
	5.4	Discus	sion
6	Syn	thesis	and future work 139
	6.1	Synthe	esis
		611	Activity of laccase and MnP/MRP were not related to interac-
		0.1.1	tion outcome
		6.1.2	Levels of laccase production were not related to combative ability 141
		6.1.3	Changes in expression of ligninolytic genes were not dramatic . 141
		6.1.4	Different isozymes may be expressed during interactions 143

		6.1.5	Comparing results from assays, staining and gene expression $\ . \ .$	143
		6.1.6	Peroxidase activity in culture extracts of homo- and heterokary- otic isolates was perhaps attributable to LiP activity	144
		6.1.7	Patterns of enzyme activity differ between interactions grown on different substrates	145
		6.1.8	Stimulation and inhibition by VOCs and DOCs	147
		6.1.9	$\label{eq:main_state} Mycelial \ contact \ is \ necessary \ to \ stimulate \ production \ of \ laccase, \\ but \ not \ MnP/MRP \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $	148
		6.1.10	Functions of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions – some suggestions	149
		6.1.11	Production of VOCs may support laccase and peroxidase activity	7 151
		6.1.12	Homokaryons have similar combative and enzyme producing abil- ities to heterokaryons	152
	6.2	Future	work	153
Re	eferei	nces		187
A	Furt	ther de	etail on laccase and peroxidase	188
	A .1	Laccas	se	188
		A.1.1	Crystal structure of laccase	18 9
	A.2	Peroxi	dase: mechanism of action	191

	A.3 Crystal structure of peroxidases	193
в	Ligninolytic enzyme activity staining	195
С	Laccase and peroxidase sequence information and gene expression data	ı 201
D	Published work	211

List of Figures

1.1	The basidiomycete life cycle	9
2.1	Sampling of interacting mycelia for enzyme extraction	38
2.2	Diagram of a Reacsyn TM vessel	42
2.3	Interactions between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare	45
2.4	Localisation of laccase, MnP, LiP, peroxidase and superoxide by staining	46
2.5	Activity of laccase and MnP in different regions of 2 and 8 d-old inter- actions	48
2.6	Activity of laccase and MnP in 8 d interactions	51
2.7	Activity of laccase and MnP on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar during interactions	53
2.8	Percentage change in laccase and MnP activity of antagonists during growth on normal and Mn^{2+} -enriched 2% MA \ldots	54

2.9	Activity of selected enzymes during growth on interaction diffusibles or H_2O_2	57
3.1	Phylogenetic relationships among T . versicolor laccase amino acid sequences \ldots	67
3.2	Phylogenetic relationships among <i>T. versicolor</i> peroxidase amino acid sequences	69
3.3	Primer specificity	82
3.4	Expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase genes by T . versicolor mycelia during self-pairings and interactions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	84
3.5	Evolutionary relationships between accessioned laccase sequences and cloned PCR products	86
3.6	Evolutionary relationships between accessioned LiP sequences and cloned PCR products	87
4.1	Chromatographs of interaction VOC profiles at 6 d	102
4.2	Total evolution of VOC peaks over 19 d for interactions between T . versicolor and S . gausapatum	110
4.3	Production of VOCs specific to interactions among and between T . versicolor (Tv) and S . gausapatum (Sg), over time $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	111
5.1	Homokaryon and heterokaryon extension rates	126
5.2	Homokaryon and heterokaryon decay rates	129

5.3	Percentage of interactions in each category of outcomes	130
5.4	Photos of interaction outcomes at 2 months	131
5.5	Extracellular enzyme activity in artificial heterokaryons and their com- ponent homokaryons	135
B.1	Localisation of laccase activity by growth on 2% MA containing ABTS	196
B.2	Localisation of MnP activity by growth on 2% MA containing $\rm MnCl_2~$.	197
B.3	Localisation of LiP activity by growth on 2% MA containing the dye Azure B	198
B.4	Localisation of peroxidase activity by staining with DAB	199
B.5	Localisation of superoxide by staining with NBT	200
C.1	Multiple alignment of T . versicolor peroxidase amino acid sequences	205
C.2	Differences between biological replicates in expression of selected genes - GPD normalised	208
C.3	Differences between biological replicates in expression of selected genes - 18S normalised	209
C.4	Expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase genes by <i>T. versicolor</i> mycelia during self-pairings and interactions - 18S normalised	210

List of Tables

2.1	Competitor isolates and the outcome of their interaction with <i>T. versicolor</i> D2 on 2% MA.	36
2.2	Extracellular enzyme activity of <i>T. versicolor</i> and competitors in 8 d-old interactions.	50
2.3	Extension rates of wood decay fungi grown on interaction diffusibles and H_2O_2 .	55
3.1	Primer details	75
3.2	Primer specificity in T . versicolor and three competitor species	81
4.1	Effects of VOCs produced by interactions on the growth of four 'target' species	101
4.2	Comparison of the evolution of fungal volatiles over time for the inter- actions between T . versicolor (Tv) and S . gausapatum (Sg) and their	104
	single-species controls	104

4.3	Comparison of the evolution of fungal volatiles over time for the inter-
	actions between T. versicolor (Tv) and B. adusta (Ba) or H. fasciculare
	(Hf), and single-species controls
4.4	Putative identifications of fungal volatiles detected in experimental treat-
	ments
5.1	Details of Trametes versicolor isolates, and isolates against which they
	were paired in agar culture
5.2	Outcomes of interactions on agar between <i>Trametes versicolor</i> homokaryons
0.2	and heterokaryons and 11 antagonist wood decay species
5.3	Extracellular enzyme activities of <i>Trametes versicolor</i> homokaryon and
	heterokaryon agar extracts
5.4	Extracellular enzyme activities of <i>Trametes versicolor</i> homokaryon and
	heterokaryon colonised beech wood block extracts
C.1	Laccase sequences used for primer design
C_{2}	Lignin perevidese and Mn represed perevidese secuences used for primer
0.2	design 203
	200-gaz · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
C.3	MnP sequences used for primer design

Abstract

Interspecific antagonism leads to morphological, biochemical and transcriptional changes in the competing mycelia. Several approaches were used to study interactions: enzyme assays, staining, expression of ligninolytic genes, and analysis of volatile organic compounds (VOCs). Laccase and manganese peroxidase (MnP) activities were assayed, and transcript levels of laccase, Mn-repressed peroxidase (MRP), LiP and catalase measured by RT-PCR during interactions between Trametes versicolor and other wood decay fungi on agar plates. Increased laccase activity occurred in all interactions, irrespective of outcome, with expression of a variety of laccase isozymes during growth alone and interactions. The highest laccase and MnP activities were detected in the interaction zone, with minor changes occurring in other regions of interacting mycelia. MnP activity was detected but not expression of MnP genes; instead, activity of MRP could explain the observed activity. Whilst no LiP activity was detected in any pairing, low level expression of LiP genes was detected. Any increases in gene expression were probably transient, or missed at the time of sampling. No differences in combative ability or enzyme production were detected between homo- and heterokaryotic isolates of T. versicolor. VOC production was not linked to combative ability, although several constitutive and interaction-specific VOCs were potentially antagonistic. Other VOCs may be involved in the stimulation of laccase activity, or supporting peroxidase activity by the generation of H_2O_2 .

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the Natural Environment Research Council for providing funding for this project, and my supervisors Prof Lynne Boddy, Dr Hilary Rogers and Dr Carsten Müller for all their time, support and advice. Thanks also to Mike O'Reilly for his help with the GC-MS, and to several project students, in particular Chris Hibbert for his help setting up all the monokaryon interactions, James Evans for his help with the diffusibles experiment, and Kate Lamb for help with the cloning. I am also very grateful to Dr Petr Baldrian and Jaroslav Šnajdr (Institute of Microbiology AS-CR, Prague) for all their help with the enzyme assays, and to Dr Eshwar Mahenthiralingam for letting me use his plate reader for the enzyme assays. Thanks also to the Welsh Livery Guild and Charles Cole travel scholarships for their support in making a trip to Prague to learn the assay techniques possible.

Thanks to all the members of the fungi and plant labs who have given me help and moral support over the last few years, as well as a few laughs, especially Martha, Catherine, Tim, Juliet, Wafa, Nawal and Tom. Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family, for all their support, and of course, most especially Aaron, who has put up with me and kept me sane whilst writing up.

Publications

Evans^{*}, J.A., Eyre, C.A., Rogers, H.J., Boddy, L., Müller, C.T., 2008. Changes in volatile production during interspecific interactions between four wood rotting fungi growing in artificial media. Fungal Ecology 1: 57-68. * maiden name

Hiscox, J.A., Hibbert, C.J., Rogers, H.J., Boddy, L. Monokaryons and dikaryons of *Trametes versicolor* have similar combative, enzyme and decay ability. Fungal Ecology *accepted Jan 2010*.

Hiscox, J.A., Baldrian, P., Rogers, H.J., Boddy, L. Changes in ligninolytic enzyme activity during interspecific mycelial interactions involving *Trametes versicolor* are not related to interaction outcomes. Fungal Genetics and Biology *accepted March 2010*.

Eyre, C.A., Muftah, W., Hiscox, J.A., Hunt, J., Kille, P., Boddy, L., Rogers, H.J. Microarray analysis of differential gene expression elicited in *Trametes versicolor* during interspecific mycelial interactions. *Submitted to Mycological Research Feb 2010*.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Conservative estimates place the number of fungal species at 1.5 million (Hawksworth, 1991, 2001; Mueller and Schmit, 2007). Currently only 72,000 have been described, spread over seven phyla, although the number is increasing as new techniques are developed for detecting and profiling fungal diversity (Bridge and Spooner, 2001; Bridge et al., 2005; Hibbett et al., 2007). Fungi are spectacularly successful not only in number of species but also in terms of biomass, variety of habitats, and capacity for symbiosis with other microorganisms, plants and animals (Hawksworth, 1991). Their success reflects massive morphological and behavioural diversity, and developmental plasticity. The vast majority of fungi, the Eumycota, are believed to belong to a single phyletic series, with the main stream of evolution culminating in the Basidiomycota (Förster et al., 1990). The basidiomycetes comprise approximately one third of known fungal species and represent a diverse phylum comprising species with equally diverse ecological roles. These roles are of key importance in ecosystems; from the symbiosis with algae and cyanobacteria to form lichens, to the association of mycorrhizal fungi with plants, to the numerous plant, animal and fungal pathogens. Further basidiomycetes are vital to carbon and nutrient cycling, food webs, succession and biodiversity in every ecosystem, via decomposition.

The greatest fungal diversity can be found in the soil environment and woodland ecosystems (Peay et al., 2008). Fungal hyphae often account for the greatest fraction of soil biomass (Wardle, 2002), with an estimated ton (dry weight) of basidiomycetous mycelium produced annually per hectare in a typical angiosperm forest (de Jong and Field, 1997). It has been estimated that only 17% of described fungal species can be grown in culture, so many species are not readily studied (Bridge and Spooner, 2001), and much of the diversity is cryptic and present in resting stages such as conidia, spores and inactive mycelium (Peay et al., 2008). Woodland ecosystems are heterogeneous in terms of the biotic and abiotic environment, both spatially and temporally (White et al., 1998; Boddy, 1999). Fungi have evolved and adapted to this variable environment, and niche specialisation has resulted in a range of morphologies, ecological strategies and habitats.

1.1 Decomposition in woodland ecosystems

Decomposition facilitates nutrient recycling by making resources in plant and animal material available for utilisation to a wide range of organisms; as such, it is a vital process. Many sources of carbon are easily metabolised, but more complex polymers (e.g. cellulose, lignin and chitin) are less easily decomposed and only utilised by specialists. The predominant carbon resource in woodlands is woody litter (Wells, 2002), which is resistant to decomposition and many organisms are unable to use it as a resource. The fungal biomass of woodland soils is dominated by two major ecological groups of basidiomycetes: the saprotrophic wood/litter decomposers and the biotrophic ectomycorrhizal fungi (Wells, 2002). Both groups play a major role in the acquisition, mobilisation and relocation of nutrients. Specialist saprotrophic basidiomycetes are the main agents of wood decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems (Boddy, 2001), breaking

down the more recalcitrant compounds into simpler forms, which are then available to other organisms. The importance of this role in nutrient mobilisation is shown by the 10-fold increase in soil microbial biomass (typically 0.1%) when saprotrophic fungi colonise the overlying litter (Lodge, 1993). Similarly, eliminating fungi results in a significant decrease in both carbon and nitrogen depletion from litter (Bridge et al., 1992).

Lignins are what makes wood resistant to decomposition. Few organisms are able to decompose lignin, and as such it is a rate-limiting step in carbon turnover. Lignins are amorphous, insoluble polymers formed by the oxidative coupling of coniferyl, sinapyl and coumaryl alcohols. The molecular composition of lignins varies hugely between plant species, and indeed within individual plants. The nature of the bonds between the phenolic subunits makes the polymer highly recalcitrant and resistant to hydrolysis. Fungi dominate the decomposition of lignified cellulose; the most common group are white rot fungi, which are able to penetrate the tissues of wood and digest lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose enzymatically, and leave wood with a characteristic bleached and soft appearance. Less common are the brown rot fungi, which are only able to digest cellulose and hemicellulose, while lignin is left intact or slightly modified, leaving wood brown and crumbly (Owens et al., 1994). Lignin is not directly used for nutrition by white rot fungi, but its decomposition exposes cellulose and hemicellulose which can be hydrolysed as energy sources (Doyle et al., 1998).

Fungal decomposition is facilitated by a suite of enzymes that act on wood constituents. As lignin is not susceptible to hydrolytic attack, white rot fungi produce phenoloxidases (laccases) and peroxidases which generate highly reactive, non-specific free radicals in order to oxidise the lignin polymer. These work in combination with enzymes that do not directly attack lignin but support peroxidase and laccase activity (e.g. superoxide dismutase and glyoxal oxidase), and with feedback-regulated enzymes which coordinate metabolic pathways during decomposition (Leonowicz et al., 2001). Low molecular weight compounds and free radicals may also act as mobile factors that can permeate wood and initiate decay where high molecular weight enzymes cannot penetrate due to their size (Evans et al., 1994).

The environment within wood is heterogeneous, with water potential, gaseous regime and pH varying with the status of the wood (Boddy, 1999). For example, heartwood has a low nitrogen content relative to attached branches; and the CO_2 content of wood is generally high, with low levels of O_2 . Also, wood contains numerous tannins, gums and resins which vary between species and between individuals of the same species (Griffith and Boddy, 1991; Boddy, 1999). Through the transition from living, to fallen, dead wood, these conditions change; dead wood dries rapidly, and compounds within the wood leach out or break down (Griffith and Boddy, 1991). The space and resources available change as decomposition progresses, favouring different species specialised to different niches (Hättenschwiler et al., 2005). Thus as conditions change, so does the fungal community.

1.2 The basidiomycete life cycle

The initial stages of colonisation for a wood decay fungus are arrival at the resource and establishment within it. Arrival can be as mycelium, or as spores, gaining access to woody tissues via bark discontinuities such as wounds or branch stubs, or from the development of latent propagules (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2001). Exit from the resource can be achieved as mycelium, or, following the formation of reproductive structures, as spores. In most basidiomycetes sexual reproduction occurs via the fusion and nuclear exchange of sexually compatible mycelia (Burnett, 2003). A variety of terms have been used for mycelia that are unmated/mated: primary/secondary, monokaryotic/dikaryotic, homokaryotic/heterokaryotic. Monokaryotic and dikaryotic are appropriate only when it is known that there are only one or two nuclei per compartment, whereas basidiomycetes may have several nuclei per compartment (Ainsworth, 1986). Homo-/heterokaryotic imply that either all nuclei are similar, or that there is more than one type of nucleus present (e.g. from different parents), so are more appropriate where the nuclear balance of a species is unknown.

The typical basidiomycete life cycle presents particular challenges at different stages: spore dispersal, deposition and germination; establishment of the homokaryon in the resource; contact with a sexually compatible conspecific; growth of the heterokaryon; fruit body formation and spore production (Figure 1.1). Once established within a substratum, the homokaryotic mycelium faces the same biotic and abiotic challenges as the heterokaryon; however, few studies have investigated differences in relative fitness between the stages. For a rare species, the duration of the homokaryotic phase may be considerable, as sexually compatible conspecifics are hard to find. Thus, in a rare species the homokaryotic phase must be particularly 'fit' to survive, and it has been shown that homokaryons of the rare species *Hericium coralloides* are more combative than the heterokaryons (Crockatt et al., 2008). However, for a common species the duration of the homokaryotic phase is likely to be shorter, but it is not known how this affects their fitness relative to that of the heterokaryons.

1.3 Fungal competition

Competition can be defined as 'the negative effects which one organism has upon another by consuming or controlling access to a resource that is limited in availability' (Keddy, 1989). For white rot fungi, nutrients are accessed by colonisation of solid resources, so competition for space and resources cannot be uncoupled into separate entities. Further to this, competition between white rot fungi can be described as 'interference competition', where access to a resource is influenced by the presence of a competitor, either through its behaviour or some sort of chemical mechanism



Figure 1.1: The lifecycle of a typical basidiomycete. Adapted from Crockatt (2008)

(Lockwood, 1992). Environmental conditions and host or substrate specificity set the fundamental niche of all fungi, but, as in many other organisms, competition appears to play a key role in determining the realised niche for many fungal species (Peay et al., 2008).

The abundance and diversity of fungi within woodland ecosystems means that contact or proximity between individuals is inevitable. Interactions can take the form of competition, neutralism and mutualism (Rayner and Webber, 1986). Whilst the whole spectrum of types of interaction can be observed in wood decay fungi, mutualistic and cooperative interactions are rare (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2000). Antagonism is the most common type of interaction and has been reported in every fungal ecosystem, where it is an important factor in determining the organisation, composition and pattern of fungal colonisation (Gloer, 1995). The presence of other mycelia can delimit the domain occupied by an individual, and by active antagonism, nutrient limitation or other effects, these neighbours can restrict its potential growth. Antagonism is not restricted to interspecific interactions, as intraspecific interactions between genetically distinct individuals (where there is no mating compatibility) can also exhibit combative responses (Rayner and Todd, 1979; Boddy, 2000). However, the processes governing intraspecific antagonism are likely to differ from those governing interactions between different species as they frequently involve genetically controlled incompatibility responses following hyphal fusion (Glass and Dementhon, 2006).

Fungal competition can be split into two main categories: primary resource capture and secondary resource capture (Boddy, 2000). Primary resource capture is the process by which 'pioneer' species gain access to a previously uncolonised resource. Primary colonisers may access live wood as pathogens, through wounds or via insect vectors, or some species may be present as latent propagules within the wood awaiting suitable conditions for growth (Boddy, 2001). Factors affecting the success of primary colonisers are the ability to reach and exploit resources first, which are determined by the efficiency of spore dispersal, spore germination, mycelial extension rate and decomposition ability (Rayner and Webber, 1986; Boddy, 2001). R-selected or ruderal species are favoured, which tend to have a transient existence during which the mycelium will only use those resources that are readily accessible. This allows rapid establishment, reproduction and dispersal. As the wood was previously uncolonised, there is no need for combat to gain access, so primary colonisers are often poor competitors (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997). However, often the primary colonisers may be able to hold or defend their territory quite well, but die back as as gradual changes in the resource occur which are detrimental to them (Griffith and Boddy, 1991).

As wood becomes increasingly colonised, primary colonisers will come into contact and other species may attempt to gain access. Combat between mycelia can take two forms: defence and secondary resource capture (Dowson et al., 1988). Defence strategies used by primary colonisers to resist replacement include production of pseudosclerotial plates and H_2O_2 (Griffith and Boddy, 1991; Silar, 2005). Conditions in the wood may change following primary colonisation, making it more favourable to secondary colonisers (Griffith and Boddy, 1991). Secondary resource capture species need to either co-exist with primary colonisers, or displace them. Secondary resource capture species tend to have greater competitive ability, and are able to dominate a domain for longer and exploit it fully by utilising the more recalcitrant compounds within. They tend to be k-selected (Rayner and Webber, 1986; Boddy, 2001).

1.4 Mechanisms of combat

White rot fungi employ a variety of combative mechanisms, acting singly or in combination, depending on the species and conditions involved. Combat can begin before contact is established between competitors, either passively through changes in environment (e.g. accumulation of waste products, changes in pH), or actively through production of antibiotic compounds (Boddy, 2000; Wheatley, 2002). Chemical-mediated antagonism depends on the species involved, and implies recognition between species that elicits production of the antibiotic. Combat via contact can occur at the level of single hyphae, or between large regions of mycelia, or, infrequently, via parasitic associations (Boddy, 2000).

1.4.1 Mycoparasitism

Mycoparasitism occurs frequently in nature but is relatively rare among wood decay basidiomycetes. It is a species-specific interaction, where nutrients are obtained from the host species either biotrophically or necrotrophically (Jeffries, 1994). Mycoparasitism is thought to involve four sequential steps: chemotropism of parasitic hyphae towards the host, recognition of host (by lectin-carbohydrate binding), attachment and coiling of the mycoparasite hyphae around host hyphae, and penetration of the host by production of hydrolytic enzymes (Steyaert et al., 2003; White and Traquair, 2006). Host penetration is followed by growth inside the host resulting in hyphal collapse. Known mycoparasites include *Trichoderma*, *Gliocladium* and *Pythium* spp., with *Trichoderma* spp. currently comprising one third of all fungal biocontrol preparations produced and sold for control of diseases of horticultural crops (Steyaert et al., 2003). However, parasitism is not the main strategy for nutrient acquisition of these species, rather it is a temporary strategy used to gain territory from a host (Boddy, 2000).

1.4.2 Hyphal interference

Hyphal interference occurs when a hypha makes contact with another hypha or a spore, and results in death of the contacted compartments following a sequence of cytoplasmic destruction (Boddy, 2000). Following non-self recognition, incompatibility systems trigger defence responses and release of non-enzymic diffusible metabolites (e.g. H_2O_2) which cause cell death and lysis of one or both of the compartments involved (Micali and Smith, 2003; Silar, 2005). Hyphal interference is fairly common among wood decay basidiomycetes; the most studied example is the interaction between *Phlebiopsis* gigantea and *Heterobasidion annosum*, where any hyphae of *H. annosum* that make contact with *P. gigantea* show rapid localised disruption of the cytoplasm and cell membrane (Adomas et al., 2006). This has applications in biocontrol of *H. annosum* (e.g Stenlid, 1994).

1.4.3 Gross mycelial contact

Gross mycelial contact occurs when whole colonies are involved in confrontations. This non-selective replacement occurs between a wide range of fungi and is very common in wood decay species. Though generally considered non-selective, perhaps this is somewhat of a misnomer as a degree of selectivity can be inferred by substratum specificity, or where conditions generated by one fungus make replacement by a specific successor more likely. Certain secondary capture species have strong dependencies on specific preceding decay fungi, probably due to changes in abiotic conditions generated by the preceding fungus such as lignocellulose composition or water potential (Griffith and Boddy, 1991; Holmer and Stenlid, 1993, 1997).

The effects of gross mycelial contact are easily seen on agar culture during interactions, where the morphology of a colony changes dramatically in response to the presence of a combatant. Changes occur in the whole mycelium, but most dramatically in areas in direct contact with the competitor: the interaction zone. Common changes observed are pigment production, redistribution of mycelium, induction of sporulation and formation of hyphal assemblages (Rayner and Webber, 1986; Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Dowson et al., 1988). These changes may also occur in response to interactions with other microorganisms (e.g. *Bacillus subtilis*; Rayner et al., 1994).

Hyphal assemblages are aggregations of hyphae (thought to be non-assimilative) that can be divided into four groups based on function (Rayner et al., 1994). (1) Barrages, or defensive zones, consist of stationary assemblages of dense aerial and submerged hyphae and function as a barrier against invasion. They are typically produced by one or both of the competing mycelia. (2) Invasive mycelial replacement fronts have clearly defined margins and consist of regular arrays of diffuse or loosely associated hyphae. These can invade competitor mycelium in broad sections at the interaction interface. (3) Mycelial cords consist of semi-linear hyphal aggregations arising from localised foci at the interaction interface, which invade competitor mycelium more rapidly but more irregularly than replacement fronts. (4) Mycelial fans also arise from localised foci at the interaction interface, but the constituent hyphae are more diffuse and primarily radially oriented (Rayner et al., 1994; Boddy, 2000). The emergence of hyphal assemblages may differ along the length of the same interaction interface, and can be regarded as indeterminate, feedback-regulated mycelial responses to local circumstances (Rayner et al., 1994). Their production determines interaction outcome.

1.5 Outcomes of interactions

There are a spectrum of potential outcomes, from intermingling of colonies to complete replacement of one competitor by another. Intermingling generally occurs during mycoparasitism, or when a mycelium of an isolate meets itself and there is self-recognition. Intermingling can also occur when mycelia of opposing colonies are sparse enough that hyphae can interdigitate without actually making contact, for example in conditions of poor nutrient availability (Rayner and Webber, 1986; Tordoff et al., 2006). The most common interaction outcomes are deadlock and replacement (Boddy, 2000). Deadlock occurs when neither individual is able to gain territory from the other; replacement occurs when one individual invades the domain of another and gains control of the territory and resources within. There is a continuum of outcomes between the two extremes of deadlock and total replacement, for example partial replacement followed by deadlock, or mutual partial replacement in different regions.

Interaction outcomes are affected by a range of biotic and abiotic factors. The outcome of an interaction is largely dependent on the combative ability of the species involved (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997), but the outcome may not always be consistent between different conditions, or between different genotypes (Boddy, 2000). The size of the territory occupied by mycelia affects the outcome of interactions (Shearer, 1995; Holmer and Stenlid, 1993, 1997), as does the spatial configuration of competitors, especially where there is contact with more than one competitor (White and Boddy, 1992; Kennedy et al., 2007). The state of decay of the substrate can also affect the outcome of an interaction (Wells, 2002). Interactions have been observed under a variety of experimental conditions including different gaseous regimes, pH, temperature, water potentials and nutrient availability (Boddy and Rayner, 1983; Boddy et al., 1985; Griffith et al., 1994; Wald et al., 2004). Abiotic conditions were shown to affect the outcome of interactions, as different species may cope with different conditions better than others, or it may influence the ecological strategy a species adopts.

For all interactions there is a dynamic equilibrium in operation, and over time resources may become depleted and conditions may change, which in turn changes the status of the interaction. Outcomes are also influenced by the interactions between fungi and other organisms such as bacteria and invertebrates (Baldrian, 2006; Tordoff et al., 2006). Variation in outcomes under different abiotic conditions, and the biotic effects of other organisms on interactions, makes prediction of community change impossible (Boddy, 2000).

1.6 Studying interactions

Many previous studies have investigated interactions, confronting species using a variety of systems, for example inoculating onto agar, liquid broth, wood blocks, soil trays, logs, sawdust, microscope slides, three-dimensional columns and gradient plates (including Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Donnelly and Boddy, 2001; Baldrian et al., 2005; Tordoff et al., 2006). Interactions are easily observed in agar culture, which allows controlled manipulation of environmental factors and allows easy separation of mycelium from the media for study. Although agar culture can offer valuable insight into the mechanisms involved in interactions, it is debatable whether interaction outcomes on agar are representative of those that occur in the field. Some studies indicate a strong correlation between the results of interactions on agar plates and those in wood, however, others do not (Rayner and Todd, 1979; Holmer and Stenlid, 1993; Owens et al., 1994; Wells, 2002). Fungal growth in wood is spatially restricted by the tracheid walls, a constraint that is not present in agar culture, which may explain some of the differences (Holmer and Stenlid, 1993). Ideally, a combination of methods is necessary for the full understanding of interactions.

1.7 Production of volatile and diffusible organic compounds

In some situations interactive events begin before mycelial contact is established, through the action of diffusible and/or volatile organic compounds (DOCs and VOCs). Chemical signalling is likely to play a major role in fungal recognition systems. Fungal metabolites have been shown to play antagonistic roles in the diseases of plants and insects, in animal poisonings, as well as in interspecific mycelial interactions (Gloer, 1995). They often have antibiotic properties that have been exploited in medicine and industry. Many fungi constitutively produce a profile of VOCs and DOCs, frequently species-specific and reproducible, which can be used as a 'fingerprint' for their identification (Woodward et al., 1993; Nilsson et al., 1996; Bruce et al., 2000; Heilmann-Clausen and Boddy, 2005). DOCs and VOCs may function (at least in part) to protect occupied territory from potential invaders. Some exert their effects indirectly, for example by lowering pH, whilst others can be considered to be antibiotics (Woodward and Boddy, 2008). Following detection of a competitor, the composition of the secondary metabolite profile may change (Griffith et al., 1994; Hynes et al., 2007), indicating specific functions during combat.

Exposure to competitor DOCs has been shown to affect spore germination and foraging behaviour in fungi, to dramatically alter the mycelial morphology of *Hypholoma fascic-ulare*, and to increase ligninolytic enzyme production in *Marasmius pallescens* (Rayner et al., 1994; Heilmann-Clausen and Boddy, 2005; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006). A variety of chemical classes have been reported as potential antagonistic DOCs, for example

aromatic compounds (Wheatley, 2002; Wald et al., 2004). DOCs may have an antagonistic effect on certain potential invaders, but they could also stimulate the growth of other species (Heilmann-Clausen and Boddy, 2005). Primary fungal colonisers have a marked influence on subsequent establishment of later fungal colonisers (Heilmann-Clausen and Boddy, 2005). These predecessor-successor relationships may be mediated by secondary metabolites or their by-products. Release of secondary metabolites by preceding species may inhibit the colonisation and establishment of most secondary colonisers, excepting the well-adapted natural successor (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997). This is believed to be supported by the fact that in interaction combinations that would not be found in nature (due to different host species etc.), less combative primary colonisers are often more successful than combative secondary colonisers (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Heilmann-Clausen and Christensen, 2003; Peiris et al., 2008).

DOCs have antagonistic potential in circumstances where they can accumulate or diffuse through aqueous media, but could only feasibly function over short distances. VOCs, however, can function in a much more heterogeneous environment, and have the potential to act as long range signals, inducing behavioural changes in potential competitors at a distance from the organism producing them. A variety of volatile chemicals are produced by fungi, which have a variety of potential ecological roles (Schoeman et al., 1996; Wheatley et al., 1997; Abraham, 2001), including acting as attractants to 'pollinators' and foraging insects (Schiestl et al., 2006; Steiner et al., 2007). They may affect fungal development and can also induce defence responses in plants (Mendgen et al., 2006; Splivallo et al., 2007). VOC profiles are affected by the substrate, both in terms of overall composition and also by specific components in the medium (Wheatley et al., 1997; Bruce et al., 2000; Wheatley, 2002); for example, the VOC profile of *Serpula lacrymans* is more complex when grown on pine shavings compared to growth on agar (Ewen et al., 2004). VOC production is also affected by temperature, pH and culture age (Tronsmo and Dennis, 1978; Chen et al., 1984; Nilsson et al., 1996; de Jong and Field, 1997; Jelen, 2002). During interactions between fungi

different VOC profiles have been detected compared to those produced by individual species grown alone (Hynes et al., 2007). The nature of the effects of VOCs on fungi at the molecular level is largely unknown. However, exposure to VOCs may change the profile of proteins produced, and thus the implication is that VOCs may have effects at the level of gene expression (Humphris et al., 2002; Myung et al., 2007).

1.8 Metabolic changes during interactions

Changes in production of metabolites have been shown to occur during interspecific interactions (including Rayner et al., 1994; Hynes et al., 2007; Eyre, 2007; Peiris et al., 2008), and there is considerable evidence of differential regulation of particular groups of enzymes (including Freitag and Morrell, 1992; Baldrian, 2004; Lindahl and Finlay, 2006). Huge metabolic changes occur in interacting mycelia, necessary for the production of antagonistic compounds, morphological changes, and re-assignment of nutrients (Boddy, 2000; Donnelly and Boddy, 2001). Many of these changes are classed as secondary metabolism. It has been proposed that interactions stimulate the synthesis of hydrophobic metabolites such as phenolics, which, after conversion to melanins, lead to the sealing-off of hyphal boundaries at the interaction interface (Rayner et al., 1994). These events would initiate secondary metabolism by disrupting resource supply, ultimately leading to the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) through the disruption of oxidative phosphorylation (Rayner et al., 1994).

Increases in primary metabolism during interactions have been reported, as evidenced by increased CO_2 evolution and protein production (Owens, 1989; Freitag and Morrell, 1992). Most of the differentially regulated metabolites identified in *Stereum hirsutum* during interactions with *Coprinus disseminatus* or *Coprinus micaceous* were primary metabolites (Peiris et al., 2008); however, as the majority of the metabolites produced during these interactions were not identified, the induction of secondary metabolites
cannot be ruled out. Interestingly, there was up-regulation of metabolites and production of interaction-specific metabolites during interactions where S. hirsutum was replaced by C. disseminatus, but down-regulation of metabolites when S. hirsutum overgrew C. micaceous (Peiris et al., 2008). This suggests that the up-regulation of metabolites in S. hirsutum is connected to a defensive role, rather than an aggressive role.

Exposure of cultures of *H. fasciculare* and *Phlebia radiata* to DNP (2,4-dinitrophenol) had similar effects on development and metabolite profiles to the effects of interactions: generally suppressing metabolite release (Rayner et al., 1994; Griffith et al., 1994). DNP disrupts oxidative phosphorylation and is thought to be involved in the switch to secondary metabolism. However, whilst cultures of *S. hirsutum* exposed to DNP showed decreased growth rate, metabolite profiles of these cultures did not resemble those of interacting cultures (Peiris et al., 2008), implying that interaction responses in *S. hirsutum* result from detection of a competitor, rather than as a response to oxidative stress as observed in *H. fasciculare* and *P. radiata*.

1.9 Molecular studies of interactions

Little is known about the molecular basis of fungal interspecific interactions. Most studies of fungal gene expression have used model organisms such as Aspergillus nidulans and Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and what work has been done using basidiomycetes has focused on fruit body development, or different types of hyphal growth (e.g. Wessels, 1992; Nugent et al., 2004). Studies of fungal interactions have centred around their interaction with plants or with bacteria (e.g. Cramer and Lawrence, 2004; Schrey et al., 2005). Fungal-fungal interactions that have been investigated from a molecular perspective have had potential for biocontrol, for example the biocontrol of Heterobasidion species by Physisporinus sanguinolentus (mycoparasitic interaction) and Phlebia gigantea (hyphal interference), and between Trichoderma hamatum and the phytopathogen Sclerotinia sclerotiorum (Iakovlev et al., 2004; Carpenter et al., 2005; Adomas et al., 2006). Eyre (2007) conducted the first study addressing changes in gene expression during interspecific basidiomycete interactions with different outcomes. Microarrays were used to detect changes in gene expression of Trametes versicolor during interactions where T. versicolor replaced, deadlocked with, or was replaced by the competitor.

A subtractive cDNA library was generated for T. versicolor during interaction with Stereum gausapatum (resulting in replacement of S. gausapatum by T. versicolor) compared to during growth alone. Of the ESTs (expressed sequence tags) identified as changing during this interaction, 24% were involved with metabolism and proteolysis, 10% were transcription-related, 5% related to signalling processes and 8% were involved in stress or protective responses (Eyre, 2007). The EST library was tested by microarrays using cDNA from T. versicolor during interactions with S. gausapatum (replacement by T. versicolor), with Bjerkandera adusta (deadlock), and with Hypholoma fasciculare (replacement by H. fasciculare). Interactions where T. versicolor was successful (i.e. where it replaced or deadlocked with its competitor) showed upregulation of genes involved in post-transcriptional regulation, cell wall biosynthesis, carbohydrate metabolism and starch breakdown (Eyre, 2007). Similar upregulation of proteins important in substrate utilisation and nutrient acquisition occurred in P. gigantea when it overgrew Heterobasidion parviporum (Adomas et al., 2006), although this interaction involves hyphal interference so comparisons to the non-selective combat occurring in T. versicolor interactions must be treated with caution. During interactions where T. versicolor was not successful and was replaced by the competitor, a smaller number of targets changed in expression, and the pattern of genes changing in expression was subtly different (Eyre, 2007).

Down-regulation of cell growth and division was common to all three interactions in-

volving *T. versicolor*, perhaps indicating a situation where hyphal extension is favoured over cell division (Eyre, 2007). Up-regulated in all three interactions were a transcript homologous to a ubiquitin-activated enzyme and two NADPH oxidases. Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis is an important regulator in all eukaryotes for removing unwanted proteins (Aguilar and Wendland, 2003). Increased ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis has been implicated in other stress responses of *T. versicolor* such as nitrogen deprivation (Staszczak, 2008), and in other basidiomycete species in response to heat shock and UV (Higgins and Lilly, 1993; Taupp et al., 2008). NADPH oxidases are important in the generation of ROS, and increased production of ROS has been associated with interaction zones in several interactions (Tornberg and Olsson, 2002; Silar, 2005). Interestingly, one of the interaction-induced genes during mycoparasitism of *Heterobasidion annosum* by *P. sanguinolentus* was a protein involved in DNA repair and stress responses to ROS damage (RAD51; Iakovlev et al., 2004).

1.10 The role of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions

More than 100 different types of enzyme have been isolated from fungi, and isozymes vary in number and function between species (Baldrian et al., 2005; Luis et al., 2005). There is considerable evidence of different regulation of particular groups of extracellular enzymes during interactions, most notably the increases in ligninolytic enzyme activity (including Freitag and Morrell, 1992; Baldrian, 2004; Lindahl and Finlay, 2006; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006). The primary function of these laccases and peroxidases is the non-specific oxidative attack of the lignin polymer (Leonowicz et al., 2001). Their function during interactions is unclear, but they have a variety of potential roles.

1.10.1 Laccase

Laccases (benzenediol:oxygen oxidoreductases) are multicopper oxidases, produced by certain Basidiomycota and Ascomycota (Baldrian, 2006), with high levels of production by white rot fungi. Laccases are also widely distributed among plants where they are involved in the synthesis of lignin and in the wounding response (Piontek et al., 2002). Laccase acts to oxidise a variety of hydrogen donors, including phenolic hydroxyl groups, phenolic methyl groups, polyphenols and aromatic diamines (Leonowicz et al., 2001; Mayer and Staples, 2002). It is difficult to define laccase by its reducing substrate due to the broad range of compounds, which varies from one laccase to another and overlaps with the substrate range of the monophenol monooxygenase tyrosine (although laccases cannot oxidise tyrosine; Baldrian, 2006). More detailed information on laccases can be found in Appendix A.1.

Laccase catalyzes the four electron reduction of O_2 to H_2O , coupled with four singleelectron substrate oxidation steps (Thurston, 1994). Each one-electron oxidation generates a free radical, which is typically unstable and may undergo a second enzymecatalyzed oxidation, or non-enzymic reactions such as hydration or disproportionation and/or polymerisation (Thurston, 1994). The overall reaction catalyzed by laccase is:

$$O_2 + 4AH \longrightarrow 2H_2O + 4 \cdot A$$

where AH is the reduced form of the substrate, and \cdot A is the oxidised form. Fungal laccases have a higher redox potential than other blue multicopper oxidases, and a large range in reduction potentials between different laccases. The reasons for this are not fully understood but are thought to be controlled by structural determinants (Jönsson et al., 1995).

1.10.2 Peroxidases

Peroxidases utilise hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) to catalyse the one-electron oxidation of a range of organic and inorganic compounds. The majority contain a heme (protoporphyrin) group in the catalytic centre and fall into two superfamilies based on differences in this group: the mammalian and plant peroxidase superfamilies. Fungal peroxidases are included in Class II of the plant peroxidase superfamily based on sequence homology (Welinder, 1992). The main peroxidases are lignin peroxidase (LiP) and manganese peroxidase (MnP), although others such as versatile peroxidase and haloperoxidases may play lesser roles (Conesa et al., 2002). LiP and MnP were first discovered in *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, and have since been isolated from a wide range of white rot fungi, although not all (Conesa et al., 2002). More detailed information on peroxidases can be found in Appendix A.2.

Peroxidases catalyse a 2-substrate, 2-product reaction. There are several suggested mechanisms for peroxidase reactions, the most common of which is:

Native peroxidase +
$$H_2O_2 \longrightarrow Compound I + H_2O$$

Compound I + AH $\longrightarrow Compound II + \cdot A$
Compound II + AH $\longrightarrow Native peroxidase + \cdot A + H_2O$

where AH is the reduced substrate, and $\cdot A$ is the oxidised substrate, and Compounds I and II are the oxidised forms of peroxidase. The sum of the 3-step reaction is:

$$H_2O_2 + 2AH \longrightarrow 2H_2O + 2 \cdot A$$

Common to all peroxidases is the requirement for extracellular H_2O_2 , the electron acceptor. Nearly all peroxidases also require mediators to function. Mediators are easily oxidisable, small-sized substrates that, once oxidised by peroxidase (or laccase), mediate the 'indirect' oxidation of substrates (Tadesse et al., 2008). Ligninolytic peroxidases differ in terms of their reducing substrates and mediators. LiPs catalyse the oxidation of a wide variety of aromatic nonphenolic compounds (Martinez, 2002). The preferred substrate for LiP is the mediator veratryl alcohol (VA) which is secreted by the fungus. VA acts to reduce LiP-Compound II, which has a lower redox potential than LiP-Compound I, thus enabling enzyme turnover in the presence of recalcitrant substrates (Martinez, 2002). VA also acts to oxidise substrates that LiP cannot access due to its size (Conesa et al., 2002). Although LiP is able to directly oxidise lignin dimers, VA is required for depolymerisation of synthetic lignin (Dunford, 1999; Martinez, 2002).

MnP catalyses the manganese-mediated oxidation of aromatic phenolic compounds (Martinez, 2002). MnP is relatively specific for reducing substrates and only Mn^{2+} efficiently supports enzyme turnover (Conesa et al., 2002; Martinez, 2002). MnP-Compound I can be reduced by phenolic compounds and Mn^{2+} , but only Mn^{2+} can reduce MnP-Compound II (Martinez, 2002). MnP oxidises Mn^{2+} to Mn^{3+} , which is a strong oxidiser but unstable in aqueous media, so it is stabilised by chelation with organic acids such as oxalate and malonate, both of which are secreted by the fungus. The chelated Mn^{3+} acts as a diffusible oxidising agent (Conesa et al., 2002; Martinez, 2002).

Certain peroxidases defy easy classification. Versatile peroxidase (VP), isolated from several species including *Pleurotus* and *Bjerkandera* spp., functions to directly oxidise hydroquinones and substituted phenols that are not efficiently oxidised by LiP or MnP in the absence of VA or Mn^{2+} (Camarero et al., 1999; Ruiz-Dueñas et al., 2009). VP has structural features of both LiP and MnP, and is able to oxidise both Mn^{2+} and VA (Camarero et al., 1999). *T. versicolor* produces a type of VP that is repressed by Mn^{2+} , the so-called manganese-repressed peroxidase (MRP; Collins et al., 1999). These 'hybrid' enzymes demonstrate the close relationship between different types of peroxidase (Hofrichter, 2002).

In most peroxidases, direct access to the heme is restricted, but the heme edge is available for substrate interactions (Conesa et al., 2002). An exposed tryptophan is a conserved residue present in all LiPs, and is an oxidation site for VA and other aromatic substrates. Replacement of this residue by site-directed mutagenesis resulted in loss of VA-oxidising ability (Doyle et al., 1998), and inclusion of the residue into MnP resulted in an enzyme which could oxidise VA (Timofeevski et al., 1999). In MnP there are three conserved acidic residues (two glutamic acids and one aspartic acid) which are involved in Mn²⁺-oxidation, but not in the reaction with phenolic substrates of H₂O₂. Both the tryptophan residue and the three Mn²⁺-binding residues are present in VPs (Ruiz-Dueñas et al., 2009).

1.10.3 Localisation of laccase and peroxidase activity

Laccases and peroxidases should occur exclusively extracellularly due to their high oxidative ability and location of substrates. However, intracellular laccases have been detected in several species (Dittmer et al., 1997; Schlosser et al., 1997; Velázquez-Cedeño et al., 2004; Baldrian et al., 2005), although in all cases the vast majority of activity was extracellular. A substantial part of T. versicolor and P. ostreatus laccase was found to be cell wall-associated, and some MnP may also be wall-associated as liquid cultures of T. versicolor have demonstrated MnP activity in bound fractions (Valášková and Baldrian, 2006). Differences in localisation are probably connected with physiological function and determine the range of substrates available to the enzymes (Baldrian, 2006).

1.10.4 Regulation of gene expression

Many external regulatory factors have been identified, with conditions for expression of different genes varying between isolates and species (Conesa et al., 2002; Chi et al., 2007). Laccase-encoding genes are disparately regulated at transcriptional levels, some constitutively expressed, and some inducible (Mäkelä et al., 2006). Nutrient status affects laccase and peroxidase production in some species, but whilst carbon and nitrogen limitation may trigger gene expression in some species, for others high carbon and nitrogen may act as triggers (Gold and Alic, 1993; Kaal et al., 1995; Schlosser et al., 1997; Galhaup et al., 2002; Mikiashvili et al., 2005). Phenolic compounds induce ligninolytic gene expression in certain species, especially compounds related to lignin or lignin derivatives (Galhaup et al., 2002).

The presence of redox mediators can stimulate peroxidase production. VA stimulated production of both LiP and MnP in *Phlebia radiata*, *P. chrysosporium* and *T. versicolor* (Lundell et al., 1990; Rogalski et al., 1991; Niku-Paavola et al., 1990). Similarly, transcription of MnP genes is regulated by Mn^{2+} ; in *P. chrysosporium* putative metal response elements (MREs) have been identified upstream of two out of three MnP genes, with addition of Mn^{2+} increasing expression of the MRE-linked genes only (Kersten and Cullen, 2007). Conversely, although MREs are not found upstream of MnP genes in *T. versicolor* or *Cerporiopsis subvermispora*, addition of Mn^{2+} does increase MnP production by these species (Johansson and Nyman, 1993; Kersten and Cullen, 2007). Copper has also been shown to regulate laccase transcription in a variety of species (including Collins and Dobson, 1997; Galhaup et al., 2002; Álvarez et al., 2009).

Stress is also an important regulatory factor, with putative xenobiotic response elements (XREs) occurring in the promoter regions of LiP and MnP genes of *P. chrysosporium* and *Pleurotus eryngii* (Fink-Boots et al., 1999; Kersten and Cullen, 2007). Laccase and peroxidase activity have been shown to increase in cultures following heat shock (Fink-Boots et al., 1999) and oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006a), and activity of laccase but not peroxidase increased after heavy metal exposure (Baldrian et al., 2005).

1.10.5 Functions of ligninolytic enzymes

The highly oxidative, non-specific nature of ligninolytic enzymes, plus the variety of isozymes, enables a wide range of potential roles during fungal growth. Their primary role is in the decomposition of lignin; yet the actual role of laccase during this process is not completely understood. Inhibition of laccase in cultures of *T. versicolor* did not affect lignin breakdown (Evans, 1985), whereas it did in cultures of *Sporotrichium pulverulentum* and *Pycnoporus cinnabarinus* (Ander and Eriksson, 1976; Eggert et al., 1996; Baldrian, 2006). Laccase alone is incapable of decomposing lignin model compounds, but can do so in the presence of a mediator. The natural laccase mediators are unknown for most species (Eggert et al., 1996). Laccases may act to break down toxic compounds generated by other ligninolytic enzymes before they can enter the hyphae, and the reduced ligninolytic ability in laccase-deficient cultures may result from the toxic effects of these reactive species (Thurston, 1994; Solomon et al., 1996).

Laccase and peroxidases are produced in response to stress, so have potential defensive functions. Peroxidases and laccases initiate the polymerisation and cross-linking of melanins, both wall-bound and extracellular (i.e. synthesised completely apart from cell walls; Bell and Wheeler, 1986; Henson et al., 1999). Whilst not essential for growth and development, melanins enhance the survival and competitive abilities of species in certain environments. In contrast to the intracellular location of melanins in animal cells, fungal melanins occur either in cell walls or as extracellular polymers formed in the medium around cell walls. Melanins constitute appreciable amounts of the biomass

produced by saprotrophic fungi (Bell and Wheeler, 1986), and are formed from different biochemical pathways to melanins of animals and plants. Wall-bound melanins of basidiomycetes are derived from γ -glutaminyl-3,4-dihydroxybenzene (GDHB) or catechol, whilst extracellular melanins are formed from various phenols (fungal, plant or agrochemical) and proteins, carbohydrates and lipids present in the fungal environment (Bell and Wheeler, 1986). Melanin confers structural strength, and protection from ROS, toxins and temperature extremes (Henson et al., 1999), and melanins from the cell walls of *Phellinus weirii* also have antibiotic properties (Haars and Hutterman, 1980). However it is thought the most important role of melanin is protecting against hydrolytic enzymes; generally, the ability of hydrolytic enzymes to degrade fungal walls is inversely correlated with the melanin content of the wall (Bloomfield, 1967). Pigmentation in fungal cultures is often the result of melanisation, and thus is also dependent on laccase and peroxidase activity (Leatham and Stahman, 1981; Solomon et al., 1996). The formation of extracellular pigments coupled to oxidative polymerisation of cell wall components strengthens cell-to-cell adhesion and confers rigidity to structures, crucial in fungal morphogenesis. Laccase and peroxidase activity are associated with these changes in morphogenesis, for example laccase activity increases during fruit body formation in Schizophyllum commune (de Vries et al., 1986).

1.11 Ecological implications of interspecific interactions

Ecosystems are complex networks of inter-relationships between many organisms and the environment on many different levels. Interactions between wood decay fungi and their environment influence the rate of decomposition, drive niche differentiation and act to maintain diversity and function. Fungal interactions are inevitable within decaying wood, and they determine the pattern of colonisation and development of decay communities (Rayner and Todd, 1979). Since different species effect decomposition, mineralisation and nutrient translocation to different extents, interaction outcomes will impact directly onto these processes. Also, the interaction itself may affect these processes; interactions can affect the movement and partitioning of carbon within mycelial systems, and mineral nutrient uptake, movement and release (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Wells, 2002). Interspecific interactions are one of the main factors releasing nutrients to soil (along with grazing by invertebrates), for example interactions between *Phanerochaete velutina* and *H. fasciculare* resulted in significantly greater losses of 32 P to soil than self-pairings, with leakage not only occurring in the interaction zone but also elsewhere (J.M. Wells and L. Boddy, unpub.). During interactions, the decay rate may change, perhaps through increased activity of ligninolytic enzymes. Both increases and decreases in decay rate have been reported in different interactions (Boddy, 2001; Chi et al., 2007; Woodward and Boddy, 2008). Clearly, fungal interactions have a huge impact on the decomposition of woody debris.

1.12 Industrial applications of interactions

Interspecific interactions have been manipulated for several industrial purposes, and there is potential for development of further applications as the processes involved are more fully understood. Aggressive isolates have potential as biological control agents of nuisance wood decay fungi; probably the most successful example is the use of P. gigantea to protect felled pine and spruce stumps against the establishment of H. annosum (causative agent of root and butt rot; Stenlid, 1994). Similarly, antagonistic non-wood decay organisms, e.g. Trichoderma sp., have been used to inoculate wounds in trees (such as those caused by pruning) to prevent establishment of wood decay fungi (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Score et al., 1997).

The high metabolic diversity, and the potential number of fungal species, mean that

there is special interest in fungal metabolites as starting materials for pharmaceuticals. Many metabolites produced by fungi are bioactive (Abraham, 2001). The increased production of secondary metabolites during interactions, or the increased diversity in metabolite production, could provide a route for elucidation of further compounds with pharmaceutical potential.

The increase in ligninolytic enzyme production that occurs in many interactions has potential to be used in industrial applications, mainly in biopulping and bioremediation. Ligninolytic enzymes are capable of in vitro transformation or mineralisation of a wide range of highly recalcitrant organopollutants including synthetic dyes, pesticides, munition wastes and fuel additives (Pointing et al., 2005). Enhanced degradation of pollutants during interactions has been reported during co-culture of white rot fungi and microorganisms, and there is potential for using this in bioremediation of contaminated soils (Baldrian, 2004). Production of laccase and peroxidases by certain white rot fungi, most notably T. versicolor, have been shown to bleach and delignify kraft pulp, a product of the common chemical delignification method used in paper-making (Paice et al., 1989), which is a more environmentally-friendly alternative to the current bleaching methods. Co-culturing of fungi can increase lignin decomposition, although it depends on the combination of species used (Chi et al., 2007). However, despite the potential of using fungi in these treatments, it takes much longer than the chemical methods (Addleman and Archibald, 1993), and the current level of understanding of the processes involved is too inadequate to be industrially viable.

1.13 Project objectives

Little is known about the chemical basis of interspecific interactions between saprotrophic basidiomycetes. The relationship between interaction outcome and production of enzymes and metabolites has not been explored. Nor have the differences in enzyme production and combative ability between different isolates, at different stages of the fungal lifecycle. A better understanding of the chemicals and enzymes involved in interactions, and how they are regulated, may help lead to a better understanding of the fungi themselves. Previous work used a single species, *T. versicolor*, to investigate changes in gene expression where it replaced, deadlocked with, or was replaced by a competitor (Eyre, 2007). *T. versicolor* was suitable because it is a common species with intermediate combative ability (late primary to early secondary coloniser), and thus displays a range of interaction outcomes with other species. To this end, the objectives of this project are:

• Qualitatively (activity staining) and quantitatively (enzyme assays) measure changes in activity of laccase and peroxidases during interactions involving T. versicolor that display a range of outcomes

• Use semi-quantitative RT-PCR to compare laccase and peroxidase gene expression in T. versicolor mycelia during interactions with a range of outcomes

• Compare enzyme activity and gene expression in different regions of T. versicolor mycelia during interactions

• Use GC/MS (gas chromatography-mass spectrometry) to identify the profile of VOCs produced during interactions involving T. versicolor and make comparisons to self-pairing VOC profiles

• Determine whether VOC and DOC profiles are directly antagonistic, and/or whether they act as long-distance chemical signals, by exposing them to remote mycelia

• Compare combative ability and enzyme production between isolates of T. versicolor, and establish whether there are any differences in these characters between homokaryons and heterokaryons

Chapter 2

Ligninolytic enzyme activity during interspecific interactions

2.1 Introduction

There is considerable evidence for the up-regulation of ligninolytic enzymes during antagonistic interactions between wood decay species (Freitag and Morrell, 1992; White and Boddy, 1992; Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Baldrian, 2004; Chi et al., 2007; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006; Peiris, 2009). The extent of the increase in activity differs, depending on the innate enzyme producing ability of a species, and the combination of species interacting (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Chi et al., 2007). Within interacting mycelia, spatial patterns of activity are inconsistent between interaction combinations, although some general trends have been observed. For example, the interactioninduced increase in mycelial laccase decreased with distance from the interaction zone (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). As yet, no study has fully investigated the links between ligninolytic enzyme activity during interactions and the outcomes of these interactions. Though their primary role is in lignin degradation, the highly oxidative and non-specific nature of laccase and peroxidase permits a variety of other potential roles. Laccase and peroxidase activity have been shown to increase during interactions (White and Boddy, 1992; Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Baldrian, 2004; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006; Chi et al., 2007; Peiris, 2009), and also in fungal cultures exposed to abiotic stress such as temperature (Fink-Boots et al., 1999), heavy metals (Baldrian et al., 2005) and oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006a). Activities of laccase and peroxidases are not necessarily coincident within interactions, indicating differences in their roles (White and Boddy, 1992).

Accumulation of ROS and H_2O_2 is associated with interaction zones, likened to the oxidative burst defence reaction of plant and animal cells (Tornberg and Olsson, 2002; Silar, 2005), and increased laccase and MnP production has been reported in fungal cultures in response to chemically-induced oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006a,b). Peroxidases could mediate oxidative stress by removing H_2O_2 ; catalase levels are also known to increase in T. versicolor cultures during periods of oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006a; Zhao et al., 2009), and production may increase during interactions for the same purpose. Laccase and peroxidases are involved in the generation of melanins which may protect hyphae from toxic compounds and ROS (Henson et al., 1999). Interestingly, peroxidases may also function aggressively to degrade the melanins of an opponent, as MnP effects degradation of both synthetic and natural melanins (Henson et al., 1999). Laccase may directly detoxify antagonistic compounds, as it is known to detoxify fungicides in yeast (Baldrian, 2006). Production of laccase and peroxidase may be stimulated by toxins themselves, as production has been shown to increase in cultures exposed to competitor DOCs (diffusible organic compounds; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006; Peiris, 2009). Increased enzyme activity may also be a result of changes in morphology, as increases in laccase and peroxidases were detected during production of hyphal cords in *H. fasciculare*, and concurrent with the change from coenocytic to septate mycelium in *Phlebia rufa* and *P. radiata* which occurs prior to production of

barrages and replacement fronts (Griffith et al., 1994; Rayner et al., 1994).

Aside from a defensive function, increased laccase and peroxidase activity during interactions may imply increased acquisition of nutrients, and there is evidence of increased production of non-ligninolytic enzymes involved in wood decomposition. Activity of β glucosidase, an exo-cleaving cellulase which primarily functions to hydrolyse cellobiose oligomers to glucose, increased during interactions between T. versicolor and Trichoderma harzianum (Freitag and Morrell, 1992). Acid phosphatase occurs in ascomycetes and basidiomycetes, and functions to release P_i from organophosphates. Acid phosphatase activity could function during interactions to release bound organophosphates from captured opponent mycelium (Reyes et al., 1990). Increased chitinase activity occurred during interactions involving Hypholoma fasciculare, Resinicium bicolor and Coniophora arida (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006). Chitinases function to degrade chitin, and the chitinous cell walls of previous colonisers would be an important nitrogen source for later colonisers (Patil et al., 2000). Other roles of chitinases during interactions include morphological changes, cell wall modifications, or permeabilisation of competitor cell walls to allow entry of toxic or antifungal compounds (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006).

Trametes versicolor is one of the most efficient lignin decomposers, due to its ability to produce high levels of ligninolytic enzymes during growth on natural or artificial media, including laccase, LiP, MnP and MRP (Mn-repressed peroxidase). Probably the majority of work done on *T. versicolor* enzyme production has aimed to assess the impact of culture conditions on enzyme activities, to take advantage of its ligninolytic abilities in industrial processes. Changes in ligninolytic enzyme activity occur during growth on several different substrates and nutrient regimes (White and Boddy, 1992; Archibald et al., 1997; Schlosser et al., 1997; Mikiashvili et al., 2005) and also during interactions with a range of species (Freitag and Morrell, 1992; White and Boddy, 1992; Baldrian, 2004). With the exception of studies that use plate-based assays to screen for enzyme production, the majority of research into ligninolytic enzyme activity during interactions has been performed in liquid culture. Liquid culture is inappropriate for several reasons. There is diffuse mixing of mycelia rather than the delimited, defended territories observed in natural interactions. This makes it nearly impossible to deduce which combatant, if not both, is responsible for any enzyme activity. Also, most of the mycelial growth is submerged, which would affect the oxygen availability. Other studies have used wood shavings or soil, and although working with natural substrata is most ecologically relevant, agar culture has the advantage of being consistent in terms of nutrients, allows sampling of different regions within the mycelia of interacting fungi, and provides a much more realistic interface than in liquid culture. Interactions on agar plates have been used to qualitatively stain for laccase activity during the interaction between *Heterobasidion annosum* and *Resinicium bicolor* (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000).

The aim of this study was to investigate changes in enzyme activity during interactions involving *T. versicolor* that result in a range of outcomes. The role of ligninolytic enzymes as a defence mechanism to biotic and abiotic stress leads to the hypothesis that ligninolytic enzyme production is highest in interactions where *T. versicolor* is replaced by the competitor, compared to where it is successful (replaces or deadlocks with the competitor), and that enzyme activity declines as distance from the interaction zone increases. Assaying the activity of chitinase, acid phosphatase and β -glucosidase during interactions assesses whether increased nutrient acquisition is occurring, which is a potential reason for the increased activity of ligninolytic enzymes. Cell-free competitor diffusibles were used to test whether the physical presence of the competitor is necessary to stimulate antagonistic responses in *T. versicolor*. The effects of enhancing MnP production on laccase activity and interaction outcomes were also tested.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Isolates and culture conditions

Strains of *Trametes versicolor* (TvD2) and six other wood decay fungi were obtained from the Cardiff University Fungal Ecology Group culture collections (Table 2.1). Isolates were chosen to display a range of outcomes during interactions with *T. versicolor* (Table 2.1). Cultures were maintained on 2% (w/v) malt agar (MA; 20 g Munton and Fison spray malt; 20 g Lab M agar No. 2; distilled water) in 9 cm plastic non-vented Petri dishes (Greiner Bio-one, Austria), incubated upside down at 20°C in the dark. For each interspecific pairing 6 mm diameter plugs were removed from the margins of actively growing colonies using a No. 3 cork borer and inoculated 30 mm apart on 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Slower-growing species were inoculated earlier to ensure that competing mycelia met in the centre of the plate.

Table 2.1: Competitor isolates and the outcome of their interaction with T. versicolor D2 on 2% MA.

Ecological role ^a	Species	Strain	Outcome of interaction with T. versicolor Replacement by T. versicolor					
Primary coloniser	Stereum gausapatum	Sg1						
	Daldinia concentrica	Dc290495	Replacement by T. versicolor					
Early secondary coloniser	Bjerkandera adusta	BaMA313	Deadlock/partial replacement of T. versicolor					
Heart rotter	Fomes fomentarius	Ff1	Deadlock					
Late secondary coloniser	Hypholoma fasciculare	GTWV2	Replacement by H. fasciculare GTWV2					
		DD2	Replacement by H. fasciculare DD2					

^a, Rayner and Boddy (1988)

2.2.2 Localisation of enzyme activity by staining

Interspecific interactions involving *T. versicolor* vs. *S. gausapatum*, *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 or *B. adusta*, and self-pairings, were set up in triplicate. Localisation of lac-

case activity was determined in 9 cm Petri dishes of 2% MA plus 250 mg l^{-1} ABTS (2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt), which is oxidised to form a green/violet product. MnP activity was localised by growth on 2% MA plus 0.5 mM manganese chloride (MnCl₂·4H₂O), which is oxidised to form a brown precipitate (Steffen et al., 2000). LiP activity was localised by growth on 2% MA plus 0.02% (w/v) Azure B which is decolorised by LiP oxidation (Pointing et al., 2005). Photographs were taken with a Nikon Coolpix camera 2 d, 8 d 1 month and 2 months after establishment of mycelial contact, and for ABTS and Azure B photographs were taken on a lightbox in a dark room. Interaction outcomes were assessed visually after 2 months.

General peroxidase activity and superoxide accumulation were visualised at three times, following methods adapted from Silar (2005). 2.5 mM diaminobenzidine (DAB) in 0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer at pH 6.9 was used to stain for peroxidase activity (in the presence of H_2O_2). Superoxide was localised using 2.5 mM nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) in 5 mM (*n*-morpholino) propane sulfonate-NaOH (MOPS) at pH 7.6. Interactions at 2, 5 and 8 d post-contact on 2% MA in 9 cm Petri dishes were flooded with either stain, and incubated with gentle rotation for 30 min. The stain was drained off and the development of coloured precipitate recorded after 4 h. Areas with general peroxidase activity developed a red precipitate, areas with superoxide accumulation developed a purple precipitate. Control plates were supplemented with buffer only.

2.2.3 Sample preparation for enzyme assays

Interspecific interactions between T. versicolor and the six combatant species (Table 2.1), plus all relevant self-pairing controls, were set up as previously described on 16 ml 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Material was removed for extraction at 2 d and

Chapter 2: Ligninolytic enzyme activity - staining and assays

8 d after establishment of mycelial contact for combinations involving *S. gausapatum*, *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* - 8 d interactions showed the greatest difference in activity between treatments so material was removed at 8 d only for other interactions. Six plugs (5 mm diam.) were removed with a no. 2 cork borer from each of four regions of the interacting mycelia: the interaction zone itself (IZ); just behind the interaction zone in *T. versicolor* (A); 30-40 mm from the interaction zone within the *T. versicolor* mycelium (B); and just behind the interaction zone in the competitors' mycelium (C; Figure 2.1). Total area of mycelium extracted was 118 mm² per region (approx. 200 mg wet weight). For self-pairings of combatant species, plugs were removed from the interaction zone only. Interactions were also set up on 16 ml 2% MA enriched with 0.5 mM MnCl₂·4.H₂O, and plugs were removed from 8 d-old interactions.



Figure 2.1: Sampling of interacting mycelia for enzyme extraction. *T. versicolor* is on the left. Six agar plugs were removed from each of four different regions. Region 'IZ' corresponds to the interaction zone; 'A' is just behind the interaction zone in the *T. versicolor* mycelium; 'B' is further back in the *T. versicolor* mycelium; 'C' is just behind the interaction zone in the mycelium of the competitor.

Plugs were cut in half and transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube, to which 1 ml deionised water was added. Tubes were shaken gently at 4°C overnight, then 0.8 ml

of extract removed and centrifuged $(8,000 \ g)$ for 10 min at 4°C to pellet any debris. Extracts were kept at 4°C and assays performed immediately. Three replicate plates for each region, isolate and time-point were used. Data were normalised to the wet weight of agar plus mycelium extracted for each sample.

Normalisation of the data proved tricky. Mycelium is so fine that it is hard to quantify areas of high density, which occur at interaction zones. Liquid grown cultures tend to have enough protein content in extracts to be quantified, whilst studies that use natural substrates tend to normalise to the dry weight of substrate. Here, the protein contents of extracts were below the level of detection of a Bradford assay, and total protein extraction of the mycelial plugs was unsuccessful, probably because the plugs were mostly agar. The dry weight of agar plus mycelium (i.e. the plugs) for each extract was measured, but were too variable to be explained by differences in mycelial coverage, and were probably caused by fluctuations in agar content. Measurements of fungal biomass such as ergosterol content were beyond the scope of this experiment as they require serial runs of HPLC (high performance liquid chromatography). It was decided that it was best to normalise data to the wet weight of the sample, ensuring that a fixed area of mycelial coverage was extracted from each region. It should be taken into consideration that mycelial density may fluctuate in different regions of an interaction, but this was controlled for as much as possible.

2.2.4 Assays

Laccase (EC 1.10.3.2) activity was measured by monitoring the oxidation of ABTS in citrate-phosphate buffer (100 mM citrate, 200 mM phosphate, pH 5.0), following Bourbonnais and Paice (1990). 50 μ l extracts were added to wells of a well Bioscreen C plate (100-well plate; Oy Growth Curves Ab Ltd., Finland) and 150 μ l citrate-phosphate buffer added to all sample-containing wells using a multichannel pipette.

50 μ l 0.08% (w/v) ABTS was added to wells using a multichannel pipette and the plate was immediately transferred to a Bioscreen C plate reader (Oy Growth Curves Ab Ltd., Finland). Formation of a green coloration was followed spectrophotometrically at 420 nm. Activity was calculated using the molar extinction coefficient of ABTS (36,000 M cm⁻³). One unit of enzyme activity was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 μ mol of product per min.

Activity of MnP (EC 1.11.1.13) was assayed according to Ngo and Lenhoff (1980) in succinate-lactate buffer (100 mM, pH 4.5). MBTH (3-methyl-2-benzothiazolinehydrazone hydrochloride) and DMAB (3-(dimethyl amino)-benzoic acid) were oxidatively coupled by MnP action, and formation of a purple indamine dye followed spectrophometrically at 590 nm. 50 μ l extracts were added to wells of a Bioscreen II plate, 200 μ l substrate solution was added using a multichannel pipette, and plates were immediately transferred to a Bioscreen C plate reader. The substrate solution comprised 25 mM DMAB and 1 mM MBTH in 100 mM succinate-lactate buffer with 2 mM MnSO₄ and 5 mM hydrogen peroxide. The results were corrected by activity of samples: (1) without manganese, where manganese sulphate was replaced by 2 mM EDTA (ethylene diamine tetraacetate) to chelate Mn present in the extract, and (2) in the absence of H₂O₂ to allow detection of activity of oxidases but not peroxidases.

Lignin peroxidase (EC 1.11.1.14) activity was measured according to Collins et al. (1996) by monitoring the oxidation of veratryl alcohol (3,4-dimethoxybenzyl alcohol) to veratraldehyde in 250 mM tartaric acid buffer (pH 2.5) containing 5 mM H₂O₂. 130 μ l sample was mixed with 50 μ l 10 mM veratryl alcohol, 50 μ l tartaric acid and 20 μ l H₂O₂, and transferred to a quartz cuvette. The change in absorbance at 310 nm was followed using a Helios UV-vis spectrophotometer (Tecan, USA) and readings taken every 30 s for 5 min.

The activity of β -glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.21) was assayed in microplates using *p*-nitrophenyl-

 β -D-glucoside (pNPG; Glycosynth, UK) as described previously (Valášková et al., 2007). 40 μ l sample was pipetted into 96-well plates (Nunc, Nalgene) in duplicate. Reaction mixture was added to both aliquots at the same time and plates incubated at 37°C. The reaction mixture consisted of 160 μ l 1.2 M pNPG in 50 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 5.0). Activity was measured by stopping the reaction with 100 μ l 0.5 M sodium carbonate after 2 min in one replicate and 120 min in the other, and absorbance was measured at 405 nm using a Dynex MRX plate reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd., Sussex, UK). Enzyme activity was calculated using the molar extinction coefficient of *p*-nitrophenol (11,600 M cm⁻³). One unit of enzyme activity (U) was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 μ mol of *p*-nitrophenyl per minute. Activity of phosphomonoesterase (acid phosphatase; EC 3.1.3.2) and 1,4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (chitinase; EC 3.2.1.50) were assayed using *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP; Glycosynth, UK) and *p*-nitrophenyl N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminide (pNPN; Glycosynth, UK), respectively, using the same method.

Catalase activity was assayed by measuring decomposition of H_2O_2 (Beers and Sizer, 1952; Cakmak et al., 1993). The substrate solution comprised 0.035% (v/v) H_2O_2 in 50 mM potassium phosphate monobasic buffer (pH 7.0). The absorbance at 240 nm of the substrate solution was measured in a quartz cuvette in a Helios UV-vis spectrophotometer (Tecan, USA), using 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer as a blank; if the A_{240} of the substrate solution was outside 0.520-0.550 absorbance units, H_2O_2 was added to increase the absorbance or buffer added to decrease the absorbance. 0.1 ml enzyme extract was added to 2.9 ml substrate solution and mixed. The time required for the absorbance to decrease from 0.450 to 0.400 absorbance units was measured and used to calculate catalase activity. This method was modified to deal with pigmented solutions; enzyme extract and buffer were mixed and used to blank the spectrophotometer, H_2O_2 added and the time taken for the A_{240} to decrease from 0.450 to 0.400 measured.

2.2.5 Effect of interaction diffusibles

Interspecific interactions involving *T. versicolor* vs. *S. gausapatum*, *B. adusta* or *H. fasciculare* GTWV2, and self-pairings of these fungi and *F. fomentarius*, were set up in ReacsynTM vessels (Biodiversity, Enfield, UK). ReacsynTM vessels are compartmentalised polypropylene bottles designed to allow sampling of culture medium and headspace volatiles (Figure 2.2). Plugs (6 mm diam.) from agar cultures were made with a no. 3 cork borer and placed 30 mm apart on a filter paper support, resting on 35 ml 2% malt broth (20 g l⁻¹ Lab M malt extract; distilled water). The mycelia colonise horizontally across the paper support and also penetrate into the broth. This has the advantage that mycelia have non-submerged discrete domains rather than the interspersal of mycelia that occurs in liquid culture. *H. fasciculare* was inoculated 2 days before *T. versicolor* to ensure mycelia were of similar size on contact. Vessels were incubated at 20°C in the dark. Mycelia met approximately 3 days post-inoculation, and were left to interact for a further 7 days. Uninoculated vessels containing broth only were used as control treatments.



Figure 2.2: A ReacsynTM vessel.

Culture broths from duplicate interactions were combined and paper-filtered (grade 541, Whatman International, Kent, UK) to remove large pieces of mycelium, then filter-sterilised (Minisart 0.20 μ m pore size syringe filter, Sartorius Stedim Biotech., France). Culture extracts were stored at 4°C and used on the same day as extraction to minimise effects of deterioration. 1 ml culture extract was pipetted onto the surface of a 9 cm Petri dish containing 16 ml 2% MA. A sterile glass spreader was used to ensure even coverage of the agar surface, and plates were left open in a laminar flow hood until surface liquid had been absorbed/evaporated. To assess the effect of H₂O₂ on extension and enzyme production, 0.576 ml 30% H₂O₂ was added to 30 ml 2% malt broth. This was filtered, filter-sterilised and added to agar plates in the same way as broth containing diffusibles, giving an end concentration of 10 mM H₂O₂ in each 16 ml agar plate. This concentration was chosen because it is known to be inhibitory but not fungistatic to *T. versicolor* (Dr J Hunt, pers. comm.).

Effects of diffusibles on extension rate and enzyme production

Plugs of *T. versicolor*, *S. gausapatum*, *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* were inoculated centrally onto modified plates. Five replicates were performed for each species with each treatment. Extension rates of these 'target' mycelia were determined by measuring colony diameter daily along two axes perpendicular to each other using Vernier calipers (Swiss Precision Instruments Inc., CA, USA). After 7 d *T. versicolor* was harvested for enzyme assays. Six plugs of agar were made with a No. 2 cork borer (5 mm diameter) along a chord from the inoculum to the growing margin (i.e. plugs were taken from both older and younger regions of the mycelium). Plugs were transferred to a pre-weighed 1.5 ml Eppendorf and enzyme extraction and assays were performed as previously described. The analysis was performed in two batches, and enzyme activity of *T. versicolor* growing alone on unmodified agar was used to normalise the data.

2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical comparisons of enzyme activity and extension rates were performed using one-way ANOVA, where data met the required assumptions: that residuals are normally distributed (Anderson-Darling test) with equal variances between groups (Levene's test). Significant results were further tested using the Tukey-Kramer *a posteriori* test to determine significant differences between means. If data did not meet the assumptions of ANOVA, Kruskal-Wallis tests in combination with *post hoc* Mann-Whitney U-tests were used. Two-sample t-tests (or Mann-Whitney U-tests if data were non-normally distributed) were used to compare enzyme activity in different regions of interactions with the equivalent regions in *T. versicolor* or competitor self-pairings. All tests were performed in Minitab (v. 15, Minitab Ltd., Coventry, UK).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 General observations on morphology during interspecific interactions

In interspecific interactions between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare, mycelial morphology changed following contact. Mycelia met after 3 d in agar culture, or 5 d after inoculation into ReacsynTM vessels. Mycelial barrages formed at the interaction zone in T. versicolor vs. S. gausapatum (TvSg, resulting in replacement by T. versicolor) and T. versicolor vs. B. adusta (TvBa, resulting in deadlock) 1 d after mycelia had met, but later in T. versicolor vs. H. fasciculare GTWV2 (TvHf, resulting in replacement of T. versicolor). A bright yellow-orange pigment was present in the agar in the interaction zone in TvSg just after contact,

Chapter 2: Ligninolytic enzyme activity - staining and assays

but no pigmentation developed in TvBa, and did not occur until later stages in TvHf (Figure 2.3). Morphology was generally qualitatively consistent between replicates.



Figure 2.3: Interactions involving *T. versicolor* (left) against: A, *S. gausapatum*; B, *B. adusta*; C, *H. fasciculare.* Taken 4 d after mycelia had met.

2.3.2 Staining

Strong laccase activity was associated with interaction zones in all three pairings (Figure 2.4; Appendix Figure B.1), irrespective of outcome. However there was clearing at the interaction zone in TvSg and TvBa, but not in TvHf (Figure 2.4 A, F, K). Clearing indicates a greater laccase production in these interactions (with further oxidation of ABTS to a colourless derivative) compared to the interaction with *H. fasciculare* where *T. versicolor* is replaced. Laccase activity was also associated with the growing margins of *T. versicolor* cultures; older regions of the mycelium were initially stained purple (results not shown) but by 5 d the areas around the inocula were cleared again indicating high levels of laccase activity (Figure 2.4 A, F, K).

MnP activity occurred in older regions of *T. versicolor* mycelia, forming a diffuse zone around the inoculum (Figure 2.4 B, G, L; Appendix Figure B.2). There was distinct association of MnP activity along the length of the interaction zone in TvSg and TvBa



Figure 2.4: Localisation of laccase, MnP, general peroxidase, LiP and superoxide by staining interactions involving *T. versicolor* on 2% MA. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. A-E, vs. *S. gausapatum*; F-J, vs. *B. adusta*; K-O, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. A, F and K, laccase activity generates a purple stain, 2 d-old interactions; B, G and L, MnP activity results in deposition of a brown precipitate, 8 d-old interactions; C, H and M, peroxidase reacts with DAB to form a red-brown precipitate, 8 d-old interactions; D, I and N, LiP activity causes decolorisation of the blue Azure B dye, 8 d-old interactions; E, J and O, superoxide reacts with NBT to form a purple precipitate, 8 d-old interactions.

(Figure 2.4 B, G), but was patchy along the TvHf interaction zone with activity in regions where *H. fasciculare* invasive hyphal cords began to develop (Figure 2.4 L). The presence of Mn^{2+} affected the interaction outcome of TvHf, which resulted in deadlock, rather than the replacement of *T. versicolor* by *H. fasciculare* that occurred in the absence of Mn^{2+} . General peroxidase activity was associated with interaction zones again irrespective of interaction outcome. In TvSg there was activity at the replacing *T. versicolor* front, at the TvBa interaction barrage, and the invasive *H. fasciculare* hyphal cords in TvHf (Figure 2.4 C, H, M; Appendix Figure B.4). There was also general peroxidase activity around the inoculum in TvBa at 8 d but not in TvSg or TvHf. LiP activity occurred within the mycelia of *T. versicolor* and *B. adusta*, but there was no clear association with the interaction zones of TvSg or TvBa (Figure 2.4 D, I, N), although in TvSg decolorisation may be masked by dense mycelium at the interaction zone as a thin zone of activity can be seen in earlier stages of the interaction (Figure Appendix B.3). LiP activity occurs where *H. fasciculare* invasive hyphal cords are overgrowing *T. versicolor* mycelium at the interaction zone (Figure 2.4 N).

Superoxide accumulation was associated with interaction zones, again irrespective of interaction outcome (Figure 2.4 E, J, O; Appendix Figure B.5). The pattern of accumulation at interaction zones was roughly similar to general peroxidase activity, although there was no superoxide accumulation around the inoculum in TvBa. Some accumulation of superoxide occurred in the *T. versicolor* mycelium in TvHf (Figure 2.4 O).

2.3.3 Enzyme activity of *T. versicolor* self-pairings on 2% MA

Activity of laccase, MnP, β -glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase were detected in culture extracts of *T. versicolor*; production by competitors varied (Table 2.2). LiP, catalase and Mn-independent peroxidase activity were not detected either 2 or 8 d after contact in *T. versicolor* self-pairings or during interactions (Table 2.2). There were no significant differences (P > 0.05) in laccase activity in any region of *T. versicolor* self-pairings at 2 or 8 d after contact (Table 2.2), but for the other enzymes detected there were significant differences (P ≤ 0.05) in activity levels in different regions of the *T. versicolor* self-pairing.



Figure 2.5: Activity of laccase and MnP in different regions of 2 and 8 d-old *T. versicolor* self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 (TvHf). Bars are mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons are made separately for each enzyme and time, within a region different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05).

2.3.4 Enzyme activity

Differences in enzyme activity between regions was distinct, with highly localised production at the interaction zone. For example, 3219 mU g⁻¹ laccase activity was detected in IZ (interaction zone) extracts of 8 d TvSg, whilst in the A region (immediately behind the IZ in *T. versicolor*) there was only 450 mU g⁻¹ activity, and only 0.2 mU g⁻¹ activity in the C region (adjacent to the interaction zone in the competitor mycelium; Table 2.2). Differences in enzyme activity between interactions, or between regions within an interaction, were more pronounced at 8 d than 2 d (Figure 2.5).

At 8 d, laccase activity was highest in the IZ region in all interactions except TvFf (interaction with F. fomentarius; Figure 2.6). Similarly, MnP activity was also highest in the IZ, although it was significantly higher than both A and B regions only in TvDc, TvFf and TvHf-D (interaction with *H. fasciculare* DD3; Figure 2.6). There were no significant differences (P > 0.05) in laccase or MnP activity between the A and B regions of any interaction, with the single exception of 8 d TvSg where laccase activity in the A region was significantly higher (P ≤ 0.01) than in the B region (Figure 2.6). Thus in general there was a sharp drop from the IZ to regions behind the IZ. The activity in the C region, i.e. the competitor mycelium, varied depending on the species, but in all interactions laccase activity in the C region was lower than in the A region, indicating higher levels of laccase production by T. versicolor than by the competitors. In all interactions bar one (TvDc) the extracted C regions were colonised by the competitor only. However, in TvDc, MnP was detected in the C region which implies overgrowth of D. concentrica by T. versicolor; as an ascomycete, D. concentrica would not produce peroxidases capable of oxidising Mn^{2+} . This was not visually discernible when extractions were performed.

For all enzymes detected, there was significantly (P ≤ 0.05) higher enzyme activity in interactions than in self-pairings of at least one of the competitors (Table 2.2).

Enzyme	Region	Activity mU g^{-1} wet weight												
		TvTv	SgSg	TvSg	DcDc	TvDc	BaBa	TvBa	FfFf	TvFf	HfHf	TvHf	Hf-DHf-D	TvHf-D
	IZ	216.0	27.3	3218.9*†	0.0	877.8*†	1.0	871.6*†	0.7	141.8†	31.4	417.1*†	23.3	1095.4*†
Laccase	A	238.3	-	449.8*	-	263.4	-	376.6*	-	149.1	-	253.6	-	260.0
	В	243.7	-	74.5*	-	189.7	-	222.2	-	215.5	-	202.7	-	226.9
	С	-	-	0.2 †	-	221.7 †a	-	5.9	-	3.3 †	-	122.6 †	-	173.1 †
	IZ	0.0	2.7	33.6*†	0.0	10.4*†	3.9	11.0*†	0.0	5.9*†	8.9	8.7*	6.1	22.4*†
MnP	Α	0.0	-	7.7*	-	0.9	-	6.8*	-	0.0	-	6.1*	-	1.7*
	В	0.0	-	2.6*	-	0.0	-	4.7*	-	0.0	-	6.3*	-	2.2*
	С	-	-	6.0	-	3.8 †a	-	6.0	-	0.2	-	6.6	-	9.3
	IZ	5.6	12.9	11.7*	15.7	4.9 †	4.6	37.7*†	2.8	2.0*	6.2	3.4 †	1.9	2.8 †
β-	A	7.8	-	4.5*	-	6.4*	-	6.0	-	4.4*	-	10.5	-	8.3
glucosidase	В	11.1	-	1.3*	-	6.0	-	8.9	-	7.4*	-	8.3	-	8.2
	C	-	-	3.9 †	-	7.3 †a	-	2.4	-	4.1	-	7.3	-	3.6 †
	IZ	0.4	13.3	3.7*†	49.1	1.0 †	3.8	10.0*	9.4	1.1 †	0.6	1.5*†	0.5	1.1
Chitinase	Α	0.5	-	0.8	-	0.9	-	0.8	-	0.4	-	1.7*	-	0.7
	В	1.0	-	0. 3*	-	0.8	-	0.8	-	0.7	-	1.2	-	0.7
	C	-	-	4.7 †	-	19.5 †a	-	1.0 †	-	10.4	-	0.1	-	0.1 †
	IZ	2.1	9.4	19.5*†	53.2	8.4*†	0.4	10.0*†	3.2	4.4*	3.9	2.9 †	5.2	3.6 †
Acid	A	2.8	-	2.0	-	3.7	-	1.8	-	3.2	-	2.9	-	3.1
Phosphatase	В	4.3	-	0.9*	-	3.0	-	1.5*	-	4.6	-	2.1*	-	3.5
	C	-	-	10.5	-	44.7 a	-	0.4	-	3.8	-	6.0 †	-	6.9 †

Table 2.2: Extracellular enzyme activity of *T. versicolor* and competitors in 8 d-old interactions.

Values given are means of three replicates. *, significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the corresponding region in the *T. versicolor* self-pairing (TvTv); \dagger , significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the competitor self-pairing; -, samples not taken from this region; *a*, competitor probably overgrown by *T. versicolor*; IZ, interaction zone; A, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within *T. versicolor* mycelium; B, the region further back within *T. versicolor* mycelium; C, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within competitor mycelium.



Chapter 2: Ligninolytic enzyme activity - staining and assays

Figure 2.6: Activity of laccase and MnP in different regions of 8 d *T. versicolor* selfpairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *D. concentrica* (TvDc), *B. adusta* (TvBa), *F. fomentarius* (TvFf), *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 (TvHf) or *H. fasciculare* DD2 (TvHf-D). Bars are mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons are made separately for each enzyme and interaction, within a pairing different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05) between regions.

In fact laccase and MnP activities were significantly (P ≤ 0.05) higher at the IZ than in self-pairings of either competitor in TvSg, TvDc, TvBa and TvHf-D (Table 2.2). However in TvHf only laccase activity was significantly (P ≤ 0.05) higher than in self-pairings of either competitor (Table 2.2), and in TvFf non-contact inhibition occurred and the activity of all enzymes were distinctly lower in the IZ, A and C regions compared to other interactions (Table 2.2). There were few differences in activity in the A and B regions of interactions compared to the equivalent regions in T. versicolor self-pairings, with the notable exception of TvSg B region which had significantly (P ≤ 0.01) lower activity of all enzymes compared with the TvTv B region (Table 2.2). For β -glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase, differences in activity in different regions of interacting T. versicolor mycelia were small and varied depending on the competitor, and, where significant differences compared to the T. versicolor self-pairing occurred, it was most frequently a decrease in activity in the A and B regions (Table 2.2).

2.3.5 Enzyme activity during interactions on Mn²⁺-enriched agar

Growth on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar stimulated laccase production in *T. versicolor* mycelia during interaction with *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 (Figures 2.5 and 2.7). At 8 d laccase activities in the IZ and A regions of TvHf were significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher than the equivalent regions in TvTv on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar, which did not occur during growth on 2% MA (Figures 2.5 and 2.7). However, *H. fasciculare* laccase activity appeared to be repressed on the Mn^{2+} -enriched agar since there were no changes in laccase activity in the TvHf C region relative to *H. fasciculare* self-pairings, despite a significant ($P \le 0.05$) increase during interactions on non-enriched agar (Figure 2.8). There were no significant differences (P > 0.05) between changes in laccase or MnP activity relative to self-pairings in the TvBa or TvSg C regions when grown on enriched or non-enriched agar (Figure 2.8). Growth on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar stimulated MnP activity in the *T. versicolor* self-pairing where it was detectable in all three regions. It also affected the pattern of MnP activity at the IZ, which was similar to the pattern of laccase activity: all interactions had significantly (P ≤ 0.05) higher activity than TvTv, with TvSg > TvHf > TvBa (Figure 2.7). Similar patterns of activity between laccase and MnP did not occur in the A and B regions.



Figure 2.7: Activity of laccase and MnP on Mn²⁺-enriched agar, in different regions of 8 d *T. versicolor* self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 (TvHf). Bars are mean \pm SEM. Statistical comparisons are made separately for each enzyme, within a region different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05).



Figure 2.8: Percentage change in laccase and MnP activity of antagonists *S. gausapatum, B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* GTWV2 during growth on unmodified and Mn²⁺enriched agar. Blue bars indicate growth on unmodified 2% MA; red bars are growth on Mn²⁺-enriched agar. Values are % change in activity of the C region of 8 d interactions with *T. versicolor* relative to the activity in self-pairings. Bars are the mean of three replicates, \pm SEM. Different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05) in activity between the treatments.

2.3.6 Effect of interaction diffusibles and hydrogen peroxide

Extension rate of *T. versicolor* decreased significantly ($P \le 0.05$) and *S. gausapatum* increased significantly ($P \le 0.05$) when grown on agar to which diffusibles from their self-pairings had been added compared to agar with no diffusibles (Table 2.3). *T. versicolor* extension rate was stimulated by diffusibles from the *S. gausapatum* self-pairing, and repressed by diffusibles from *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* self-pairings. Diffusibles from the *F. fomentarius* self-pairing inhibited extension of *T. versicolor*, *S.*
gausapatum and B. adusta, as did diffusibles from the interaction TvHf (Table 2.3). H. fasciculare extension rate, however, was not significantly affected by diffusibles from any of the pairings (Table 2.3). On agar containing 10 mM H₂O₂, extension rates of T. versicolor and S. gausapatum significantly decreased, by 30% and 50% respectively (Table 2.3). H. fasciculare and B. adusta were completely inhibited on the agar containing peroxide (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3: Extension rates of wood decay fungi grown on interaction diffusibles and H_2O_2 .

Agar	% of extension rate on blank treatment							
modification	T. versicolor	S.gausa patum	B. adusta	H. fasciculare				
Blank	100 ^b	100 ^b	100	100				
$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{v}\mathbf{T}\mathbf{v}$	90 ^a	$107 {}^{ab}$	87	91				
SgSg	$105 {}^{ab}$	124 ^a	103	111				
\mathbf{TvSg}	101 ^b	$106^{\ b}$	88	83				
BaBa	86 ^a	103 b	97	88				
TvBa	101 ^b	107 ^b	99	98				
HfHf	98	$103 \ ^b$	$69 {}^{ab}$	98				
TvHf	81 ^a	$72^{\ ab}$	70 ^{ab}	100				
FfFf	64 ab	50^{ab}	75 ^{ab}	83				
Peroxide	70 ^{ab}	50 ^{ab}	0 ab	0 ^{ab}				

Values given are means of 5 replicates. ^a, significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in extension rate compared to growth on agar modified with 'blank' diffusibles (i.e. uncolonised malt broth); ^b, significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in extension rate compared to growth on agar modified with diffusibles from the relevant self-pairing.

T. versicolor demonstrated significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower laccase activity on agar containing diffusibles from interactions TvSg, TvBa, TvHf and H. fasciculare self-pairings compared to growth normal 2% MA (Figure 2.9). There was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower activity of chitinase, acid phosphatase and MnP in cultures grown on agar containing TvTv self-pairing diffusibles compared to growth on normal 2% MA. Residual laccase activity was found on uninoculated agar plates modified with diffusibles, with the exception of diffusibles from self-pairings of S. gausapatum, B. adusta and F. fomentarius (Figure 2.9). The most striking differences in activity were the increases in MnP during growth on diffusibles from TvHf and the *S. gausapatum* self-pairing. Interestingly, MnP activity was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) decreased during growth on TvTv diffusibles compared to growth on normal 2% MA. Chitinase and acid phosphatase activity were significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower during growth on diffusibles from TvBa and the self-pairings of *T. versicolor*, *S. gausapatum*, *B.adusta* and *H. fasciculare* compared to growth on normal 2% MA. β -glucosidase activity was decreased by diffusibles from TvSg only. Addition of H₂O₂ to the substrate did not cause any differences in enzyme activity (Figure 2.9), but there was detection of chitinase activity in the uninoculated H₂O₂-agar blank which implies either contamination of the samples or that the H₂O₂ interfered with the chitinase assay.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Ligninolytic enzyme activity increased during interactions but was not linked to interaction outcome

Of the enzymes assayed, laccase showed the largest increase in activity during interactions: 14-fold that of self-pairings in the TvSg interaction zone at 8 d post-inoculation. This large laccase response agrees with previous findings for *T. versicolor* during interactions (White and Boddy, 1992; Baldrian, 2004, 2006). As has been previously reported, enzyme activity was higher at the interaction zone than in other regions of the interaction (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). However, the extent of this increase varied because of production by the competitor and/or modulation of the *T. versicolor* response based on the identity of the competitor. Different levels of enzymatic response to different competitors has been reported for a variety of interactions, including those involving *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Stereum hirsutum* (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Chi



Interaction diffusibles

Figure 2.9: Activity of selected enzymes secreted by T. versicolor during growth on interaction diffusibles or H₂O₂. Blue bars, activity of *T. versicolor* mycelia growing on the modified agar; green bars, activity of uninoculated modified agar; *, significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) to activity of T. versicolor growing on blank agar (i.e. no diffusibles); •, significantly different (P ≤ 0.05) to activity of blank agar.

et al., 2007; Peiris, 2009).

There were no clear patterns of laccase and MnP activity in interactions with different outcomes; similar patterns of activity occurred in the two interactions where T. versicolor replaced the competitor (TvSg and TvDc), one of the two interactions which resulted in deadlock (TvBa), and in the two interactions that resulted in replacement of T. versicolor (TvHf and TvHf-D). Enzyme activity in the interaction TvFf, which resulted in deadlock, was strikingly different to other interactions due to non-contact inhibition, with a clear zone occurring between the competing mycelia. These results differ from liquid culture interactions involving *S. hirsutum* (demonstrated to be the likely source of laccase), where ligninolytic enzyme activity was much higher in interactions where *S. hirsutum* was replaced than where it was successful (Peiris, 2009).

2.4.2 Enzyme activity was highly localised to different regions within interactions

The increases in ligninolytic enzyme activity at the IZ were highly localised, which could result from very specific production of enzymes and their co-factors, and implies very limited diffusion from the point of secretion. Similar localisation was found in interactions involving *H. fasciculare* and *Peniophora lycii*, with laccase activity highest in the interaction zone but much lower in other areas of the mycelium (Rayner et al., 1994). Staining for laccase, MnP and peroxidase also showed localised activity, although the laccase staining indicates more diffuse localisation than did the assays, most probably due to the diffusion of the reaction products. The stark contrasts in activity between different regions could be caused by secretion of enzyme inhibitors by one or both of the antagonists, which has been suggested for interactions between *T. versicolor* and *Trichoderma harzianum* (Freitag and Morrell, 1992).

2.4.3 Minor changes in enzyme activity were found in the A and B regions of interactions

Minor changes in enzyme activity occurred in the A and B regions of interacting T. versicolor mycelia compared to the T. versicolor self-pairing. Qualitative changes in laccase activity have been reported in regions of interacting mycelia away from the interaction zone, but these changes were not large (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). Here, the notable change was the decrease in laccase activity in the B region of TvSg. This may be because resources were being prioritised to the replacing front at the interaction zone, and away from regions further back in the T. versicolor mycelium. An overall pattern for laccase and MnP activity can be expressed as $IZ > A \ge B$ (i.e. activity in the IZ was greater than in A or B), but this pattern did not consistently occur for β -glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase. Whilst some significant increases in activity did occur at the IZ, the decreases in activity in A and B regions suggest that increased nutrient acquisition does not occur during interactions, perhaps resulting from the rich substrate: other regions do not need to support the interaction zone because nutrients are not limited. Similarly, activity of chitinase was not enhanced during interactions involving S. hirsutum on potato dextrose agar (Peiris, 2009). The chitinase assay used here is specific for exo-cleaving chitinases, which have a purely nutritional role, whereas endo-cleaving chitinases could function antagonistically and have been shown to increase in activity in some interactions (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006). Activity of β -glucosidase and chitinase in culture extracts may be underestimated because significant amounts of the exo-cleaving enzymes of T. versicolor are myceliumassociated to provide mono- and disaccharides for uptake into hyphae (Valášková and Baldrian, 2006). Thus although no increases in secreted enzyme activity were detected during interactions, increased production of enzymes involved in nutrient acquisition cannot be excluded.

2.4.4 The lack of LiP and catalase activity may be due to assay sensitivity or intracellular localisation

The lack of detectable LiP activity may have been due to low enzyme production, or due to low sensitivity of the assay. LiP activity at interaction zones was indicated by staining, but this could be attributable to low activity accumulating over time that was not detected by the assay. LiP has not previously been identified in the response to biotic stresses such as interactions (Baldrian, 2004; Peiris, 2009). Catalase activity was not detected in any region of any interaction, probably due to intracellular localisation of the enzyme, or again low sensitivity of the assay. Thus, extracellular H₂O₂ levels are likely to be regulated by other mechanisms. Whole mycelial extracts, rather than culture extracts, would be better suited to detect changes in catalase activity during interactions.

2.4.5 Addition of Mn²⁺ to the medium increased ligninolytic enzyme production

 Mn^{2+} is known to regulate MnP and MRP (Mn-repressed peroxidase) in *T. versicolor*, and it also alters the production of laccase (Johansson et al., 2002; Mikiashvili et al., 2005). Due to the abundance of Mn^{2+} in the substrate, production of MnP would be expected. On Mn^{2+} -enriched agar, there was a similar pattern of MnP and laccase activity at the interaction zone, implying similar regulation of these enzymes in this region when there is ample Mn^{2+} . At the TvSg interaction zone, laccase activity relative to TvTv was much higher during growth on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar compared to growth on 2% MA, but activity levels were similar in TvBa and TvHf relative to TvTv on both substrates. This may be caused by different susceptibility of the competitor to Mn^{2+} , or stimulation of laccase production by increased levels of quinone products of MnP activity, to function in their detoxification similar to the suggested role of laccase during lignin decomposition (Thurston, 1994; Solomon et al., 1996). The differences in laccase and MnP activity in the A and B regions of interactions during growth on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar suggests that whilst the roles of MnP and laccase may be similar at the interaction zone, roles in other areas of the mycelium are not. Abiotic conditions have previously been shown to alter interaction outcomes (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2000). Here, Mn^{2+} levels changed the outcome of interactions with *H. fasciculare* from replacement of *T. versicolor* to deadlock. This may have been caused by increased MnP production by *T. versicolor*, or the effects of Mn^{2+} on other factors.

2.4.6 DOCs affect extension rate but not ligninolytic enzyme production

The reduction of T. versicolor extension rate during growth on diffusibles from selfpairings of H. fasciculare GTWV2 and F. fomentarius implies constitutive production of antagonistic DOCs by these isolates. The reduction in T. versicolor extension rate to DOCs from interactions involving H. fasciculare may be a response to constitutive or interaction-specific DOCs. There was difficulty deciding on a suitable control: addition of plain malt broth (the 'blank' control) to agar plates would have increased the nutrient content of the plates more than those which had culture extracts added to them, which would have been depleted in nutrients by the previous colonisers. Also, using self-pairings as controls does not take into account any effects 'self' DOCs may have. Whichever control is used, laccase was not upregulated by DOCs from any selfpairing or interaction, and relative to the 'blank' control there was inhibition of laccase in response to DOCs from three interactions and the H. fasciculare self-pairing. Similarly, cell-free filtrates (DOCs) and sterilised culture homogenates of T. harzianum failed to increase laccase activity in T. versicolor (Baldrian, 2004). However, MnP activity was stimulated by diffusibles from S. gausapatum and interactions involving H. fasciculare.

It might be expected that chitinase and acid phosphatase activities would increase during growth on fungal diffusibles, which would likely contain wall fragments which could be degraded as nitrogen and phosphate sources. However, the reverse occurred in cultures grown on certain interaction diffusibles, and those grown on T. versicolor self-pairing diffusibles, with decreased levels of chitinase and acid phosphatase compared to the blank control. This may have been a result of nutrient depletion in liquid cultures compared to the broth control; because the response was the same to 'self' diffusibles it is unlikely to be a result of toxicity or enzyme inhibition.

2.4.7 H_2O_2 -inhibition of growth is not linked to changes in enzyme activity

The extension rate of *T. versicolor* was considerably inhibited by growth on agar containing H_2O_2 . The accumulation of H_2O_2 and superoxide is known to occur during interactions (Silar, 2005). Despite this, no significant changes in enzyme activity were detected. Laccase activity was increased relative to controls during growth on 10 mM H_2O_2 , although this was not supported by the statistics. MnP activity was not affected by growth on 10 mM H_2O_2 , which is surprising as peroxidases could function to remove excess H_2O_2 , thus reducing its potential to cause damage through oxidative stress. The increase in laccase activity could not directly mediate H_2O_2 stress in this way, but may be up-regulated to detoxify the quinone products of increased peroxidase activity (Thurston, 1994; Solomon et al., 1996). Although H_2O_2 can generate oxidative stress, it plays such a key role in ligninolysis that white rot fungi generate and regulate levels of it as part of normal growth. Addition of exogenous H_2O_2 to cultures of *T. versicolor* has previously been found to enhance activity of ligninolytic enzymes, although not as

effectively as the prooxidant paraquat (Zhao et al., 2009). H_2O_2 had more of an effect on the expression of intracellular antioxidant enzymes (such as catalase and superoxide dismutase), which were enhanced rapidly after addition of the H_2O_2 (Zhao et al., 2009). It would appear that addition of prooxidants such as paraquat or menadione to fungal cultures is an effective way of increasing ligninolytic enzyme activity, and are more suitable to test the involvement of ligninolytic enzymes in mediating oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006a,b; Zhao et al., 2009).

Chapter 3

Expression of genes encoding ligninolytic enzymes during interactions

3.1 Introduction

Although several studies have used enzyme assays to analyse the changes in ligninolytic enzyme activity during interactions, very few have looked at changes in their gene expression. There have been several studies examining global changes in gene expression during interactions using microarrays, detecting differences in expression of genes involved with stress responses and ROS, but not of ligninolytic enzymes (Iakovlev et al., 2004; Adomas et al., 2006; Eyre, 2007). Although expression of laccase genes during interactions involving *S. hirsutum* compared to growth alone has been analysed (Peiris, 2009), changes in expression of both laccase and peroxidase genes during interactions with a variety of outcomes have not yet been assessed.

Laccase and peroxidase sequences derived from basidiomycetes are highly conserved, with, on average, 58% and 54% similarity respectively (Conesa et al., 2002; Necochea et al., 2005). The copy number of laccase genes varies between species (Eggert et al., 1996), and laccase genes from different species may display a higher degree of homology than two laccase genes from the same species, probably due to a conserved function (Jönsson et al., 1995). Laccases and peroxidases are often secreted as multiple isozymes; the recently sequenced *P. chrysosporium* genome contains large and complex families of structurally related peroxidase genes, and large gene families have also been found in *Pleurotus* and *Ceriporiopsis* spp. (Camarero et al., 1999; Kersten and Cullen, 2007). The physiological significance of this multiplicity is unclear, perhaps conferring adaptability to different environmental conditions, or merely reflecting redundancy (Kersten and Cullen, 2007).

Genes encoding ligninolytic enzymes of Trametes versicolor have been extensively studied, with forty sequences for T. versicolor laccases and peroxidases accessioned in Gen-Bank (The National Centre for Biotechnology Information, NCBI, MD, USA: http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). Two databases of short sequences are also freely available online: the Concordia database (http://fungalgenomics.concordia.ca/fungi/Tver.php), and the EST (expressed sequence tag) library generated by Eyre (2007). T. versicolor produces high quantities of laccase and peroxidases, in multiple isozymes; in one study, 21 peroxidases were detected in carbon-limited cultures (Johansson and Nyman, 1993). This multiplicity has led to some confusion, as much of the previous work isolated laccase and peroxidase isozymes based on their chromatographic elution profiles, which introduces problems as sequences that are not closely related often share similar isoelectric points (Necochea et al., 2005). The situation is further complicated by the appearance of several isoforms of a particular isozyme due to differences in post-translational modification (e.g. glycosylation patterns; Necochea et al., 2005). This has led to an over-estimation of the number of laccase and peroxidase isozymes (Necochea et al., 2005).

Laccases in *T. versicolor* are encoded by at least four genes. There are twenty *T. versicolor* laccase sequences available from GenBank, sixteen of which cover the whole coding region of the gene. On the basis of amino acid sequence similarity, the sequences can be assigned to four groups: α , β , δ and γ (Figure 3.1; Necochea et al., 2005). High homology between sequences within these groups implies that these are closely related genes, perhaps allelic variants (Necochea et al., 2005). Laccase genes contain 10 introns, more or less uniformly distributed throughout the gene, ranging in size from 48 to 64 bp (Jönsson et al., 1995; Ong et al., 1997).

T. versicolor LiP and MnP are encoded by multigene families of clustered and unclustered genes, again producing a variety of isozymes (Johansson and Nyman, 1995). Both LiP and MnP genes contain 5-6 introns, most of which occur in conserved locations (Jönsson et al., 1995). There appears to be production of a greater number of LiP isoforms compared to MnP, with only 5 MnP isoforms detected in T. versicolor cultures compared to 16 LiPs (Johansson and Nyman, 1993). There are 9 LiP sequences and 9 MnP sequences accessioned in GenBank, and two almost identical sequences for Mn-repressed peroxidase (MRP). Identity between the amino acid sequences is approximately 80% between LiP isozymes, whilst MnP are more heterogeneous at 70% (Johansson and Nyman, 1993). Based on amino acid sequence similarity, three variants of LiP and three of MnP can be designated (Figure 3.2). Although the two MRP nucleotide sequences differ slightly, the resulting amino acid sequence is identical. The LiP and MnP sequences of T. versicolor are more similar to LiPs and MnPs from other species than to each other (Conesa et al., 2002; Martinez, 2002).

The conserved features of peroxidase amino acid sequences, such as the cysteine residues involved in formation of disulfide bridges, are found in all LiP, MnP and MRP sequences from *T. versicolor*. Different types of peroxidase have different residues essential for their activity (Conesa et al., 2002; Martinez, 2002). An annotated alignment of the available peroxidase amino acid sequences is given in Appendix Figure C.1. All LiP



Figure 3.1: Neighbour joining reconstruction of the phylogenetic relationships among *T. versicolor* laccase amino acid sequences. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The optimal tree (sum of branch length = 1.89) is shown, and the percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches (Felsenstein, 1985). The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were calculated using the Poisson correction method (Zuckerkandl and Pauling, 1965) and are in the units of the number of amino acid substitutions per site. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated from the data (complete deletion option). There were a total of 493 positions in the final dataset. Phylogenetic analyses were conducted in MEGA4 (Tamura et al., 2007). The laccase amino acid sequences are identified by their GenBank accession code. α , β , δ and γ correspond to groups based on a phylogenetic classification, following Necochea et al. (2005). 'Neuros Lacc' is the Neurospora crassa laccase sequence (GenBank accession M18334), used as an outgroup sequence to root the tree.

sequences contain the exposed tryptophan (Trp) residue necessary for oxidation of the mediator veratryl alcohol (VA). All MnP sequences contain three acidic residues which are involved in Mn²⁺-binding (two glutamic acids, one aspartic acid; Figure 3.2). However, there are a couple of exceptions. LiP7 (accession Z30667) is closely related to other LiP isozymes based on sequence homology, but as well as the VA-oxidation Trp residue, it also contains the three Mn²⁺-binding residues, so could potentially function like LiP or MnP (Figure 3.2). MRP sequences also have the VA-oxidation Trp residue and the three Mn²⁺-binding residues, but there is no close sequence homology to either LiP or MnP (Figure 3.2). The exact role MRP plays is unclear, but it has been suggested that the Mn²⁺-binding residues could function to bind alternative substrates, such as aromatic amines, when levels of Mn²⁺ or VA are depleted (Collins et al., 1999).

The previous chapter examined the activity of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions involving T. versicolor, both spatially and temporally within the interacting mycelia. This chapter aims to link these changes in activity with changes in expression of genes encoding ligninolytic enzymes using semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Analysis of ligninolytic gene expression in different regions of interacting mycelia had not previously been performed, nor the relationship between ligninolytic gene expression in interactions with different outcomes. In accordance with assay results, an up-regulation of laccase and MnP transcripts during interactions was expected, but no upregulation of MRP or LiP transcripts. Similar to assay results, the largest up-regulation relative to T. versicolor self-pairings was expected to occur in the interaction zone. RT-PCR was also used to analyse the expression of a sequence with homology to catalase which was identified as changing in expression during interactions involving T. versicolor (Eyre, 2007). PCR products from different primer sets were cloned and sequenced to determine primer specificity and prevalence of any particular transcripts. As the multiplicity of isozymes has been attributed to different roles in combating stress, it is expected that different transcripts would be expressed during interactions compared to during growth alone.



Chapter 3: Ligninolytic gene expression during interactions

Figure 3.2: Neighbour joining reconstruction of the phylogenetic relationships among *T. versicolor* peroxidase amino acid sequences. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The optimal tree (sum of branch length = 2.15) is shown, and the percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches (Felsenstein, 1985). The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were calculated using the Poisson correction method (Zuckerkandl and Pauling, 1965) and are in the units of the number of amino acid substitutions per site. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated from the data (complete deletion option). There were a total of 359 positions in the final dataset. Phylogenetic analyses were conducted in MEGA4 (Tamura et al., 2007). The peroxidase amino acid sequences are identified as LiP, MnP or MRP and by GenBank accession code. Pink dots next to sequence names indicate presence of the three residues involved in Mn²⁺ binding, yellow dots indicate presence of the Trp residue involved in VA oxidation, based on the sequence alignment given in Figure C.1. 'Arthram Pox' is the Arthromyces ramosus peroxidase sequence (accession D63792), used as an outgroup sequence to root the tree.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Fungal isolates, culture conditions and interactions

Strains of Trametes versicolor (TvD2), Stereum gausapatum (Sg1), Bjerkandera adusta (BaMA313) and Hypholoma fasciculare (GTWV2) were obtained from the Cardiff University Fungal Ecology Group culture collection. Cultures were maintained, and interactions established according to the methods in Section 2.2.1.

3.2.2 Extraction of mycelium from interactions

Interactions between *T. versicolor* and *S. gausapatum*, *B. adusta* or *H. fasciculare*, and self-pairings of *T. versicolor*, were set up on 'thick' 2% MA (20 g Munton and Fison spray malt; 20 g Lab M agar No. 2; 1 L⁻¹ distilled water). Mycelium was extracted from three regions within 2 d-old interacting mycelia: the interaction zone itself (IZ); just behind the interaction zone in the *T. versicolor* mycelium (A); 30-40 mm from the interaction zone within the *T. versicolor* mycelium (B; Figure 2.1). Mycelium was scraped off the surface of the agar using a sterile spatula and kept on ice before flash-freezing in liquid nitrogen. Extracted mycelium was stored at -80° C until used. One region only was extracted from a plate. Mycelium collected from 25 plates was combined to make a single biological replicate; two biological replicates were used. Total mycelial growth of 2 d-old cultures of *S. gausapatum*, *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* were also collected, four replicates for each species. Extraction of mycelia from 8 d-old interactions was also performed.

3.2.3 Extraction of RNA

Mycelium was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen in a sterile, chilled pestle and mortar. 2 ml of Tri-Reagent (Sigma) was added and grinding continued to form a smooth paste. Equal amounts were transferred to two 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, vortexed, and allowed to stand at room temperature for 5 min. Tubes were then centrifuged at 10,000 g at 4°C for 10 min. The clear supernatants were transferred to two fresh Eppendorf tubes, 0.2 ml chloroform added to each tube, vortexed, and left to stand at room temperature for 5 min. Tubes were then centrifuged at 10,000 g at 4°C for 15 min. The aqueous (top) layers were transferred to fresh Eppendorf tubes, making sure not to disturb the other layers. Isopropanol (0.5 ml) was added to each tube, mixed by hand, and left to stand at room temperature for 10 min. Tubes were then centrifuged at 10,000 g at 4°C for 10 min. The supernatants were removed, taking care not to disturb the pellets. Ethanol (1 ml 75%) was added and tubes vortexed for 15 s, then centrifuged at 10,000 g at 4°C for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellets allowed to air-dry in a laminar flow hood (10-30 min). Pellets were resuspended in 50 μ l sterile distilled water and the contents of the two tubes combined. Samples were stored at -80° C.

Gel electrophoresis was performed on 5 μ l samples to check for the presence of RNA, using a gel tank and tray that had been soaked in 0.1 M NaOH for 10 min and rinsed copiously in distilled H₂O. RNA concentration was quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA).

3.2.4 DNase treatment of RNA

DNase treatment was performed to remove any residual DNA from the RNA samples. The DNase digestion was set up as follows: $2 - 16 \mu l$ RNA solution (equivalent to 2 μ g RNA), 2 μ l RQ1 DNase 10× buffer, 2 μ l RQ1 DNase (Promega), made up to 20 μ l with sterile distilled water. Reactions were incubated at 37°C for 30 min, 2 μ l RQ1 DNase Stop solution was added, then incubated at 65°C for 10 min to inactivate the DNase. The success of DNase treatment was confirmed by PCR using the treated RNA, where a lack of PCR product indicated successful DNase treatment.

3.2.5 Generation of cDNA by reverse transcription

DNase-treated RNA (19 μ l) was transferred to a fresh PCR tube. Oligo(dT)₁₅ (500 μ g/ml; deoxy polyT primer which anneals to the polyA tail of mRNA; Promega) was added (1 μ l) and tubes incubated at 70°C for 10 min, then cooled on ice for 10 min. 6 μ l of 5× first strand buffer, 0.2 μ l 0.1 M DTT (dithiothreitol), and 1 μ l 10 mM dNTPs were added and tubes incubated at 42°C for 2 min. 1 μ l Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Promega) was added and tubes incubated at 42°C for a further 50 min, followed by 15 min at 70°C. The resulting single strand DNA was stored at -20°C. Presence of cDNA was checked by PCR.

3.2.6 Extraction of DNA

Mycelium of a 7 d-old culture was scraped from a plate with a sterile spatula and transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. Dried skimmed milk (300 μ l, 4% (w/v)) and 300 μ l extraction buffer (200 mM Tris·HCl, 250 mM NaCl, 25 mM EDTA and 0.5% SDS at pH 8.5) were added and the mixture ground by hand with a plastic grinder. Tubes were vortexed for 15 s, shaken for 30 min at 37°C, then centrifuged at 11,000 g for 5 min. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh 1.5 ml Eppendorf and half the supernatant volume of 3 M sodium acetate added. Tubes were incubated at -20° C for 10 min, then centrifuged at 11,000 g for 5 min. The supernatant was transferred

to a 14 ml Falcon tube.

DNA was cleaned using the QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen), as follows: 5 volumes of buffer PB for each volume of DNA extract were added to Falcon tubes. 0.8 ml aliquots of this mixture were pipetted onto QIAprep columns in 2 ml collection tubes and centrifuged at 11,000 g for 1 min. The flowthrough was discarded. Buffer PE (wash buffer; 0.75 ml) was added to the columns and left to stand for 5 min, then centrifuged at 11,000 g for 5 min. The flowthrough was discarded and columns centrifuged again at 11,000 g for 1 min to remove all traces of buffer PE. Columns were placed in clean Eppendorf tubes and 30 μ l of sterile distilled water was applied to the centre of the column membrane. Columns were left to stand for 5 min, then centrifuged at 11,000 g for 1 min. The flowthrough - the DNA solution - was stored at -20°C.

3.2.7 Primer design

T. versicolor laccase and peroxidase sequences were downloaded from GenBank (The National Centre for Biotechnology Information, NCBI, Bethesda, MD, USA; http: //www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov; Tables C.1, C.2 and C.3). Both genomic and cDNA sequences were obtained where possible, and primers were designed to cDNA sequences. The sequences from each group were aligned and analysed using BioEdit (http://www. mbio.ncsu.edu/BioEdit) and CLC Workbench (http://www.clcbio.com). Primers were designed to subgroup level (i.e. LiP, MnP and MRP) rather than to individual sequences, using the programs Primer 3 (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/) and OligoAnalyzer (http://www.idtdna.com/analyzer). It was possible to design primers capable of differentiating between two subgroups within MnP. Primers were also designed to an EST with homology to catalase, previously identified as changing in expression during interactions involving *T. versicolor* (Eyre, 2007), and designated Cat-F/R. All primers were tested on genomic DNA and cDNA from T. versicolor, S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare. Primer sequences can be found in Table 3.1.

3.2.8 Semi-quantitative RT-PCR

Individual reactions were set up as follows: 18.9 μ l sterile distilled water, 0.5 μ l 10 mM dNTPs, 2.5 μ l 10× PCR buffer (Qiagen), 0.125 μ l Hotstar Taq DNA polymerase (Qiagen), 1 μ l 10 mM forward primer, 1 μ l 10 mM reverse primer, 1 μ l cDNA sample. Reactions were cycled in a Techne Flexigene thermocycler (Bibby Scientific, Staffordshire, UK) using the program: 94°C for 15 min; [94°C for 1 min, T_m for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min] × 30-35 cycles; 72°C for 6 min. The T_m used for Lacc and Cat was 55°C, for MRP, LiP, MnP and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPD) it was 50°C, for 18S it was 48°C.

At least three replicates were performed for each primer set with each cDNA sample to eliminate equipment variability. PCR products were run on a 1.5% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide and visualised under UV light, and products were quantified using the Gene Genius bioimaging system and GeneSnap software (Syngene, Synoptics Ltd., Cambridge, UK).

PCR reactions with GPD/TvGPD primers were cycled as above, and product quantification from the target used to normalise results for the other primer sets. Cycle number was optimised and limited for each primer set and cDNA batch combination, by running dilution series of the cDNA and checking for linear responses. This ensured that reactions were in the exponential phase at a particular cycle number, allowing product quantification to be considered semi-quantitative with respect to transcript abundance. This method has previously been used successfully for a range of experimental systems (including Orchard et al., 2005; Parfitt et al., 2005; Wagstaff et al., 2005; Price et al.,

Table 3.1: Primer details									
		Primer	Oligo 5'-3'	no.	$\% \overline{\mathrm{GC}}$	Tm	Product	Ref	
		name		bases		°C	length	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
18S rRNA		EF4	GGA AGG GRT GTA TTT ATT AG	20	38	46	563	(Smit et al., 1999)	
		fung5	GTA AAA GTC CTG GTT CCC C	19	53	52.8			
Laccase		LaccF	CTT CAA CGG CAC CAA CTT CTT	21	48	55.9	376		
		LaccR	GAA GTC GAT GTG GCA GTG GAG	21	57	57.9			
Lignin		LiP-F	ACG AAA TCT TGA CCG TGT G	19	47	51.1	353		
peroxidase		LiP-R	GAG CGA GTT GAT GTC CTG	18	56	52.9			
Manganese	1	MnP-F	CAT CTC TCC TTC CAT CGC CTC	21	57	57.1	211		
peroxidase		MnP-R	GGG GCA GTT GCT GAC ACC	18	67	59.4			
	2	MnP2-F	CAT CTC TCG CAA GGC CAA CAA	21	50	58	207		
		MnP2-R	GCC AGC GAA CTG AAT GAA GTC	21	52	56.5			
	3	JNC867mnp1	CCA TCC CTC AAA ACC TCA GG	20	55	55.4	1435	Johannson et al.	
		JNC899mnp1	ACT CCC ACC TCA AGC TTA AG	20	50	54.2		(2002)	
	4	JNC866mnp2	CGT CTA TCC TCC TCC TCA TA	20	50	52.2	1132	Johannson et al.	
		JNC908mnp2	CTA CAG CGT CAT TTA CGA CG	20	50	53 .3		(2002)	
Manganese-repressed		MRP-F	CAG GAC AAG GTT GAC GAC T	19	52	54.5	171		
peroxidase		MRP-R	GGA CTG AAG ACG GAA CTC	18	56	52.6			
Catalase		Cat-F	AAC ATC CTC GAC CTG ACG AA	20	55	60.3	196	Eyre (2007)	
		Cat-R	GAG AAG AGA CGC GAC TGG AG	20	60	59.7			
GPD - general		GPD-F	GTT CAA GTA CGA CTC CGT CCA	21	52	56.5	185		
		GPD-R	ACT TTT CGG TGG TGG TGA AG	20	50	55.4			
GPD - Tv-specific		TvGPD-F	ACC GCA TAC ATC CTA ATC TCG	21	48	54.2	450		
		GPD-R	ACT TTT CGG TGG TGG TGA AG	20	50	55.4			
M13		M13-F	TCA CAC AGG AAA CAG CTA TGA C	22	45.5	54.8	variable	Promega	
		M13-R	GTT TTC CCA GTC ACG AC	17	52.9	50.6			

75

2008).

3.2.9 Normalisation of data

Normalisation was performed to the housekeeping gene glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPD). Two sets of GPD primers were designed based on a partial T. versicolor sequence (GenBank accession AY081189). The set GPD-F/R are not specific to T. versicolor and can be used as general fungal primers. T. versicolor-specific GPD primers, TvGPD-F/R, were designed by siting the forward primer in the 5' UTR of the gene. Samples from the A and B regions, where there was no competitor mycelium, were normalised using GPD primers. However, in the IZ region extraction of competitor mycelium could not be avoided, so samples were normalised using the T. versicolor-specific primers TvGPD. For comparison, normalisation of cDNA samples from the A and B regions was also performed with general fungal primers for 18S rRNA.

Normalisation to GPD transcript levels rather than to 18S rRNA levels was chosen for a variety of reasons. Firstly, IZ cDNA was normalised with TvGPD, so normalisation of the A and B regions to GPD was more consistent. Secondly, oligo(dT) was used in reverse transcription reactions, so it is more accurate to compare efficiency of cDNA generation with another mRNA sequence (GPD) rather than an rRNA sequence (18S). In practice, however, due to the AT richness of rRNA sufficient 18S rRNA would also be retrotranscribed and can thus be used for normalisation, an approach which has been used successfully in other systems (e.g., Orchard et al., 2005; Price et al., 2008). Finally, the two biological replicates used for each region of each interaction are more consistent with each other when GPD is used, with no significant differences between 80% replicate pairs when normalised with GPD, but only 70% when normalised with 18S. Graphs comparing gene expression between the biological replicates for GPD and 18S are presented in Appendix Figures C.2 and C.3. Data from the two biological replicates were combined, even where they disagreed, which is a conservative approach as this makes us less likely to see significant differences in expression compared to TvTv. For comparison to results normalised with GPD (Figure 3.4), results normalised with 18S are presented in Appendix Figure C.4.

3.2.10 Statistical analysis

Gene expression relative to other interactions in each region for each primer set were compared using one-way ANOVA, where data met the required assumptions: that residuals are normally distributed (Anderson-Darling test) with equal variances between groups (Levene's test). Significant results were further explored using the Tukey-Kramer *a posteriori* test to determine significant differences between means. If data did not meet the assumptions of ANOVA, Kruskal-Wallis tests in combination with *post hoc* Mann-Whitney U-tests were used. All tests were performed in Minitab (v.15).

3.2.11 Purification of PCR products

PCR reactions were carried out using cDNA from the A region in T. versicolor selfpairings and from the interaction between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum. The primers used were Lacc, LiP, MRP, Cat and GPD. PCR products were run on an agarose gel and visualised on a UV light box. Bands were excised using a razor blade and the agarose slices transferred to 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, and weighed.

A QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen) was used to extract the PCR products. Three volumes of buffer QG were added to one volume of gel (where 100 mg \sim 100 μ l). Tubes were incubated at 50°C for 10 min, or until the gel slice had completely dissolved. One gel volume of isopropanol was added to the sample and mixed well, applied to a QIAquick spin column in a 2 ml collection tube, and centrifuged for 1 min at 11,000 g. The flowthrough was discarded. Buffer PE (wash buffer; 0.75 ml) was added to the column, and centrifuged for 1 min (performed twice). The flowthrough was discarded and the column centrifuged again for 1 min at 11,000 g to remove all traces of buffer PE. The column was placed into a fresh 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. DNA was eluted by adding 30 μ l buffer EB (10 mM Tris·Cl, pH 8.5) to the centre of the column membrane, letting it stand for 1 min, then centrifuging for 1 min. The eluted DNA was checked by running 5 μ l on an agarose gel.

3.2.12 Ligation into pGEMT-Easy vector

For each PCR product of interest, a ligation was set up, comprising 1 μ l (50-100 ng) of plasmid pGEM T-Easy (Promega), 1 μ l 10× ligation buffer, 1 μ l T4 DNA ligase (Promega) and 7 μ l of the purified PCR product. Ligations were incubated at 4°C overnight.

3.2.13 Transformation of *E.coli* DH5 α competent cells

Cells of competent *Escherichia coli* DH5 α were prepared in house and kept frozen at -80° C in 100 μ l aliquots in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes. One aliquot was thawed on ice, 2 μ l of DNA ligation added and mixed thoroughly. The tube was left on ice for 20 min. Cells were heat shocked by placing the tube in a water bath at 42°C for 45 s exactly, then the tube transferred back to ice for 2 min. 900 μ l of SOC medium (2% (w/v) tryptone, 0.5% (w/v) yeast extract, 8.6 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 20 mM MgSO₄, 20 mM glucose) was added, and tubes incubated at 37°C with gentle shaking (100 rpm) for approximately 1 hr.

Cells were plated onto LB solid medium (Luria-Bertani medium; 1.0 g tryptone, 0.5 g yeast extract, 1.0 g NaCl, 1.5 g agar, 100 ml distilled water) containing 100 μ g/ml ampicillin in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Plates were incubated at 37°C overnight (for a maximum of 18 hrs) and transferred to 4°C.

Colony PCR was performed to identify positive clones following transformation. Single, well-separated colonies were transferred to 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes containing 200 μ l LB liquid medium (as before, excluding agar) plus 100 μ g/ml ampicillin. Ten colonies were chosen at random for transferral. Tubes were incubated at 37°C for 3 – 4 hrs with gentle shaking (100 rpm). Tubes were checked for bacterial growth by odour. 1 μ l of the bacterial cultures were used in PCR reactions using M13-F/R primers (specific to either side of the pGEM-T ligation site). The rest of the cultures were stored at room temperature. PCR products were electrophoresed and positive cultures identified based on size of bands. Overnight cultures containing 10 μ l bacterial culture in 3 ml LB liquid medium were set up for eight of the positive transformations per treatment.

3.2.14 Plasmid DNA purification

Plasmid DNA was extracted and purified using a QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen). The overnight cultures were centrifuged to pellet bacterial cells, the supernatant discarded, and cells resuspended in 250 μ l Buffer P1 containing RNase A. 250 μ l Buffer P2 was added (lysis buffer) and mixed by inverting tubes 4 – 6 times. This lysis reaction should not be allowed to proceed for more than 5 min. 350 μ l Buffer N3 was added and mixed by inverting tubes 4 – 6 times. Tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 11,000 g. The supernatants were decanted into QIAprep spin columns, which were centrifuged for 45 s at 11,000 g. Flowthrough was discarded. The column was washed by adding 0.75 ml Buffer PE and centrifuging for 45 s at 11,000 g for 45 s. Flowthrough was discarded and this step repeated. Tubes were centrifuged for an additional 60 s to remove any residual wash buffer. The spin columns were placed into clean 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, and 50 μ l Buffer EB (Tris Cl, pH 8.5) added to spin column membranes. Columns were left to stand for 1 min, and centrifuged for 1 min. Flowthrough – the purified plasmid DNA – was stored at -20° C until used.

3.2.15 Sequencing of plasmid DNA

Purified plasmid DNA was checked by agarose gel electrophoresis. DNA concentration and quantified using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). Samples were submitted to the Cardiff University Sequencing Service as 10 μ l aliquots. Sequencing was performed using M13-R primers. For each treatment, eight samples were submitted for sequencing except for GPD where only two samples were submitted.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 RNA extraction

RNA was successfully extracted from 2 d T. versicolor mycelia during interactions. However, by 8 d the T. versicolor mycelium had thickened, forming a thick layer which adhered to the agar and was very difficult to remove, especially in the A region. As a result there was a high agar content in all extracted mycelium at 8 d which interfered with RNA extraction, meaning that only small amounts, if any, RNA could be extracted. Alternative extraction methods were attempted (including RNeasy Plant Mini Kit, Qiagen, UK) but with no success. Thus semi-quantitative RT-PCR could only be performed for 2 d samples.

3.3.2 Primer testing

All primers were tested on genomic DNA and cDNA of T. versicolor and the three competitors during growth alone. The primers Lacc, LiP, MRP and Cat all amplified sequences from genomic DNA and cDNA of T. versicolor (Table 3.2). Cat primers also amplified sequences from B. adusta genomic DNA and cDNA, and MnP amplified sequences from B. adusta genomic DNA only (Table 3.2). Cat amplified sequences from S. gausapatum genomic DNA but not cDNA (Table 3.2). With the exception of Cat and MnP, the primers of interest were specific to T. versicolor even in the presence of cDNA from a competitor (Figure 3.3A). GPD and 18S amplified sequences from all species used, whilst TvGPD was T. versicolor-specific (Figure 3.3A).

			~					
Primer pair	T. versicolor		S.~gausapatum		B. adusta		H. fasciculare	
	gDNA	cDNA	gDNA	cDNA	gDNA	cDNA	gDNA	cDNA
Lacc-F/R	+	+	-	_	-	-	-	_
LiP-F/R	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
MnP-F/R	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
MnP2-F/R	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
MRP-F/R	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cat-F/R	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	-
GPD-F/R	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
TvGPD-F/R	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.2: Primer specificity in *T. versicolor* and three competitor species

gDNA, genomic DNA; +, primers will amplify from this type of DNA sequence; -, primers will not amplify from this type of DNA sequence.

No MnP transcripts were detected at 2 d using MnP-F/R or MnP2-F/R primers. When tested on *T. versicolor* genomic DNA and cDNA, MnP-F/R amplified sequences from genomic DNA but not cDNA (Figure 3.3B). MnP2-F/R did not amplify sequences from either genomic DNA or cDNA (Figure 3.3). Two other sets of primers specific for *T. versicolor* MnP genes were obtained from Johansson et al. (2002), but these

also did not detect expression in *T. versicolor* cDNA (results not shown) indicating that expression was absent or at undetectably low levels. Primers were also tested on cDNA from interacting cultures in case expression was interaction-specific, but there was still no response.



Figure 3.3: Testing specificity of primers of interest. A: Specificity of primers on cDNA from cultures of T. versicolor (Tv), S. gausapatum (Sg), B. adusta (Ba) and H. fasciculare (Hf) during growth alone. B: Testing of MnP-F/R and MnP2-F/R primers on genomic (gen) and cDNA of T. versicolor. The band in the far right lane is from primer-dimers. Details of all primers used are given in Table 3.1.

3.3.3 Semi-quantitative RT-PCR: expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase genes

Laccase gene expression was detected in all regions of all the interactions and the TvTv self-pairing (Figure 3.4). There was significantly ($P \le 0.01$) higher laccase expression

in the IZ region of TvHf (interaction with *H. fasciculare*) compared to TvTv IZ, and this higher expression was maintained in the A region but not in the B region. In the B region, there were more differences in expression, with TvBa (interaction with *B. adusta*) significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher than TvTv B, and TvSg (interaction with *S. gausapatum*) significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower than TvTv B.

No significant differences in MRP expression were detected in any region, although transcript levels were higher in the IZ regions of TvSg and TvHf compared to TvTv IZ (Figure 3.4).

In contrast to the enzyme assays (see Chapter 2), there was a detectable level of LiP transcripts in regions A and B though not at the IZ. However, a higher cycle number was required to measure LiP PCRs than with the laccase and MRP primers, which may suggest low transcript abundance. In the A region, expression of LiP was similar in TvTv and TvBa, significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher in TvHf compared to TvTv, and significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower in TvSg (Figure 3.4). Expression of LiP in the B region was similar in TvTv and TvSg, with higher expression in TvBa B and TvHf B, but these differences were not significant (P > 0.05; Figure 3.4).

Catalase expression was similar in the IZ and A regions. Expression in TvSg and TvHf was significantly (P ≤ 0.05) lower than in TvTv in both IZ and A regions (Figure 3.4). Expression in TvBa was lower than in TvTv in both IZ and A region, but this was only significant (P ≤ 0.05) in the A region: caution must be taken when interpreting transcript abundance in the TvBa IZ region as the Cat-F/R primers also amplify sequences from *B. adusta* cDNA. In the B region, TvSg catalase was still significantly (P ≤ 0.05) lower than in TvTv B, but there was significantly (P ≤ 0.05) higher expression in TvBa B compared to TvTv B (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase (Cat) gene by *T. versicolor* mycelia during self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* (TvHf) at 2 d. Bars are the mean data for two biological replicates, each consisting of three technical replicates, \pm SEM. Data are expressed as % transcript abundance relative to TvTv cDNA samples from each region. Statistical comparisons were made separately for each enzyme, within a region different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05).

3.3.4 Sequencing of PCR products

PCR products from amplification of TvTv and TvSg cDNA were cloned into E. coli using pGEM-T Easy as a vector, purified, and sequenced. For PCR products from Lacc-F/R primers (376 bp), fifteen clones (7 from TvTv, 8 from TvSg) were sequenced (see Table 3.1). The fifteen sequences split into three groups on the basis of sequence similarity, each group was homologous to either the β , δ and γ groups of accessioned laccase sequences. Five TvTv products and three TvSg products were almost identical, and were homologous to the equivalent region in the accessioned sequence AB212734 (γ group; Figure 3.5), with 98% sequence similarity. Two products from TvTv and two from TvSg were homologous to each other, and to the accessioned sequence AB212733 (δ group; 3.5), with 97% sequence similarity. Two of the remaining TvSg sequences were homologous to the almost identical accessioned sequences Y18012 and AY081188 (β group; 3.5). The last TvSg sequence, TvSg 5, appears to form a separate branch to the α and β groups. It has a maximum of 81% identity with any other laccase sequence, both accessioned and other PCR products (Figure 3.5). The discrepancy in homology to other sequences is unlikely to be due to poor sequence quality, as examination of the sequence shows clear definition of the bases and no gaps.

For PCR products from LiP primers (353 bp), the seven sequenced samples (4 from TvTv, 3 from TvSg) were almost identical, and all show at least 98% homology to the equivalent region in accessioned sequence M91818 (Figure 3.6). For PCR products from MRP primers (171 bp) the six sequenced samples (2 from TvTv, 4 from TvSg) were homologous to the equivalent region in accessioned sequences AF008585 and AJ745080 (>98% sequence similarity). The seven Cat PCR products were identical to each other and to the contig sequence (TVC00832; Eyre, 2007) from which primers were designed. Similarly, the GPD PCR products were identical to the equivalent region in the *T. versicolor* GPD sequence (AY081189).



Chapter 3: Ligninolytic gene expression during interactions

Figure 3.5: Evolutionary relationships between accessioned laccase sequences and PCR products of Lacc primers and *T. versicolor* cDNA from growth alone and during interactions with *S. gausapatum*. Accessioned laccase sequences were cropped to the length of the amplified product of PCR with Lacc-F/R primers. TvTv, *T. versicolor* self-pairing cDNA, replicates numbered 1-7, green; TvSg, cDNA from *T. versicolor* during interaction with *S. gausapatum*, replicates numbered 1-8, pink; cDNA samples from the 'A' region of interactions. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The optimal tree with the sum of branch length = 0.95 is shown. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa cluster together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches (Felsenstein, 1985). The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Maximum Composite Likelihood method (Tamura et al., 2004) and are in the units of the number of base substitutions per site. Codon positions included were $1^{st} + 2^{nd} + 3^{rd} + Noncoding$. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated from the dataset (Complete deletion option). There were a total of 314 positions in the final dataset. Phylogenetic classification, following Necochea et al. (2005). An MRP sequence was used as an outgroup sequence to root the tree.



Figure 3.6: Evolutionary relationships of accessioned LiP sequences and the sequenced PCR products of TvTv and TvSg cDNA with LiP-F/R primers. Accessioned sequences were cropped to the length of the amplified PCR product with each set of primers. TvTv, *T. versicolor* self-pairing cDNA; TvSg, cDNA from *T. versicolor* during interaction with *S. gausapatum*; cDNA samples from the 'A' region of interactions. LiP sequenced product replicates are numbered L1-4 for each treatment. The tree was constructed using the Neighbour-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The optimal tree with the sum of branch length = 0.95 is shown. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa cluster together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches (Felsenstein, 1985). The tree is drawn to scale, with branch lengths in the same units as those of the evolutionary distances used to infer the phylogenetic tree. The evolutionary distances were computed using the Maximum Composite Likelihood method (Tamura et al., 2004) and are in the units of the number of base substitutions per site. Codon positions included were $1^{st} + 2^{nd} + 3^{rd} + Noncoding$. All positions containing gaps and missing data were eliminated from the dataset (Complete deletion option). There were a total of 324 positions in the final dataset. Phylogenetic analyses were conducted in MEGA4 (Tamura et al., 2007).

3.4 Discussion

Despite the large changes detected in enzyme activity between interacting T. versicolor mycelia and self-pairings (Figure 2.5), changes in gene expression were not dramatic. This agrees with the microarray data for the T. versicolor A region during interactions, where few targets were up- or down-regulated by more than two-fold during interactions (Eyre, 2007) probably reflecting the dynamic nature of mycelial responses. High enzyme activity could be the result of a relatively short period of increased expression, and, with hyphal contact having been established 2 d prior to sampling, this window may have been missed.

Whilst RNA extractions were performed on 2 d cultures, the pattern of laccase gene expression best matches laccase activity from 8 d cultures (Chapter 2, Figure 2.5) . A lag between gene expression and enzyme activity is normal and has been reported for laccase in interacting cultures of S. hirsutum and P. ostreatus (Velázquez-Cedeño et al., 2007; Peiris, 2009). In the B region, TvSg is down-regulated compared to TvTv, whereas TvBa and TvHf are the same or higher. In the A region, activity of laccase during the TvSg interaction at 8 d was increased compared to TvTv, and this is reflected in slightly higher expression of the transcripts (though not statistically significant), likewise the enzyme and transcript patterns for TvBa match, though again not fully supported by the statistics. The major difference is between activity in the A region of TvHf at 8 d, which is the same as TvTv, while the expression is elevated. The most striking difference is at the IZ: here the pattern of expression does not resemble activity at 2 or 8 d. Laccase activity increased relative to TvTv in TvSg and TvBa but not TvHf, whereas transcript levels of TvSg and TvBa are not different from TvTv but are higher in TvHf. However, at the IZ the analysis of the enzyme activity is complex due to potential contribution from both interacting species, whereas the transcript levels were specific to T. versicolor.

MnP gene expression was not detected during self-pairings or interactions, which conflicts with the MnP enzyme activity detected during assays (Chapter 2, Figure 2.5). The lack of MnP gene expression is supported by detection of MRP expression, indicating low levels of manganese in the agar which are known to repress transcription of MnP genes (Collins et al., 1999; Johansson et al., 2002). MRP enzymes can function like MnP and LiP, with active sites capable of oxidising veratryl alcohol (LiP-like) and Mn²⁺ (MnP-like), similar to the versatile peroxidase (VP) that occurs in a range of species (Ruiz-Dueñas et al., 2009). Whilst MRP has previously been isolated under conditions of Mn-repression (Collins et al., 1999), this transcriptional control does not exclude the ability of the enzyme to act like MnP when Mn²⁺ levels are rapidly increased, such as in the assay substrate solution. MRP enzymes could thus be responsible for the observed 'MnP' activity detected in assays. The LiP-like isozyme LiP7 (Z30667) could also function like both LiP and MnP (Johansson and Nyman, 1993), so could also contribute to the observed 'MnP' activity, but would not be detected by the primers used.

MRP transcript levels resembled more closely patterns of MnP activity at 2 d rather than 8 d. This might indicate a more rapid production of active secreted enzyme from transcripts for MRP compared to laccase. In the IZ, MnP activity was elevated in TvSg and TvHf interactions, and an increase was also seen in transcripts of MRP, although not statistically significant. The enzyme activity in TvBa at the IZ was less well correlated with the transcripts, which appeared repressed. In the A and B regions, TvSg and TvHf enzyme activities did not differ from TvTv and the same was true for transcript levels. The only significant change in enzyme activity compared to TvTv in the A and B regions was in the TvBa interaction, where activity was higher; transcripts were a little elevated in the B region though again not significantly.

Expression of LiP was not reflected in enzyme activity. LiP enzyme activity was not detected during growth alone or during interactions (Section 2.3.3), but LiP gene

expression was at measurable levels. Higher expression of LiP compared to TvTv occurred in TvHf in both A and B regions, and in TvBa in the B region (though not fully supported statistically). This might suggest a role for LiP during interactions. The lack of detectable activity was either attributable to low production (as suggested by the high cycle number necessary for PCR), or caused by lower sensitivity of the assay. Alternatively, there is some evidence that despite its extracellular role, LiP is stored intracellularly, which may explain why expression was detected from the whole mycelia whereas there was no detectable secreted activity (Garcia et al., 1987). LiP has not previously been identified in the response to biotic stresses such as interactions (Baldrian, 2004; Peiris, 2009).

Catalase gene expression was detected, but no extracellular activity was detected during growth alone of during interactions. Catalase is most likely an intracellular enzyme, with the primary function of controlling levels of H_2O_2 . The pattern of catalase gene expression in different interactions was very similar in the interaction zone and A regions with lower catalase expression in all interactions compared to TvTv, although this was not significant for TvBa in the IZ perhaps due to amplification of sequences from B. adusta. Decreased catalase activity would result in increased H₂O₂ levels, which might stimulate peroxidase activity. For example, TvSg has the lowest levels of catalase expression but the highest levels of MnP activity. This would depend on export of the increased H_2O_2 from within hyphae, as increased intracellular H_2O_2 would lead to oxidative stress. The increase in catalase expression in the B region of TvBa could be a response to oxidative stress. These results for catalase expression disagree with the findings of Eyre (2007), where the gene was slightly up-regulated in the A region of all three interactions. This discrepancy could be attributable to differences in specificity between microarrays and RT-PCR, as microarray cDNA targets are likely to hybridise to several members of a gene family, whereas the PCR primers are much more specific.
Two normalisation methods were used to confirm gene expression patterns, because of the large differences compared to the patterns of enzyme activity. The use of housekeeping genes to quantify mRNA has, in certain cases, been shown to be somewhat unreliable, as although these genes are implicated in basal cell metabolism they may also participate in other functions and numerous studies have shown that their expression can vary in certain situations (Thellin et al., 1999; Stürzenbaum and Kille, 2001). Although GPD and 18S are both constitutively expressed during normal metabolism, fungal interactions have huge impacts on cellular processes so could alter the transcription of many genes. GPD is the most widely used control gene in RT-PCR (Stürzenbaum and Kille, 2001), and was also chosen to normalise the data because of the higher consistency between biological replicates. When normalised to GPD, the IZ and A regions of interactions are more similar to each other in laccase expression, but when normalised to 18S there is a significant increase in expression in the TvSg A region which resembles the assay results more closely (Appendix Figure C.4). Similarly, if 18S is used, a slight increase in catalase expression (though not significant) occurs in all interactions compared to TvTv, which agrees with the microarray data. Despite this, overall patterns of expression are similar when normalised to either GPD or 18S: there were no large differences in expression in different interactions compared to TvTv, in any part of the interacting T. versicolor mycelium. Whilst conditions were kept as consistent as possible for the generation of biological replicates (the same batch of agar was used, incubated at the same time, extraction at the same time), the developmental plasticity and rapid response of mycelia to change (Velázquez-Cedeño et al., 2007) could mean that uncontrollable factors during culture could result in differences between biological replicates.

Interactions have been reported to change the production of isozymes secreted by a fungus, for example the secretion of laccase isozymes by P. ostreatus was affected by interaction with *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* (Velázquez-Cedeño et al., 2004). Sequencing of PCR products showed that at least three laccase genes were expressed

during interactions, compared to only two during self-pairings; however, the sample size was too small and this would require further analysis. The expression of multiple isozymes is thought to involve adaptability to different environmental conditions (Baldrian, 2004). The expression of different isozymes with higher efficiency – or different post-translational modifications of these isozymes – could explain the discrepancy between laccase gene expression and activity during interactions. The sequenced laccase PCR products were homologous to sequences from either the β , δ or γ groups (Necochea et al., 2005), with the exception of a sequence from TvSg which was not closely related to any of the assigned groups, and may represent a new laccase gene. The expression of various isozymes during interactions with different outcomes would be really interesting to pursue, and is probably the next step for this research.

Chapter 4

Changes in volatile production during interspecific interactions

4.1 Introduction

Recognition as 'non-self' (where there is no mating compatibility) by basidiomycete mycelia triggers antagonistic responses including changes in colony morphology at the interaction zone and elsewhere, growth rate, and production and release of extracellular enzymes and secondary metabolites (including Rayner and Boddy, 1988; White and Boddy, 1992; Griffith et al., 1994; Score et al., 1997). Effects commonly occur following mycelial contact, but sometimes also prior to contact (Schoeman et al., 1996; Wheatley et al., 1997; Savoie et al., 2001; Humphris et al., 2002). The drivers of this 'distance antagonism' are volatile and diffusible secondary chemicals, which may continue to function following mycelial contact.

All basidiomycetes probably constitutively produce profiles of VOCs from mycelium and fruit bodies (Fäldt et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2005), and these have been used chemo-

taxonomically and in the detection of fungi within food and building timber (Nilsson et al., 1996). VOC profiles are reproducible but dependent on several factors including substratum composition (Wheatley et al., 1997; Bruce et al., 2000; Wheatley, 2002; Ewen et al., 2004), temperature (Tronsmo and Dennis, 1978; Jelen, 2002), pH (Chen et al., 1984) and growth stage (Nilsson et al., 1996; Fäldt et al., 1999; Jelen, 2002; Wu et al., 2005). The VOC profile of a fungus may also alter qualitatively and/or quantitatively during interactions, depending on the combination of species involved (Griffith et al., 1994; de Jong and Field, 1997; Hynes et al., 2007). However, it is not known how the profile alters during interactions with different outcomes. Basidiomycete VOC profiles comprise a diverse range of chemical classes, including alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, terpenes and aromatic compounds (Maga, 1981; Sunesson et al., 1995; Nilsson et al., 1996; Breheret et al., 1997; Wheatley et al., 1997; Rosecke et al., 2000; Humphris et al., 2001, 2002; Ewen et al., 2004). Each of these chemical classes contains compounds with known antifungal activity, perhaps most notably the sesquiterpenes. Many sesquiterpenes have antifungal properties and are involved in the defence responses of both plants and fungi (Stadler and Sterner, 1998; Fäldt et al., 1999; Abraham, 2001; Cheng et al., 2005). The antagonistic potential of the VOC profile of a fungus depends on the constituent chemicals, their relative amounts, and the susceptibility of the combatant. VOC-mediated effects during interactions are subtle, and are often manifested as changes in extension rate or enzyme activity (Strobel et al., 2001), and effects can be stimulatory as well as inhibitory (Dick and Hutchinson, 1966; Schoeman et al., 1996; Mackie and Wheatley, 1999).

VOC profiles of individual fungi can change over time, as can those produced during the time course of interactions (Griffith et al., 1994; Wu et al., 2005; Hynes et al., 2007). Following mycelial contact between the basidiomycetes *H. fasciculare* and *Resinicium bicolor*, 10 VOCs were identified that were not detected in single species controls (Hynes et al., 2007). The majority of the VOCs identified were sesquiterpenoids, perhaps further indicating a defensive role of VOCs, since many sesquiterpenoids are known to have antifungal activity or roles in plant defence (Rostilien et al., 2000; Viiri et al., 2001; Hynes et al., 2007).

The aim of this work was to determine whether the VOC profile of a species changes when faced with different antagonists, during interactions with different outcomes. Effects of VOCs were examined by measuring extension rate of test fungi in agar plates taped above two interacting mycelia -T. versicolor, B. adusta, H. fasciculare and S. gausapatum in all combinations. VOC production was quantified and qualified, by solid-phase microextraction followed by analysis using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/MS), over the course of interactions with T. versicolor replacing S. gausapatum, deadlocking with B. adusta (partial replacement of T. versicolor followed by deadlock), and replaced by H. fasciculare. Determining which of the interacting pair produces which volatiles is, of course, not possible.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Fungal cultures

Strains of *T. versicolor* (TvD2). *S. gausapatum* (Sg1), *H. fasciculare* (HfGTWV2) and *B. adusta* (Bk1), from Cardiff University culture collection, were maintained on 0.5% (w/v) malt agar (MA; 5 g Munton and Fison spray malt, 15 g Lab M agar no. 2 per litre distilled water) in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes, incubated upside down at 20°C in the dark.



4.2.2 Effect of VOCs produced during interactions on mycelial extension rate

Interactions between T. versicolor (Tv), S. gausapatum (Sg), B. adusta (Ba) and H. fasciculare (Hf) were set up on 0.5% MA in all combinations. Agar plugs (6 mm diam.), cut from the actively growing mycelia margin, were inoculated face down on the agar 30 mm away from a competitor. Fungi were inoculated at the same time except for H. fasciculare which was added 2 d before its competitor to ensure that mycelia were of similar size when they met. Five days after the mycelia had met, the Petri dish lid was discarded and the plate attached to a lidless dish containing 0.5% MA, onto which a single plug of a target species had been freshly inoculated. This method was used successfully in the past to examine effects of VOCs produced by single species (Dick and Hutchinson, 1966; Schoeman et al., 1996; Wheatley et al., 1997; Mumpuni et al., 1998; Mackie and Wheatley, 1999; Wheatley, 2002; Humphris et al., 2002; Stinson et al., 2003).

Dishes were attached using masking tape and incubated in the dark at 20°C. The dish bearing the interaction was always placed on the bottom (i.e. below the plate bearing the target species) to eliminate the possibility of diffusibles dripping down onto the target species. All species involved in the interactions were used as target species. Extension of the target species was measured daily, until growth was 10 mm from the edge of the plate, by taking two measurements of colony diameter at 90° to each other. Controls consisted of (1) the target species inoculated onto a sterile agar plate; and (2) self-pairings of the target species. Five replicates were performed.

4.2.3 Interspecific interaction systems for VOC analysis

The method followed Hynes et al. (2007). Interactions took place in ReacsynTM fermentation vessels (Biodiversity, Enfield, UK), compartmentalised polypropylene bottles that allow sampling of both the headspace and the growth medium (Figure 2.2). Mycelia were grown on a FluoroporeTM membrane (1 μ m pore size; Millipore, Watford, Kent, UK) on top of a porous polypropylene/polyester support, which rested on the surface of 35 ml 0.5% malt extract broth (Lab M MC23 malt extract). The growth chamber was stoppered with a gas permeable polyurethane foam bung which was removed to aerate the chamber, and through which sampling apparatus was inserted.

T. versicolor was paired in triplicate with either S. gausapatum, B. adusta or H. fasciculare by inoculating 6 mm diam. agar plugs 20 mm apart on the membrane. Self-pairings were also made. T. versicolor and S. gausapatum were also inoculated as single plugs, in three replicates. A vessel containing only malt broth was included in the analysis to identify any non-fungal volatiles present. Vessels were incubated at 20° C in the dark, held in racking trays.

4.2.4 Sampling VOCs

Sampling times were guided by Hynes et al. (2007) and a preliminary experiment performed by C. Eyre. For the *T. versicolor* and *S. gausapatum* interaction (and all related control treatments), volatiles were sampled after 1, 3, 6, 11 and 19 d. Mycelial contact was made after 5 d. Sampling of this interaction at 1 d and 6 d was performed by C. Eyre, but all data have been included in this analysis for completeness. Based on the results of this experiment, sampling at 1 and 19 d were omitted for the treatments involving *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*.

Headspace VOCs were collected by solid-phase microextraction (SPME), a method previously used successfully with fungi (Nilsson et al., 1996; Fäldt et al., 1999; Jelen, 2003; Demyttenaere et al., 2004; Ewen et al., 2004; Hynes et al., 2007). Essentially, SPME involves the adsorption of volatile compounds to a thin layer of adsorbent material coated on a metal fibre, and the subsequent thermal desorption of these compounds into a gas chromatograph. A 100 μ m PDMS fibre (polydimethylsiloxane; Supelco, Poole, Dorset, UK) was used at 20 ± 5°C. At the start of each sampling day, the SPME fibre was conditioned according to manufacturers instructions (1 h at 250°C), followed by a fibre blank run. Prior to sampling, the inoculated ReacsynTM vessels were flushed to clear them of any accumulated volatiles or plasticiser by removal of the foam bung within a sterile laminar flow system for 10 min (following Hynes et al., 2007). The vessel was then removed from the laminar flow, the SPME fibre was inserted through the bung and exposed to the headspace of the inner chamber. After 1 h the fibre was withdrawn and immediately injected into the GC/MS.

4.2.5 GC/MS analysis of volatiles

Volatile profiles were resolved using a gas chromatograph containing a 30 m VF23ms polar column (0.25 mm internal diameter, 0.25 μ m film thickness; Varian, Palo Alto, CA, USA), with helium at 55 kPa acting as a carrier gas. The column was coupled to a quadrupole mass spectrometer in Electron Impact (EI) mode working from m/z35 to 400 with a source temperature of 200°C and interface temperature of 280°C. Compounds were desorbed for 2 min at 220°C in a split/splitless injection port, working in splitless mode. Analysis was performed using the temperature programme: start 45°C, increasing by 3°C min⁻¹ until 200°C, then 5 min at 200°C to ensure flushing through of all compounds.

As no internal standard could be used, a terpene mixture of known concentration was

used as an external standard to assess machine performance. A terpene mixture was appropriate because the profile of volatile compounds emitted from interacting fungi was expected to contain sesquiterpenes. The mixture consisted of (1R)-fenchone, (1S)verbenone and α -huumulene, each at a concentration of 0.5 mg ml⁻¹ in hexane solvent. The terpene standard (1 μ l) was injected by an autosampler into the injection port at 220°C with the machine working in split mode. The temperature programme used to resolve the mixture was: 40°C for 5 min, ramping to 250°C at 4.5°C min⁻¹. The mass spectrometer scan was widened to m/z 28 – 400, with a 2 min solvent delay at the start of each run to avoid damage by copious amounts of hexane.

Peaks of interest were integrated using Masslab v1.4 (Thermofinnigan, Manchester, UK). The terpene run for each sampling day was used to calibrate machine performance by comparison of the total area of all peaks present in each sample. The ratio of the three peaks (corresponding to the three terpenes contained in the mixture) was consistent in every standard run, so the total integrated area was comparable. As the same quantity of terpene standard was injected on each day, any differences in the total area of integrated peaks were attributable to changes in machine performance, and experimental peak areas were adjusted accordingly, and designated terpene adjusted units (TAU). However, for the treatments involving *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*, terpene standards were not used so an internal calibration was performed by standardising chromatograms to a malt control peak at RT (retention time) 12.1 min, with peak areas designated malt adjusted units (MAU). These have been included as rough values only to show qualitative rather than quantitative changes.

Identifications of the peaks of interest were made by comparison of mass spectra with library entries (National Institute of Standards and Technology v.12 mass spectral database) and retention times. However, these are putative identifications only, as absolute identification would require preparation of individual reference compounds which is beyond the scope of this work.

4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Radial extension rate was determined as the slope of a linear regression of extension versus time. Comparisons of daily radial extension rates were performed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer a posteriori analysis (Minitab v.15). The evolution of each volatile produced by *S. gausapatum* or the TvSg interaction (as peak area, in TAU, over time) was compared by one-way ANOVA (Minitab v.15) of the area under the curve as determined by KaleidaGraph software (Synergy Software, Reading, PA, USA). Evolution of each volatile produced during interactions involving *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare* (as peak area, in MAU) was compared using one-way ANOVA or two-way t-tests (Minitab v.15).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Effect of VOCs produced during interactions on extension rates of target fungi

There was no significant difference (P ≤ 0.05) between the extension rates for *T.* versicolor, *S. gausapatum* and *H. fasciculare*, when grown above self-paired controls compared to growth over agar (Table 4.1). However, the extension rate of *B. adusta* was significantly (P ≤ 0.05) greater when grown above its own self-pairing. *T. versicolor* extended significantly (P ≤ 0.05) faster when grown above the self-pairings of *S.* gausapatum, *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*, and interacting mycelia of *T. versicolor* and *B. adusta*. Growth of *S. gausapatum* and *H. fasciculare* were generally not affected by the interaction plates, although in two instances there were significant (P ≤ 0.05) differences in extension rate when compared with growth above their self-pairings, but not when compared with agar alone. *S. gausapatum* extension rate decreased over *B*. adusta paired with *H. fasciculare*, while that of *H. fasciculare* was greater when grown above *T. versicolor* paired with *S. gausapatum*. Over half of the interactions tested were associated with a significant ($P \le 0.05$) decrease in extension rate of *B. adusta* when compared to its self-pairing but not compared to agar alone.

Interaction plate Percentage change in growth of 'target' species T. versicolor S. gausapatum B. adusta H. fasciculare 5.2 mm d^{-1} 9.4 mm d^{-1} 2.5 mm d^{-1} 6.1 mm d^{-1} Agar T. versicolor vs T. versicolor 100 **99** 104 100 108^a S. gausapatum vs S. gausapatum 102 109 102 B. adusta vs B. adusta 107^a 100 111ª 102 107^a 98^b H. fasciculare vs H. fasciculare **98** 100 105^b T. versicolor vs S. gausapatum 99 99 105 107ª 103^b T. versicolor vs B. adusta 102 103 98^b T. versicolor vs H. fasciculare 99 100 103 98^b S. gausapatum vs B. adusta 99 103 103 97^b S. gausapatum vs H. fasciculare 101 100 103 96^{b} 98^{b} B. adusta vs H. fasciculare 102 97

 Table 4.1: Effects of VOCs produced by interactions on the growth of four 'target'

 species

Changes in extension rate are expressed as percentages relative to the agar control. ^a, significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) to the agar control; ^b, significantly different to the respective self-pairing.

4.3.2 General observations on VOC production during interspecific interactions

VOC profiles were generally qualitatively consistent between replicates. VOC peaks have been designated numbers based on their order of elution, including compounds present in the malt broth (Figure 4.1; Tables 4.2 and 4.3), and these have putative identifications (Table 4.4).



Figure 4.1: VOC profiles after mycelia of T. versicolor met with: A, S. gausapatum; B, B. adusta; C, H. fasciculare. Mycelia had met for 6 d in A, and 1 d in B and C. Peaks are numbered according to order of elution, as detailed in Tables 4.2 and 4.3.

4.3.3 VOCs in malt control

Four VOCs were detected in the malt broth control, with average retention times of 12.1, 24.2, 26.9 and 34.7 min (Peaks 1, 20, 24 and 29; Figure 4.1; Tables 4.2 and 4.3). Preliminary identifications suggest they are plasticisers emitted by the ReacsynTM vessels: dibutylbenzene (molecular weight $[M_w]$ 190), dimethylbenzaldehyde (M_w 135), a long-chain hydrocarbon of M_w 168 (possibly dodecene) and bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-phenol (M_w 206; Table 4.4).

4.3.4 VOCs from *T. versicolor* growing alone (Tv) and in self-pairing (TvTv)

No VOCs specific to T. versicolor were detected during sampling, with the exception of one VOC (Peak 26) produced by Tv after 19 d. This peak was not present in TvTv (Table 4.2). Otherwise, both Tv and TvTv profiles were identical to those from the malt control.

4.3.5 S. gausapatum growing alone (Sg), in self-pairing (SgSg) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvSg)

There were no quantitative or qualitative differences in the VOC profile of Sg compared with SgSg, hence single inocula were omitted in subsequent experiments (Table 4.2). Five VOCs specific to *S. gausapatum* were detected (Table 2). Peak 8 (RT 16.6 min), putatively identified as methylbenzoate or anisaldehyde (M_w 136), and Peak 9 (RT 17.13 min), a benzaldehyde-containing compound, were present sporadically in all treatments containing *S. gausapatum*. Peak 22 (RT 26.5 min), methyl esterdimethylbenzoic acid, was the largest *S. gausapatum*-specific peak present after 3 d.

Peak	RT				Tv				Ĵ	[vTv	,				Sg		~~~			SgSg				,	ΓvSg		
no.	(min)	Day	1	3	6	11	19	1	3	6	11	19	1	3	6	11	19	1	3	6	11	19	1	3	6	11	19
1ª	12.1		54	25	31	35	23	35	21	26	25	14	43	27	31	27	41	39	36	38	31	61	34	27	79	136	23
0	10.1		(19)	(4)	(5)	(2)	(2)	(7)	(2)	(5)	(7)	(1)	(14)	(5)	(3)	(6)	(24)	(3)	(10)	(6)	(8)	(32)	(13)	(6)	(20)	(46)	(5)
2	13.1		Ŧ													Ŧ	Ŧ		Ŧ	4.					(1)	(2)	
3	13.6		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	146	175	*
																									(45)	(94)	
6	15		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	38	478	*
0	16.6		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	14	9	*	*	*	14	*	*		*	(27)	(60)	*
0	10.0														(2)	8 (2)	-	- T	+	14 (5)						(1)	
9	17.1		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	9	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	18	*
													(2)													(8)	
10	19.3		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	41	59	*
10	00.4		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*		*	(12)	(32)	<u>ب</u>
12	20.4											•	·	·	•				·					Ŧ	30	232	*
15	21.3		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	(44)	*
																		[[(3)	
16	21.8		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	14	`*´	*
	~ ~ ~		.	.	*		<u>ب</u>				-						.		-		-	-			(5)		
19	23.8		Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	•	1	-	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ť	-	Ŧ	Ŧ	*	-		•	-	•	*	-	*	*	8	*
20ª	24.2		133	145	52	49	28	38	128	24	35	20	106	88	92	18	9	70	92	61	15	14	109	121	45	17	7
20			(42)	(20)	(12)	(2)	(4)	(20)	(12)	(6)	(5)	(3)	(0)	(17)	(24)	(6)	(0)	(31)	(16)	(15)	(2)	(1)	(30)	(24)	(6)	(7)	(1)
22	26.5		`*´	`*´	` *´	`*´	*	`*´	` *´	`*´	*	`*´	`*´	`11´	14 0	39	41	`*´	` 22 [´]	156	76	42	`*´	`7´	27	16	*
0.14														(1)	(18)	(11)	(3)		(1)	(50)	(11)	(13)		(3)	(7)	(7)	~ ~
24"	26.9		189	152	96 (17)	90 (10)	75	137	116	70 (9)	59 (21)	52 (9)	165	135	146	95	59	243	173	141	88	72	82	133	101	99 (12)	58
25	28.8		(90)	(31)	(17)	(19)	(14)	(33)	(21)	(a) *	(31)	(a) *		(22)	(23)	(29)	(4)	(205)	(53)	(51)	(5) *	(12)	(02)	(20)	(23)	(13)	(3)
	20.0												(1)					ļ							(3)		
26	29.3		*	*	*	*	9	*	*	*	*	*	5	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	`*´	*	*
							(2)		-	-	-		(3)												_		
28	31.1		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	9 (0)	24	26	*	*	13	30	27	*	*	8	*	*
294	34 7		15	6	*	*	*	5	6	*	*	*	*	7	(2)	(5)	(3)	*	8	(4)	(0) *	(<i>i</i>) *	a	5	(1)	*	*
	01.1		(7)	(1)				(2)	(2)					(1)	(1)	(0)			(3)	(10)			(3)	(1)	(3)		

Table 4.2: Comparison of the evolution of fungal volatiles over time for the interactions between T. versicolor (Tv) and S. gausapatum (Sg) and their single-species controls

Peak areas for each volatile given in Terpene Adjusted Units (TAU), standard error of the means are given in parentheses. Identifications of peaks are given in Table 4. *, not detected; a, present in malt control treatments.

104

Table 4.3: Comparison of the evolution of fungal volatiles over time for the interactions between T. versicolor (Tv) and B. adusta (Ba) or H. fasciculare (Hf), and single-species controls

Peak	RT		Ba	Ba		TvBa		Hf	Ήf		TvHf			Ma	alt b	lank	
no.	(min)	Day	3	6	3	6	11	3	6	3	6	11	1	3	6	11	19
1ª	12.1		48	48	51	51	51	67	67	67	67	67	39	17	16	38	31
			(4)	(4)	(9)	(9)		(26)	(26)	(15)	(15)						
4	13.7		12	6	13	11	2	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
			(0.4)	(1)	(5)	(5)		1									
5	14		*	*	*	*	*	4	17	4	16	9	*	*	*	*	*
								(2)	(6)	(1)	(5)						
7	15.1		*	*	*	*	*	*	6	*	6	*	*	*	*	*	*
									(2)		(2)						
11	19.6		*	*	*	*	*	0.5	9	0.4	8	34	*	*	*	*	*
								(0.3)	(5)	(0)							
13	20.6		*	*	*	*	*	*	0.8	*	0.6	*	*	*	*	*	*
			_						(0)		(0.6)						
14	20.6		2	1	1	*	5	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
			(0.4)	(0.3)	(0.7)												
17	22		3	0.2	2	0.7	*	*	*	•	*		*	Ŧ	Ŧ	*	Ŧ
10			(0.2)	(0)	(0.2)	(0.6)			-		-			-	J.	-	
18	23.1		3 (0.1)	1 (0.3)	3 (0.5)	1(0.7)	•		Ť		*	•	Ť	•	•	•	•
004			(0.1)	(0.3)	(0.5)	(0.7)	100	100	1 0 0	070	150	~ ~				~	
204	24.2		157	309	258	252	100	193	193	276	159	94	51	53	31	87	63
01	00.0		(6)	(30)	(65)	(56)	*	(68)	(53)	(68)	(29)						
21	26.2		2	Ŧ		-	Ŧ	Ť	-	-	•	-	Ŧ	-	-	-	•
00	00 5		(0.2)	*	(0.4)		0 71		*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*
23	20.5		•	+	-	4	0.71		Ŧ	-	+		Ŧ	Ŧ	-	Ŧ	•
044	26.0		026	175	061	(2)	160	056	000	220	007	170	60	194	120	070	195
24-	20.9		230	(20)	201	1/4	109	200	200	330	207	1/2	09	134	132	212	135
25	00.0		(21)	(30)	(30)	(37)	*	(99)	(01)	(04)	(53)	*	*	*	*	*	*
20	20.0		(10)		18	-		(2)	12	(16)	(1)	•	-				
26	20.2		(10)	*	(4)	*	*	(3)	(3)	(10)	(1)	*	*	*	*	*	*
20	29.3		(6)		(4)			$\begin{pmatrix} 11\\ (2) \end{pmatrix}$	10 (E)	(2)	(4)						
97	30.7		*	2	(4)	2	*		(3)		(4)	*	*	*	*	*	*
21	30.7			(1)		(1)		(2)	(2)	(0,5)	(0 6)						
204	34 7		28	(1)	22	(1)	5		(4) 17	24	(0.0)	8	*	11	10	49	6
23	J-1.7		(3)	(0.8)	(2)	(1)	0	(6)	(0)	(7)	(1)	0		11	10	44	0
30	35.1		*	(0.0)	(2)	(1)	*		(3)	142	8		*	*	*	*	*
00	00.1							$\frac{1}{2}$		l ŵ	ത്						
31	39.7		*	16	*	2	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
	00.1			(7)		(້າ)											
32	47.3		39	*	0.2	0.7	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
			(38)		(0.1)	(0.6)											
			(00)		L (0)	(0.0)							L				

Peak areas for each volatile given in Malt Adjusted Units (MAU), with the exception of the malt control where Terpene Adjusted Units (TAU) are used. Standard error of the means are given in parentheses, except for day 11 of BaBa, TvBa, HfHf and TvHf where only one replicate was performed. Identifications of peaks are given in Table 4. *, not detected; a , present in malt control treatments.

 Table 4.4: Putative identifications of fungal volatiles detected in experimental treatments

Peak no.	Putative identification	Treatments present in		
	Name	Formula	Mw	
1ª	dibutylbenzene	C14H22	190	Malt control
2	isomer of (1)	$C_{14}H_{22}$	1 9 0	TvSg
3	5-methyl,1,3-cyclohexadiene	C_7H_{10}	94	TvSg
4	PDMS contamination	-	-	BaBa, TvBa
5	methylbenzoate OR anisaldehyde	$C_8H_8O_2$	136	HfHf, TvHf
6	aromatic	?	204?	TvSg
7	alkane, at least C7	C_7+	99+	HfHf, TvHf
8	methylbenzoate OR anisaldehyde isomer of (5)	$C_8H_8O_2$	1 3 6	Sg, SgSg, TvSg
9	benzaldehyde structure	?	?	Sg, TvSg
10	a-myrcene	$C_{10}H_{16}$	136	TvSg
11	monoterpene or derivative	$C_{10}H_{16}$	136	HfHf, TvHf
12	isomer of (6)	?	204?	TvSg
13	peaks too small	-	-	HfHf, TvHf
14	alkene	$C_n H_{2n}$	128 +	BaBa, TvBa
15	peaks too small	-	-	TvSg
16	peaks too small	-	-	TvSg
17	alkenol	$C_n H_{2n} O$	140+	BaBa, TvBa
18	peaks too small	-	-	BaBa, TvBa
19	peaks too small	-	-	TvSg
20 ^a	dimethylbenzaldehyde	$C_9H_{10}O$	135	Malt control
2 1	peaks too small	-	-	BaBa, TvBa
22	dimethylbenzoic acid, methyl ester-	$C_{10}H_{12}O_2$	164	Sg, SgSg, TvSg
23	peaks too small	-	-	TvBa
24ª	alkene, at least C_{12}	$C_{12} +$	168+	Malt control
25	alkenol	$C_n H_{2n} O$	168+	Sg, TvSg, BaBa, TvBa, HfHf, TvHf
26	alkenol	$C_n H_{2n} O$	168+	Tv, Sg, BaBa,
				TvBa, HfHf, TvHf
27	monoterpene(possibly carene)	$C_{10}H_{16}$	136	HfHf, TvHf,
				BaBa, TvBa
28	methoxybenzoic acid, methyl ester-	?	166	Sg, SgSg, TvSg
29 ^a	phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1-dimethyl)	$C_{14}H_{22}O$	206	Malt control
30	quinolinium-type compound	?	?	HfHf, TvHf
31	peaks too small	-	-	BaBa, TvBa
32	bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (plasticiser)	$C_{24}H_{38}O_4$	390	BaBa, TvBa

^a, present in malt control treatments

The related compound methylester-methoxybenzoic acid (M_w 166, Peak 28, RT 31.1 min) was present from 6 d onwards in Sg and SgSg, but only at the 6 d sampling in TvSg. Peaks 25 and 26, both putatively long-chain alkenols, were detected in Sg after 1 d, but were present in larger quantities in other interactions.

Eight VOCs specific to TvSg were detected (Table 4.2) following mycelial contact and pigment production. Six of these were detected after 6 d: Peak 2, another isomer of dibutylbenzene (different to Peak 1; M_w 190); Peak 3, 5-methyl,1,3-cyclohexadiene $(M_w 94)$; Peak 6, identified generally as having an aromatic structure, of which Peak 12 is an isomer; Peak 10, bearing strong similarity to α -myrcene (M_w 136); and Peak 16, which was too small for identification. A further two VOCs were detected after 11 d: Peaks 15 and 19, which were both too small to allow confident identification. Peaks 8 and 22, detected in Sg and SgSg, were also detected in TvSg but at significantly lower concentrations. Peak 9 was unusual as its total production in Sg was significantly ($P \leq 0.05$) lower than in TvSg (Figure 4.2). Peak 25, a putative alkenol, was also present in the VOC profile of Sg, HfHf, TvHf, BaBa and TvBa, and appears in TvSg after 6 d only.

4.3.6 B. adusta self-pairing (BaBa) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvBa)

Five VOCs were specific to *B. adusta* (Table 4.3): Peak 4, an alkene; Peak 17, an alkenol; Peaks 18, 21 and 31 were present at too low a concentration to be confidently identified. Peak 32 was possibly a plasticiser contaminant (bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate). Peaks 25 and 26, both alkenols, and Peak 27, a monoterpene (putatively carene), were also present but not specific to *B. adusta*, also being found in interactions involving *H. fasciculare*. One VOC specific to the TvBa interaction was detected following mycelial contact: Peak 23 (RT 26.5 min, but too small for identification) in two replicates at 6

d declining considerably by 11 d (Table 4.3).

4.3.7 *H. fasciculare* self-pairings (HfHf) and interacting with *T. versicolor* (TvHf)

Five *H. fasciculare*-specific VOCs were detected (Table 4.3): Peak 5, either methylbenzoate or an isomer of the anisaldehyde occurring in TvSg Peak 8; Peak 7, an alkane with at least a C₇ chain length; Peak 11, a monoterpene or derivative; Peak 30, a quinolinium-type compound with a distinctive spectral pattern at m/z 302; Peak 13, too small for identification. Peaks 25, 26 and 27 were also present in *H. fasciculare* profiles though not specifically, also being present in the profiles of *B. adusta* and TvSg. No VOCs were specific to TvHf.

4.3.8 Changes in VOC profiles over time

VOC concentrations usually increased and then declined as interactions proceeded (Figure 4.2, Tables 4.2 and 4.3). Of the interaction-specific VOCs produced in TvSg, maximal production was at 11 d (Peaks 2, 3, 6, 10, 12, 15, 19 and 25) with none detectable by 19 d (with the exception of Peak 2 and Peak 25 which peak at 6 d; Figure 4.2). The *S. gausapatum*-specific VOCs (Peaks 8, 22 and 28) declined but did not disappear by 19 d in Sg and SgSg (Table 4.2). There was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in total VOC evolution of *S. gausapatum*-specific compounds Peaks 8, 22 and 28 between Sg and SgSg (Figure 4.3). However, for Peaks 22 and 28 there was a significant decrease in total evolution by SgSg (Figure 4.3). In BaBa and TvBa, Peaks 16 and 18 declined dramatically between 3 d and 6 d (Table 4.3). For HfHf Peaks 5 and 11 occurred at a significantly (P \leq 0.05) higher concentration at the later sampling day, while for TvHf Peaks 5, 11 and 27 increased significantly (P \leq 0.05) between 3 d

and 6 d (Table 4.3). Only three *B. adusta*-specific VOCs were still detectable at 11 d in TvBa (Peaks 4, 14 and 23), and only two (Peaks 5 and 11) out of the six (Peaks 5, 7, 11, 13, 27 and 30) *H. fasciculare*-specific VOCs were detectable at 11 d (Table 4.3).

The malt extract Peaks 20 and 24 declined in the controls and all treatments over the course of the experiment (Figure 4.3). The evolution of malt Peak 29 also decreased over sampling days in BaBa, TvBa and TvHf (Table 4.3). In contrast, there was no change in malt Peak 1 in the presence of fungi, except in TvSg where there was a significant ($P \le 0.05$) increase between 6 d and 11 d (Table 4.2).

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Species specificity

These results highlight the species-specific nature of both volatile production and susceptibility to non-self VOCs. For example, there was no detectable change in VOC profile during interactions between T. versicolor and H. fasciculare, and only one interaction-specific VOC (too small to be identified) was produced during the interaction between T. versicolor and B. adusta. Nor did the quantity of species-specific VOCs produced differ between intra- and inter-specific pairings of these species. In contrast, following mycelial contact between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum, eight interaction-specific VOCs were identified. No VOCs specific to T. versicolor were detected in any of the interactions, whereas the other species examined produced at least five species-specific VOCs both during self-pairings and during interactions. It is unlikely that T. versicolor is responsible for the production of any of the 11 VOCs produced during interaction with S. gausapatum as none of these VOCs recur in pairings between T. versicolor and other species. Any volatile-mediated antagonism produced Chapter 4: Changes in volatile production



Figure 4.2: Total evolution of VOC peaks over 19 d for interactions involving T. versicolor (Tv) and S. gausapatum (Sg). Values are means of 3 replicates, with standard error of the mean, of total under the curve produced over 19 d. For each peak, bars with different letters are significantly (P ≤ 0.05) different from each other, no letters on a graph indicates no significant differences (P > 0.05) between treatments. Log transformation was required to normalise data for peaks 1, 9 and 29 for statistical tests.



Chapter 4: Changes in volatile production

Figure 4.3: Production of VOCs specific to interactions among and between *T. versicolor* (Tv) and *S. gausapatum* (Sg), over time. Values are means of 3 replicates with standard error of the mean. Dotted lines, Tv; Dotted lines with open circles, TvTv; dashed lines, Sg; dashed lines with open circles, SgSg; solid lines with solid diamonds, TvSg; malt control, solid line. Peaks are numbered according to order of elution (with RT in parentheses), as detailed in Table 4.2.

by T. versicolor is probably occurring through compounds, or at concentrations, undetectable by the present system.

4.4.2 Relationship between pigmentation and VOC production

The concurrent production of interaction-specific VOCs and pigments in the medium, as seen here in interactions involving *S. gausapatum*, has been reported previously for interactions between *H. fasciculare* and *R. bicolor* (Hynes et al., 2007). Pigment production occurs concurrent with production of aerial mycelium in *Phlebia radiata*, and also in response to chemical stress; possibly as a result of a shift in metabolism (Griffith et al., 1994). Production of VOCs may be stimulated by pigment production, or be a by-product of the process, or simply correlated with aspects of secondary metabolism, including production of diffusible organic compounds. Pigmentation is not a prerequisite for VOC production, and did not occur during interactions involving *B. adusta*, even though VOCs were abundant. With *H. fasciculare*, pigmentation only appeared during later stages of interactions, after VOC sampling had finished. This contrasts with a previous study (Hynes et al., 2007) where a different isolate of *H. fasciculare* produced a yellow pigment immediately after mycelial contact had been established with *R. bicolor*. Pigmentation of *H. fasciculare* mycelium, and of agar on which it is grown, varies considerably between strains (T.D. Rotheray, unpub.).

4.4.3 Antagonism at a distance and temporal changes

While there is clearly long-distance signalling, as evidenced by changes in extension rates in the double plate experiment, no gross morphological changes were evident nor interaction-specific volatiles produced prior to mycelial contact. The latter concurs with the previous study on VOCs produced during interactions between R. bicolor and H. fasciculare (Hynes et al., 2007). However, in view of the numerous reports of antagonism at a distance (Boddy, 2000; Woodward and Boddy, 2008), it seems extremely unlikely that this is always the case. Indeed, other VOCs may be present in the interactions used in the current study, and possibly produced prior to mycelial contact. SPME fibre-coatings differ in their detection limits for specific compounds – the PDMS fibre-coating used here was chosen as it is especially good at absorbing terpenes, known to be involved in fungal interactions (Hynes et al., 2007). A much wider range of VOCs might be revealed using additional sampling devices and analytical approaches (Ewen et al., 2004).

The general pattern of VOC production suggests an increase with mycelial volume, with a decrease by later samplings. The decrease may be due to limited nutrients or space, but may equally reflect the stage of the interaction. Thus, cessation in production of both *S. gausapatum*- and interaction-specific VOCs by 19 d in TvSg correlates with complete replacement of the former by *T. versicolor*. The general trend of decrease in malt extract peaks in all combinations implies degradation of these compounds by the fungi. White rot fungi are known to be able to degrade a wide range of chemicals including plastics (Sutherland et al., 1997). The single exception to this trend – the increase in dibutylbenzene (Peak 1) in TvSg relative to the malt control – may result from fungal production, as a different isomer of dibutylbenzene (Peak 2) is also produced during the interaction.

4.4.4 Function of VOCs

Although the majority of VOCs produced during the interaction between *H. fasci*culare and *R. bicolor* in a previous study were sesquiterpenes (Hynes et al., 2007), in the present study only three monoterpenes were identified: α -myrcene (Peak 10) specific to the TvSg interaction; putative carene (Peak 27) common to both *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*; and a putative unidentified monoterpene (Peak 11) specific to *H. fasciculare*. Terpenes are ecologically significant, in some cases possessing antifungal activity which could constitute an antagonistic mechanism during fungal interactions (Viiri et al., 2001). The effect of monoterpenes on fungal growth varies. Carene and myrcene in the volatile phase are known to inhibit *Heterobasidion* and *Leptographium* species, and the terpene-rich volatiles from tomato leaves inhibit the phytopathogens *Alternaria alternata* and *Botrytis cinerea* (Hamilton-Kemp et al., 1992; Zamponi et al., 2006). However, terpene mixtures characteristic of conifer wood stimulate the growth of conifer-pathogenic fungi (Gao et al., 2005). Monoterpenes could also function to repel predators, as has been reported for *Collembola* insects grazing bacteria and fungi in soil (Ladygina et al., 2005).

The biological functions of several of the other VOCs identified are known. Many are scent compounds, including benzoic acid derivatives (Peaks 22 and 28) – components of the volatile oil of sage, and of the Agaricus blazei volatile fraction (Stijve et al., 2002). Benzoic acid methyl ester (Peak 28), another VOC identified from *S. gausapatum*, is part of the volatile profile of *Tricholoma matsutake* (pine mushroom; Cho et al., 2007). Several VOCs were identified as alkenols of different chain lengths (Peaks 17, 25 and 26), and two long-chain hydrocarbons were putatively identified (Peaks 7 and 14). Alkenols are common fungal VOCs. 1-Octen-3-ol is responsible for the characteristic odour of mushrooms (Ziegenbein et al., 2006), while undecanal and 2-decen-1-ol are components of the VOC profile of chicory, which has antifungal activity (Bais et al., 2003). The production of the same alkenol peaks in cultures of different species indicates these are general fungal VOCs. They could thus play a role in alerting fungi to the presence of foreign mycelia.

Whilst the nature of Peaks 5 and 8 could not be elucidated further than either methylbenzoate or isomers of anisaldehyde, both have interesting implications. Methylbenzoate is also found in the VOC profile of the brown-rot basidiomycete Coniophora puteana, and its derivatives are known to possess antifungal activity (Woodward et al., 1993; Wolf, 1951). Anisaldehyde was one of the most abundant VOCs produced by cultures of six species of the basidiomycete Pleurotus spp., and was produced by cultures of Ischnoderma benzoinum, Clitocybe odora, Lentinellus cochleatus and Agaricus essettei (Berger et al., 1987; Gutierrez et al., 1994; Rapior et al., 2002). Thought to act as a redox-cycling agent for H_2O_2 production, anisaldehyde could play several roles in the highly metabolically active interaction zone, or in long-distance signalling of the presence of another mycelium (Guillen and Evans, 1994).

The quinolinium-like compound identified from H. fasciculare (Peak 30) was also produced during interactions between H. fasciculare (although a different isolate to the one used here) and R. bicolor (Hynes et al., 2007). Quinolinium compounds, and the related quinolines, have high antifungal activity, e.g. the quinoline alkaloid viridicatin produced by *Penicillium* sp. has been used to drive development of commercial fungicides (Bringmann et al., 1997). Moreover, fungi can also degrade a variety of quinoline-type compounds (Kaiser et al., 1996).

Clearly, a variety of fungal metabolites, with equally diverse ecological functions, are produced both constitutively and during interactions by wood-decay fungi. These compounds have potential roles as antifungal volatile chemical weaponry or as 'infochemcials' (Wheatley et al., 1997).

Chapter 5

Combative ability and enzyme production by homokaryons and heterokaryons of *T. versicolor*

5.1 Introduction

The life cycle of a typical wood decay basidiomycete involves two mycelial stages. Spore germination produces a homokaryotic mycelium, which, following hyphal fusion and nuclear exchange with a mating-type compatible conspecific may form a heterokaryotic mycelium. The two haploid gametic types of nuclei are maintained indefinitely during vegetative growth, fusing only for karyogamy and meiosis which yields homokaryotic spores. The heterokaryotic state can also break down through the formation of asexual homokaryotic conidia (James et al., 2008; Stenlid, 2008). The heterokaryotic state is similar to diploidy in that two haploid genomes reside in each cell with full opportunity for genetic complementation, but is crucially different because the two haploid genomes

remain separated in different nuclei (Clark and Anderson, 2004).

The duration of the homokaryotic phase for a mycelium inhabiting woody organic resources is determined by a variety of factors, most important of which are the local abundance of the species and its mating type structure. The homokaryotic phase persists until a compatible conspecific is encountered, and there is evidence of an inverse relationship between the number of colonies of a species in the field and the number that are homokaryotic phase dominating the life cycle, but this is less likely to be the case in areas where mating potential is restricted as the homokaryotic phase would necessarily persist for much longer. For common species, e.g. *T. versicolor*, homokaryons might be expected to be short-lived. This has been observed in areas of high spore fall with a large area of resource open to colonisation (Williams et al., 1981). However there is also evidence of homokaryons, including those of *T. versicolor*, persisting in woody resources in the field for several years (Coates and Rayner, 1985; Garbelotto et al., 1997; Redfern et al., 2001; Stenlid, 2008).

Homokaryons and heterokaryons are subject to largely similar stresses during colonisation of, and proliferation within, woody organic resources, such as obtaining carbon and nutrients from recalcitrant lignified tissues, and antagonistic interspecific interactions. Whilst competition is regarded as a major factor influencing the distribution and abundance of wood decay fungi, only a few ecological studies have considered the competitive ability of homokaryons (Crockatt et al., 2008). It has been hypothesised that the temporary nature of homokaryons requires less combative ability than heterokaryons (e.g., Gardes et al., 1990), but the reverse was found for several species including the rare *Hericium coralloides* (Crockatt et al., 2008). However, these results are species-specific as no differences in combative ability were found between homoand heterokaryotic mycelia of *Aleurodiscus (Acanthophysellum) lividocoeruleus* (Fryar et al., 2002). It has also been suggested that the greater genetic adaptive potential of heterokaryons relative to homokaryons may increase the capacity to tolerate different stresses and thus improve combative ability (Clark and Anderson, 2004).

Differences in growth and decay rate between homokaryons and heterokaryons have also been reported, although again no clear pattern emerges. Heterokaryons of *Lenzites* (Gloeophyllum) trabea, Phellinus weirii and Pleurotus ostreatus generally grew more rapidly than homokaryons (Bezemer, 1973; Hansen, 1979), but there were no differences between different karyotic states of A. lividocoeruleus or H. coralloides (Fryar et al., 2002; Crockatt et al., 2008). Overall, no differences in decay rate were found between different karyotic states of Gloeophyllum trabeum (Costa and Kerruish, 1965; Amburgey, 1970). Heterokaryons of P. weirii decayed wood more rapidly than homokaryons (Hansen, 1979), but the reverse was true for Poria (Antrodia) vaillantii and Elfvingia (Ganoderma) applanata (Aoshima, 1954; Costa and Kerruish, 1965). Decay rate by Serpula lacrymans was less in 57% (of 138) of heterokaryons compared to their component homokaryons, intermediate in 33% and greater in 10% (Elliott et al., 1979). Also, homokaryons and heterokaryons sometimes have different morphologies, e.g. Schizophyllum commune and S. lacrymans (Clark and Anderson, 2004; Kauserud et al., 2006).

In a limited study the ability of homokaryons and heterokaryons of *T. versicolor* to break down lignin was compared (Addleman and Archibald, 1993). There were no differences in ligninolytic enzyme production or delignification between homokaryons and heterokaryons, though homokaryons were better able to bleach kraft pulps, but this was based on a very small sample size of isolates especially selected for high enzyme production. However, in *S. commune*, laccase activity was detected in heterokaryotic cultures only, implying different regulation in the different phases (de Vries et al., 1986). The greater genetic potential of heterokaryons may enable production of a more diverse range of isozymes of a particular enzyme, increasing substrate range, stress mediation, and adaptability to different resources. For example, two *Coriolus (Trametes) hirsutus* homokaryons produced different laccase isozymes, both of which were expressed by the heterokaryotic product of their mating (Kojima et al., 1990).

In the limited number of previous studies performed so far there is no evidence of a trend for either karyotic state being more combative, growing faster or decaying wood more rapidly than the other. However, these studies have usually compared only one or two characters, rather than a wide suite. The aim of the study reported here was to compare a range of characters of *T. versicolor* homokaryons and heterokaryons, including extension rate, wood decay rate, ligninolytic enzyme (laccase and peroxidases) production, and combative ability. As a secondary coloniser (Boddy, 2001), when *T. versicolor* basidiospores arrive at a woody resource it is already colonised, so homokaryons would be expected to have good combative ability. Likewise heterokaryons must also be combative to avoid replacement. Thus no differences in combative ability are hypothesised. Neither is there any reason for expecting extension rates of homo- and heterokaryons to differ. However, since the main role of homokaryons is initial establishment, presumably usually of a small focus, whereas that of heterokaryons will produce larger amounts of ligninolytic enzymes.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Fungal isolates

Primary and secondary mycelia of *Trametes versicolor*, and heterokaryons of other wood decay Ascomycota and Basisdiomycota (Table 5.1) were maintained on 2% (w/v) malt agar (MA; 15 g l⁻¹ Lab M Agar no. 2 (Lab M, Bury, Lancashire, UK), 20 g l⁻¹ Munton and Fison Spray Malt Light (Munton Plc, Stowmarket, Suffolk, UK)).

Ecological role	Species	Strain	Source	Isolated by	Date isolated/ created	
Early secondary	Trametes versicolor	Natural heterokaryons				
colonisers on standing		TvD4	Quercus robur Ccc	L. Boddy		
and fallen wood		TvD2	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy		
		TvJHC	•	J. Heilmann-Clausen		
		TvA	Fagus sylvatica Ccc	J. Hiscox	Apr 08	
		Natural homokaryons		J. Hiscox	Apr 08	
		A1				
		A2				
		A3				
		A4				
		A5				
		A6				
		A7				
		A8				
		Artificial heterokaryons		C. Hibbert	Oct 08	
		A1xA2				
		A3xA7				
		A4xA6				
		A5xA8				
		De-dikaryotised homokaryons		J. Hunt	Apr 08	
		D2*1				
		D2*2				
		D2*3				
		D2*4				
	Bjerkandera adusta	MA313	WGP	M. Ainsworth		
Primary colonisers,	Stereum gausapatum	Sg1	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy		
latently present in	Vuilleminia comedens	Vc1	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy		
standing trunks and	Stereum hirsutum	Sh1				
attached branches	Daldinia concentrica ^a	Dc290594				
	Eutypa spinosa ^a	Es1	F. sylvatica Ccc	S. J. Hendry	Sep 05	
Heart rotters	Fomes fomentarius	JHC001-201	F. sylvatica Denmark	J. Heilmann-Clausen		
Later secondary	Hypholoma fasciculare	GTWV2	South Wales	G. Tordoff	2003	
cord-forming colonisers	· -	DD2		D. Donnelly		
_	Phanerochaete velutina	Pv29				
Tooth fungus ^b	Hericium coralloides	HcMA129-9	F. sylvatica Ccc	M. Crockatt	Nov 05	

Table 5.1: Details of *Trametes versicolor* isolates, and isolates against which they were paired in agar culture.

Ccc: Cardiff University Culture Collection; a: Ascomycota, all others are Basidiomycota; b: ecological role not entirely clear, found both in central heart regions and outer sapwood (Boddy and Wald, 2002); WGP: Windsor Great Park, UK.

120

'Natural' homokaryotic mycelia were isolated following germination of single spores from the fruit body of isolate TvA. Small pieces of mature hymenium of fruit body isolate TvA were stuck to the lid of a sterile, empty Petri dish with petroleum jelly and left to deposit spores overnight. Spores were suspended in sterile distilled water and diluted so that when spread on 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes (Greiner Bio-one, Austria) containing high clarity 2% MA (20 g l⁻¹ Lab M Agar no.1; 15 g l⁻¹ Lab M malt extract) there was approximately one spore per field of view at ×10 magnification. Plates were incubated upside down, at 20°C in darkness. The position of germinating spores, that were well-separated from other hyphae, were marked using a dummy objective. The dummy objective consists of a thin metal tube mounted onto an objective lens which directly corresponds to the field of view through the ×10 objective. This tube can be lowered into the agar to cut a plug of agar around a chosen spore. The plug of agar containing the germinating spore was transferred to a fresh agar plate with a sharpened tungsten wire. Cultures were checked for clamp connections.

'Artificial' homokaryotic mycelia were generated through de-dikaryotisation of isolate TvD2 by Dr Julie Hunt (Cardiff lab). As the two nuclei in a heterokaryon remain distinct, it is possible to recover the two haploid components by protoplast formation and regeneration. TvD2 heterokaryotic mycelia was grown in liquid culture (agar plugs inoculated into malt broth; 20 g 1^{-1} Lab M malt extract in distilled water) at 20°C in the dark. Protoplasts were generated following the methods outlined in Sato et al. (1998). Briefly, week-old mycelium was extracted by filtration, blended and incubated in a buffer solution containing cellulase and chitinase to permeabilise cell walls. These protoplasts were subjected to restriction enzyme-mediated integration (REMI). The principle of REMI involves restriction enzymes penetrating the cells and nuclear membranes and cleaving chromosomal DNA in vivo at specific restriction sites. The free chromosomal DNA ends generated can then be ligated by host cells to plasmid DNA which has been linearised by the restriction enzymes (Sato et al., 1998).

for selection of successful transformants. These transformants were checked for the presence of clamp connections to ensure they were de-dikaryotised. The mating types (and hence which of the D2 nuclei they contain) of these homokaryotic mycelia were identified by pairing them against each other and monitoring whether the colonies merged or formed clamp connections. No clamp connections were observed in any of the pairings so we can assume they all contain the same nucleus and the mycelia have just merged as self-pairings.

'Natural' heterokaryotic isolates were obtained by fruit body tissue isolations: small pieces of tissue (avoiding the hymenium) were surface-sterilised by flaming and placed onto 2% MA. 'Artificial' heterokaryons were generated by randomly pairing homokary ons on agar plates to produce stable heterokaryotic mycelia (Table 5.1).

5.2.2 Extension rates

Plugs (6 mm diam.), cut from the actively growing margin of a colony using a No. 3 cork borer, were inoculated centrally onto 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes (Greiner Bio-one, Austria) of 2% MA. Colony diameter in two dimensions perpendicular to each other was measured daily, to 0.1 mm using Vernier callipers (Swiss Precision Instruments Inc, CA, USA).

5.2.3 Wood decay rates

Beech (Fagus sylvatica) blocks $(2 \times 2 \times 1 \text{ cm})$ were cut from a freshly felled trunk (Wentwood, Newport, UK) and stored at -18° C until required. Blocks were defrosted by soaking overnight in distilled water and sterilised by autoclaving three times. They were then incubated on 14 cm Petri dishes (Greiner, Bio-one, Austria) of 2% MA, fully

colonised by *T. versicolor*, at 20°C in the dark. Density $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})$ of wood blocks was determined destructively at the start and after 10 months incubation (10 replicates) and percentage weight loss estimated. Unfortunately this was not performed for 4 of the isolates due to contamination.

5.2.4 Interspecific interactions

Interactions were set up between all isolates of *T. versicolor* and 10 other species (Table 5.1), isolated from wood or fruit bodies, on 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Fungi were inoculated as 6 mm diameter plugs 30 mm apart, and plates were incubated in darkness at 20°C. Timing of inoculation depended on extension rate and where necessary was staggered to ensure that mycelia met in the centre of the dish. Three replicates were performed for each combination. Once colonies met, interactions were observed approximately weekly, with final outcomes recorded after 8 to 10 weeks. Outcomes were recorded as either deadlock (where neither mycelium captured territory from the other), replacement (where one fungus grew over and through the other so that it was no longer recoverable by re-isolation) or partial replacement, mutual partial replacement (where both mycelia gain some of the territory of the other), or overgrowth (where the one fungus grew over the other but did not replace it). Outcomes were confirmed by re-isolation from the base of the agar, which was essential for distinguishing between any replacement and overgrowth.

The outcome of each pairing was given a score, as an aid to comparison of combative ability (following Crockatt et al., 2008): replacement of the antagonist by T. versicolor was assigned +2; partial replacement of the antagonist, +1; deadlock, 0; partial replacement of T. versicolor, -1; complete replacement of T. versicolor, -2. Mutual partial replacement was scored as -1 and +1, so a net score of 0. Where either antagonist had killed but not (yet) replaced the other, the outcome was scored as for replacement,

and where overgrowth but not replacement had occurred the outcome was scored as deadlock. Cumulative scores were determined for each isolate by addition of scores from all replicate interactions.

5.2.5 Enzyme assays

Isolates of *T. versicolor* were grown on 16 ml 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes in darkness at 20°C. A plug of agar with mycelium (12 mm diameter; mycelial coverage 112 mm²; made using a no. 8 cork borer) was removed from just behind the growing margin of a 7 d-old colony. Each plug was cut into c. 12 pieces and transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube, to which 1 ml of deionised water was added. Tubes were shaken overnight at 4°C, then 0.8 ml of extract was removed and centrifuged for 10 min at 8,000 g at 4°C to pellet any debris. Extracts were also made from 6-month-old colonised wood blocks; these were roughly chopped (pieces less than $2 \times 2 \times 2$ mm, and c. 100 mg wet weight) and extracts prepared in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes as for agar cultures. Extracts were kept at 4°C and used within 12 h. The wet weight of the agar plus mycelium, and the dry weight of the wood shavings plus mycelium, were used to normalise the data from agar and wood block cultures respectively. Three replicates were performed for each isolate.

Enzyme assays were performed according to the methods described in Section 2.2.4.

5.2.6 Statistical analysis

Colony extension rates during the log phase of extension were estimated by linear regression and compared using one-way ANOVA, or Kruskal-Wallis when non-normal, in Minitab (v.15). Percentage density loss between isolates was compared in the same way, and so were differences in enzyme activity. Correlation between extension rate, enzyme activity, competitive score and decay rate was assessed using Spearmans' rank correlation in Minitab.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Extension rates

Radial extension rate ranged from 4.1 to 6.4 mm d⁻¹. Overall, natural heterokaryon extension rate was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) greater than that of homokaryons (Figure 5.1A), however there was no significant difference (P > 0.05) between the mean extension rate of the natural homokaryons and 'artificial' heterokaryons (the mating products of the homokaryons; Figure 5.1A), nor between the natural homokaryons, the 'artificial' heterokaryons and their 'parent' natural heterokaryon TvA (not shown in figure; P > 0.05). The extension rate of the artificial heterokaryons were similar to at least one of the component homokaryons (Figure 5.1B). The heterokaryon tended to be more similar to the faster of the two homokaryons, for example in combinations A3xA7 and A5xA8 where extension rate of both the faster homokaryon and the heterokaryon were significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher than the slower homokaryon. Dedikaryotised homokaryons grew significantly ($P \le 0.05$) slower than the other groups (Figure 5.1A) but only D2*1 had a significantly lower extension rate compared to its parent heterokaryon TvD2 (Figure 5.1C).



Figure 5.1: A: The mean extension rates of *T. versicolor* natural heterokaryons, artificial heterokaryons, natural homokaryons and de-dikaryotised homokaryons. B: Comparing the mean extension rates of *T. versicolor* natural homokaryons and the heterokaryon products of their matings. Blue bars, heterokaryons; green bars, 1st component homokaryon (e.g. for A3xA7 this would be A3); striped bars, 2nd component homokaryon. C: Comparison of the extension rates of the natural heterokaryon TvD2 and de-dikaryotised mutants D2*1 to *4. Different letters indicate a significant ($P \leq 0.05$) difference in extension rate.
5.3.2 Decay rates

Overall, heterokaryons effected a significantly greater decay of beech wood blocks than homokaryons (Figure 5.2A). However, there were no significant differences between the density loss from natural heterokaryon TvA and any of the natural homokaryons (not shown in figure; P > 0.05). Artificial heterokaryons caused greater weight losses than their component homokaryons but this was only significant ($P \le 0.05$) for A1xA2, where the component homokaryons also had significantly different decay abilities to each other (Figure 5.2B). The component homokaryons of A3xA7 and A5xA8 did not cause significantly different losses of density to each other, but in both combinations one of the component homokaryons was significantly lower than the artificial heterokaryon (Figure 5.2B).

5.3.3 Outcome of interactions

There was considerable variation in the combative ability of T. versicolor isolates. Outcomes ranged between complete replacement of the competitor to partial replacement of the T. versicolor isolate by that competitor (e.g. homokaryon A8 vs. F. fomentarius), and between partial replacement of T. versicolor isolate to partial replacement of the competitor (e.g. heterokaryon TvD4 vs. H. coralloides; Table 5.2). Against this set of antagonists, T. versicolor was a successful combatant, completely replacing its opponent in over half of all interactions, and with 18 out of the 20 isolates having positive cumulative scores. The mean score for all isolates was 24.2 (Table 5.2).

Overall, there were no significant differences (P > 0.05) between the proportion of successful interaction outcomes (i.e. where *T. versicolor* replaced or partially replaced the competitor) attained by homokaryons and heterokaryons (Figure 5.3). In some cases the artificial heterokaryons outperformed both component homokaryons: for ex-

Table 5.2:	Outcomes	of interactions	on ag	gar b	oetween	Trametes	versicolor	homokaryons	and	heterokaryons	and	11
antagonist w	ood decay s	species.										

Isolate	Stereum gausapatum	Stereum hirsutum	Daldinia concentrico	Hericium coralloides	Hypholoma fasciculare	Hypholoma fasciculare	Bjerkandera adusta	Vuilleminia comedens	Eutypa spinosa	Fomes fomentarius	Phanerochaete velutina	Cumul- ative	Rank
					GTWV2	DD2						score	
Natural h	eterokaryor	15											
TvD4	R	R	R(2)PR	PR(2)pr	pr*	\mathbf{pr}	pr	R	R	PR	PR(2)D	26	11
TvD2	R	R	R(2)PR	pr(2)D	r	r(2)pr	pr(2)r	R	R	D	PR(2)D	15	17
TvJHC	R	R	R	OG	r*	r	pr(2)r	R	R	D	R	20	15
TvA	R	R	R	MPR(2)PR	pr*(2)R	PR(2)R	PR(2)R	R(2)PR	R	R(2)D	R(2)PR	47	2
Artificial l	heterokaryo	ons											
A4xA6	R	R	R	OG	MPR	R(2)PR	pr(2)D	PR(2)R	R	D(2)PR	R(2)MPR	37	3
A5xA8	R	R	D	MOG	r	R	r	R	R	PR (2)D	R	26	11
A3xA7	R	R	R	PR+og	r*(2)pr	PR(2)MPR	r(2)pr	R	R	R(2)D	R	35	4
A1xA2	R	R	R	pog	pr	R	r(2)pr	R(2)PR	R	D	PR(2)R	31	6
Natural h	omokaryon	5											
A1	R	R	R	MPOG	pr*	pr(2)r	pr(2)O/G	PR(2)R	R	PR	R	28	7
A2	R	R	R	OG	r*	r	r(2)pr	R	R	D	R	19	16
A3	R	R	R	PR	r*	r(2)MPR	\mathbf{PR}	R(2)PR	R	R	R	57	1
A4	PR	R	PR(2)OG	pr+OG(2)pr	r	r	r	R(2)PR	PR(2)R	pr(2)D	o/g	-3	19
A5	R	R	PR(2)R	MPOG	r(2)pr*	R	r(2)pr	R	R	PR(2)R	R	34	5
A6	R(2)PR	R	R	OG	r	pr(2)R	r(2)pr	R	R	R	R(2)MPR	28	7
A7	R(2)PR	R	R	r	MPR(2)r*	PR	r	R	R	D(2)PR	R	24	13
A8	R	R	R	D(2)MPR	r	r(2)MPR	r	R(2)PR	R	pr(2)R	PR(2)r	14	18
De-dikary	otised hom	okaryons											
D2*1	PR(2)D	POG	OG(2)R	r(2)D	r	r	r	r	D	D(2)pr	r	-31	20
D2*2	R	R	R	MOG	r*	r(2)pr	r(2)pr	R	R	PR	R	23	14
D2*3	R(2)PR	R	R	pr+OG	r	r	PR+pog	R	R	R	R	27	9
D2*4	R(2)PR	R	R	D	r	r(2)pr	pog(2)r	R	R	R	R(2)PR	27	9
Cumulative scores	109	114	102	-10	-92	-29	-69	119	112	46	82		

R: replacement of competitor by *T. versicolor*; **PR**: partial replacement of competitor by *T. versicolor*; **D**: deadlock; MPR: mutual partial replacement; OG overgrowth by *T. versicolor*; og: overgrowth of *T. versicolor* by competitor; pr: partial replacement of *T. versicolor* by competitor; r: replacement of *T. versicolor* by competitor. Hf: Hypholoma fasciculare. * indicates H. fasciculare overgrowth where *T. versicolor* has been killed but not yet replaced. The numbers in brackets are the number of replicates with that particular outcome (three replicates were performed for each combination).

128





Figure 5.2: A: The mean % weight loss of beech wood blocks after 10 months colonisation by *T. versicolor* natural heterokaryons, artificial heterokaryons, natural homokaryons and de-dikaryotised homokaryons. B: Comparing the mean weight loss of beech wood blocks after 10 months colonisation by *T. versicolor* natural homokaryons and the heterokaryon products of their matings. Blue bars, heterokaryons; green bars, 1^{st} component homokaryon (e.g. for A3xA7 this would be A3); striped bars, 2^{nd} component homokaryon. Different letters indicate significant (P ≤ 0.05) differences in density loss.

ample, A4 and A6 were both replaced by *H. fasciculare* GTWV2, but the outcome with their mating product A4xA6 was mutual partial replacement or partial overgrowth by *H. fasciculare* (Figure 5.4 A-C). Another example is the replacement of A2 by *H. fasciculare* DD2, the mutual partial replacement with A1, compared to the complete replacement of *H. fasciculare* DD2 by A1xA2 (Figure 5.4 D-F). Generally, the combative ability of the artificial heterokaryon was similar to that of their 'strongest' component homokaryon, for example A8 is replaced by *H. fasciculare* DD2 whilst A5 and A5xA8 both replace *H. fasciculare* DD2 (Figure 5.4 G-I).

TvD2 (the isolate used in other chapters) was not very successful in interactions rel-





Figure 5.3: Percentage of interactions in each category of outcomes. Bars are mean % for each group \pm SEM. R, replacement of opponent by *T. versicolor*; PR, partial replacement of opponent by *T. versicolor*; D/MPR, deadlock or mutual partial replacement; pr, partial replacement of *T. versicolor* by opponent; r, replacement of *T. versicolor* by opponent. There were no significant differences in the mean % total outcomes in each category for the different karyotic states.

ative to the other *T. versicolor* isolates, ranking 17^{th} out of 20 (Table 5.2). TvD2 was outperformed by the de-dikaryotised mutants D2*2, D2*3 and D2*4, which had similar competitive rankings; however TvD2 was much more successful than D2*1. For example, the outcome of interactions with *Phanerochaete velutina* Pv29: partial replacement of *P. velutina* by heterokaryon TvD2, complete replacement by D2*2, *3 and *4, but complete replacement of D2*1 by the competitor (Figure 5.4 J-L).

No differences were observed in homokaryon or heterokaryon morphology during interactions. There were, however, notable variations in interaction morphology of A5 and A5xA8: fluid-filled balls of mycelium, c. 0.5 cm in diameter, were produced behind the interaction zones in older interactions.





Figure 5.4: Differences in interaction outcomes at 2 months between *T. versicolor* heterokaryons and their component homokaryons. *T. versicolor* is always on the left hand side. A-C: heterokaryon A4xA6 (A) and homokaryons A4 (B) and A6 (C) vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2; D-E: heterokaryon A1xA2 (D) and homokaryons A1 (E) and A2 (F) vs. *H. fasciculare* DD2; G-I: heterokaryon A5xA8 (G) and homokaryons A5 (H) and A8 (I) vs. *H. fasciculare* DD2; J-L: natural heterokaryon TvD2 (J) and de-dikaryotised homokaryons D2*1 (K) and D2*3 (L) vs. *P. velutina* Pv29.

5.3.4 Enzyme assays

All enzymes assayed for were detected in agar cultures, except manganese peroxidase (MnP) and lignin peroxidase (LiP). The production of enzymes in agar culture varied widely between isolates (Table 5.3). There were no significant differences between natural homokaryons and their mated products – the artificial heterokaryons – in activity of any of the enzymes. However, when considered individually, artificial heterokaryons often had significantly lower enzyme activity than one of their component homokaryons in agar culture. The most dramatic was A4xA6, which had significantly lower (P ≤ 0.05) activity of β -glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase than its component homokaryon A4, but similar activity to its other component homokaryon A6 (Figure 5.5). The opposite occurred for laccase activity, with no significantly (P ≤ 0.05) lower activity than A6 (Figure 5.5). De-dikaryotised homokaryon D2*1 had the lowest laccase activity of all isolates in agar culture, but for all other enzymes D2*1 agar cultures displayed higher activity than that of the other de-dikaryotised homokaryons and heterokaryon TvD2 (Table 5.3).

There was much greater variability in enzyme activity between replicates of wood block cultures compared to agar cultures (Table 5.4). MnP activity was detected in 13 of the 20 isolates in wood block culture, but again no LiP activity was detected. Whereas agar cultures of homokaryon A4 showed significantly higher chitinase, acid phosphatase and β -glucosidase activity than all other natural homokaryons, no significant differences in activity of A4 enzymes were found in wood block culture extracts (Figure 5.5). Where there were significant differences in activity of a particular enzyme between artificial heterokaryons and a component homokaryon in agar culture, these were not consistent with activities in wood block culture (Figure 5.5). For example, artificial heterokaryon A4xA6 had significantly higher laccase activity than either component homokaryon in wood block culture, but was significantly lower than A6 in agar culture (Figure 5.5).

Natural	heterok	iryo	ns															
TvD4	181.8	H	22.6	0.0	H	0.0	8.0	H	0.3	10.8	H	2.1	1.8	++	0.3	2.8	H	0.3
TvD2	194.6	-H	37.2	0.0	++	0.0	6.6	+1	0.5	5.9	H	1.3	1.5	H	0.2	2.0	-H	0.1
TvJHC	204.8	H	30.3	0.0	H	0.0	4.9	H	0.1	11.4	H	1.5	2.4	H	0.4	4.9	H	0.9
TvA	406.2	H	49.4	0.0	H	0.0	5.2	H	0.2	31.9	+	2.7	1.9	H	0.2	2.8	H	0.4
Average	226.30	H	27.7	0.0	H	0.0	5.70	H	0.5	15.00	H	3.1	1.9^{a}	H	0.1	3.1ª	-H	0.4
Artificia	l heterok	cary	ons			_												
A4xA6	348.9	, H	0.5	0.0	H	0.0	7.1	H	0.7	20.5	-11	1.7	1.6	H	0.2	3.1	H	0.2
A5xA8	267.7	-+1	19.4	0.0	H	0.0	6.2	++	1.0	26.8	+1	2.1	1.1	H	0.1	3.6	H	0.2
A3xA7	343.7	H	11.4	0.0	-++	0.0	7.8	H	0.0	24.3	++	1.2	1.5	Н	0.2	2.9	-H	0.3
A1xA2	279.0	H	60.5	0.0	H	0.0	5.1	H	0.4	27.6	н	0.9	1.3	H	0.3	2.9	H	0.3
Average	303.1^{ab}	H	17.6	0.0	H	0.0	6.6ª	++	0.5	24.80	+1	1.1	1.4 ^b	++	0.1	3. Ia	+1	0.1
Vatural	homokai	rvon	s			_												
A1	224.2	4	38.0	0.0	-++	0.0	4.9	H	0.4	13.8	H	1.1	0.8	H	0.1	2.8	H	0.2
A2	305.1	H	26.8	0.0	H	0.0	6.2	H	0.1	7.9	+1	0.7	0.9	H	0.0	2.4	H	0.2
A3	327.5	H	30.1	0.0	-++	0.0	5.6	₩	0.2	7.0	H	0.6	1.2	-H	0.0	2.6	 	0.2
A4	299.1	H	9.0	0.0	H	0.0	7.9	Н	0.2	57.2	H	2.3	17.8	-++	2.3	15.2	++	0.4
A5	294.7	+I	6.6	0.0	H	0.0	5.3	H	0.2	24.7	-++	3.3	1.3	H	0.2	1.5	H	1.0
A6	537.0	+ I	46.4	0.0	H	0.0	8.5	+1	0.6	11.6	++	1.2	1.2	H	0.1	3.0	H	0.3
A7	264.8	H	4.9	0.0	+1	0.0	6.8	H	1.1	13.2	H	0.9	1.4	H	0.1	2.9	H	0.3
A 8	446.2	H	19.6	0.0	H	0.0	7.2	H	0.3	7.9	H	0.6	1.1	H	0.2	5.0	н	0.2
Average	328.60	H	19.4	0.0	H	0.0	6.5^{a}	-++	0.3	17.9ab	H	3.3	3. Lab	H	1.2	4.4 ^a	+1	0.9
De-dikan	ryotised	hom	okaryo	 Suc														
D2*1	171.0	H	30.2	0.0	H	0.0	20.1	-H	1.8	15.0	-++	1.8	4.0	H	1.1	14.8	H	3.6
D2*2	411.3	H	60.9	0.0	H	0.0	8.2	H	0.6	3.4	H	0.3	1.2	H	0.2	2.7	H	0.3
D2*3	365.9	++	17.6	0.0	H	0.0	5.4	H	0.0	3.2	-++	0.2	1.3	-++	0.2	2.5	-H	0.1
D2*4	446.5	H	44.7	0.0	H	0.0	9.0	H	0.6	3.4	H	0.2	1.3	H	0.3	2.5	H	0.1
Average	375.30	H	47.4	0.0	H	0.0	10.70	+H	1.7	6.20	H	1.6	2.0ab	++	0.4	5.6^{a}	H	1.8
Agar	0.1	H	0.1	0.0	+1	0.0	0.0	+1	0.0	0.1	H	0.0	0.1	H	0.0	0.4	++	0.0

Table 5.3: Extracellular enzyme activities of *Trametes versicolor* homokaryon and heterokaryon agar extracts.

Chapter 5: Homokaryons and Heterokaryons

133

Activity mU g⁻¹ Isolate dry weight MnP Peroxidase Glucosidase Acid Phosphatase Laccase Chitinase Natural heterokarvons TvD4 250.451.2 ± 11.2**64**.1 \pm 32.571.6 3.0 22.1± 8.2 474.8 \pm ± 16.9 18.3 ± TvD2 0.0 ± 0.0 12.3 ± 7.1± .1.8 4.3 ± 3.0 50.4± 18.6 18.0 ± 4.549.8 TvJHC ± ± ± 7.8 207.1± 168.9 0.0 ± 0.0 57.7 10.8 43.6 20.511.6 ± 3.3 34.2 TvA 293.7 ± ± 13.3 81.5 ± 17.4 ± ± 1.7111.6 17.1**48.9** ± 19.3 5.11.110.1 17.1ab ± 7.3± 29.0^{ab} ± 245.0ab ± 85.5 ± 13.3ª 2.1 5.1 Average 53.9ª 11.3 53.6^{a} 8.7 ± Artificial heterokarvons 90.3 A4xA6 278.1 \pm 19.7 50.1 ± 12.3± 2.923.8± 2.72.6± 0.711.2 ± 4.0± 11.9 63.1 ± 7.2± 12.8 ± 2.320.9 ± ± 199.3 19.9 68.7 22.7 5.4A5xA8 452.195.2 \pm 28.428.7 ± 16.8 79.5 ± 12.020.7 ± 2.41.8 ± 0.2 13.8 ± 0.1 A3xA7 ± ± ± 3.173.3 11.726.6 4.6 ± 0.9 20.2± A1xA2 86.9 ± 57.9 10.7 6.71.9 290.3^{ab} 4.9 ± ± 92.1 23.2^b ± 6.4 76.6^a ± 45.6^{a} 12.36.0^b \pm 1.4 16.5ª ± 1.9 Average Natural homokaryons 19.6 50.10.0 ± 0.0 47.7 Ŧ 92.2 ± 34.114.5 ± 3.9 9.9 ± 2.9 97.1± A1 ± \pm 212.5 ± 83.2 0.5± 0.554.6 22.521.9 ± 4.52.70.4 10.4 ± 4.1 A2 ± ± 5.9 ± 3.189.3 7.732.1 ± 13.15.7 \pm 2.3 A3 843.5 102.716.2 ± 4.0 ± 0.0 ± 0.0 131.3 ± 11.120.6 ± 13.01.6 ± 0.2 ± 2.379.8 36.7 9.7 A4 ± 104.420.7 \pm 11.9 **46**.1 ± 7.061.3 ± 13.0 5.2± ± 718.9 1.6 18.4 3.2A5 \pm 6.6 ± 6.6 48.1± 12.917.2± 6.9 4.9 ± 0.6 ± 3.1A6 70.4 18.9 11.8 ± ± ± 2.9 A7 372.8 ± 47.30.0 ± 0.0 22.45.130.8 3.53.8 0.222.8± ± ± 428.9 ± ± 0.0 173.9 40.745.5± 21.5 ± 3.6 21.4 1.6**A**8 28.9 0.0 4.1 4.2^{a} 45.9^{a} Ŧ 353.0^{a} ± 61.3 ± 2.0 76.7ª ± 11.6 ± 7.9 7.5⁰ ± 15.1ª 1.4 1.5 Average **De-dikaryotised homokaryons** 32.9 D2*1 305.7 ± 30.40.0 ± 0.0 29.4 ± 4.0 66.4 ± 54.915.2± 11.1 56.4Ŧ ± D2*2 29.2± ± 18.6 ± 7.27.7± 3.53.8 ± 1.7 43.0 16.4 4.50.50.5D2*3 ± ± ± 0.8 473.5 258.3± 45.511.440.5 ± 7.9 6.4 ± 0.6 21.011.0 0.6 ± D2*4 24.3± 7.01.2± ± 0.732.6± 7.711.4 \pm 1.7 197.6 35.81.23.8 ± ± 9.2^{ab} ± 2.8 79.5^b 23.6 Average 208.2^b 79.9 3.2ª ± 1.4 24.3^b ± 5.5 36.8^{a} ± 13.5Wood 0.0 1.0 \pm 0.0 4.8 ± $\mathbf{2.5}$ \pm 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 $0.7 \pm$ 0.2± $0.4 \pm$

 Table 5.4: Extracellular enzyme activities of Trametes versicolor homokaryon and heterokaryon colonised beech wood block extracts.

Values given are mean activity of 3 replicate cultures, \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Different letters imply significant differences between the group averages. 'Peroxidase' refers to Mn-independent peroxidases.



Figure 5.5: Extracellular enzyme activity in agar and wood block cultures of artificial heterokaryons and their component homokaryons. Blue bars, artificial heterokaryon; green bars, 1st component homokaryons; striped bars, 2nd component homokaryons. Bars are mean activity of three replicates \pm SEM. MnP activity was detected in wood block cultures only. Different letters indicate a significant (P \leq 0.05) difference in activity between artificial heterokaryons and their component homokaryons. No letters indicates no significant differences (P > 0.05).

135

5.4 Discussion

This is the first study to compare: (1) combative ability of homokaryons and heterokaryons of a common species, and (2) the activity of a wide range of enzymes produced by homokaryons and heterokaryons. As hypothesised, there was no evidence that T. versicolor homokaryons and heterokaryons had significantly different combative ability, there was as much variability within the two states as between them. This is contrasts with H. coralloides where homokaryons were more combative than heterokaryons in agar culture (Crockatt et al., 2008). This probably reflects the fact that as a rare species (as evidenced by the lack of fruit bodies) H. coralloides probably remains as a homokaryon for much longer than a common species and thus may require this state to be more vigorous. There were no differences between the macroscopic morphology of homokaryons and heterokaryons of T. versicolor or H. coralloides during interactions (Crockatt et al., 2008), though differences have been reported in Ganoderma applanatum where barrage formation occurred during interactions involving heterokaryons but not homokaryons (Pilotti et al., 2002). The results correlate with the position of T. versicolor in succession: high cumulative scores were achieved by nearly all isolates in combat with primary colonisers where outcomes were nearly always complete or partial replacement; lower cumulative scores were achieved against later colonisers and tooth fungi, but also against heart rotters which is unexpected. The average cumulative score was 24.2, much higher than the average score of 2.6 achieved by *H. coralloides* isolates, albeit with a slightly different profile of antagonists (Crockatt et al., 2008).

Enzyme activity of wood block cultures was highly variable between replicates compared to that of agar cultures, probably due to the heterogeneity of wood blocks as a resource (i.e. variation in nutrient content, age of the wood, orientation of vessel elements). The reverse was found for homo- and heterokaryons of P. ostreatus, where ligninolytic enzyme activity was less variable between isolates when grown on wheat straw compared to growth on agar (Eichlerová et al., 2000). The was as much variability in enzyme activity between homokaryons of T. versicolor as there was between heterokaryons. This contrasts with Lentinus tigrinus and P. ostreatus, where protoplast- and basidiospore-generated homokaryons had higher variability in enzyme activity compared to heterokaryotic isolates (Homolka et al., 1995; Eichlerová and Homolka, 1999).

The pattern of enzyme activity produced by an isolate relative to other isolates was also different during growth on agar compared to growth on wood blocks, which might be expected as the strategy of enzyme production would differ on a nutrient-rich resource such as malt agar compared to nutrient-limiting beech wood. During growth on agar, natural homokaryon A4 generated high levels of chitinase, acid phosphatase and β -glucosidase activity; these enzymes function to release bound nutrients from the substrate. So the increased production of these enzymes by A4 on a nutrient-rich resource may imply problems with nutrient uptake and utilisation, which is supported because A4 was the slowest growing isolate and second weakest combatant of all the isolates. The lack of MnP activity in agar culture is surprising, but might be explained by a low manganese content of the substrate. MnP activity was present in younger colonies of *T. versicolor* on agar but not in older colonies (Section 2.3.3), perhaps as available Mn²⁺ was depleted.

Overall, there were no differences in radial extension rates of homo- and heterokaryons, as hypothesised. Similarly, extension rates in *H. coralloides* did not significantly differ between homokaryons and heterokaryons (Crockatt et al., 2008). This contrasts with *Gloeophyllum trabeum*, *Phellinus weirii* and *P. ostreatus* where heterokaryon extension rates were greater than those of homokaryons (Bezemer, 1973; Hansen, 1979; Eichlerová and Homolka, 1999). Differences in extension rates between homokaryons and heterokaryons implies a difference in control of gene expression in each ploidy phase (Clark and Anderson, 2004), which we can infer is not the case for *T. versicolor*. Decay rates follow a similar pattern: overall, T. versicolor heterokaryons had greater decay ability than homokaryons, but there were no significant differences in decay rate of the natural homokaryons and the 'parent' heterokaryon TvA, and no significant differences between the artificial heterokaryons and one or both component homokaryons. Nor was there a significant difference between extension rates of the de-dikaryotised homokaryons and the 'parent' heterokaryon TvD2, with the exception of D2*1. The lack of significant correlations between decay rate and enzyme activity in wood block cultures implies other factors are responsible for the differences in decay rate, or that there is a more complex relationship between lignin decomposition and weight loss.

Comparison of characteristics of artificial heterokaryons with their component homo karyons indicated that where the homokaryons significantly differ in a particular character, the artificial heterokaryon is similar to one of the homokaryons in this character rather than being intermediate. This occurred for agar enzyme activity, extension rate, decay rate and combative ability, but not for wood block enzyme activity where differences may be masked by substrate heterogeneity. The heterokaryon was not consistently similar to either homokaryon, for example laccase activity of heterokaryon A4xA6 was very similar to that of A4, whereas chitinase and acid phosphatase activities were very similar to A6. Also, heterokaryon enzyme activity was rarely significantly higher than activity of both component homokaryons. The trend for mated heterokaryons to resemble one component homokaryon rather than be intermediate also occurs in H. coralloides extension rates, although the extension rate of the heterokaryons was occasionally faster than either component homokaryon (Crockatt et al., 2008). This would appear to suggest regulation of different genes in a dominantrecessive system, where heterokaryons are functionally equivalent to diploids. This further confirms balanced nuclear ratios within T. versicolor (1:1) because if there were over-representation of one constituent nucleus, the heterokaryon would resemble the corresponding homokaryon across all traits (James et al., 2008).

Chapter 6

Synthesis and future work

6.1 Synthesis

Interspecific basidiomycete interactions are inevitable and are of key importance to decomposition processes in woodland ecosystems. They determine the pattern of fungal colonisation of wood and affect decay rate, mineralisation and nutrient translocation (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Boddy, 2001; Wells, 2002). However, the processes underlying mycelial interactions are not fully understood. The aims of this research were to relate differences in interaction processes – the production of ligninolytic enzymes, and volatile and diffusible organic compounds – with the outcomes of interactions. The response of a single species, T. versicolor, was compared during interactions where it was successful (replacement of S. gausapatum or deadlock with B. adusta) with interactions where it was not successful (replacement by H. fasciculare). This was addressed through staining and assaying ligninolytic enzyme production (Chapter 2), analysing expression of key genes (Chapter 3), analysing production and effects of interaction volatile organic compound (VOC) profiles (Chapter 4), and how combative ability varies within a species (Chapter 5).

6.1.1 Activity of laccase and MnP/MRP were not related to interaction outcome

There were no clear patterns of laccase and MnP/MRP activity in interactions with different outcomes. Large increases in laccase activity occurred during interactions (Section 2.3.4), which agrees with previous findings for *T. versicolor* (Freitag and Morrell, 1992; Baldrian, 2004). Laccase activity was consistently highest at the interface between the competitors (the interaction zone), with the extent of the increase varying depending on the competitor (Section 2.3.4), which has also been reported for other fungi including *R. bicolor*, *P. ostreatus* and *S. hirsutum* (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Chi et al., 2007; Peiris, 2009). Away from the interaction zone, there were few changes in laccase activity in other regions of interacting *T. versicolor* mycelia compared to *T. versicolor* self-pairings (Section 2.4.3). This implies a specific role for laccase at interaction zones.

The detected MnP activity was not supported by MnP gene expression; instead it is likely that this activity was attributable to MRP (Mn-repressed peroxidase; Section 3.4). MRP could act like MnP or LiP, and although its transcription is repressed by Mn^{2+} this does not exclude it from acting like MnP in the assay conditions (Johansson et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2005). However further tests would be necessary to confirm this (see Section 6.2), so the term 'MnP/MRP activity' will be used when referring to assay results. The increases in MnP/MRP activity that were detected during interactions (Section 2.3.4) have not previously been reported for *T. versicolor*, although there are reports of MnP increases in interactions involving other species (Baldrian, 2004; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2006; Chi et al., 2007). In interactions 8 d after mycelia had met, MnP/MRP was detected in all regions of interacting *T. versicolor* mycelia, but

not in *T. versicolor* self-pairings (Section 2.3.4). This implies that MnP/MRP has interaction-specific functions in regions not in immediate contact with the competitor, although activity was consistently highest at the interaction zone.

6.1.2 Levels of laccase production were not related to combative ability

Laccase production varied in different species. It has been suggested that saprotrophic fungi from mid to late successional stages (i.e. more combative species) have higher laccase activity than those from earlier stages (Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). This did not occur here as *S. gausapatum*, a primary coloniser, had roughly similar levels of laccase production during growth alone to those of *H. fasciculare*, a late-stage cord-forming species (Section 2.3.4). *T. versicolor* had far higher levels of laccase production than *H. fasciculare*, despite being a late primary to early secondary coloniser (Section 2.3.4; Boddy, 2001). This could suggest that despite its up-regulation at interaction zones, laccase is not central to combative and/or defensive abilities. However, it must be considered that different species may differ in their ability to increase production of laccase during interactions, which may provide a competitive advantage.

6.1.3 Changes in expression of ligninolytic genes were not dramatic

Few previous studies have attempted to link the activity of ligninolytic enzymes to their gene expression during interactions. Here, changes in gene expression relative to T. versicolor self-pairings were small (Section 3.3.3), which agrees with the findings of Eyre (2007). Overall, it seems likely that any changes in gene expression were transient, and missed by sampling 2 d after mycelia had met. The increased levels of laccase and

MnP/MRP activity in 2 d interactions suggest that any upregulation of gene expression occurred before this point (Section 2.3.4), although rapid increases in activity could also be generated by release of laccase and peroxidase from wall-bound or intracellular storage (including Dittmer et al., 1997; Valášková and Baldrian, 2006). Increased gene expression may also occur before mycelia make physical contact, through detection of the competitor by its VOCs or DOCs (diffusible organic compounds; Wheatley et al., 1997; Boddy, 2000; Woodward and Boddy, 2008). Serial sampling points should be performed in future to pinpoint any increases in expression: before mycelia make contact, just after the first contact between competitor hyphae, and at regular intervals from then on.

Serial sampling of laccase expression has been performed for liquid culture interactions involving S. hirsutum (Peiris, 2009). Unlike the results of the present study, a lag between mycelial contact and increased expression was detected; however, mixing of liquid cultures involves gross damage to the mycelia of both competitors which probably affects their interaction responses (initially, at least). The greatest increase in laccase expression detected during S. hirsutum interactions was only two-fold that of the expression in self-pairings (Peiris, 2009), which corresponds to the small increases in expression reported in Chapter 3 (Section 3.3.3). Similarly, up-regulation of laccase and peroxidase genes has not been reported in microarray expression analyses of interactions, perhaps because any up-regulation fell under the cut-off point for significance (Iakovlev et al., 2004; Adomas et al., 2006; Eyre, 2007). This suggests that large increases in laccase and peroxidase gene expression do not occur; perhaps because they are not necessary. Laccase and peroxidases are highly stable in the extracellular environment (Baldrian, 2006), which can be seen in Chapter 2 (Section 2.3.6), where diffusibles from liquid cultures were added to blank agar plates. The uninoculated control plates still had laccase activity one week after the diffusibles had been filter-sterilised and added. This enzymic stability may mean that small increases in production can lead to accumulation of large amounts of enzymes in the extracellular

environment.

6.1.4 Different isozymes may be expressed during interactions

Another explanation for the discrepancy between levels of expression and levels of activity is the production of different isozymes of laccase and peroxidases during interactions. Different isozymes may be specific for different substrates, and perhaps confer adaptability to different environmental conditions (Martinez, 2002; Necochea et al., 2005; Baldrian, 2006; Kersten and Cullen, 2007). Thus the overall level of gene expression may not increase, but the profile of isozymes expressed may change. Expression of different laccase, LiP and MRP isozymes by T. versicolor during interaction with S. gausapatum were analysed by cloning PCR products (Section 3.3.4). Expression of LiP and MRP isozymes did not differ compared to expression in the T. versicolor self-pairing. Several different laccase isozymes were expressed in both the interaction and the self-pairing, but the sample sizes were too small to be confident of any differences or similarities between the expression profiles (Sections 3.3.4 and 3.4). This is an important direction for future work (see Section 6.2). Finally, increased production of laccase and peroxidase mediators (e.g. veratryl alcohol), or secretion of different types of mediators, may increase enzyme efficiency without necessitating increased production of the enzymes themselves (Eggert et al., 1996; Tadesse et al., 2008).

6.1.5 Comparing results from assays, staining and gene expression

The enzyme assays, staining and gene expression experiments performed tell similar, though not always identical, stories (Chapters 2 and 3). Each method measured a different fraction of the total laccase or peroxidase production by T. versicolor dur-

ing interactions. Laccase and peroxidases may be secreted as extracellular enzymes, or wall-associated, or stored intracellularly (Garcia et al., 1987; Dittmer et al., 1997; Schlosser et al., 1997; Velázquez-Cedeño et al., 2004; Valášková and Baldrian, 2006). RT-PCR measured production of all ligninolytic enzymes by T. versicolor (Section 3.3.3); enzyme assays measured the extracellular fraction (Section 2.3.4); staining measured both the extracellular and wall-associated fractions (Section 2.3.2). Also, the staining results for laccase, MnP and LiP show the accumulation of enzyme assays and RT-PCR were more of a snapshot of activity/expression at the time of sampling. This may explain any discrepancies between the results. Generally, though, all three methods agree with the key findings: increases in activity of laccase and peroxidases occurred at the interaction zone, with few increases in activity elsewhere in interacting T. versicolor mycelia; and changes in activity were not related to interaction outcome.

6.1.6 Peroxidase activity in culture extracts of homo- and heterokaryotic isolates was perhaps attributable to LiP activity

Activity of manganese-independent peroxidases was detected in single cultures of T. versicolor at 7 d (timed from inoculation) on agar, but not in T. versicolor during selfpairings or interactions (Sections 2.3.4 and 5.3.4). This Mn-independent peroxidase activity is unlikely to be attributable to MRP, because, as mentioned previously, MRP is likely to behave like MnP under the assay conditions. However, no MnP activity was detected in the T. versicolor single cultures (Section 4.3.4). The peroxidases of T. versicolor have been well-studied, with reports of LiP, MnP and MRP production (including Johansson and Nyman, 1993; Johansson et al., 1993; Jönsson and Nyman, 1994; Jönsson et al., 1994; Collins et al., 1999). The peroxidase activity detected may result from production of a new type of T. versicolor peroxidase, but this seems unlikely. It may also have been caused by activity of LiP, or through problems with the assay. The absence of this type of peroxidase activity from 2 and 8 d cultures of T. versicolor may be due to slight differences in substrate composition which have previously been shown to regulate peroxidase production in a range of species (Gold and Alic, 1993; Kaal et al., 1995; Schlosser et al., 1997; Galhaup et al., 2002; Mikiashvili et al., 2005).

In wood block cultures, high levels of MnP activity and Mn-independent peroxidase activity occurred within the same sample (Section 5.3.4). Again, it is impossible to tell whether the 'MnP' activity is the result of MnP or MRP. The Mn-independent peroxidase activity levels were so high they are unlikely to have been caused by assay problems (Section 5.3.4). If the activity was attributable to LiP, then this should have been picked up by the LiP assay. However, preliminary assays of cultures grown on oak sawdust were unsuccessful due to the high tannin content of extracts, which persisted even after filtering (results not shown). Although the beech wood cultures used in the present study did not contain visible levels of tannins, any that were present might have interfered with the UV absorption necessary for the LiP assay.

6.1.7 Patterns of enzyme activity differ between interactions grown on different substrates

Production of laccase and peroxidases by T. versicolor differed during growth on malt agar and during growth in beech wood blocks (Sections 2.3.4-5 and 5.3.4). Malt agar is very rich in nutrients, whereas in wood nutrients are limiting and lignin decomposition is necessary for fungi to gain access to utilisable carbon and nitrogen sources (Rayner and Boddy, 1988). Carbon and nitrogen availability, and the presence of phenolic compounds and lignin derivatives, affect ligninolytic enzyme production (Schlosser et al., 1997; Galhaup et al., 2002; Mikiashvili et al., 2005). It stands to reason that different sets of enzymes would be produced during growth in such different conditions. Production of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions involving T. versicolor occurring in wood should ideally be investigated, to see whether there is a link between interaction outcome and enzyme production. Interaction outcomes on agar are not always consistent with those that occur in natural substrates (Rayner and Todd, 1979; Holmer and Stenlid, 1993; Owens et al., 1994; Wells, 2002), and perhaps the stimulation of different enzymes on different substrates is partly responsible for this.

Production of different enzymes may affect the combative ability of a mycelium. Enriching malt agar with Mn^{2+} changed the production of laccase and peroxidases during interactions, with production of MnP assumed as MRP would be repressed by the high levels of Mn^{2+} present (Section 2.3.5). Growth on Mn^{2+} -enriched agar altered the outcome of interactions with *H. fasciculare*, from replacement of *T. versicolor* by *H. fasciculare* to deadlock. The production of MnP could have increased *T. versicolor* combative ability. Although the high Mn^{2+} content used in this experiment (5 to 10 times higher than in wood and leaf litter; Baldrian et al., 2005) means the result is not ecologically relevant, it shows the importance of the abiotic environment on enzyme production.

Conditions within woody tissues vary, and therefore so does ligninolytic enzyme production by fungal colonisers. Mn^{2+} levels in wood tissues vary depending on the type of wood, removal by previous colonisers, or the state of decay. As decay of wood progresses, the available Mn^{2+} decreases as it is oxidised to MnO_2 (Collins et al., 1999). Levels of available carbon and nitrogen within wood also change as decay progresses, as easily utilisable resources are used up or accumulated within mycelia (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Griffith and Boddy, 1991). As combative ability may be determined (at least in part) by enzyme production, this again highlights the dynamic equilibrium existing between environmental variables and success in interactions (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2000).

6.1.8 Stimulation and inhibition by VOCs and DOCs

Fungal volatile and diffusible organic compounds (VOCs and DOCs) may play a variety of roles during mycelial interactions (including Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Wheatley et al., 1997; Wheatley, 2002; Heilmann-Clausen and Christensen, 2003). No VOCs specific to T. versicolor were detected in any of the interactions, whereas the other species examined produced at least five species-specific VOCs (Section 4.3). It seems unlikely that T. versicolor would not produce a specific VOC profile (Fäldt et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2005), and future work should adjust methodology in order to detect it (see Section 6.2). Production of VOCs does not seem to be related to combative ability, as T. versicolor is more combative than the VOC-producing S. gausapatum, but less combative than the VOC-producing H. fasciculare (Sections 4.3.4-6). Interaction-specific VOCs were detected in the interaction between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum only, and there were no large increases in constitutive VOCs during interactions either. There does not appear to be a link between VOC production and interaction outcome, rather VOCs vary depending on the combination of species interacting (Section 4.3). Although several of the identified VOCs had potential antifungal properties (e.g. terpenes and quinolines; Bringmann et al., 1997; Viiri et al., 2001), the effect on remote mycelia was often a stimulation of extension rate (Section 4.3.1). The VOCs may thus be acting as 'infochemicals' signalling the presence of an opponent (Wheatley et al., 1997). Increased extension rate when exposed to competitor VOCs may have evolved to maximise the territory possessed by a mycelium prior to contact with the opponent. Increased extension rate when exposed to 'self' VOCs could function as a competitive response to conspecifics, a signal of a potential mate, or a larger 'self' colony (Wheatley et al., 1997).

In contrast, both inhibition and stimulation of extension rate occurred in response to diffusible organic compounds (DOCs) from other species and interactions (Section 2.3.6). This may be linked to successional stage, with later stage colonisers adapted to DOCs from their predecessors (Holmer and Stenlid, 1997; Heilmann-Clausen and Christensen, 2003; Heilmann-Clausen and Boddy, 2005). T. versicolor extension rate was stimulated by DOCs from the S. gausapatum self-pairing (replacement of S. gausapatum), but inhibited by DOCs from the interaction between T. versicolor and H. fasciculare (replacement of T. versicolor; Section 2.3.6). H. fasciculare, a late-stage coloniser, was not significantly stimulated or inhibited by the DOCs from any of the other species (Section 2.3.6). Interestingly, all of the test fungi were inhibited by DOCs from F. fomentarius (Section 2.3.6), a heart rotter with the ecological strategy of inhabiting heartwood for long periods of time (Rayner and Boddy, 1988). It has intermediate combative ability, and perhaps maintains its territory by excluding other species through production of antagonistic DOCs. Analysis of the chemical composition of these DOCs could increase understanding of the processes occurring at the interaction zone, or reveal new metabolites that could have industrial potential.

6.1.9 Mycelial contact is necessary to stimulate production of laccase, but not MnP/MRP

Interaction responses may occur before and/or after the competing mycelia establish contact (Boddy, 2000). Prior to mycelial contact, no interaction-specific VOCs were detected, which concurs with the previous study on VOCs produced during interactions between *H. fasciculare* and *R. bicolor* (Section 4.3; Hynes et al., 2007). Mycelial contact is necessary to stimulate laccase production, as there were no increases in laccase activity in *T. versicolor* cultures exposed to DOCs from other fungi (although in several cases there was inhibition of laccase activity relative to controls; Section 2.3.6).

Also, there was no upregulation of laccase activity during the interaction between T. versicolor and F. fomentarius, where hyphal contact is not established for at least a month due to non-contact inhibition (Section 2.3.4). However, increased MnP/MRP activity was detected at the interaction interface between T. versicolor and F. fomentarius (Section 2.3.4), and also in response to DOCs from two interactions (Section 2.3.6). This all implies that physical contact between mycelia is necessary to stimulate increased production of laccase and interaction-specific VOCs by T. versicolor, but that DOCs or other fungal-derived compounds (e.g. chitin fragments) are able to stimulate production of MnP/MRP. Further work should test whether VOCs are able to stimulate increases in enzyme activity in remote mycelia.

6.1.10 Functions of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions – some suggestions

Defining the functions of ligninolytic enzymes during interactions was not an aim of this work. However, certain roles or functions can be excluded based on some of the results. Firstly, laccase and peroxidases do not appear to function to increase nutrient acquisition, in order to satisfy the increased metabolic demand of combat. There were no increases in activity of nutritionally-related enzymes (glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase) during interactions compared to self-pairings (Section 2.3.4), which would be expected if increased nutrient acquisition was occurring. Also, the increases in laccase and MnP/MRP activities were limited to the interaction zone (Section 2.3.4), whereas we would expect mycelium-wide increases to maximise nutrient uptake. Laccase does not appear to function to break down antagonistic compounds in *T. versicolor*, as no increases in activity occurred in response to competitor diffusibles (Section 2.3.6). However, MnP/MRP was upregulated in response to DOCs from certain fungi, so this could be functioning in detoxification (Section 2.3.6).

Laccases and peroxidases could function to generate protective extracellular melanins during interactions (Bell and Wheeler, 1986; Henson et al., 1999). Melanins are usually pigmented dark brown to black, but the heterogeneous melanins produced by saprotrophic basidiomycetes are derived from phenols in their environment which may lead to different coloured pigments (Bell and Wheeler, 1986). Orange pigmentation occurs at the interaction zone during interactions with *S. gausapatum* (Section 2.3.1), which also has the highest levels of laccase and MnP/MRP activity (Section 2.3.4). However, there is also increased laccase and MnP/MRP activity at the interaction zone with *B. adusta* (Section 2.3.4), but no pigmentation appears over the duration of this interaction (Section 2.3.1). If laccases and peroxidases are involved in melanin production during interactions it is a species-specific response.

Increased production of laccase and peroxidases could function to mediate oxidative stress at the interaction zone. ROS have previously been associated with interactions zones (Tornberg and Olsson, 2002; Silar, 2005); here, staining showed accumulations of superoxide at interaction zones and around invasive hyphal cords, whereas there was very little accumulation during growth alone (Section 2.3.2). NADPH oxidases, important in the generation of ROS, were upregulated during interactions between *T. versicolor* and all three competitors (Eyre, 2007), indicating that this response occurs irrespective of interaction outcome. Ligninolytic enzyme activity increased in cultures where oxidative stress was artificially induced (Jaszek et al., 2006a,b; Zhao et al., 2009) and could mediate this stress by removing H_2O_2 , or through formation of melanins (Henson et al., 1999). However, ligninolytic enzymes are also capable of generating oxidative stress; ROS are generated during lignin decomposition, and as such are central to the fungal lifestyle (Hammel et al., 2002). Clearly, a balance must exist between the different roles of ligninolytic enzymes at interaction zones.

Finally, the increases in activity could occur concomitant with morphological changes (de Vries et al., 1986; Rayner et al., 1994). Increases in activity of laccase and

MnP/MRP were highest at the interaction zones (Section 2.3.4), which were the sites of major morphological change. Staining showed that general peroxidase activity and superoxide accumulation were localised to barrages, hyphal cords and aerial mycelium (Section 2.3.1). Laccase and peroxidase activity may be necessary to form bonds between hyphal walls, conferring structural strength to the hyphal assemblages formed during interactions (de Vries et al., 1986; Bell and Wheeler, 1986).

6.1.11 Production of VOCs may support laccase and peroxidase activity

Aromatic VOCs produced by fungi may also play a role in lignin degradation. VA (veratryl alcohol) is an aromatic compound with a well-known role in LiP activity, and has been reported in several species, including T. versicolor (Okamoto et al., 2002). Much less is known about other aromatic compounds produced by white rot fungi, although production of benzyl alcohol, benzaldhyde and anisyl (4-methoxybenzyl) compounds have been reported (Okamoto et al., 2002). Of the VOCs identified in Chapter 5, two were putatively identified as benzoic acid compounds, one with a benzaldehyde structure, and two putative anisaldehyde (or methylbenzoate) compounds (Table 5.4). It has been suggested that VA and anisaldehyde act as redox cycling agents, involved in the production of H_2O_2 , along with other intermediates of their oxidation such as benzaldehyde and benzoic acids (Guillen and Evans, 1994). In this process, VA and anisaldehyde are oxidised by aryl-alcohol oxidase (AAO) which generates H_2O_2 , then are reduced (returned to 'native' state) by the action of aryl-alcohol dehydrogenase (AAD; Gutierrez et al., 1994). AAO activity was shown to increase in parallel to anisaldehyde production in cultures of *P. ostreatus*, which immediately preceded increases in MnP activity (Okamoto et al., 2002). Production of anisaldehyde may thus support peroxidase activity. The putative anisaldehyde compound was produced

constitutively by S. gausapatum and H. fasciculare, and levels of production did not increase during interactions relative to self-pairings (Sections 5.3.5 and 5.3.7). However, during interactions there is half the mycelial volume available for VOC production compared to during self-pairings, which could suggest upregulation of anisaldehyde production during interactions, although it is of course impossible to rule out production by T. versicolor.

Monoterpenes have been reported to increase laccase activity in *H. annosum*, especially when the fungus was exposed to β -pinene and carene (Flodin, 1979). α -pinene and D-limonene have also been demonstrated to improve the catalytic efficiency of laccase from *T. versicolor*, *T. hirsuta* and *Botrytis cinerea* (Tzialla et al., 2009). Two monoterpenes, putatively identified as carene and α -myrcene, were identified in fungal VOC profiles (Table 5.4). Production of α -myrcene was specific to the interaction with *S.* gausapatum, and carene was produced constitutively by *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*, and increased during interaction with *H. fasciculare* relative to self-pairings (Section 5.3). Increased laccase production in response to terpenes may function to detoxify the terpene itself, or, as wood is often rich in terpenoid compounds, to stimulate lignin decomposition. The production of interaction-specific myrcene could explain why laccase activity is so high during interactions with *S. gausapatum* (Section 2.3.4).

6.1.12 Homokaryons have similar combative and enzyme producing abilities to heterokaryons

No differences were apparent between homokaryon and heterokaryon combative ability, enzyme production, decay ability or extension rate (Chapter 4). There was as much variation within the karyotic states as between them. As *T. versicolor* is a common species, the heterokaryon is the state that would predominate in woody tissues; however, as no differences were found between homokaryons and heterokaryons, it would be

as ecologically relevant to use T. versicolor homokaryons in future experiments. This would have many advantages for transformations or genetic studies as there is a single copy of the genome present. Comparing mated heterokaryons with their component homokaryons revealed that the heterokaryon behaves as a functional diploid (Section 4.4; James et al., 2008). The mycelium can thus be thought of as an 'individualistic mycelium' (Rayner, 1991), analogous to a genetic individual rather than a situation where there is conflict between the constituent haploid nuclei (James et al., 2008).

6.2 Future work

Although using agar culture provides many advantages, it is ecologically unrealistic, and it would be better to study interactions within woody tissues. Sawdust or milled wood could be used, or ideally wood blocks as the structure of wood affects patterns of fungal colonisation. Wood block cultures are significantly more complicated in terms setting up interactions and interpreting outcomes, but this is the best way of establishing patterns of mycelial enzyme and VOC production, as both are regulated by substrate (e.g. Wheatley et al., 1997; Bruce et al., 2000; Mikiashvili et al., 2005). Enzyme extraction from wood blocks and sawdust cultures works well (e.g., Chapter 4; Mikiashvili et al., 2005; Baldrian et al., 2005) with production of enzymes a lot more variable than in agar culture (Chapter 4). VOC profiles have recently been shown to be more complex than those from agar cultures, probably due to the presence of specific inducers (N. Elariebi, pers. comm.).

The production of laccase is one of the most interesting aspects to pursue, as the reason for such large upregulation during interactions is unclear. Generating strains of fungi where laccase genes are overexpressed or knocked out might help towards understanding the function of laccase upregulation and what affect it has on combative ability. Knocking out laccase genes would prove considerably more difficult than

overexpressing them, due to the multiplicity of genes (Conesa et al., 2002; Martinez, 2002), however using RNAi could (in theory) downregulate a whole family of closely related genes (Nakayashiki, 2005; Echeverri and Perrimon, 2006). There has, however, been limited success in transforming basidiomycetes, which are considered 'less genetically tractable' compared to other fungi (e.g. the Ascomycetes; Rodgers et al., 2009). However, successful transformation of basidiomycetes with peroxidase genes have been reported (including Kim et al., 2002, 2005), and T. versicolor has recently been successfully transformed by J. Hunt (HJR lab), which opens the way for these experiments. Chemical inhibition of laccase by sodium azide could potentially be used (Zollner, 1993; Johannes and Majcherzczyk, 2000), but restricting the effects of the inhibitor to a single competitor would be difficult and the chemical may have other unwanted effects on growth.

Inhibition and overexpression of peroxidase genes to clarify their role during interactions should also be investigated, but first the production of different types of peroxidase during interactions and growth alone needs to be clarified. This could be achieved by assays combined with gene expression analysis, but ideally peroxidases should be extracted from culture media and separated by column chromatography and/or native PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; as in Jordaan et al., 2004), following which in-gel assays could be performed to confirm oxidation of different substrates. Different peroxidases could thus be identified by specific assays.

Profiling the laccase isozymes produced during interactions compared to growth alone is the ideal next step. The present study showed that a range of laccase isozymes are expressed during growth alone, and during interactions (Section 3.3.4), but a much larger sample size would be needed to see whether there are any patterns of isozyme production. This could be achieved using the same method as in Chapter 3, cloning and sequencing PCR products. However, RFLP (restriction fragment length polymorphism) analysis of PCR products would be an efficient (and cost-effective) way of distinguishing between large numbers of transcripts. PCR-RFLP has previously been used to characterise expression of multigene families (e.g. Lurin and Jouanin, 2003), and also to identify a new laccase gene in a species of *Trametes* (González et al., 2003). Upregulation of laccases is believed to be a general response to stress (Baldrian, 2006), so profiling laccase isozyme production in temperature- or oxidatively-stressed mycelia would show whether different isozymes are produced in response to different stresses.

Mycelia were shown to produce constitutive and interaction-specific VOCs (Chapter 4), although many of the compounds detected could not be identified. Standards could be used to provide a more definite identification of the compounds, or individual compounds could be analysed by NMR (nuclear magnetic resonance). No VOCs were detected from *T. versicolor*, which could be attributable to the isolate or methodology used. SPME (the technique used) can detect compounds at very low concentrations, but has the major disadvantage that not all of the volatiles are adsorbed (Jelen, 2003; Ewen et al., 2004). Other techniques, such as dynamic headspace sampling which consists of the constant removal of headspace VOCs in a carrier gas and adsorption onto Tenax mesh or activated carbon, may give a fuller profile of VOCs (Ewen et al., 2004), as a wide range of polar and non-polar volatiles can be collected.

Diffusibles produced during growth alone and during interactions caused stimulation and inhibition of extension rates in remote mycelia (Section 2.3.6). Interaction-specific DOCs have been detected using HPLC (J. Hynes, unpublished; Rayner et al., 1994), but not identified. Extracellular DOCs could be extracted from liquid-grown cultures, or by extracting from agar (if necessary, concentrating the sample e.g. by freeze-drying and methanol extraction). The extracts could then be separated by chromatographic techniques such as HPLC (high performance liquid chromatography) or GC, and compounds identified by mass spectrometry or NMR. Separated compounds could be collected and tested for activity against mycelia of different species. Metabolite profiles of interacting mycelia have previously been analysed by GC/MS (Peiris et al., 2008), which could be repeated for interactions involving *T. versicolor*. Metabolite profiling gives an instantaneous snapshot of the entire physiology of the tissue, but there is a low rate of compound identification, especially as fungi often produce unusual compounds: although *S. hirsutum* metabolite profiles were information-rich (120+ metabolite peaks detected per sample), the majority of these peaks were unidentified (Peiris et al., 2008).

Obvious gross morphological changes can be seen during interactions (e.g. barrages, hyphal cords), but little is known about the processes occurring at the level of individual hyphae. It is difficult to use microscopic methods to distinguish between hyphae of different species, so transformation of isolates with GFP or RFP is being trialled by J. Hunt (HJR lab). Detection of any regions of cell death (for example at the interaction zone) could be achieved by using a stain that differentiates between living and dead cells, such as Sytox green, in combination with a stain that stains all tissues such as Calcofluor white (Green et al., 2000).

Further work comparing homokaryon and heterokaryon characteristics should use a wider range of isolates than used in Chapter 4, and, if possible, homokaryons isolated directly from the field. Although there were no differences in combative ability between homo- and heterokaryons, this does not mean they are equally capable of dealing with other stresses such as temperature or osmotic stress. The greater genetic potential of heterokaryons may make them more adaptable to environmental conditions (Clark and Anderson, 2004), which would be a good direction for future work. Perhaps the most interesting result of the homokaryon work was that the main T. versicolor isolate used throughout was one of the least 'fit' in terms of combativeness and enzyme production. Isolate TvD2 is fairly old, and years of maintenance in the lab may have resulted in accumulation of mutations etc. For any future experiments, use of a younger, more recently acquired, isolate would be a good idea.

References

- Abraham, W. R., 2001. Bioactive sesquiterpenes produced by fungi: are they useful for humans as well? Current Medicinal Chemistry 8, 583-606.
- Addleman, K., Archibald, F., 1993. Kraft pulp bleaching and delignification by dikaryons and monokaryons of *Trametes versicolor*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, 266–273.
- Adomas, A., Eklund, M., Johansson, M., Asiegbu, F. O., 2006. Identification and analysis of differentially expressed cDNAs during non-self competitive interaction between *Phlebiopsis gigantea* and *Heterobasidion parviporum*. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 57, 26–39.
- Aguilar, R. C., Wendland, B., 2003. Ubiquitin: not just for proteasomes any more. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 15, 184–190.
- Ainsworth, A. M., April 1986. Occurrence and interactions of outcrossing and nonoutcrossing populations in *Stereum, Phanerochaete* and *Coniophora*. In: Evolutionary biology of the fungi; Symposium of the BMS. Cambridge University Press, pp. 1547–1557.
- Álvarez, J. M., Canessa, P., Mancilla, R. A., Polanco, R., Santibáñez, P. A., Vicuña, R., 2009. Expression of genes encoding laccase and manganese-dependent peroxidase in the fungus *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora* is mediated by an ACE1-like copper-fist transcription factor. Fungal Genetics and Biology 46, 104-111.

- Amburgey, T. L., 1970. Relationship of capacity to cause decay to other physiological traits in isolates of *Lenzites trabea*. Phytopathology 60, 955–960.
- Ander, P., Eriksson, K. E., 1976. The importance of phenoloxidase activity in lignin degradation by the white rot fungus *Sporotrichium pulverulentum*. Archives of Micrbiology 109, 1–8.
- Aoshima, K., 1954. Decay of beech wood by the haploid and diploid mycelia of *Elfvingia* applanata (Pers.) Karst. Phytopathology 44, 260–265.
- Archibald, F. S., Bourbonnais, R., Jurasek, L., Paice, M. G., Reid, I. D., 1997. Kraft pulp bleaching and delignification by *Trametes versicolor*. Journal of Biotechnology 53, 215–236.
- Asiegbu, F. O., Abu, S., Stenlid, J., Johansson, M., 2004. Sequence polymorphism and molecular characterisation of laccase genes of the conifer pathogen *Heterobasidion* annosum. Mycological Research 108, 136–148.
- Bais, H. P., Dattatreya, B. S., Ravishankar, G. A., 2003. Production of volatile compounds by hairy root cultures of *Cichorium intybus* L. under the influence of fungal elicitors and their analysis using solid-phase microextraction gas chromatographymass spectrometry. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 83, 769–774.
- Baldrian, P., 2004. Increase of laccase activity during interspecific interactions of white rot fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 50, 245–253.
- Baldrian, P., 2006. Fungal laccases occurrence and properties. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 30, 215–242.
- Baldrian, P., Valášková, V., Merhautová, V., Gabriel, J., 2005. Degradation of lignocellulose by *Pleurotus ostreatus* in the presence of copper, manganese, lead and zinc. Research in Microbiology 156, 670–676.

- Beers, R. F., Sizer, I. W., 1952. A spectrophotometric method for measuring the breakdown of hydrogen peroxide by catalase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 195, 133-140.
- Bell, A. A., Wheeler, M. H., 1986. Biosynthesis and functions of fungal melanins. Annual Reviews of Phytopathology 24, 411–451.
- Berger, R. G., Neuhauser, K., Drawert, F., 1987. Biotechnological production of flavour compounds III: High productivity fermentation of volatile flavours using a strain of *Ischnoderma benzoinum*. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 30, 987–990.
- Bezemer, L. D., 1973. Variability in mating behaviour and culture appearance of Lenzites trabea. Annals of Botany 37, 661-671.
- Black, A. K., Reddy, C. A., 1991. Cloning and characterization of a lignin peroxidase gene from the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. Biochemistry and Biophysics Research Communications 179, 428–435.
- Bloomfield, B. J., 1967. Melanins and resistance of fungi to lysis. Journal of Bacteriology 93, 1276–1280.
- Boddy, L., 1999. Saprotrophic cord-forming fungi: meeting the challenge of heterogeneous environments. Mycologia 91, 13-32.
- Boddy, L., 2000. Interspecific combative interactions between wood-decaying basidiomycetes. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 31, 185–194.
- Boddy, L., 2001. Fungal community ecology and wood decomposition processes in angiosperms: from standing tree to complete decay of coarse woody debris. Ecological Bulletins 49, 43–56.
- Boddy, L., Gibbon, O. M., Grundy, M. A., 1985. Ecology of *Daldinia concentrica*: effect of abiotic variables on mycelial extension and interspecific interactions. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 85, 201–211.

- Boddy, L., Rayner, A. D. M., 1983. Mycelial interactions, morphogenesis and ecology of *Phlebia radiata* and *P. rufa* from oak. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 80, 437–448.
- Boddy, L., Wald, P., 2002. Creolophus (= Hericium) cirrhatus, Hericium erinaceus and H. coralloides in England: English Nature Research Report No. 492. English Nature, Peterborough, UK.
- Bourbonnais, R., Paice, M. G., 1990. Oxidation of non-phenolic substrates: an expanded role for laccase in lignin biodegradation. FEBS Letters 267, 99–102.
- Breheret, S., Talou, T., Rapior, S., Bessiere, J. M., 1997. Monoterpenes in the aromas of fresh wild mushrooms (Basidiomycetes). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 45, 831–836.
- Bridge, M. H., Parmalee, R. W., Hendrix, P. F., Cheng, W. X., Coleman, D. C., Crossley, D. A., 1992. Microbial and faunal interactions and effects on litter nitrogen and decomposition in agroecosystems. Ecological Monographs 62, 569–591.
- Bridge, P., Spooner, B., 2001. Soil fungi: diversity and detection. Plant and Soil 232, 147–154.
- Bridge, P. D., Spooner, B. M., Roberts, P. J., 2005. The impact of molecular data in fungal systematics. Advances in Botanical Research 42, 33–67.
- Bringmann, G., Mader, T., Feineis, D., 1997. Determination of viridicatin in *Peni-cillium cyclopium* by capillary gas chromatography. Analytical Biochemistry 253, 18–25.
- Bruce, A., Wheatley, R. E., Humphris, S. N., Hackett, C. A., Florence, M. E. J., 2000. Production of volatile organic compounds by *Trichoderma* in media containing different amino acids and their effect on selected wood decay fungi. Holzforschung 54, 481–486.

- Bukh, C., Lund, M., Bjerrum, M. J., 2006. Kinetic studies on the reaction between Trametes villosa laccase and dioxygen. Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry 100, 1547– 1557.
- Burnett, J., 2003. Fungal populations and species. Oxford University Press.
- Cakmak, I., Strbac, D., Marschner, H., 1993. Activities of hydrogen peroxidescavenging enzymes in germinating wheat seeds. Journal of Experimental Botany 44, 127–132.
- Camarero, S., Sarkar, S., Ruiz-Dueñas, F. J., Martinez, M. J., Martinez, A. T., 1999. Description of a versatile peroxidase involved in natural degradation of lignin that has both Mn-peroxidase and lignin-peroxidase substrate binding sites. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274, 10324–10330.
- Carpenter, M. A., Stewart, A., Ridgway, H. J., 2005. Identification of novel Trichoderma hamatum genes expressed during mycoparasitism using subtractive hybridisation. FEMS Microbiology Letters 251, 105–112.
- Chen, C. C., Chen, S. D., Chen, J. J., Wu, C. M., 1984. Effects of pH value on the formation of volatiles of shiitake (*Lentinus edodes*), an edible mushroom. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 32, 999–1001.
- Cheng, S. S., Lin, H. Y., Chang, S. T., 2005. Chemical composition and antifungal activity of essential oils from different tissues of Japanese cedar (*Cryptomeria japonica*). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53, 614–619.
- Cheong, S. J., Yeo, S., Song, H. G., Choi, H. T., 2006. Determination of laccase gene expression during degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene and its catabolic intermediates in *Trametes versicolor*. Microbiology Research 161, 316–320.
- Chi, Y., Hatakka, A., Maijala, P., 2007. Can co-culturing of two white rot fungi increase

lignin degradation and the production of lignin-degrading enzymes? International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 59, 32–39.

- Cho, I. H., Lee, S. M., Kim, S. Y., Choi, H. K., Kim, K. O., Kim, Y. S., 2007. Differentiation of aroma characteristics of pine mushrooms (*Tricholoma matsutake Sing.*) of different grades using gas chromatography-olfactometry and sensory analysis. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55, 2323-2328.
- Clark, T. A., Anderson, J. B., 2004. Dikaryons of the basidiomycete fungus Schizophyllum commune: evolution in long-term culture. Genetics 167, 1663–1675.
- Coates, D., Rayner, A. D. M., 1985. Fungal population and community development in cut beech logs 1. Establishment via the aerial cut surface. New Phytologist 101, 153–171.
- Collins, P. J., Dobson, A. D. W., 1997. Regulation of laccase gene transcription. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 3444–3450.
- Collins, P. J., Kotterman, M. J. J., Field, J. A., Dobson, A. D. W., 1996. Oxidation of anthracene and benzo[a]pyrene by laccases from *Trametes versicolor*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62, 4563–4567.
- Collins, P. J., O'Brien, M. M., Dobson, A. D. W., 1999. Cloning and characterisation of a cdna encoding a novel extracellular peroxidase from *Trametes versicolor*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65, 1343–1347.
- Conesa, A., Punt, P. J., van den Hondel, C. A., 2002. Fungal peroxidases: molecular aspects and applications. Journal of Biotechnology 93, 143–158.
- Costa, E. W. B. D., Kerruish, R. M., 1965. The comparative wood-destroying ability and preservative tolerance of monocaryotic and dicaryotic mycelia of *Lenzites trabea* (Pers.) Fr. and *Poria vaillantii* (DC ex Fr.) Cke. Annals of Botany 29, 241–252.
- Cramer, R. A., Lawrence, C. B., 2004. Idenitification of *Alternaria brassicola* genes expressed in planta during pathogenesis of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 41, 115–128.
- Crockatt, M. E., 2008. Ecology of the rare oak polypore Piptoporus quercinus and the tooth fungi Hericium cirrhatum, H. coralloides and H. erinaceous in the UK. Ph.D. thesis, Cardiff University.
- Crockatt, M. E., Pierce, G. I., Camden, R. A., Newell, P. M., Boddy, L., 2008. Homokaryons are more combative than heterokaryons of *Hericium coralloides*. Fungal Ecology 1, 40-48.
- de Jong, E., Field, J. A., 1997. Sulfur tuft and turkey tail: biosynthesis and biodegradation of organohalogens by basidiomycetes. Annual Review of Microbiology 51, 375–414.
- de Vries, O. M. H., Kooistra, W. H. C. F., Wessels, J. G. H., 1986. Formation of an extracellular laccase by a *Schizophyllum commune* dikaryon. Journal of General Microbiology 132, 2817–2826.
- Demyttenaere, J. C. R., Morina, R. M., de Kimpe, N., Sandra, P., 2004. Use of headspace solid-phase microextraction and headspace sorptive extraction for the detection of the volatile metabolites produced by toxigenic *Fusarium* species. Journal of Chromatography A 1027, 147–154.
- Dick, C. M., Hutchinson, S. A., 1966. Biological activity of volatile fungal metabolites. Nature 211, 868.
- Dittmer, J. K., Patel, N. J., Dhawale, S. W., Dhawale, S. S., 1997. Production of multiple laccase isoforms by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* grown under nutrient sufficiency. FEMS Microbiology Letters 149, 65–70.

- Donnelly, D. P., Boddy, L., 2001. Mycelial dynamics during interactions between Stropharia caerulea and other cord-forming, saprotrophic basidiomycetes. New Phytologist 151, 691–704.
- Dowson, C. G., Rayner, A. D. M., Boddy, L., 1988. The form and outcome of mycelial interactions involving cord-forming decomposer basidiomycetes in homogeneous and heterogeneous environments. New Phytologist 109, 423–432.
- Doyle, W. A., Blodig, W., Veitch, N. C., Piontek, K., Smith, A. T., 1998. Two substrate interaction sites in lignin peroxidase revealed by site-directed mutagenesis. Biochemistry 37, 15097–15105.
- Dunford, H. B., 1999. Heme Peroxidases. Wiley-VCH, New York, USA.
- Echeverri, C. J., Perrimon, N., 2006. High-throughput RNAi screening in cultured cells: a user's guide. Nature Reviews 7, 373-384.
- Eggert, C., Temp, U., Dean, J. F. D., Eriksson, K. L., 1996. A fungal metabolite mediates degradation of non-phenolic lignin structures and synthetic lignin by laccase. FEBS Letters 391, 144–148.
- Eichlerová, I., Homolka, L., 1999. Preparation and crossing of basidiospore-derived monokaryons - a useful tool for obtaining laccase and other ligninolytic enzyme higher producing dikaryotic strains of *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 75, 321–327.
- Eichlerová, I., Homolka, L., Nerud, F., Zadrazil, F., Baldrian, P., Gabriel, J., 2000. Screening of *Pleurotus ostreatus* isolates for their ligninolytic properties during cultivation on natural substrates. Biodegradation 11, 279–287.
- Elliott, C. G., Abouheilah, A. N., Leake, D. L., Hutchinson, S. A., 1979. Analysis of wood decaying ability of monokaryons and dikaryons of *Serpula lacrymans*. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 73, 127–133.

- Evans, C. S., 1985. Laccase activity in lignin degradation by *Coriolus versicolor in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. FEMS Microbiology Letters 27, 339–343.
- Evans, C. S., Dutton, M. V., Guillen, F., Veness, R. G., 1994. Enzymes and small molecular agents involved with lignocellulose degradation. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 13, 235-240.
- Ewen, R. J., Jones, P. R. H., Ratcliffe, N. M., Spencer-Phillips, P. T. N., 2004. Identification by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry of the volatile organic compounds emitted from the wood-rotting fungi Serpula lacrymans and Coniophora puteana, and from Pinus sylvestris timber. Mycological Research 108, 806-814.
- Eyre, C. A., 2007. Interspecific interactions between saprotrophic basidiomycetes: effect on volatile production and gene expression of mycelia. Ph.D. thesis, Cardiff University.
- Fäldt, J., Jonsell, M., Nordlander, G., Borg-Karlson, A. K., 1999. Volatiles of bracket fungi *Fomitopsis pinicola* and *Fomes fomentarius* and their function as insect attractants. Journal of Chemical Ecology 25, 567–590.
- Felsenstein, J., 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies: an approach using the bootstrap. Evolution 39, 783–791.
- Ferreira-Gregorio, A. P., da Silva, I. R., Sedarati, M. R., Hedger, J. N., 2006. Changes in production of lignin degrading enzymes during interactions between mycelia of the tropical decomposer basidiomycetes *Marasmiellus troyanus* and *Marasmius pallescens*. Mycological Research 110, 161–168.
- Fink-Boots, M., Malarczyk, E., Leonowicz, A., 1999. Increased enzymatic activities and levels of superoxide anion and phenolic compounds in cultures of basidiomycetes after temperature stress. Acta Biotechnologia 19, 319–330.

- Flodin, K., 1979. Effects of monoterpenes on *Fomes annosus* (Fr.) Cooke and its phenol oxidase activity. European Journal of Forest Pathology 9, 1–6.
- Förster, H., Coffey, M. D., Elwood, H., Soginl, M. L., 1990. Sequence analysis of the small subunit ribosomal RNAs of three zoosporic fungi and implications for fungal evolution. Mycologia 82, 306–312.
- Freitag, M., Morrell, J. J., 1992. Changes in selected enzyme activities during growth of pure and mixed cultures of the white-rot decay fungus *Trametes versicolor* and the potential biocontrol fungus *Trichoderma harzianum*. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 38, 317–323.
- Fryar, S. C., Kirby, G. C., Hyde, K. D., 2002. Interspecific competitive ability of homokaryotic and heterokaryotic wood decay basidiomycetes. Austral Ecology 27, 343–349.
- Galhaup, C., Wagner, H., Hinterstoisser, B., Haltrich, D., 2002. Increased production of laccase by the wood-degrading basidiomycete *Trametes pubescens*. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 30, 529–536.
- Gao, Y., Jin, Y. J., Li, H. D., Chen, H. J., 2005. Volatile organic compounds and their roles in bacteriostasis in five conifer species. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 47, 499–507.
- Garbelotto, M. M., Lee, H. K., Slaughter, G., Popenuck, T., Cobb, F. W., Bruns, T. D., 1997. Heterokaryosis is not required for virulence of *Heterobasidion annosum*. Mycologia 89, 92–102.
- Garcia, S., Latge, J. P., Prevost, M. C., Leisola, M., 1987. Wood degradation by white rot fungi: cytochemical studies using lignin peroxidase-immunoglobulin-gold complexes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 53, 2384–2387.

- Garcia-Mena, J., Cano-Ramirez, C., Garibay-Orijel, C., Ramirez-Canesco, S., Poggi-Varaldo, H. M., 2005. A PCR method for the detection and differentiation of *Lenti*nus edodes and *Trametes versicolor* in defined-mixed cultures used for wastewater treatment. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 67, 524–531.
- Gardes, M., Wong, K. K., Fortin, J. A., 1990. Interactions between monokaryotic and dikaryotic isolates of *Laccaria bicolor* on roots of *Pinus banksiana*. Symbiosis 8, 233–250.
- Glass, N. L., Dementhon, K., 2006. Non-self recognition and programmed cell death in filamentous fungi. Current Opinion in Microbiology 9, 553–558.
- Gloer, J. B., 1995. The chemistry of fungal antagonism and defence. Canadian Journal of Botany 73, 1–15.
- Gold, M. H., Alic, M., 1993. Molecular biology of the lignin-degrading Basidiomycete Phanerochaete chrysosporium. Microbiology Reviews 57, 605–622.
- González, T., del Carmen Terrón, M., Zapico, E., Yagüe, S., Téllez, A., Junca, H., González, A., 2003. Identification of a new laccase gene and confirmation of genomic predictions by cDNA sequences of *Trametes* sp. I-62 laccase family. Mycological Research 107, 727–735.
- Green, L. C., Leblanc, P. J., Didier, E. S., 2000. Discrimination between viable and dead *Encephalitozooan cuniculi* (Microsporidia) spores by dual staining with Sytox green and Calcofluor white M2R. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 38, 3811–3814.
- Griffith, G. S., Boddy, L., 1991. Fungal decomposition of attached angiosperm twigs.IV. Effect of water potential on interactions between fungi on agar and in wood.New Phytologist 117, 633-641.
- Griffith, G. S., Rayner, A. D. M., Wildman, H. G., 1994. Interspecific interactions,

mycelial morphogenesis and extracellular metabolite production in *Phlebia radiata* (Aphyllophorales). Nova Hedwigia 59, 331–344.

- Guillen, F., Evans, C. S., 1994. Anisaldehyde and veratraldehyde acting as redox cycling agents for hydrogen peroxide production by *Pleurotus eryngii*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 2811–2817.
- Gutierrez, A., Caramelo, L., Prieto, A., Martinez, M. J., Martinez, A. T., 1994. Anisaldehyde production and aryl alcohol oxidase and dehydrogenase activities in ligninolytic fungi of the genus *Pleurotus*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 1783–1788.
- Haars, A., Hutterman, A., 1980. Function of laccase in the white rot fungus Fomes annosus. Archives of Microbiology 125, 233-237.
- Hamilton-Kemp, T. R., McCracken, C. T., Loughrin, J. H., Andersen, R. A., Hildebrand, D. F., 1992. Effects of some natural volatile compounds on the pathogenic fungi Alternaria alternata and Botrytis cinerea. Journal of Chemical Ecology 18, 1083–1091.
- Hammel, K. E., Kapich, A. N., Jensen, K. A., Ryan, Z. C., 2002. Reactive oxygen species as agents of wood decay by fungi. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 30, 445–453.
- Hansen, E. M., 1979. Nuclear condition and vegetative characteristics of homokaryotic and heterokaryotic isolates of *Phellinus weirii*. Canadian Journal of Botany 57, 1579– 1582.
- Hättenschwiler, S., Tiunov, A. V., Scheu, S., 2005. Biodiversity and litter decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 36, 191–218.

- Hawksworth, D. L., 1991. The fungal dimension of biodiversity: magnitude, significance and conservation. Mycological Research 95, 641-655.
- Hawksworth, D. L., 2001. The magnitude of fungal diversity: the 1.5 million species estimate revisited. Mycological Research 105, 1422–1432.
- Heilmann-Clausen, J., Boddy, L., 2005. Inhibition and stimulation effects in communities of wood decay fungi: exudates from colonised wood influence growth by other species. Microbial Ecology 49, 1–8.
- Heilmann-Clausen, J., Christensen, M., 2003. Fungal diversity on decaying beech logs: implication for sustainable forestry. Biodiversity and Conservation 12, 953–972.
- Henson, J. M., Butler, M. J., Day, A. W., 1999. The dark side of the mycelium: melanins of phytopathogenic fungi. Annual Review of Phytopathology 37, 447-471.
- Hibbett, D. S., Binder, M., Bischoff, J. F., 2007. A higher-level phylogenetic classification of the fungi. Mycological Research 111, 509–547.
- Higgins, S. M., Lilly, W. W., 1993. Multiple responses to heat stress by the basidiomycete Schizophyllum commune. Current Microbiology 26, 123–127.
- Hofrichter, M., 2002. Review: lignin conversion by manganese peroxidase (MnP). Enzyme and Microbial Technology 30, 454–466.
- Holmer, L., Stenlid, J., 1993. The importance of inoculum size for the competitive ability of wood decomposing fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 12, 169–176.
- Holmer, L., Stenlid, J., 1997. Competitive hierarchies of wood decomposing basidiomycetes in artifical systems based on variable inoculum sizes. Oikos 79, 77–84.
- Homolka, L., Voláková, I., Nerud, F., 1995. Variability of enzymatic activities in ligninolytic fungi *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Lentinus tigrinus* after protplasting and UVmutagenization. Biotechnology Techniques 9, 157–162.

- Humphris, S. N., Bruce, A., Buultjens, E., Wheatley, R. E., 2002. The effects of volatile secondary metabolites on protein synthesis in *Serpula lacrymans*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 210, 215–219.
- Humphris, S. N., Wheatley, R. E., Bruce, A., 2001. The effects of specific volatile organic compounds produced by *Trichoderma* spp. on the growth of wood decay basidiomycetes. Holzforschung 55, 233–237.
- Hynes, J., Müller, C. T., Jones, T. H., Boddy, L., 2007. Changes in volatile production during the course of fungal mycelial interactions between *Hypholoma fasciculare* and *Resinicium bicolor*. Journal of Chemical Ecology 33, 43–57.
- Iakovlev, A., Olsn, A., Elfstrand, M., Stenlid, J., 2004. Differential gene expression during interactions between *Heterobasidion annosum* and *Physisporinus sanguinolentus*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 241, 79–85.
- Iakovlev, A., Stenlid, J., 2000. Spatiotemporal patterns of laccase activity in interacting mycelia of wood-decaying basidiomycete fungi. Microbial Ecology 39, 236–245.
- James, T. Y., Stenlid, J., Olson, Å., Johannesson, H., 2008. Evolutionary significance of imbalanced nuclear ratios within heterokaryons of the basidiomycete fungus *Het*erobasidion parviporum. Evolution 62, 2279–2296.
- Jaszek, M., Grzywnowicz, K., Malarczyk, E., Leonowicz, A., 2006a. Enhanced extracellular laccase activity as a part of the response system of white rot fungi *Trametes versicolor* and *Abortiporus biennis* to paraquat-caused oxidative stress conditions. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology 85, 147–154.
- Jaszek, M., Żuchowski, J., Dajczak, E., Cimek, K., Grąz, M., Grzywnowicz, K., 2006b. Ligninolytic enzymes can participate in a multiple response system to oxidative stress in white-rot basidiomycetes: *Fomes fomentarius* and *Tyromyces pubescens*. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 58, 168-175.

- Jeffries, P., 1994. Biology and ecology of mycoparasitism. Canadian Journal of Botany 73, S1284–S1290.
- Jelen, H. H., 2002. Volatile sesquiterpene hydrocarbons characteristic for *Penicillium roqueforti* strains producing PR toxin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 50, 6569–6574.
- Jelen, H. H., 2003. Use of solid-phase microextraction (SPME) for profiling fungal volatile metabolites. Letters in Applied Microbiology 36, 263–267.
- Johannes, C., Majcherzczyk, A., 2000. Laccase activity tests and laccase inhibitors. Journal of Biotechnology 78, 193–199.
- Johansson, T., Nyman, P. O., 1993. Isozymes of lignin peroxidase and manganese (II) peroxidase from the white rot basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor*. I: Isolation of enzyme forms and characterisation of physical and catalytic properties. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 300, 49–56.
- Johansson, T., Nyman, P. O., 1995. The gene from the white rot fungus *Trametes* versicolor encoding the lignin peroxidase isozyme LP7. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1263, 71–74.
- Johansson, T., Nyman, P. O., 1996. A cluster of genes encoding major isozymes of lignin peroxidase and manganese peroxidase from the white rot fungus *Trametes* versicolor. Gene 170, 31–38.
- Johansson, T., Nyman, P. O., Cullen, D., 2002. Differential regulation of mnp2, a new manganese peroxidase-encoding gene from the ligninolytic fungus Trametes versicolor PRL572. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68, 2077–2080.
- Johansson, T., Welinder, K. G., Nyman, P. O., 1993. Isozymes of lignin peroxidase and manganese (II) peroxidase from the white rot basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor*. II:

Partial sequences, peptide maps and amino acid and carbohydrate compositions. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 300, 57–62.

- Jolivalt, C., Madzak, C., Brault, A., Caminade, E., Malosse, C., Mougin, C., 2005. Expression of laccase IIIb from the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor* in the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* for environmental applications. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 66, 450–456.
- Jönsson, L., Becker, H. G., Nyman, P. O., 1994. A novel type of peroxidase gene from the white rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1207, 255–259.
- Jönsson, L., Nyman, P. O., 1992. Characterisation of a lignin peroxidase gene from the white rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. Biochimie 74, 177–182.
- Jönsson, L., Nyman, P. O., 1994. Tandem lignin peroxidase genes of the fungus Trametes versicolor. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1218, 408–412.
- Jönsson, L., Sjöström, K., Häggström, I., Nyman, P. O., 1995. Characterisation of a laccase gene from the white rot fungus *Trametes versicolor* and structural features of basidiomycete laccases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1251, 210–215.
- Jordaan, J., Pletsche, B. I., Leukes, W. D., 2004. Purification and partial characterisation of a thermostable laccase from an unidentified basidiomycete. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 34, 635–641.
- Kaal, E. E. J., Field, J. A., Joyce, T. W., 1995. Increasing ligninolytic enzyme activities in several white-rot basidiomycetes by nitrogen-sufficient media. Bioresource Technology 53, 133–139.
- Kaiser, J. P., Feng, Y. C., Bollag, J. M., 1996. Microbial metabolism of pyridine, quinoline, acridine and their derivatives under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Microbiological Reviews 60, 483–488.

- auserud, H., Sætre, G. P., Schmidt, O., Decock, C., Schumacher, T., 2006. Genetics of self/non-self recognition in *Serpula lacrymans*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 43, 503–510.
- eddy, P. A., 1989. Competition. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- ennedy, P. G., Bergemann, S. E., Hortal, S., Bruns, T. D., 2007. Competitive interactions among three ectomycorrhizal fungi and their relation to host plant performance. Journal of Ecology 95, 1338–1345.
- ersten, P., Cullen, D., 2007. Extracellular oxidative systems of the lignin-degrading Basidiomycete *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 44, 77– 87.
- im, Y., Leem, Y., Kim, K., Kim, K., Choi, H., 2002. Transformation of the medicinal basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor* to hygromycin B resistance by restriction enzyme mediated integration. FEMS Microbiology Letters 209, 273–276.
- im, Y., Yeo, S., Kum, J., Song, H. G., Choi, H. T., 2005. Cloning of a manganese peroxidase cDNA gene repressed by manganese in *Trametes versicolor*. The Journal of Microbiology 43, 569–571.
- ishi, K., Someren, M. K., Mayfield, M. B., Sun, J., Loehr, T. M., Gold, M. H., 1996. Characterisation of manganese(II) binding site mutants of manganese peroxidase. Biochemistry 35, 8986–8994.
- ojima, Y., Tsukuda, Y., Kawai, Y., Tsukamoto, A., Sugiura, J., Sakaino, M., Kita, Y., 1990. Cloning, sequence analysis, and expression of ligninolytic phenoloxidase genes of the white-rot basidiomycete *Coriolus hirsutus*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 265, 15224–15230.
- adygina, N., Dedyukhina, E. G., Vainshtein, M. B., 2005. A review on microbial synthesis of hydrocarbons. Process Biochemistry 41, 1001–1014.

- Leatham, G., Stahman, M. A., 1981. Studies on the laccase of *Lentinus edodes*: specificity, localisation and association with the development of fruiting bodies. Journal of General Microbiology 125, 147–157.
- Leonowicz, A., Cho, N., Luterek, J., Wilkolazka, A., Wojtas-Wasilewska, M., Matuszewska, A., Hofrichter, M., Wesenberg, D., Rogalski, J., 2001. Fungal laccase: properties and activity on lignin. Journal of Basic Microbiology 41, 185–227.
- Lindahl, B. D., Finlay, R. D., 2006. Activities of chitinolytic enzymes during primary and secondary colonisation of wood by basidiomycetes. New Phytologist 169, 389– 397.
- Lockwood, J. L., 1992. Exploitation competition. In: Carroll, G. C., Wicklow, D. T. (Eds.), The Fungal Community: its organisation and role in the ecosystem. Marcel Dekker, NY, pp. 265–274.
- Lodge, D. J., 1993. Nutrient cycling by fungi in wet tropical forests. In: Isaac, S., Frankland, J. C., Whalley, A. J., Watling, R. (Eds.), Tropical Mycology. Cambridge University Press, pp. 37–57.
- Luis, P., Kellner, H., Zimdars, B., 2005. Patchiness and spatial distribution of laccase genes of ectomycorrhizal, saprotrophic, and unknown basidiomycetes in the upper horizons of mixed forest cambisol. Microbial Ecology 50, 570–579.
- Lundell, T., Leonowicz, A., Rogalski, J., Hatakka, A., 1990. Formation and action of lignin-modifying enzymes in cultures of *Phlebia radiata* supplemented with veratric acid. Applied Environmental Microbiology 56, 2623–2629.
- Lurin, C., Jouanin, L., 2003. RFLP of RT-PCR products: application to the expression of *CHS* multigene family in poplar. Molecular Breeding 1, 411–417.
- Mackie, A. E., Wheatley, R. E., 1999. Effects and incidence of volatile organic com-

pound interactions between soil bacterial and fungal isolates. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31, 375–385.

- Maga, J. A., 1981. Mushroom flavour. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 29, 1–4.
- Mäkelä, M. R., Hildén, K. S., Hakala, T. H., Hatakka, A., Lundell, T. K., 2006. Expression and molecular properties of a new laccase of the white rot fungus *Phlebia radiata* grown on wood. Current Genetics 50, 323–333.
- Martinez, A. T., 2002. Molecular biology and structure-function of lignin-degrading heme peroxidases. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 30, 425–444.
- Mayer, A. M., Staples, R. C., 2002. Laccase: new functions for an old enzyme. Phytochemistry 60, 551–565.
- Mendgen, K., Wirsel, S. G. R., Jux, A., Hoffmann, J., Boland, W., 2006. Volatiles modulate the development of plant pathogenic rust fungi. Planta 224, 1353–1361.
- Micali, C. O., Smith, M. L., 2003. On the independence of barrage formation and heterokaryon incompatibility in *Neurospora crassa*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 38, 209–219.
- Mikiashvili, N., Elisashvili, V., Wasser, S., Nevo, E., 2005. Carbon and nitrogen sources influence the ligninolytic enzyme activity of *Trametes versicolor*. Biotechnology Letters 27, 955–959.
- Mikuni, J., Morohoshi, N., 1997. Cloning and sequencing of a second laccase gene from the white rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 155, 79–84.
- Mueller, G. M., Schmit, J. P., 2007. Fungal biodiversity: what do we know? What can we predict? Biodiversity and Conservation 16, 1–5.

- Mumpuni, A., Sharma, H. S. S., Brown, A. E., 1998. Effects of metabolites produced by *Trichoderma harzianum* biotypes and *Agaricus bisporus* on their respective growth radii in culture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64, 5053-5056.
- Myung, K., Hamilton-Kemp, T. R., Archbold, D. D., 2007. Interaction with and effects on the profile of proteins of *Botrytis cinerea* by C6 aldehydes. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 55, 2182–2188.
- Nakayashiki, H., 2005. RNA silencing in fungi: mechanisms and applications. FEBS Letters 579, 5950–5957.
- Necochea, R., Valderrama, B., Diaz-Sandoval, S., Folch-Mallol, J. L., Vázquez-Duhalt, R., Iturriaga, G., 2005. Phylogenetic and biochemical characterisation of a recombinant laccase from *Trametes versicolor*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 244, 235–241.
- Ngo, T. T., Lenhoff, H. M., 1980. A sensitive and versatile chromogenic assay for peroxidase and peroxidase coupled reactions. Analytical Biochemistry 105, 389–397.
- Niku-Paavola, M. L., Raaska, L., Itävaara, M., 1990. Detection of white rot fungi by a non-toxic stain. Mycological Research 94, 27–31.
- Nilsson, T., Larsen, T. O., Montanarella, L., Madsen, J. O., 1996. Application of headspace solid-phase microextraction for the analysis of volatile metabolites emitted by *Penicillium* species. Journal of Microbiological Methods 25, 245–255.
- Nugent, K. G., Choffe, K., Saville, B. J., 2004. Gene expression during Ustilago maydis diploid filamentous growth: EST library creation and analyses. Fungal Genetics and Biology 41, 25–33.
- O'Callaghan, J., O'Brien, M. M., McClean, K., Dobson, A. D. W., 2002. Optimisation of the expression of a *Trametes versicolor* laccase gene in *Pichia pastoris*. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology 29, 55–59.

- Okamoto, K., Narayama, S., Katsuo, A., Shigematsu, I., Yanase, H., 2002. Biosynthesis of *p*-anisaldehyde by the white rot basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 93, 207–210.
- Ong, E., Pollock, W. B. R., Smith, M., 1997. Cloning and sequence analysis of two laccase complementary DNAs from the ligninolytic basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor*. Gene 196, 113–119.
- Orchard, C. B., Siciliano, I., Sorrell, A. D., Marchbank, A., Rogers, H. J., Francis, D., Herbert, R. J., Suchomelova, P., Lipavska, H., Azmi, A., van Onckelen, H., 2005.
 Tobacco BY-2 cells expressing fission yeast *cdc25* bypass a G2/M block on the cell cycle. Plant Journal 44, 290–299.
- Owens, E. M., 1989. Fungal community structure and functioning in decomposing wood. Ph.D. thesis, Cardiff University.
- Owens, E. M., Reddy, C. A., Grethlein, H. E., 1994. Outcome of interspecific interactions among brown rot and white rot wood decay fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 14, 19–24.
- Paice, M. C., Jurasek, L., Ho, C., Bourbonnais, R., Archibald, F., 1989. Direct biological bleaching of hardwood kraft pulp with the fungus *Coriolus versicolor*. Tappi Journal 72, 217–221.
- Parfitt, D., Hynes, J., Rogers, H. J., Boddy, L., 2005. Development of a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay for the specific detection of the rare *Creolophus cirrhatus* and other tooth fungi in wood. Mycological Research 109, 1187–1194.
- Patil, R. S., Ghormade, V., Deshpande, M. V., 2000. Chitinoltyic enzymes: an exploration. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 26, 473–483.
- Peay, K. G., Kennedy, P. G., Bruns, T. D., 2008. Fungal community ecology: a hybrid beast with a molecular master. Bioscience 58, 799–810.

- Peiris, D., 2009. Interactions involving S. hirsutum. Ph.D. thesis, University of Westminster.
- Peiris, D., Dunn, W. B., Brown, M., Kell, D. B., Roy, I., Hedger, J. N., 2008. Metabolite profiles of interacting mycelial fronts differ for pairings of the wood decay basidiomycete fungus Stereum hirsutum with its competitors Coprinus micaceous and Coprinus disseminatus. Metabolomics 4, 52-62.
- Pilotti, C. A., Sanderson, F. R., Aitken, E. A. B., 2002. Sexuality and interactions of monokaryotic and dikaryotic mycelia of *Ganoderma boninense*. Mycological Research 106, 1315–1322.
- Piontek, K., Antorini, M., Choinowski, T., 2002. Crystal structure of a laccase from the fungus *Trametes versicolor* containing a full complement of coppers. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277, 37663–37669.
- Pointing, S. B., Pelling, A. L., Smith, G. J. D., Hyde, K. D., 2005. Screening of basidiomycetes and xylariaceous fungi for lignin peroxidase and laccase gene-specific sequences. Mycological Research 109, 115–124.
- Price, A. M., Orellana, D. F. A., Salleh, F. M., Stevens, R., Acock, R., Buchanan-Wollanston, V., Stead, A. D., Rogers, H. J., 2008. A comparison of leaf and petal senescence in wallflowers (*Erysium linifolium*) reveals common and distinct patterns of gene expression and physiology. Plant Physiology 147, 1898–1912.
- Rapior, S., Breheret, S., Talou, T., Pelissier, Y., Bessiere, J. M., 2002. The anise-like odour of *Clitocybe odora*, *Lenitinellus cochleatus* and *Agaricus essetei*. Mycologia 94, 373–376.
- Rayner, A. D. M., 1991. The challenge of the individualistic mycelium. Mycologia 83, 48-71.

- Rayner, A. D. M., Boddy, L., 1988. Fungal decomposistion of Wood: its biology and ecology. Wiley, Chichester, UK.
- Rayner, A. D. M., Griffith, G. S., Wildman, H. G., 1994. Induction of metabolic and morphogenetic changes during mycelial interactions among species of higher fungi. Biochemical Society Transactions 22, 389–395.
- Rayner, A. D. M., Todd, N. K., 1979. Population and community structure and dynamics of fungi in decaying wood. Advances in Botanical Research 7, 333–420.
- Rayner, A. D. M., Webber, J. F., 1986. Interspecific mycelial interactions an overview.In: Jennings, D. H., Rayner, A. D. M. (Eds.), The ecology and physiology of the fungal mycelium. Cambridge University Press, pp. 383-417.
- Redfern, D. B., Pratt, J. E., Gregory, S. C., Macaskill, G. A., 2001. Natural infection of Sitka spruce thinning stumps in Britain by spores of *Heterobasidion annosum* and long-term survival of the fungus. Forestry 74, 53–71.
- Reyes, F., Villanueva, P., Alfonso, C., 1990. Comparative study of acid and alkaline phosphatase during the autolysis of filamentous fungi. Letters in Applied Microbiology 10, 175–177.
- Rodgers, C. J., Blanford, C. F., Giddens, S. R., Skamnioti, P., Armstrong, F. A., Gurr,
 S. J., 2009. Designer laccases: a vogue for high-potential fungal enzymes? Trends in
 Biotechnology ?, ??-??
- Rogalski, J., Lundell, T., Leonowicz, A., Hatakka, A., 1991. Production of laccase, lignin peroxidase and manganese-dependent peroxidase by various strains of *Tram*etes versicolor depending on culture conditions. Acta Microbiologica Polonica 40, 221–277.
- Rosecke, J., Pietsch, M., König, W. A., 2000. Volatile constituents of wood-rotting basidiomycetes. Phytochemistry 54, 747–750.

- Rostilien, T., Borg-Karlson, A. K., Fäldt, J., Jacobseen, U., Mustaparta, H., 2000. The plant sesquiterpene germacrene D specifically activates a major type of antennal receptor neuron of the tobacco budworm moth *Heliothis virescens*. Chemical Senses 25, 141–148.
- Ruiz-Dueñas, F. J., Morales, M., Garcia, E., Miki, Y., Martínez, M. J., Martínez, A. T., 2009. Substrate oxidation sites in versatile peroxidase and other basidiomycetes. Journal of Experimental Botany 60, 441–452.
- Saitou, N., Nei, M., 1987. The neighbour-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Molceular Biology and Evolution 4, 406–425.
- Sato, T., Yaegashi, K., Ishii, S., Hirano, T., Kajiwara, S., Shishido, K., Enei, H., 1998. Transformation of the edible basidiomycete *Lentinus edodes* by restriction enzymemediated integration of plasmid DNA. Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry 67, 2346–2350.
- Savoie, J. M., Mata, G., Mamoun, M., 2001. Variability in brown line formation and extracellular laccase production during interaction between white rot basidiomycetes and *Trichoderma harzianum* biotype Th2. Mycologia 93, 243–248.
- Schiestl, F. P., Steinebrunner, F., Schultz, C., 2006. Evolution of 'pollinator'-attracting signals in fungi. Biology Letters 2, 401–404.
- Schlosser, D., Grey, R., Fritsche, W., 1997. Patterns of ligninolytic enzymes in *Trametes versicolor*: distribution of extra- and intracellular enzyme activities during cultivation on glucose, wheat straw and beech wood. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 47, 412–418.
- Schoeman, M. W., Webber, J. F., Dickinson, D. J., 1996. The effect of diffusible metabolites of *Trichoderma harzianum* on *in vitro* interactions between basidiomycete isolates at two different temperature regimes. Mycological Research 100, 1454-1458.

- Schrey, S. D., Schellhammer, M., Ecke, M., Hampp, R., Tarkka, M. T., 2005. Mycorrhiza helper bacterium *Streptomyces* AcH505 induces differential gene expression in the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Amanita muscaria*. New Phytologist 168, 205–216.
- Score, A. J., Palfreyman, J. W., White, N. A., 1997. Extracellular phenoloxidase and peroxidase enzyme production during interspecific fungal interactions. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 39, 225–233.
- Shearer, C. A., 1995. Fungal competition. Canadian Journal of Botany 73, 1259-1264.
- Silar, P., 2005. Peroxide accumulation and cell death in filamentous fungi induced by contact with a contestant. Mycological Research 109, 137–149.
- Smit, E., Leeflang, P., Glandorf, B., van Elsas, J. D., Wernars, K., 1999. Analysis of fungal diversity in the wheat rhizosphere by sequencing of cloned PCR-amplified genes encoding 18S rRNA and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis. Applied Environmental Microbiology 65, 2614–2621.
- Solomon, E. I., Sundaram, U. M., Machonkin, T. E., 1996. Multicopper oxidases and oxygenases. Chemical Reviews 96, 2563–2605.
- Splivallo, R., Novero, M., Bertea, C. M., Bossi, S., Bonfante, P., 2007. Truffle volatiles inhibit growth and induce an oxidative burst in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytologist 175, 417–424.
- Stadler, M., Sterner, O., 1998. Production of bioactive secondary metabolites in the fruit bodies of macrofungi as a response to injury. Phytochemistry 49, 1013–1019.
- Staszczak, M., 2008. The role of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in the response of the ligninolytic fungus *Trametes versicolor* to nitrogen deprivation. Fungal Genetics and Biology 45, 328-337.

- Steffen, K. T., Hofrichter, M., Hatakka, A., 2000. Mineralisation of ¹⁴C-labelled synthetic lignin and ligninolytic enzyme activities of litter-decomposing basidiomycetous fungi. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 54, 819–825.
- Steiner, S., Erdmann, D., Steidle, J. L. M., Ruther, J., 2007. Host habitat assessment by a parasitoid using fungal volatiles. Frontiers in Zoology 4, 3–11.
- Stenlid, J., 1994. Homokaryotic Heterobasidion annosum mycelia in norway spruce stumps. In: Johansson, M., Stenlid, J. (Eds.), Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. pp. 249–253.
- Stenlid, J., 2008. Population biology of forest decomposer basidiomycetes. In: Boddy, L., Frankland, J. C., van West, P. (Eds.), Ecology of saprotrophic basidiomycetes. Academic Press UK, pp. 105–122.
- Steyaert, J. M., Ridgway, H. J., Elad, Y., Stewart, A., 2003. Genetic basis of mycoparasitism: a mechanism of biological control by species of *Trichoderma*. New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science 31, 281–291.
- Stijve, T., Amazonas, M., Giller, V., 2002. Flavour and taste components of Agaricus blazei ss. Heinem. - a new gourmet and medicinal mushroom. Deutsche Lebensmittel-Rundschau 89, 448–453.
- Stinson, M., Ezra, D., Hess, W. M., Sears, J., Strobel, G., 2003. An endophytic Gliocladium sp. of Eucryphia cordifolia producing selective volatile antimicrobial compounds. Plant Science 165, 913–922.
- Strobel, G. A., Dirkse, E., Sears, J., Markworth, C., 2001. Volatile antimicrobials from Muscodor albus, a novel endophytic fungus. Microbiology - SGM 147, 2943–2950.
- Stürzenbaum, S. R., Kille, P., 2001. Control genes in quantitative molecular biological techniques: the variability of invariance. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 130, 281–289.

- Sundaramoorthy, M., Kishi, K., Gold, M. H., Poulos, T. L., 1994. The crystal structure of manganese peroxidase from *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* at 2.06 Å. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269, 32759–32767.
- Sunesson, A., Vaes, W. H. J., Nilsson, C. A., Blomquist, G., Andersson, B., Carlson, R., 1995. Identification of volatile metabolites from five fungal species cultivated on two media. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 2911–2918.
- Sutherland, G. R., Hasselbach, J., Aust, S. D., 1997. Biodegradation of cross-linked acrylic polymers by a white rot fungus. Environmental Science Pollution Research 4, 16–20.
- Tadesse, M. A., D'Annibale, A., Galli, C., Gentili, P., Sergi, F., 2008. An assessment of the relative contributions of redox and steric issues to laccase specificty towards putative substrates. Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry 6, 868–878.
- Tamura, K., Dudley, J., Nei, M., Kumar, S., 2007. MEGA4: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis software version 4.0. Molecular Biology and Evolution 24, 1596– 1599.
- Tamura, K., Nei, M., Kumar, S., 2004. Prospects for inferring very large phylogenies by using the neighbour-joining method. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101, 11030–11035.
- Taupp, D. E., Nimtz, M., Berger, R. G., Zorn, H., 2008. Stress response of Nidula niveotomentosa to UV-A light. Mycologia 100, 529–538.
- Thellin, O., Zorzi, W., Lakaye, B., de Borman, B., Coumans, B., Hennen, G., Grisar, T., Igout, A., Heinen, E., 1999. Housekeeping genes as internal standards: use and limits. Journal of Biotechnology 75, 291–295.
- Thurston, C. F., 1994. The structure and function of fungal laccases. Microbiology 140, 19-26.

- Timofeevski, S. L., Nie, G., Reading, N. S., Aust, S. D., 1999. Engineering of a functional hybrid of manganese peroxidase and lignin peroxidase. Plant Peroxidase Newsletter 13, 99-111.
- Tordoff, G. M., Boddy, L., Jones, T. H., 2006. Grazing by Folsomia candida (Collembola) differentially affects mycelial morphology of the cord-forming basidiomycetes Hypholoma fasciculare, Phanerochaete velutina and Resinicium bicolor. Mycological Research 110, 335-345.
- Tornberg, K., Olsson, S., 2002. Detection of hydroxyl radicals produced by wooddecomposing fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 40, 13-20.
- Tronsmo, A., Dennis, C., 1978. Effect of temperature on antagonistic properties of *Trichoderma* species. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 71, 469–474.
- Tzialla, A. A., Taha, A. A., Kalogeris, E., Stamatis, H., 2009. Improving the catalytic performance of fungal laccases in monoterpene-based reaction systems. Biotechnology Letters 31, 1451–1456.
- Valášková, V., Baldrian, P., 2006. Estimation of bound and free fractions of lignocellulose-degrading enzymes of wood-rotting fungi *Pleurotus ostreatus, Tram*etes versicolor and *Piptoporus betulinus*. Research in Microbiology 157, 119–124.
- Valášková, V., Šnajdr, Bittner, B., Cajthaml, T., Merhautová, V., Hofrichter, M., Baldrian, P., 2007. Production of lignocellulose-degrading enzymes and degradation of leaf litter by saprotrophic basidiomycetes isolated from a *Quercus petraea* forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2651–2660.
- Velázquez-Cedeño, M., Farnet, A. M., Billette, C., Mata, G., Savoie, J. M., 2007. Interspecific interactions with *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* induce *Pleurotus ostreatus* defence reactions based on the production of laccase isozymes. Biotechnology Letters 29, 1583–1590.

- Velázquez-Cedeño, M., Farnet, A. M., Ferré, E., Savoie, J. M., 2004. Variations of lignocellulosic activities in dual cultures of *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* in sterilised wheat straw. Mycologia 96, 712-719.
- Viiri, H., Annila, E., Kitunen, V., Niemela, P., 2001. Induced responses in stilbenes and terpenes in fertilised norway spruce after inoculation with blue-stain fungus, *Ceratocystis polonica*. Trees - Structure and Function 15, 112–122.
- Wagstaff, C., Chanasut, U., Harren, F. J. M., Laarhoven, L., Thomas, B., Rogers, H. J., Stead, A. D., 2005. Ethylene and flower longevity in *Alstroemeria*: relationship between tepal senescence, abscission and ethylene biosynthesis. Journal of Experimental Botany 56, 1007–1016.
- Wald, P., Pitkänen, S., Boddy, L., 2004. Interspecific interactions between the rare tooth fungi Creolophus cirrhatus, Hericium erinaceous and H. coralloides and other wood decay species in agar and wood. Mycological Research 108, 1447–1457.
- Wardle, D. A., 2002. Communities and ecosystems: linking the aboveground and belowground components. Princeton University Press, Princeton (NJ).
- Welinder, K. G., 1992. Superfamily of plant, fungal and bacterial peroxidases. Current Opinion in Structural Biology 2, 388–393.
- Wells, J. M., 2002. Interspecific carbon exchange and cost of interactions between basidiomycete mycelia in soil and wood. Functional Ecology 16, 153–161.
- Wessels, J. G. H., 1992. Gene expression during fruiting in Schizophyllum commune. Mycological Research 96, 609–620.
- Wheatley, R. E., 2002. The consequences of volatile organic compound mediated bacterial and fungal interactions. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 81, 357–364.
- Wheatley, R. E., Hackett, C., Bruce, A., Kundzewicz, A., 1997. Effect of substrate composition on production of volatile organic compounds from *Trichoderma* spp.

inhibitory to wood decay fungi. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 39, 199–205.

- White, G. J., Traquair, J. A., 2006. Necrotrophic mycoparasitism of *Botrytis cinerea* by cellulolytic and lignocellulolytic Basidiomycetes. Canadian Journal of Botany 52, 508–518.
- White, N. A., Boddy, L., 1992. Extracellular enzyme localisation during interspecific interactions. FEMS Microbiology Letters 98, 75–80.
- White, N. A., Sturrock, C., Ritz, K., Samson, W. B., Brown, J., Staines, H. J., Palfreyman, J. W., Crawford, J., 1998. Interspecific fungal interactions in spatially heterogeneous systems. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 27, 21–32.
- Williams, E. N. D., Todd, N. K., Rayner, A. D. M., 1981. Spatial development of populations of *Coriolus versicolor*. New Phytologist 89, 307–319.
- Wolf, F. T., 1951. Inhibition of pathogenic fungi in vitro by p-hydroxy methyl benzoate. Mycopathologia 5, 117–119.
- Woodward, S., Boddy, L., 2008. Interactions between saprotrophic fungi. In: Boddy, L., Frankland, J. C., van West, P. (Eds.), Ecology of Saprotrophic Basidiomycetes. Academic Press UK, pp. 125–141.
- Woodward, S., Sultan, H. Y., Barrett, D. K., Pearce, R. B., 1993. Two new antifungal metabolites produced by *Sparassis crispa* in culture and in decayed trees. Journal of General Microbiology 139, 153–159.
- Wu, S. M., Zorn, H., Krings, U., Berger, R. G., 2005. Characteristic volatiles from young and aged fruiting bodies of wild *Polyporus sulfureus* (bull.:Fr.) Fr. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53, 4524–4528.
- Yeo, S., Kim, M. K., Choi, H. T., 2008. Increased expression of laccase by the addition of phthalates in *Phlebia tremellosa*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 278, 72–77.

- Zamponi, L., Michelozzi, M., Capretti, P., 2006. Effects of four monoterpenes on the growth in vitro of some Heterobasidion spp. and two Leptographium species. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection 113, 164–167.
- Zhao, Y., Li, J., Chen, Y., Hang, H., 2009. Response to oxidative stress of *Coriolus versicolor* induced by exogenous hydrogen peroxide and paraquat. Annals of Microbiology 59, 221–227.
- Ziegenbein, F. C., Hanssen, H. P., König, W. A., 2006. Chemical constituents of the essential oils of three wood-rotting fungi. Flavour and Fragrance Journal 21, 813–816.
- Zollner, H., 1993. Handbook of enzyme inhibitors. Wiley VCH, Chichester, UK.
- Zuckerkandl, E., Pauling, L., 1965. Evolutionary divergence and convergence in proteins. In: Bryson, V., Vogel, H. J. (Eds.), Evolving genes and proteins. Academic Press NY, pp. 97–166.

Appendix A

Further detail on laccase and peroxidase

A.1 Laccase

Laccase catalyses the 4 electron reduction of O_2 to H_2O , coupled with four singleelectron substrate oxidation steps, which has led to the analogy of a four-electron 'biofuel' cell, where laccase operates like a battery, storing electrons from individual oxidation reactions in order to reduce molecular oxygen (Thurston, 1994). Bound oxygen intermediates appear to be involved in this process (Baldrian, 2006). The presence of four copper ions is an absolute requirement for optimal activity, and there have been suggestions that laccase substrate specificity is determined by the redox potential of these copper ions (Piontek et al., 2002). The high reduction potential of fungal laccases, and the large range in reduction potentials between isozymes, are not fully understood, but are thought to be controlled by structural determinants (Jönsson et al., 1995).

A.1.1 Crystal structure of laccase

Typical fungal laccase is approximately 60-70 kDa with an acidic isoelectric point around pH 4.0 (Baldrian, 2006). Most fungal laccases are monomeric proteins, although several exhibit a homodimeric structure, the enzyme being composed of two identical subunits with a molecular weight typical of monomeric laccases (Baldrian, 2006). Like most extracellular fungal enzymes, laccases are glycoproteins with the extent of glycosylation ranging from 10-20%. In addition to its structural role, glycosylation may protect the enzyme from proteolytic degradation (Baldrian, 2006). Modeling of the crystal structure of T. versicolor laccase (TvL) showed a total of seven N-acetyl glucsoamine moeities at 5 distinct N-glycosylation sites (Piontek et al., 2002). Glycosylation is one of the biggest problems for the heterologous production of the enzyme, and is extremely difficult to overcome.

Laccases are ancient enzymes with a highly conserved catalytic site, despite which the rest of the protein shows wide variability (Mayer and Staples, 2002). The crystal structures of several fungal laccases, including *Coprinus cinereus*, *T. versicolor*, *Melanocarpus albomyces* and *Rigidoporus lignosus* have recently been solved by X-ray diffraction (Bukh et al., 2006). These laccases share similar topology: a monomer organised in three sequentially arranged domains, each of which is of a similar β -barrel type architecture with only small amounts of α -helix (Piontek et al., 2002). Both Nterminal and C-terminal amino acids benefit from hydrogen bonding networks to the rest of the protein, providing rigidity (Piontek et al., 2002). Two disulfide bridges are present, one of which forms a bridge between the first and second domains (Jönsson et al., 1995). The presence of four cupric ions, each coordinated to a single polypeptide chain, is an absolute requirement for optimal activity (Baldrian, 2006), and the regions that coordinate the Cu²⁺ ions are perfectly conserved (Asiegbu et al., 2004). Laccase contains at least one T1 (type 1) copper, embedded in domain 3, which is the primary oxidation site. There are also one T2 and two T3 coppers arranged in a trinuclear cluster situated between domains 1 and 3. The T3 site is where reduction of molecular oxygen occurs (Piontek et al., 2002). One electron is abstracted from the substrate at the T1 site, progressively leading to the reduction of all four Cu(II) ions to Cu(I). Reoxidation of the cuprous ions to Cu(II) occurs via electron donation to an O_2 molecule complexed at the T2/T3 cluster, leading to the formation of water without the release of toxic peroxide intermediates (Tadesse et al., 2008). The three copper types can be differentiated by their spectroscopic behaviour. Site T1 is a blue copper ion with strong absorption around 600 nm. T2 exhibits features typical of normal copper, with only weak absorption in the visible region but is EPR-active (electron paramagnetic resonance spectrum). The T3 coppers are characterised by an absorption band around 330 nm and are EPR silent due to their strong antiferromagnetic coupling bridged by a hydroxide (Solomon et al., 1996; Piontek et al., 2002).

The function of the T1 site in the enzyme is long range intramolecular electron transfer, shuttling electrons from the substrate to the trinuclear cluster along a His-Cys-His tripeptide pathway which is highly conserved among blue multicopper oxidases (Piontek et al., 2002). Primary amino acid sequence homology shows that the conserved ligands for the T1 site are two histidine nitrogens and a cysteine thiolate sulphur (Solomon et al., 1996). The peptide ligands of the trinuclear cluster are eight histidines which occur in a highly conserved pattern of four HXH motifs (Mayer and Staples, 2002). The electrostatic surface potential distribution of TvL revealed a dominance of negative charges, which is in accordance with the acidic pI of c. 3.5. The crystal structure shows that the substrate binds in a small, negatively charged cavity near the copper T1 site. The oxygen-reducing site at the T2/T3 cluster has access to the solvent through two channels, which are well suited to allow fast access of dioxygen molecules to the trinuclear cluster and subsequent easy release of water (Piontek et al., 2002).

The reason for the very high reduction potentials, as well as the large range in reduction

potentials among fungal laccases remains to be determined, but it is thought to be controlled by structural determinants. A mechanism has been suggested where the redox potential of the T1 cation is altered by stretching of the hydrogen bond between the metal and the ligating amino acid (Piontek et al., 2002). Other possible factors influencing reduction potentials of fungal laccase T1 sites are electrostatic interactions between the metal site and the protein and the water environment (Solomon et al., 1996).

A.2 Peroxidase: mechanism of action

A single-substrate reversible reaction can be formulated as:

$$E + S \rightleftharpoons ES \rightleftharpoons E + P$$

where E is the enzyme, S is the substrate and P is the product. However, peroxidases catalyse a 2-substrate, 2-product reaction, for which enzyme-substrate complexes have not been detected, and the only detectable intermediates are covalent compounds. Two-substrate, two-product reactions occurs when: (1) one substrate binds, followed by a first-product release, resulting in a modified enzyme to which (2) a second substrate binds, followed by second-product release. This is also known as the 'Ping-pong mechanism' (Dunford, 1999). Ping-pong reactions are usually reversible, with the consequence that there is a finite upper limit in rate. Peroxidase kinetics have similarities to Ping-pong kinetics, with the difference that the reactions are usually irreversible. This is often misunderstood; the observed irreversibility does not mean the back reaction has zero rate, but that its rate is not measurable. The rate of reaction appears to have no upper limits, the larger the concentration of reactants, the faster the reaction (Dunford, 1999). No equilibrium between reactants and products is formed because the reaction is irreversible. The peroxidase reaction can be diagrammatically represented, as shown below.



The peroxidase enzyme is oxidised from its native state to Compound I, after one reduction step Compound II is formed, then another reduction step returns the enzyme to its native state. AH is the reduced form of the substrate, $\cdot A$ is the oxidised form of the substrate. The products are shown departing as fast as the substrate comes into contact with the enzyme because complexes between substrates and enzymes are very short-lived and difficult or impossible to detect. There are several mechanisms for a peroxidase reaction, the most common of which is:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} (\mathrm{Fe}^{3+})\mathrm{Pox} &+& \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} &\rightarrow & \underbrace{(\mathrm{Fe}(\mathrm{IV})=\mathrm{O})\mathrm{Pox}^{\star}}_{Compound \ I} &+& \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O} \\ \\ (\mathrm{Fe}(\mathrm{IV})=\mathrm{O})\mathrm{Pox}^{\star} &+& \mathrm{AH} &\rightarrow & \underbrace{(\mathrm{Fe}(\mathrm{IV})=\mathrm{O})\mathrm{Pox}}_{Compound \ II} &+& \mathrm{A} \\ \\ (\mathrm{Fe}(\mathrm{IV})=\mathrm{O})\mathrm{Pox} &+& \mathrm{AH} &\rightarrow & (\mathrm{Fe}^{3+})\mathrm{Pox} &+& \mathrm{A} \end{array}$$

where the resting enzyme $[(Fe^{3+})Pox]$ reacts with H_2O_2 in a two-electron transfer reaction that results in Compound I formation. Compound I has one reducing equivalent at the oxyl-ferric iron [Fe(IV)=O] and the other forms a cation radical $[Pox^*]$. Compound I is then reduced by the substrate AH in two sequential one-electron steps through Compound II (Conesa et al., 2002). The sum of the 3-step peroxidase reaction is:

$H_2O_2 + 2AH_2 \longrightarrow 2H_2O + 2 \cdot A$

A.3 Crystal structure of peroxidases

Ligninolytic peroxidases are globular proteins formed by 11-12 predominantly α -helices in two domains delimiting a central cavity harboring the heme group. The protein structure is stabilised by 8 cysteine residues forming 4 disulfide bridges, with a fifth bridge in the C-terminal region of MnP, and two Ca²⁺ binding sites (Dunford, 1999; Martinez, 2002). 53 residues are conserved in all fungal peroxidases. Some of these are probably required to attain correct protein folding, and there are four clusters of conserved residues are located around the 2 structural Ca²⁺, and at the distal and proximal sides of the heme cavity (Martinez, 2002). Differences in glycosylation are in some cases responsible for the appearance of isoforms (Conesa et al., 2002), but the glycan groups are not essential for activity. LiPs have molecular masses of approximately 40 kDa, whilst MnPs are comparatively larger, with molecular masses of 47-60 kDa.

The heme group is sandwiched between an N-terminal and a C-terminal helix and rests at the bottom of the space formed by the surfaces of both structures (Conesa et al., 2002). The iron coordination and the residues involved are conserved amongst most peroxidases, with nearly all plant and fungal peroxidases have the prosthetic group ferriprotoporphyrin IX, a structure of 4 pyrrole rings joined by methene bridges with iron(III) at the centre and (due to displacement of 2 hydrogen atoms) a net charge of +1. The native resting enzyme has a 5-coordinate iron(III), where positions 1 to 4 are occupied by nitrogen atoms from the pyrrole rings, and the fifth, on the proximal side of the heme, is the site of attachment to the apoprotein via the imidazole side chain of a histidine residue in a relationship best described as covalent (Dunford, 1999). Another, distal histidine, assisted by an asparagine residue, participates in the transfer of oxidising equivalents from H_2O_2 to the heme (Conesa et al., 2002). The vacant sixth coordinate position of iron(III) is located on the distal side of the heme, in a cavity that is the site of peroxidase reactions. Common ligands such as cyanide and azide can occupy this position and thus act as effective peroxidase inhibitors (Dunford, 1999). The low pH dependency of the redox potential of peroxidases could indicate participation of a carboxylic acid side chain in the catalytic reaction, and several residues have been proposed to play this role in LiP and in MnP (Sundaramoorthy et al., 1994).

In most peroxidases direct access to the heme is restricted, but the heme edge is available for substrate interactions (Kishi et al., 1996; Doyle et al., 1998). An exposed tryptophan (Trp) related to VA oxidation is a conserved residue around the heme pocket in LiP (Doyle et al., 1998). Trp171 (numbering from P. chrysosporium LiP) is present in all LiPs, is redox active, and is an alternative binding site for VA and other aromatic substrates; replacement of this residue by site-directed mutagenesis results in loss of VA-oxidising ability and inclusion of a Trp into MnP resulted in an enzyme which could oxidise VA (Doyle et al., 1998; Timofeevski et al., 1999). In MnP there are three conserved acidic residues around the heme pocket - two glutamic acids and one aspartic acid (Glu35, Glu39 and Asp179 in P. chrysosporium MnP) – which are involved in Mn^{2+} oxidation and Compound II reduction, but not in the reaction with phenolic substrates or with H_2O_2 (Kishi et al., 1996). VP contains both sets of residues for VA and Mn^{2+} binding, which has been confirmed in *P. eryngii*. Peroxidases from P. ostreatus, B. adusta and T. versicolor show putative Mn^{2+} and VA oxidation sites in their sequences, with the so-called Mn-repressed peroxidase (MRP) of T. versicolor also potentially able to show VP-type properties (Ruiz-Dueñas et al., 2009).

Appendix B

Ligninolytic enzyme activity staining

Appendix B



Figure B.1: Localisation of laccase activity by growth on 2% MA containing ABTS. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. A-C, *T. versicolor* self-pairings; D-F, vs. *S. gausapatum*; G-I, vs. *B. adusta*; J-L, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. Laccase activity causes formation of a green, then violet colouration in the agar. Photos taken after 2 d, (using a lightbox; A, D, G and J), after 8 d (B, E, H and K), and after 2 months (C, F, I and L).

Appendix B



Figure B.2: Localisation of MnP activity by growth on 2% MA containing MnCl₂. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. A-C, *T. versicolor* self-pairings; D-F, vs. *S. gausapatum*; G-I, vs. *B. adusta*; J-L, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. MnP activity causes formation of a brown precipitate in the agar. Photos taken after 8 d from the bottom (agar view; A, D, G and J), and from the top (mycelium view; B, E, H and K), and after 2 months (agar view; C, F, I and L).



Figure B.3: Localisation of LiP activity by growth on 2% MA containing the dye Azure B. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings; all photos taken using a lightbox. A and E, *T. versicolor* self-pairings; B and F, vs. *S. gausapatum*; C and G, vs. *B. adusta*; D and H, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. LiP activity causes decolourisation of the blue dye. Photos taken after 2 d (A-D), and after 8 d (E-H)


Figure B.4: Localisation of peroxidase activity by staining with DAB. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. A and E, *T. versicolor* self-pairings; B and F, vs. *S. gausapatum*; C and G, vs. *B. adusta*; D and H, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. Oxidase activity leads to deposition of a red-brown precipitate. Photos taken after 2 d (A-D), and after 8 d (E-H)



200

Figure B.5: Localisation of superoxide by staining with NBT. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. A and E, *T. versicolor* self-pairings; B and F, vs. *S. gausapatum*; C and G, vs. *B. adusta*; D and H, vs. *H. fasciculare* GTWV2. The reaction of NBT with superoxide leads to deposition of a purple-blue precipitate. Photos taken after 2 d (A-D), and after 8 d (E-H)

Appendix C

Laccase and peroxidase sequence information and gene expression data

Genbank	Type	Other		DNA sequence			cDNA sequence	Reference		
accession		name?	no.	Primers predicted	Length of	no.	Primers predicted	Length of		
code			bases	to bind	amp'd seq	bases	to bind	amp'd seq	·	
AJ746240	Lacc	klc1	1298	Lacc-F: 90%	-	1018	Lacc-F: 90%	-	Cheong et al. (2006)	
AM422387	Lacc	klc2	-	-	-	1784	Lacc-F: 90%	377	Yeo et al. (2008)	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
X84683	Lacc	lcc1	2800	Lacc-F: 90%	483	1563	Lacc-F: 90%	377	Jönsson et al. (1995)	
				Lacc-R: 100%			Lacc-R: 100%			
AB212733	Lacc	lac3	-	•	-	1563	Lacc-F: 90%	374	Fujihiro et al. dir. sub. 2005	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
D84235	Lacc	-	3099	Lacc-F: 66%	521	1581	Lacc-F: 90%	388	Mikuni and Morohoshi (1997)	
				Lacc-R: 100%			Lacc-R: 100%			
U44431	Lacc	lccIV	-	-	-	2561	Lacc-F: 85%	388	Ong et al. dir. sub. 1996	
							Lacc-R: 95%			
AB212734	Lacc	lac4	-	-	-	1584	Lacc-F:95%	388	Fujihiro et al. dir. sub. 2005	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
AY243857	Lacc	lcc6	194	-	-	144	-	-	Pointing et al. (2005)	
AB212732	Lacc	lac2	-	-	-	1560	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Fujihiro et al. dir. sub. 2005	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
AY693776	Lacc	lcc1	-	-	-	1560	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Necochea et al. (2005)	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
AJ627252	Lacc	lcc	-	-	-	1560	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Kapoor et al. dir. sub. 2004	
			-				Lacc-R: 100%			
AY049725	Lacc	lac1	-	-	-	2408	Lacc-F: 100%	379	O'Callaghan et al. (2002)	
							Lacc-R: 100%			
U44851	Lacc	lcc1	2127	Lacc-F: 85%	441	1560	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Ong et al. dir. sub. 1996	
				Lacc-R: 100%			Lacc-R: 100%			
U44430	Lacc	lcc1	-	-	-	1932	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Ong et al. (1997)	
11100 (800							Lacc-R: 100%			
AY204503	Lacc	-	198	-		143	-	-	Garcia-Mena et al. (2005)	
AF414109	Lacc	lacl	-	-	-	1563	Lacc-F: 100%	379	Jolivalt et al. (2005)	
13/001100	+				250	1840	Lacc-R: 100%		<u> </u>	
AY 081188	Lacc	laccill	3963	Lacc-F: 95%	379	1563	Lacc-F: 95%	379	Schuren et al. dir. sub. 2002	
V19010	1			Lacc-к: 100%		1500	Lacc-R: 100%	070	Imagen and Namon dia ash 100	
1 10012	Lacc	-	-	-	-	1203	Lacc-F: 100%	319	Jonsson and Nyman dir. Sub. 1996	
A B010701	1.000	10.01				1562	Lacc-R: 100%	570	Fuilibirg at al dir sub 2005	
AD212(31	Lacc	1901	-	-	-	1203	Lacc-F: 100%	319	rujiniro et al. dir. sub. 2005	
D13379	Lace	oul2	2684	Loca E. 100%	270	1562	Lacc-R: 100%	270	Mikuni et al dir sub 1006	
D10012	Lacc	CVID	2004	Lacc-r: 10070	319	1902	Lacc-F: 100%	313	Wikum C/ &l. un. 500. 1330	
				Lacc-n: 90/0			Lacc-n: 9070			

Table C.1: Laccase sequences used for primer design

Dir. sub., direct submission to GenBank; amp'd, amplified. Where primers are predicted to bind to accessioned sequences, the % homology between the primer sequence and the accessioned sequences are given.

Genbank	Туре	Other		DNA sequence			cDNA sequence	Reference	
accession		name?	no.	Primers predicted	Length of	no.	Primers predicted	Length of	
code			bases	to bind	amp'd seq	bases	to bind	amp'd seq	
Z30666	LiP	LPGIII	1889	LiP-F: 95%	350	1104	LiP-F: 95%	353	Johansson and Nyman (1996)
				LiP-R: 100%			LiP-R: 100%		
Z30667	LiP	LiP7	1971	LiP-F: 85%	601	1107	LiP-F: 85%	543	Johansson and Nyman (1993)
				LiP-R: 78%			LiP-R: 78%		
AB158478	LiP	cvlip	-	-	-	1104	LiP-F: 100%	353	Iimura dir. sub. 2000
							LiP-R: 100%		
M91818	LiP	TMTVLG2A	2042	LiP-F: 100%	353	1104	LiP-F: 100%	353	Black and Reddy
				LiP-R: 100%			LiP-R: 100%		dir. sub. 1991
X75655	LiP	LPGI + LPGII	5799						Jönsson and Nyman (1994)
		LPGII	-	LiP-F: 95%	353	1104	LiP-F: 95%	353	
				LiP-R: 100%			LiP-R: 100%		
		LPGI	-	LiP-R: 95%	-	1119	LiP-R: 95%	-	
M64993	LiP	TMTLIGPERO	2140	LiP-R: 95%	-	1119	LiP-R: 95%	-	Jönsson and Nyman (1992)
Z31011	LiP	LPGIV (LP12)	2581		348	1119	LiP-F: 85%	348	Johansson and Nyman (1993)
	_						LiP-R: 95%		
M55294	LiP	VLG1	2092	-	-	-	+	-	Black and Reddy (1991)
AY243871	LiP		429	-	-	-	-	-	Pointing et al. (2005)
AY243872	LiP		429	-	-	-	-	-	Pointing et al. (2005)
AJ745080	MRP	-	-	-	-	1395	MRP-F: 100%	134	Kim et al. (2005)
							MRP-R: 100%		
AF008585	MRP	-	-	-	-	1362	MRP-F: 100%	135	Collins et al. (1999)
							MRP-R: 100%		

Table (C.2:	Lignin	peroxidase	and	Mn-repressed	peroxidase	sequences	used	for	primer	design
---------	------	--------	------------	-----	--------------	------------	-----------	------	-----	--------	--------

Dir. sub., direct submission to GenBank; amp'd, amplified. Where primers are predicted to bind to accessioned sequences, the % homology between the primer sequence and the accessioned sequences are given.

Genbank	Type	Other		DNA sequence			cDNA sequence		Reference		
accession		name?	no.	Primers predicted	Length of	no.	Primers predicted	Length of	-		
code			bases	to bind	amp'd seq	bases	to bind	amp'd seq			
AJ745879	MnP	-	-		-	1313	MnP-R: 85%	-	Kim et al. dir. sub. 2004		
							MnP2-R: 85%				
Z30668	MnP	MPGI	2125	MnP-F: 100%	MnP: 294	1098	MnP-F: 100%	MnP: 211	Johansson and Nyman (1993)		
				MnP-R: 95%			MnP-R: 95%				
				MnP2-R: 90%			MnP2-R: 90%				
D86493	MnP	CVMNP	2739	MnP-F: 100%	MnP: 292	1098	MnP-F: 100%	MnP: 211	limura dir. sub. 2000		
				MnP-R: 100%			MnP-R: 100%				
							MnP2-R: 90%				
AY677128	MnP	cmp1	-	-	_	1361	MnP-R: 65%	-	Jun and Kim dir. sub. 2004		
							MnP2-R: 95%				
AY677129	MnP	cmp2	-	-	-	1312	MnP-F: 100%	MnP: 211	Jun and Kim dir. sub. 2004		
							MnP-R: 100%				
							MnP2-R: 95%				
AY677130	MnP	cmp3	-		-	1275	MnP2-F: 95%	MnP2: 186	Jun and Kim dir. sub. 2004		
							MnP2-R: 95%				
							MnP-R: 85%				
AY677131	MnP	cmp5	-	-	-	1253	MnP-R: 95%	-	Jun and Kim dir. sub. 2004		
							MnP2-R: 90%				
AF102515	MnP	MNP2	-	-	_	1133	MnP2-F: 100%	MnP2: 186	Cullen et al. dir. sub. 1998		
							MnP2-R:100%				
							MnP-R: 85%				
Z54279	MnP	PGVII	2235	MnP2-F: 100%	MnP2: 202	1095	MnP2-F: 100%	MnP2: 186	Johansson and Nyman		
				MnP2-R: 100%			MnP2-R: 100%		dir. sub. 1995		
				MnP-R: 85%			MnP-R: 85%				

Table C.3: MnP sequences used for primer design

Dir. sub., direct submission to GenBank; amp'd, amplified. Where primers are predicted to bind to accessioned sequences, the % homology between the primer sequence and the accessioned sequences are given.

	10 20 30 40	
LIP Z30666	MAEKTLLS IVST LAAFOGATAAL TRRVACPDOVNTATNAA	
LIP AB158478	MAFKTLLSIVSLLAAFQGATAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
LIP MB1818	MAFKTLLSIVSLLAAFQGATAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
LiP X75655	MAFKTLLSIVSLLAAFQGATAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
LIP M64993	MAFKSLLSFVSVIGALQGANAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
LIP X75655	MAFKSLLSFVSVIGALQGANAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
LIP 231011	MAFKSLLSFVSVIGALQGANAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA MAEKALLSAVELMAALOGAEAALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
MOP AFDORSES	MECKALL SAVSLMAALQGASAALIKKVAGPUGANIAINAA MECKALL CIVALAACETAAVDCANKDATACAAATTA NAA	
MRP AJ745080	MESKALLS I VALAASETAAVPSANKRATCSGGOTTA - NDA	
MnP AY677128	MS FKALISILS VVGAI QVATAAATHKI ACPDGVHTASNAV	
MnP AY677129	MAFKTLASLLSVLVTIQVASGALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
MnP Z30668	MAFKTLASLLSVLVTIQVAGGALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
MriP 086493	MAFKTLASLLSVLVTIQVASGALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
MER AUT7131	MAFRILGSFVSLLAALQVANGALIRRVIGAIGQVIS-NAA MAEKILASEVEVLAALQVANGAATBKUTGACCOUTA NAA	
MAP AVE77130	MAEKI LASEVSI LAALQVANGAATKKYTCASGOVIS . NAA	
MnP AF102515	MAFKLLASFVSLLAALQVANGAATKKVTCASGQVTS - NAA	
MnP 254279	MAFKLLASFVSLLAALQVANGAATKKVTCASGQVTS - NAA	
MnP X77154	MAFKTLASFVSVLAALQVASGALTRRVACPDGVNTATNAA	
	·····································	
	50 60 70 80	
LIP Z30666	CCOLFAVRDDLQENLFHGGLCTAEAHESLRLTFHDAIAIS	
LIP AB158478	CCQLFAVRDDLQENLFHGGLCTAEAHESLRLTFHDAIAIS	
LIP MO1818	CCQLFAVRDDLQENLFHGGLCTAEAHESLRLTFHDAIAIS	
LIP X75655	CCQLFAVRDDLQENLFHGGLCTAEAHESLRLTFHDAIAIS	
LiP M64983	CCQLFAVREDLQQNLFHGGLCTAEAHUSLRLTFHDAIAIS	
LIP X /5655	GCQLFAVREDLQQNLFHGGLGIAEAHESLRLIFHDAIAIS	
Lip 230667	CCSI FAVRDDIOONI EHGAOCGENAHESI RITEHDAISES	
MRP AFOORSES	CC VWFDVLDD I Q SNL FH GGECGENAHE SLRL I FHDA I AFS	
MRP AJ745080	CCVWFDVLDDIQSNLFHGGECGENAHESLRLIFHDAIGIS	
MnP AY677128	CCSLFAVVDDLQESLFDGGECGEETHESLRLTFHDAIGFS	
MnP AY677125	CCQLFAVRDDIQQNLFDGGECGEEVHESLRLTFHDAIGIS	
MnP 230668	CCQLFAVRDDIQQNLFDGGECGEEVHESLRLIFHDAIGIS	
MTP D06433	COAL ERVIDEIOTNI EDCCECCE EVHESINLIFHUAIGIS	
MAP AVE77131	CCALEPVIEDIOTNI FOGGECGEEVHESLRLTEHDAIGIS	
MnP AY577130	CCALF PVIDDIQANMEDGGGCNEDVHE SLRLTFHDAIGIS	
MnP AF102515	CCALFPVIDDIQANMFDGGECNEDVHESLRLTFHDAIGIS	
MnP 254279	CCALFPVIDDIQANMFDGGECNEDVHESLRLTFHDAIGIS	
MnP X77154	CCQLFAVRDDIQKNLFDNGECGEDVHESLRLTFHDAIGFS	
	00 400 440 420	
		1
LIP 230666	PALEQQGIFGGGGGADGSIAIFSDIETAFHPNIGLDEIVEL	
LIP AB158478	PALEQQGIFGGGGGADGSIAIFSDIETAFHPNIGLDEIVEL	
	PALEQUGIFGGGGGADGSIAIFSDIEIAFHFNIGLUEIVEL	
LIP A73833	PALEAOGIEGGGGADGSIAIEPEIETNEHPNIGLDEIIEL	
LIP X75555	PALFAQGIFGGGGGADGSIAIFPEIETNFHPNIGLDEIIEL	
LiP 231011	PALEAQGIFGGGGGADGSIAIFPEIETNFHPNIGLDEIIEL	
LiP 230667	PAMEARGQFGGGGGADGSIAIFPDIETNFHANIGLDEIVAE	
MRP AF000505	PALTAAGQFGGGGGADGSIMAHTDVEIQYAANNGLDEIIEE	
MRP AJ745080	PALTAAGQFGGGGGADGSIMAHTDVEIQYAANNGLDEIIEE	
MTP AY577128	PALINGHAFGGGGGBGGSIMIFDIIEIAFHANGGIDDIVNV PRIASPGGEGGGGBGGSIAIEEDIETNEHANIGVDELIDE	
MnP 230668	PSIASRGQFGGGGGADGSIALFEDIETNFHANLGVDEIIDE	
MnP De6453	PSIASRGQFGGGGGADGSIALFEDIETNFHANLGVDEIIDE	
MnP AJ745879	PAIAKTGVFGGGGADGSIAIFADIETNFHANNGVDEIIGE	
MnP AY677131	PAIARTGKFGGGGGADGSIAIFADIETNFHANNGVDEIIGE	
MhP AY677130	RKADKEGVFGGGGGADGSIAIFANIETNFHANNGVDEIIDT	
MP AF102515	RKANKAGVEGGGGADGSIAIFADIEINFHANNGVDEIIDI RKANKAGVEGGGGADGSIAIFADIETNEHANNGVDEIIDT	
MnP 2342/3	PSAFANGT FGGGGADGS I SI FASI ETN FHASLGIDE I VGE	
ITER A / / 104	Rentering to consider the second seco	

Figure C.1: Mulitple alignment of *T. versicolor* peroxidase amino acid sequences (360 of 376 amino acids shown). The sequences are labelled according to whether they are lignin peroxidase (LiP), manganese peroxidase (MnP) or Mn-repressed peroxidase (MRP), along with their accession numbers. More detail on individual sequecnes can be found in Tables C.1, C.2 and C.3. Pink highlighting, the three acidic residues involved in Mn^{2+} binding; yellow highlighting, the conserved tryptophan residue involved in the interaction with veratryl alcohol; green highlighting, the eight cysteine residues conserved in all heme peroxidases.

Appendix C

	420	440	450 400
and the state of t	130	140	150 160
LiP 730656	OKPELAPHNISVADELO	FACALCAS	ACACAPOL AAEVORY
LIP AD150470	OKPELADUNI SVADELO	FAGALGAS	A CARROL AAF VORV
LID MB1040	OK DELADUNLOVADELO	FAGAIGAS	NGAGAFGLAAFVGRV
	WAFFIAKHNLSVAUFIG	FAGAIGAS	NGAGAPQLAAFVGRV
LIP X/3033	GAPFIARHNLSVADFIG	FAGAIGAS	NGAGAPQLAAFVGRV
LIP M64993	QKPFIARHNISVADFIQ	FAGAIGAS	NCAGAPQLAAFVGRK
LIP X75655	QKPFIARHNISVADFIG	FAGAIGAS	N C A G A P Q L A A F V G R K
LiP 231011	QKPFIARHNISVADFIQ	FAGAIGAS	NCAGAPQLAAFVGRK
LiP 230667	GAPIGARHNLSHADFIN	FAGALGTS	NCPGAPRLDFFLGRK
MRP AFDORS	GRPEALKHNVSEGDELG	FAGAVGVA	NCNGGPOLGEFAGRS
MPP A.1745080	OPPEALKHNVCEGDELG	FACAVOVA	NCNCCPOLCEEACRE
Man A VE77128	OKREAAKUNMTAODELO	LAGAVOER	NOADADDI EVI UODD
MIF A 10//120	GREE ARTINE AGUE IS	LAGAVGFS	NGAGAFRLETLHGRF
WTIP A 16//123	GRPFIARHNLIIADFIG	FAGAIGVS	NCPGAPQLDVFIGRP
WHP ZJU668	GRPFIARHNLITADFIG	FAGAIGVS	NCPGAPQLDVFIGRP
MnP D86493	QRPFIARHNLTTADFIG	FAGAIGVS	NCPGAPQLDVFIGRP
MnP AJ745879	GAPFIARHNLTTADFIG	LAGAIGVS	NCPGAPRLNVFIGRK
MnP A Y677131	GAPFIARHNLTTADFIG	FAGAIGVS	NCPGAPRLNVFIGRK
MnP A Y677130	GAPIJARHNLTTADFIG	FAGAIGAS	NCPGAPRLDVFLGRK
MRP AF102515	CAPILARHNITTADELC	FAGALGVS	NCPCAPPIDVELCPK
Mag 75/278	CARLIADUNITTADELC	FACALOVE	NCOCADDI DVEL CDV
WHP 234273	QAPTIARNALI TAUFIG	FAGAIGVS	NGPGAFRLUVFLGRR
WTIP X // 134	GAPPIAKHNLIVGDFIG	FAGAVGVS	NGPGAPRLQFLLGRP
	170	180	190 200
and an interest of the	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		and the set of the set
Lip 230666	DATOPAPDGLVPEPFHT	PDQIFARL	ADASQGEFDEILTVW
LIP AB158478	DATQPAPDGLVPEPFHT	PDQIFARL	ADASQGEFDEILTVW
LIP MB1818	DATQPAPDGLVPEPFHT	PDQIFARL	ADASQGEFDEILTVW
LiP X75655	DATOPAPOGLYPEPEHT	PDOIFARI	ADASOGEEDEILTYW
LID MEABOR	RATOPAPROL VPEPEUT	PROLEMPI	ADAGOGEEDPILTVW
LID V7SEES	DATOPADOCI VDEDEUT	PROJERRI	ADAGOGEEDBILTYW
	DATORADOGLYPEPPHI	PUQIFURL	ADAGOOCEDDILTUM
LIP 231011	DAIGPAPDGLVPEPFHI	PDQIFURL	ADASQGEFDFILIVW
LIP 230667	DATRPAPDGLVPEPFDT	LEDVFARL	ADASAGEFDEILTVW
MRP AF008585	NDSQPAPDKLVPLPSDS	VTDILARV	ADAG FAPVELVW
MRP AJ745080	NDSQPAPDKLVPLPSDS	VTDILARV	ADAG FAPVELVW
MnP A Y677128	PAVAPSPDLLVPEPFDS	VTKILARE	ADAG FSPDEVVA
MnP A Y677129	DATOPAPOLTVPEPFDT	VOSILERF	SDA GGFTPAEIVA
Map 730668	DATOPAPOLTYPEPEDT	VDSLIERE	SDA GGETPAELVA
Map Dec/93	DATOPAPOLITYPEPEDI	VDSILERE	SDA GGETPAELVA
	DATODADOL TVDEDEDD	VTVILADE	EDA CKETBAEVVA
MIF AJ/430/3	DATGAAPOLIVEEFFUD	VINILAR	CDA OVETDALUVA
MIP A 16//131	DAIRPAPULIVPEPPUU	VIRILARF	EUAGREIFAEVVA
MnP A 4677130	DATQPAPOLTVPEPFOO	VSKILARF	DDA GKFSSDEVVA
MnP AF102515	DATQPAPOLTVPEPFDD	VTKILARF	DDA GKF SSDEVVA
MnP 254279	DATQPAPDLTVPEPFDD	VTKILARF	DDA GKFSSDEVVA
MnP X77154	NATQPAPDKTIPEPFDT	VDSILARF	LDA ADF SPAEVVA
	240	220	220 240
	210		
Lip Zaness	LIVAHTVAAANDVDPTV	PGSPEDST	PEVWDTGEEVEVLLN
10 40150470	LIVANTVAAANDVDPTV	POSPEDST	PEYWDTGEEVEVIIN
LID MB1010	LIVAHTVAAANDVDDTV	POSPERST	PEYWOTOFFVEVIIN
	LIVALITUAAANDUBTI	DOCDERET	BEVWOTOEEVEVIIN
LIP X/5655	LLVAHIVAAANUVUFIV	PGSPFUSI	PEVIDIGFFVEVLLN
LIP M64953	LLIAHIVAAANDVDPTH	SGLPFDST	PELWDIGFFLEIGLK
LiP X75655	LLTAHTVAAANDVDPTH	SGLPFDST	PELWDIGFFLEIGLK
LiP 231011	LLTAHTVAAANDVDPTK	SGLPFDST	PELWDTQFFLETQLR
LIP 230667	LLTAHTIAATOHLDPTI	PGTPMDST	PHIWDTQFFIETQLR
MRP AF008585	MLISHTVAAQOKVDDSI	PGTPFDST	PSDFDAQFFVESMLN
MRP 4.1745080	MLISHTVAAQDKVDDSI	PGTPFDST	PSDFDAQFFVESMLN
MAP AVE77128	LLASHSVAAADHVDPT	PGTPEDST	ASSEDSQVEVEVLLR
Map AVE77128	LIVSHTTAAADHVDPS	PGTPEDST	PEEFDIGEELETOLR
Man 73077123		POTREDET	REFERTOFFICTOR
WITP ZJUBBE	LLVSHIIAAAANVUPSI	DOTREDET	RECENTORELETALB
MIP D86493	LLVSHIIAAAUHVUPSI	POTREDET	RELEDTOFFICIALS
MnP AJ745879	LLASHTIAAAHVOPTI	PGIPFDST	PELFOIGFFIEIGLK
MnP A Y677131	LLASHTIAAADHVDPT	PGTPFOST	PELFDTQFFIETQLR
MnP A Y677130	LLASHTIAAADHVDPT	PGTPFDST	PELFDTQFFIETQLR
MnP AF102515	LLVSHTIAAADHVDPTI	PGTPFDST	PELFDTQFFIETQLQ
MnP 254279	LLVSHTIAAADHVDPTI	PGTPFDST	PELFOTOFFIETOLO
MnP X77154	LLASHTIAAADEVDPTI	PGTPFDST	PELFDTQFFIETQLR
THE ATTENT			

Figure C.1 cont'd

Appendix C

	250	260 270	280
-	···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1
LiP 230666	GTTFPGTGDNQGEVAS	SPIAGEFRLQSDFAIARDSRSAC	EW
LIP AB158478	GTTFPGTGDNQGEVAS	IP IAGEFRLQSDFAIARDSRSAC	EW
LIP N81818	GTTFPGTGDNQGEVAS	PIAGEFRLQSDFAIARDSRSAG	EW
LiP X75655	GTTFPGTGDNQGEVAS	IP I AGEFRLQSDFAIARDSRSAC	EW
LIP M64993	GTSFPGSGGNQGEVES	PLAGEMRLQSDHT I ARD SRTAC	EW
LIP X75655	GTSFPGSGGNQGEVES	PLAGEMRLQSDHTIARDSRTAG	EW
LiP Z31011	GTSFPGSGGNQGEVES	PLAGEMRLQSDHTIARDSRTAG	EW
LiP 230667	GTAFPGTGGNHGEVMS	PLKGEIRLQTDHLLARDSRTSC	EW
MRP AF008585	GTLTPGSALHDGEVQS	PLPGEFRLQSDFLIGRDSRTSC	EW
MRP AJ745080	GTLTPGSALHDGEVOS	PLPGEFRLQSDFLIGRDSRTSC	EW
MnP AY577128	GTLFPGTAGNOGESKS	ALOGEIRLOSDNDVARDPRTAC	FW
MnP AY677129	GTLFPGTGGNQGEVES	PIRGEIRIOSOSFIARDSRTAC	EW
MnP 230668	GTL FPGTGGNQGEVES	PIRGEIRIOSOSEIARDSRTAC	EW
MAP DEG493	GTIEPGTGGNOGEVES	PIPCEIPIOSOSEIAPOSOTAC	EW
MpP A. 1745879	GTLEPGNGSNOGEVOS	PLOCEL PLOSDOLLAPDOPTAC	EW
MAP AVETT131	GTIEPONGENOGEVME	DI UCEI DI OCRACIADRADTAC	
MAD AVE77130	GTIEPONGSNOGEVMS	PINCEI DI OCNACIADDADTAC	EW
ManD AC102515	CT LEBONCENOCEVM	DI DOCIDI OCREI I ADREDTAC	EIN
NTIF AF 102313	GTL FFGNGSNGGEVMI	IFLKGEIKLQSUFLLARUSKIAG	E WW
WTF 2342/3	GILFFGNGSNQGEVMS	PLRGEIRLQSDFLLARUSRIAG	EW
WTP X//154	GIGFPGIAGNQGEVLS	PLPGEMRLQSDSELARDSRIAG	EW
	290	300 310	320
LIP 230666	QS F VD N QP K A QAMF Q F	VFHDLSIFGQDINSLVDCTEVV	PI
LIP A8158478	QSFVDNQPKAQAMFQF	VFHDLSIFGQDINSLVDCTEVV	PI
LIP M91818	QS F VD N Q P K A Q A M F Q F	FVFHDLSIFGQDINSLVDCTEVV	PI
LIP X75655	Q S F V D N Q P K A Q A M F Q F	VFHDLSIFGQDINSLVDCTEVV	P I
Lip M64993	QSF VDNQPKAQQMFQF	VFHDLSIFGQDINTLVDCTEVV	PI
LIP X75655	QSFVDNQPKAQQMFQF	VFHDLSIFGQDINTLVDCTEVV	PI
LiP Z31011	QSFVDNQPKAQQMFQF	VFHDLSIFGQDINTLVDCTEVV	PI
LiP 230667	QSFVNNQQKAQDMFAF	VFHDLSMLGQDPDSLIDCSELI	PQ
MRP AFODESES	QKMIADRANMLQKFEQ	TVLKL LGF SQSALTDGSDVI	PI
MRP AJ745080	QKMIADRANMLQKFEG	TVLKLSLLGFSQSALTDCSDVI	PI
MnP AY677128	QSFVGNQAKLQSAFRA	AMSKLAILGHNRRDLVDCSEVI	PI
MnP AY677129	QSEVNNQAKLQSAEKA	AFRKMTVLGHDESLLIECSELV	PT
MnP Z30668	QSEVNNQAKLQSAFKA	AFRKMTVLGHDESLLIEGSELV	PT
MnP D86493	OSEVNNOAKLOSAEKA	AFRKMTVLGHDESLLIEGSELV	PT
MnP AJ745879	QSEVNNQAKLQSAFKA	AFARMTVLGQNTRALIDCSDVV	PT
MnP A Y677131	QSEVNNQAKLQSAFKA	AFAKMTVLGQNTRELIDCSDVV	PT
MnP A Y677130	QSEVNNQAKLQSAFKA	AFAKMTVLGQNTRELIDCSDVV	PT
MnP AF102515	OSFVNNOVKLOSAFKA	AFRKMTILGSKEHNLIDGSDVV	PT
MnP 754279	OSEVNNOVKLOSAEKA	AFRKMTILGSKEHNLIDGSDVV	PT
MnP X77154	OSMUNNOSKMMTAFAA	AMAKLAVIGODVSOLIDCSEVI	PM
ATT ATT INT			
	222	240 250	200
	330	340 330	. 1
L IP 730666	PAPLOGYTHEPAGLTY	NDIDOPCVETPEPTLPTDPGPA	TS
LID AD160470	PAPLOCYTHEPACLTY	NDIDOPCVETPEPTI PTDPGPA	TS
LIP MB1818	PAPLOGYTHEPAGLTY	NDIDOPCVETPEPTLPTDPGPA	TS
LIP WOTOTO	BABLOCYTHERACITY	NO IDOPCVET PEPTI PTOPCPA	TE
LIP A/DECO	PARLOQUTUERACIEN	ADIEDACAETDEDTEDTDDCDK	TA
LIP WE4353	PADPQGHIHFFAGLSK	AD I COACACT DE DTE DTO DO CA	TA.
LIP X/3635	PADPOGUTUERAGLEN	ADIEGAGAETBEBTEBTBBCBK	TA
LIP 231011	FAUFUGHTHFFAGLSN	INDIE GROAFTERFITFITTER	TT
LIP 230667	PAPVIGKAHFPAGLTN	ADIE GAGADIPPPILPIDPGPK	++
MRP AF008585	AIGTVAUPFLPAGKTN	RADIERAGAAIPPPILSAASGPE	+ +
MRP AJ745080	ATGTVADPFLPAGKTN	ADIEAAGAAIPFPTLSAAPGPE	11
MnP A Y677128	PPPANTRAHIPAGLSR	RDIEQSCRQVPFPVLPVDAGPA	15
MnP A Y677129	PPPATSVAHFPAGLSN	ADVEQAGAETPFPTLPTDPGPV	TT
MnP Z30668	PPPATSVAHFPAGLSN	ADVEQACAETPFPTLPTDPGPV	TT
MnP D86493	PPPATSVAHFPAGLSN	ADVEQACADTPFPTLPTDPGPV	TT
MnP AJ745879	PPAPASKAHFPAGLSR	RDIEGACRATPFPTLPTDPGPV	TT
MnP AY677131	PPAPASAAHFPAGLTH	IRDVEQACRQTPFPALRTDPGPA	TS
MnP A 1677130	PPAPASAAHFPAGLTH	RDVEQACRQTPFPALRTDPGPA	TS
MnP AF102515	PPAPASKAHLPAGLTR	Q D V Q Q A C N K K A F P T L P T D P G P V	TS
MnP 254279	PPAPASKAHLPAGLTR	Q D V Q Q A C N K K A F P T L P T D P G P V	TS
MDP X77154	PPPPASAAHFPAGLSN	ADVEQACAETPFPTLQTDPGPE	TS

Figure C.1 cont'd





Figure C.2: Differences between biological replicates in expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase (Cat) by *T. versicolor* mycelia during self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* (TvHf) at 2 d. Data are normalised using GPD. Data are expressed as % transcript abundance relative to TvTv cDNA samples from each region. Bars are the mean of the three technical replicates \pm SEM. * indicates a significant (P ≤ 0.05) difference in expression between biological replicates.





Figure C.3: Differences between biological replicates in expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase (Cat) by *T. versicolor* mycelia during self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* (TvHf) at 2 d. Data are normalised using 18S rRNA. Data are expressed as % transcript abundance relative to TvTv cDNA samples from each region. Bars are the mean of the three technical replicates \pm SEM. * indicates a significant (P \leq 0.05) difference in expression between biological replicates.



Figure C.4: Expression of laccase, MRP, LiP and catalase (Cat) gene by *T. versicolor* mycelia in the A and B regions of self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fasciculare* (TvHf) at 2 d. Data were normalised to 18S rRNA. Bars are the mean data for two biological replicates, each consisting of three technical replicates, \pm SEM. Data are expressed as % transcript abundance relative to TvTv cDNA samples from each region. Statistical comparisons were made separately for each enzyme, within a region different letters indicate a significant difference (P ≤ 0.05).

Appendix D

Published work

FUNGAL ECOLOGY I (2008) 57-68



available at www.sciencedirect.com



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/funeco



Changes in volatile production during interspecific interactions between four wood rotting fungi growing in artificial media

Jennifer A. EVANS*, Catherine A. EYRE, Hilary J. ROGERS, Lynne BODDY, C.T. MÜLLER

Cardiff School of Biosciences, Cardiff University, Biomedical Building, Museum Avenue, Cardiff CF10 3US, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 13 February 2008 Received in revised form 26 June 2008 Accepted 27 June 2008 Published online 23 August 2008 Corresponding editor: Petr Baldrian

Keywords: VOC Basidiomycete Antagonism Terpenes GC/MS SPME fibres Semiochemicals

ABSTRACT

Effects of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) produced during interspecific mycelial interactions were examined by measuring extension rate of 'target' fungi growing in agar plates taped above two interacting mycelia - Bjerkandera adusta, Hypholoma fasciculare, Stereum gausapatum and Trametes versicolor in all combinations. Extension rates of T. versicolor, S. gausapatum and H. fasciculare above self-pairings were not significantly different (P > 0.05) to growth above agar controls, but the extension rate of B. adusta was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) greater. Extension rates of T. versicolor and B. adusta were often significantly greater above inter-specific interactions and above other species compared with growth above self or agar controls. VOC production was quantified and qualified, by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/MS), over the course of interactions with T. versicolor replacing S. gausapatum, deadlocking with B. adusta and replaced by H. fasciculare. VOC production was species- and interaction-specific. It varied over the time course of interactions, and changes in production were correlated with production of pigments in interactions involving S. gausapatum. VOCs included 3 monoterpenes, benzoic acid, alkenols of different chain lengths, two long-chain hydrocarbons and a quinolinium-like compound. Their possible roles are discussed.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd and The British Mycological Society. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Inter- and intra-specific interactions between wood-decay basidiomycetes are inevitable where their niches overlap (Rayner & Boddy 1988; Boddy 2000; Woodward & Boddy 2008). The outcome determines the size of territory held by a mycelium, and hence access to nutrients. It is a major driver of community change, and affects decay rate (Owens *et al.* 1994; Boddy 2000). Recognition as 'non-self' (where there is no mating compatibility) by basidiomycete mycelia triggers antagonistic responses including changes in colony morphology at the interaction zone (the area of physical contact between competing mycelia) and elsewhere, growth rate, and production and release of extracellular enzymes and secondary metabolites (Rayner & Boddy 1988; White & Boddy 1992; Griffith et al. 1994; Score et al. 1997). Effects commonly occur following mycelial contact, but sometimes also prior to contact (Schoeman et al. 1996; Wheatley et al. 1997; Savoie et al. 2001; Humphris et al. 2002). The drivers of this 'distance antagonism' are volatile and diffusible secondary chemicals, which may continue to function following mycelial contact. Whereas aqueous diffusion of secondary metabolites through the substratum could mediate local antagonism, production of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) could act over much greater distances (Rayner et al. 1994; Wheatley et al. 1997; Heilmann-Clausen & Boddy 2005).

* Corresponding author.

1754-5048/\$ – see front matter © 2008 Elsevier Ltd and The British Mycological Society. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2008.06.001

E-mail address: evansja7@cf.ac.uk (J.A. Evans).

All basidiomycetes probably constitutively produce profiles of VOCs from mycelium and fruit bodies (Fäldt et al. 1999; Wu et al. 2005), and these have been used chemotaxonomically and in the detection of fungi within food and building timber (Nilsson et al. 1996). VOC profiles are reproducible but dependent on several factors including substratum composition (Wheatley et al. 1997; Bruce et al. 2000; Wheatley 2002; Ewen et al. 2004), temperature (Tronsmo and Dennis 1978; Jelen 2002), pH (Chen et al. 1984) and growth stage (Nilsson et al. 1996; Fäldt et al. 1999; Jelen 2002; Wu et al. 2005). The VOC profile of a fungus may also alter qualitatively and/or quantitatively during interactions, depending on the combination of species involved (Griffith et al. 1994; de Jong and Field 1997; Hynes et al. 2007). However, it is not known how the profile alters during interactions having different outcomes. Basidiomycete VOC profiles comprise a diverse range of chemical classes, including alcohols, aldehydes, ketones, terpenes and aromatic compounds (Maga 1981; Sunesson et al. 1995; Nilsson et al. 1996; Breheret et al. 1997; Wheatley et al. 1997; Rosecke et al. 2000; Humphris et al. 2001; Humphris et al. 2002; Ewen et al. 2004). Each of these chemical classes contains compounds with known antifungal activity, perhaps most notably the sesquiterpenes of which many have antifungal properties and are involved in the defence responses of both plants and fungi (Stadler & Sterner 1998; Fäldt et al. 1999; Abraham 2001; Chenget al. 2005). The antagonistic potential of the VOC profile of a fungus depends on the constituent chemicals, their relative amounts, and the susceptibility of the combatant. VOCmediated effects during interactions are subtle, and are often manifested as changes in extension rate or enzyme activity (Strobel et al. 2001), and effects can be stimulatory as well as inhibitory (Dick & Hutchinson 1966; Schoeman et al. 1996; Mackie & Wheatley 1999).

VOC profiles of individual fungi can change over time, as can those produced during the time course of interactions (Griffith et al. 1994; Wu et al. 2005; Hynes et al. 2007). Following mycelial contact between the basidiomycetes Hypholoma fasciculare and Resinicium bicolor, 10 VOCs were identified that were not detected in single-species controls (Hynes et al. 2007). The majority of the VOCs identified were sesquiterpenoids, perhaps further indicating a defensive role of VOCs, since many sesquiterpenes are known to have antifungal activity or roles in plant defence (Rostelien et al. 2000; Viiri et al. 2001; Hynes et al. 2007).

This study aims to determine whether the VOC profile of a species changes when faced with different antagonists, during interactions with different outcomes. Effects of VOCs were examined by measuring extension rate of 'test' fungi in agar plates taped above two interacting mycelia - Bjerkandera adusta, H. fasciculare, Stereum gausapatum and Trametes versicolor in all combinations. These species would be likely to encounter each other in the natural environment, and during interaction with T. versicolor result in different outcomes. VOC production was quantified and qualified, by solid-phase microextraction followed by analysis using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC/MS), over the course of interactions with T. versicolor replacing S. gausapatum, deadlocking with B. adusta and replaced by H. fasciculare. Determining which of the interacting pair produces which volatiles is, of course, not possible.

Materials and methods

Fungal cultures

Strains of the wood-decay basidiomycetes T. versicolor (CvD2), S. gausapatum (Sg1), H. fasciculare (HfGTWV2) and B. adusta (Bk1), from Cardiff University culture collection, were maintained on 0.5 % (w/v) malt agar (MA; 5 g Munton & Fison spray malt, 15 g Lab M agar no. 2 per litre distilled water) in 9 cm plastic non-vented Petri dishes, incubated upside down at 20 °C in the dark.

Effect of VOCs produced during inter-specific interactions on mycelial extension rate

Paired interactions of T. versicolor (Tv), S. gausapatum (Sg), B. adusta (Ba) and H. fasciculare (Hf) were set up on 0.5 % MA in all combinations. Agar plugs (6 mm diam.), cut from the actively growing mycelial margin, were inoculated face down on the agar 30 mm away from a competitor. Fungi were inoculated at the same time except for H. fasciculare that was added 2 d before its competitor, to ensure that mycelia were of similar size when they met. Five days after the mycelia had met, the Petri dish lid was discarded and the plate attached to a lidless dish containing 0.5 % MA, onto which a single plug of a target species had been freshly inoculated. This method was used successfully in the past to examine effects of VOCs produced by single species (Dick and Hutchinson 1966; Schoeman et al. 1996; Wheatley et al. 1997; Mumpuni et al. 1998; Mackie and Wheatley 1999; Humphris et al. 2002; Stinson et al. 2003).

Dishes were attached using masking tape and incubated in the dark at 20 °C. The dish bearing the interaction was always placed on the bottom (i.e. below the plate bearing the target species) to eliminate the possibility of diffusibles dripping down onto the target species. All species involved in the interactions were also used as target species. Extension of the target species was measured daily, until growth was 10 mm from the edge of the plate, by taking two measurements of colony diameter at 90° to each other. Controls consisted of (1) the target species inoculated onto a sterile agar plate; and (2) selfpairings of the target species. Five replicates were made.

Interspecific interaction systems for VOC analysis

The method followed Hynes *et al.* (2007). In brief, ReacsynTM fermentation vessels (BioDiversity, Enfield, UK) – compartmentalised polypropylene bottles that allow sampling of both the headspace and the growth medium – were used. Mycelia were grown on a FluorporeTM membrane (1 μ m pore size; Millipore, Watford, Kent, UK) on top of a porous polypropylene/polyester support, which rested on the surface of 35 ml 0.5 % malt extract broth (Lab M MC23 malt extract). The growth chamber was stoppered with a gas permeable polyurethane foam bung which was removed to aerate the chamber, and through which sampling apparatus was inserted.

T. versicolor was paired in triplicate with either S. gausapatum, B. adusta or H. fasciculare by inoculating 6 mm diam. agar plugs 20 mm apart on the membrane. Self-pairings were also made. T. versicolor and S. gausapatum were also inoculated as single plugs, in three replicates. A vessel containing only malt broth was included in the analysis to identify any nonfungal volatiles present. Vessels were incubated at 20 °C in the dark, held in racking trays.

Sampling VOCs

Sampling times were guided by Hynes et al. (2007) and a preliminary experiment. For the T. versicolor and S. gausapatum interaction (and all related control treatments), volatiles were sampled after 1, 3, 6, 11 and 19 d. Mycelial contact was made after 5 d. Based on the results of this experiment, sampling after 1 and 19 d was omitted for the treatments involving B. adusta and H. fasciculare.

Headspace VOCs were collected by solid-phase microextraction (SPME), a method previously used successfully with fungi (Nilsson et al. 1996; Fäldt et al. 1999; Jelen 2003; Demyttenaere et al. 2004; Ewen et al. 2004; Hynes et al. 2007). A 100 μ m PDMS fibre (Supelco, Poole, Dorset, UK) was used at 20 ± 5 °C. At the start of each sampling day the SPME fibre was conditioned according to manufacturers' instructions (1 h at 250 °C), followed by a fibre blank run. Prior to sampling, the inoculated ReacsynTM vessels were flushed to clear them of any accumulated volatiles or plasticiser by removal of the foam bung within a sterile laminar flow system for 10 min (following Hynes et al. 2007). The vessel was then removed from the laminar flow, the SPME fibre was inserted through the bung and exposed to the headspace of the inner chamber. After 1 h the fibre was withdrawn and immediately injected into the GC/MS.

GC/MS analysis of volatiles

Volatile profiles were resolved using a gas chromatograph containing a 30 m VF23ms polar column (0.25 mm ID, 0.25 μ m film thickness; Varian, Palo Alto, CA, USA), with helium at 55 kPa acting as a carrier gas. The column was coupled to a quadrupole mass spectrometer in Electron Impact (EI) mode working from *m*/z 35 to 400 with a source temperature of 200 °C and interface temperature of 280 °C. Compounds were desorbed for 2 min at 220 °C in a split/splitless injection port, working in splitless mode. Analysis was performed using the temperature programme: start 45 °C, increasing by 3 °C min⁻¹ until 200 °C, then 5 min at 200 °C.

As no internal standard could be used, a terpene mixture of known concentration was used as an external standard to assess machine performance. A terpene mixture was appropriate because the profile of volatile compounds emitted from interacting fungi was expected to contain sesquiterpenes. The mixture consisted of (1R)-fenchone, (1S)-verbenone and α -humulene, each at a concentration of 0.5 mg ml⁻³ in hexane solvent. The terpene standard (1 µl) was injected by an auto-sampler into the injection port at 220 °C with the machine working in split mode. The temperature programme used to resolve the mixture was: 40 °C for 5 min, ramping to 250 °C at 4.5 °C min⁻¹. The mass spectrometer scan was widened to m/z 28–400, with a 2 min solvent delay at the start of each run to avoid damage by copious amounts of hexane.

Peaks of interest were integrated using Masslab v1.4 (Thermofinnigan, Manchester, UK). The terpene run for each sampling day was used to calibrate machine performance by comparison of the total area of all peaks present in each sample. The ratio of the three peaks (corresponding to the three

terpenes contained in the mixture) was consistent in every standard run, so the total integrated area was comparable. As the same quantity of terpene standard was injected on each day, any differences in the total area of integrated peaks were attributable to changes in machine performance, and experimental peak areas were adjusted accordingly, and designated 'terpene adjusted units' (TAU). However, for the treatments involving *B. adusta* and *H. fasciculare*, terpene standards were not used so an internal calibration was performed by standarising chromatograms to a malt control peak at RT 12.1 min, with peak areas designated 'malt adjusted units' (MAU). These have been included as rough values only to show qualitative rather than quantitative changes.

Identifications of the peaks of interest were made by comparison of mass spectra with library entries (National Institute of Standards and Technology v2.1 mass spectral database) and retention times. However, these are putative identifications only as absolute identification would require preparation of individual reference compounds which is beyond the scope of this work.

Statistical analysis

Radial extension rate was determined as the slope of a linear regression of extension versus time. Comparisons of daily radial extension rates were performed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer *a* posteriori analysis (Minitab v14). The evolution of each volatile produced by S. gausapatum or the TvSg interaction (as peak area, in TAU, over time) was compared by one-way ANOVA (Minitab v14) of the area under the curve as determined by KaleidaGraph software (Synergy Software, Reading, PA, USA). Evolution of each volatile produced during interactions involving B. adusta and H. fasciculare (as peak area, in MAU) was compared using one-way ANOVA or two-way t-tests (Minitab v14).

Results

Effect of VOCs produced during interactions on extension rates of target fungi

There was no significant difference (P > 0.05) between the extension rates for T. versicolor, S. gausapatum and H. fasciculare, respectively, when grown above self-paired controls compared to growth over agar (Table 1). However, the extension rate of B. adusta was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) greater when growing above its own self-pairing. T. versicolor extended significantly ($P \le 0.05$) faster when grown above the self-pairings of S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare, and interacting mycelia of T. versicolor and B. adusta. Growth of S. gausapatum and H. fasciculare was generally not affected by the interaction plates, although in two instances there were significant ($P \le 0.05$) differences in extension rate when compared with

Table 1 – Effects of VOCs produce	ed by interactions on th	he growth of four 'target' s	species	
Interaction plate	Contraction and the second	Percentage change in gro	owth of 'target' species	
	T. versicolor	S. gausapatum	B. adusta	H. fasciculare
Agar	$6.1 \mathrm{mm}\mathrm{d}^{-1}$	5.2 mm d ⁻¹	$9.4 \mathrm{mm} \mathrm{d}^{-1}$	$2.5 \mathrm{mm} \mathrm{d}^{-1}$
T. versicolor vs T. versicolor	100	99	104	100
S. gausapatum vs S. gausapatum	108 ^a	102	109	102
B. adusta vs B. adusta	107 ^a	100	111 ^a	102
H. fasciculare vs H. fasciculare	107 ^a	98	98 ^b	100
T. versicolor vs S. gausapatum	99	99	105	105 ^b
T. versicolor vs B. adusta	107 ^a	102	103 ^b	103
T. versicolor vs H. fasciculare	99	100	98 ^b	103
S. gausapatum vs B. adusta	99	103	98 ^b	103
S. gausapatum vs H. fasciculare	101	100	97 ^b	103
B. adusta vs H. fasciculare	102	96 ⁶	98 ^b	97

Changes in extension rate are expressed as percentages relative to the agar control.

a Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) to the agar control.

b Significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) to the respective self-pairing.

growth above their self-pairings, but not when compared with agar alone. S. gausapatum extension rate decreased over B. adusta paired with H. fasciculare, while that of H. fasciculare was greater when grown above T. versicolor paired with S. gausapatum. Over half of the interactions tested were associated with a significant ($P \le 0.05$) decrease in extension rate of B. adusta when compared to its self-pairing but not compared to agar alone.

General observations on morphology and VOC production during interspecific interactions

In all three interspecific interactions, mycelial morphology changed following contact. Mycelia met after 3 d in agar culture, or 5 d after inoculation into Reacsyn™ vessels. Mycelial barrages formed at the interaction zone in T. versicolor vs S. gausapatum (TvSg) and T. versicolor vs B. adusta (TvBa) 1 d after mycelia had met, but later in T. versicolor vs H. fasciculare (TvHf). A bright yellow-orange pigment was present in the agar in the interaction zone in TvSg just after contact, but no pigmentation developed in TvBa, and did not occur until later stages in TvHf, after VOC sampling had finished (Fig 1). Morphology and VOC profiles were generally qualitatively consistent between replicates. VOC peaks have been designated numbers based on their order of elution, including compounds present in the malt broth (Tables 2 and 3), and these have putative identifications (Table 4).

VOCs in malt control

Four VOCs were detected in the malt broth control, with average retention times of 12.1, 24.2, 26.9 and 34.7 min (Peaks 1, 20, 24 and 29; Tables 2 and 3). Preliminary identifications suggest they are plasticisers emitted by the Reacsyn^M vessels: dibutylbenzene (molecular weight $[M_w]$ 190), dimethylbenzaldehyde (M_w 135), a long-chain hydrocarbon of M_w 168 (possibly dodecene) and bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-phenol (M_w 206; Table 4).

VOCs from T. versicolor growing alone (Tv) and self-pairing (TvTv)

No VOCs specific to *T. versicolor* were detected during sampling, with the exception of one VOC (Peak 26) produced by Tv after 19 d. This peak was not present in TvTv (Table 2). Otherwise, both Tv and TvTv profiles were identical to those from the malt control.

S. gausapatum growing alone (Sg), in self-pairing (SgSg) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvSg)

There were no qualitative or quantitative differences in the VOC profile of Sg compared with SgSg, hence single inocula were omitted in subsequent experiments (Table 2). Five VOCs specific to S. gausapatum were detected (Table 2). Peak 8 (RT 16.58 min), putatively identified as methylbenzoate or anisaldehyde (M_w 136), and Peak 9 (RT 17.13 min), a benzaldehyde-containing compound, were present sporadically in all treatments containing S. gausapatum. Peak 22 (RT 26.47 min), dimethylbenzoic acid, methyl ester-, was the largest S. gausapatum-specific peak present after 3 d. The related compound methoxybenzoic acid, methyl ester- (Mw 166; Peak 28; RT 31.1 min) was present from 6 d onwards in Sg and SgSg, but only at the 6 d sampling in TvSg. Peaks 25 and 26, both putative long-chain alkenols, were detected in Sg after 1 d, but were present in larger quantities in other interactions (see below).

Eight VOCs specific to TvSg were detected (Table 2) following mycelial contact and pigment production. Six of these were detected after 6 d: Peak 2, another isomer of dibutylbenzene (different to Peak 1; M_w 190); Peak 3, 5-methyl,1,3cyclohexadiene (M_w 94); Peak 6, identified generally as having an aromatic structure, of which Peak 12 is an isomer; Peak 10, bearing a strong similarity to α -myrcene (M_w 136); and Peak 16, which was too small for identification. A further two VOCs were detected after 11 d: Peaks 15 and 19, which were both too small to allow confident identification. Peaks 8, 9 and 22, detected in Sg and SgSg, were also detected in

Changes in volatile production



Fig 1 – Interactions involving Trametes versicolor (left) against: a, S. gausapatum; b, Bjerkandera adusta; and c, Hypholoma fasciculare 4 d after mycelia had met.

TvSg but at significantly lower concentrations. Peak 9 was unusual as its total production in Sg was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) lower than in TvSg. Peak 25, a putative alkenol, was also present in the VOC profile of Sg, HfHf, TvHf, BaBa and TvBa, and appears in TvSg after 6 d only.

B. adusta self-pairing (BaBa) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvBa)

Five VOCs were specific to B. adusta (Table 3): Peak 4, an alkene; Peak 17, an alkenol; Peaks 18, 21 and 31 were present at too low a concentration to be confidently identified. Peak 32 was possibly a plasticiser contaminant (bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate). Peaks 25 and 26, both alkenols, and Peak 27 – a monoterpene, putatively carene, were also present but not specific to B. adusta, also being found particularly in interactions involving H. fasciculare. One VOC specific to the TvBa interaction was detected following mycelial contact: Peak 23 (RT 26.52 min, but too small for identification) in two replicates at 6 d declining considerably by 11 d (Table 3).

H. fasciculare self-pairings (HfHf) and interacting with T. versicolor (TvHf)

Five H. fasciculare-specific VOCs were detected (Table 3): Peak 5, either methylbenzoate or an isomer of the anisaldehyde occuring in TvSg Peak 8; Peak 7, an alkane with at least a C_7 chain length; Peak 11, a monoterpene or derivative; Peak 30, a quinolinium-type compound with a distinctive spectral pattern at m/z 302; Peak 13 – too small for identification. Peaks 25, 26 and 27 were present in H. fasciculare profiles though not specifically, also being present in the profiles of *B. adusta* and TvSg. No VOCs were specific to TvHf.

Changes in VOC profiles over time

VOC concentrations usually increased and then declined as interactions proceeded (Table 2 and 3). Of the interactionspecific VOCs produced in TvSg, maximal production was at 11 d (Peaks 2, 3, 6, 10, 12, 15, 19 and 25) with none detectable by 19 d (with the exception of Peak 2 and Peak 25 which peak at 6 d). The S. gausapatum-specific VOCs (Peaks 8, 22, and 28) declined but did not disappear by 19 d in Sg and SgSg (Table 2). There was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in total VOC evolution of S. gausapatum-specific compounds Peaks 8, 22 and 28 between Sg and SgSg. However, for Peaks 22 and 28 there was a significant decrease in the total evolution by TvSg. In BaBa and TvBa, Peaks 16 and 18 declined dramatically between 3 d and 6 d (Table 3). For HfHf Peaks 5 and 11 occurred at a significantly ($P \le 0.05$) different (higher) concentration at the later sampling day, while for TvHf Peaks 5, 11 and 27 increased significantly ($P \le 0.05$) between 3 d and 6 d. Only three B. adusta-specific VOCs were still detectable at 11 d in TvBa (Peaks 4, 14 and 23), and only two (Peaks 5 and 11) out of the six (Peaks 5, 7, 11, 13, 27 and 30) H. fasciculare-specific VOCs were detectable at 11 d (Fig 2).

The malt extract Peaks 20 and 24 declined in the controls and all treatments over the course of the experiment (Table 3). The total evolution of malt Peak 29 also significantly ($P \le 0.05$) decreased relative to the controls in TvSg (Table 2), and also decreased over sampling days in BaBa, TvBa, and TvHf. In contrast, there was no change in malt Peak 1 in the presence of fungi, except in TvSg where there was a significant ($P \le 0.05$) increase between 6 d and 11 d.

Discussion

Species specificity

The study highlights the species-specific nature of both volatile production and susceptibility to non-self VOCs. For example, there was no detectable change in VOC profile during interactions between T. versicolor and H. fasciculare, and only one interaction-specific VOC (too small to be identified) was produced during the interaction between T. versicolor and B. adusta. Nor did the quantity of species-specific VOCs produced differ between intra- and inter-specific pairings of these species. In contrast, following mycelial contact between T. versicolor and S. gausapatum, eight interaction-specific VOCs were identified. No VOCs specific to T. versicolor were detected in any of the interactions, whereas the other species

contro	ols																									
Peak	RT			Tv			2		TvT	`v				Sg	ş		10.2		SgS	g				TvS	g	
no.	(min)	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19
1 ^a	12.1	54	25 (4)	31	35	23	35	21	26	25	14	4 3 (14)	27	31	27	41	39	36	38	31	61	34	27	79	136	23
2	13.1	*	*	•	•	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	•	*	*	19	7	*
3	13.6			•			•	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	(1) 146	(2) 175	•
6	15.0		•	•				•	•				•	*										(45) 98	(94) 478	
8	16.6													14	8				14			•		(27) •	(60) 11	
9	17.1			• -								9 (2)		(2)	(2)				(5) °						(1) 18	
10	19.3																							41	(8) 59	
12	20.4										•				•				•	•	*			(12) 30	(32) 232	
15	21.3											•	•			*		•						(7) *	(44) 9	
16	21.8								+															14	(3) *	
19	23.8				*																			(5) *	8 (1)	
20ª	24.2	133	145	52	49	28	98	128	24	35	20	106	88	92	18	9	70	92	61	15	14	109	121	45	17	7
22	26.5	(42) *	(20)	(12)	(2)	(4)	(20)	(12) *	(6) *	(5)	(3)	(0)	(17) 11	(24) 140	(6) 99	(0) 41	(31) *	(16) 22	(15) 156	(2) 76	(1) 42	(30)	(24) 7	(6) 27	(/) 16	(1)
24ª	26.9	189	152	96	90	75	137	116	70	59	52	165	(1) 135	(18) 146	(11) 95	(3) 59	243	(1) 173	(50) 141	(11) 88	(13) 72	82	(3) 133	(7) 101	(7) 99	58
25	28.8	(90) *	(31)	(17)	(19) *	(14) *	(55)	(21)	(8)	(31)	(8)	(0) 4 (1)	(22) *	(23) *	(29) *	(4) *	(205)	(53)	(51)	(5) •	(15)	(62) *	(26)	(23) 5	(13)	(3)
26	29.3					9 (2)		*				5 (3)							*				*	(3)		
28	31.1	•	*	*	•		•			•	*	*	•	9 (2)	24 (5)	26 (3)	•	*	13	30	27	•		8 (1)	•	•
29ª	34.7	15 (7)	6 (1)	•	•	*	5 (2)	6 (2)	•	•	•	•	7 (1)	4 (1)	13 (0)	•	• • •	8 (3)	(1) 11 (10)	*	*	9 (3)	5 (1)	5 (3)	*	•

Table 2 - Comparison of the evolution of fungal volatiles over time for the interaction between Trametes versicolor (Tv) and Stereum gausapatum (Sg) and their single-species

* = Not detected.

Peak areas for each volatile given in Terpene Adjusted Units (TAU), standard error of the means are given in parentheses. Identifications of peaks are given in Table 4. a Present in malt control treatments.

Changes in volatile production

species co	omparison ontrols	of the evol	ution of fu	ngai volati	les over th	ne for the	Interactio	is detweel	n I. Versico	lor (IV) and	i Bjerkana	era aausti	а (ва) от н	. jasciculi	ire (HI), an	a single-
Peak no.	RT (min)	Ba	Ba		TvBa		Hi	Hf		TvHf		and the		Malt bla	nk	
		Day 3	Day 6	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 3	Day 6	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 1	Day 3	Day 6	Day 11	Day 19
1 ^a	12.1	48 (4)	48 (4)	51 (9)	51 (9)	51	67 (26)	67 (26)	67 (15)	67 (15)	67	39	17	16	38	31
4	13.7	12 (0.4)	6 (1)	13 (5)	11 (5)	2							*		•	
5	14.0		•	•			4 (2)	17 (6)	4 (1)	16 (5)	9	•		•		
7	15.1	* E.						6 (2)		6 (2)	•					
11	19.6				+		0.5 (0.3)	9 (5)	0.4 (0)	8 (1)	34					
13	20.6		*				*	0.8 (0)	+	0.6 (0.6)		•		+		
14	20.6	2 (0.4)	1 (0.3)	1 (0.7)		5										
17	22.0	3 (0.2)	0.2 (0)	2 (0.2)	0.7 (0.6)											
18	23.1	3 (0.1)	1 (0.3)	3 (0.5)	1 (0.7)					*						+
20 ^a	24.2	157 (6)	309 (30)	258 (65)	252 (56)	99	193 (68)	193 (53)	276 (68)	159 (29)	94	51	53	31	87	63
21	26.2	2 (0.2)		2 (0.4)						*						
23	26.5			*	4 (2)	1	+			•		•				
24 ^a	26.9	236 (21)	175 (30)	261 (38)	174 (37)	169	256 (99)	206 (61)	336 (84)	207 (53)	172	69	134	132	272	135
25	28.8	19 (10)		18 (4)			7 (3)	12 (3)	22 (16)	9 (1)	*					
26	29.3	6 (6)		24 (4)			11 (3)	15 (5)	5 (3)	10 (4)						
27	30.7		2 (1)	+	2 (1)		2 (0.3)	4 (2)	1 (0.5)	7 (0.6)						+
29 ^a	34.7	28 (3)	5 (0.8)	22 (2)	5 (1)	5	17 (6)	17 (9)	24 (7)	8 (1)	8		11	10	42	6
30	35.1	*	*	*			4 (2)		1 (0)	8 (0)						
31	39.7		16 (7)		2 (1)					*						
32	47.3	39 (38)		0.2 (0.1)	0.7 (0.6)											

* = Not detected.

Peak areas for each volatile are given in Malt Adjusted Units (MAU), with the exception of the malt control where Terpene Adjusted Units (TAU) are used. Standard error of the means are given in parentheses, except for day 11 of BaBa, TvBa, HfHf and TvHf where only one replicate was performed. Identifications of peaks are given in Table 4. a Present in malt control treatments.

Peak no.	Putative identifie	cation		Treatments present in				
	Name	Formula	Mw					
1 ^a	Dibutylbenzene	C14H22	190	Malt control				
2	Isomer of (1)	C14H22	190	TvSg				
3	5-Methyl, 1, 3-cyclohexadiene	C7H10	94	TvSg				
4	PDMS contamination	-		BaBa, TvBa				
5	Methylbenzoate OR anisaldehyde	C ₈ H ₈ O ₂	136	HfHf, TvHf				
6	Aromatic	?	204?	TvSg				
7	Alkane, at least C7	C7+	99+	HfHf, TvHf				
8	Methylbenzoate OR anisaldehyde isomer of (5)	C ₈ H ₈ O ₂	136	Sg, SgSg, TvSg				
9	Benzaldehyde structure	?	?	Sg, TvSg				
10	a-Myrcene	C10H16	136	TvSg				
11	Monoterpene or derivative	C10H16	136	HfHf, TvHf				
12	Isomer of (6)	?	204?	TvSg				
13	Peaks too small	-	-	HfHf, TvHf				
14	Alkene	C_nH_{2n}	128+	BaBa, TvBa				
15	Peaks too small		-	TvSg				
16	Peaks too small		-	TvSg				
17	Alkenol	C _n H _{2n} O	140+	BaBa, TvBa				
18	Peaks too small	-	-	BaBa, TvBa				
19	Peaks too small	-	-	TvSg				
20 ^a	Dimethylbenzaldehyde	C ₉ H ₁₀ O	135	Malt control				
21	Peaks too small	-	-	BaBa, TvBa				
22	Dimethylbenzoic acid, methyl ester-	C ₁₀ H ₁₂ O ₂	164	Sg, SgSg, TvSg				
23	Peaks too small	-	-	TvBa				
24ª	Alkene, at least C12	C ₁₂ +	168+	Malt control				
25	Alkenol	C _n H _{2n} O	168+	Sg, TvSg, BaBa, TvBa, HfHf, TvHf				
26	Alkenol	C _n H _{2n} O	168+	Tv, Sg, BaBa, TvBa, HfHf, TvHf				
27	Monoterpene (possibly carene)	C10H16	136	HfHf, TvHf, BaBa, TvBa				
28	Methoxybenzoic acid, methyl ester-	?	166	Sg, SgSg, TvSg				
29 ^a	Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1-dimethyl)	C14H22O	206	Malt control				
30	Quinolinium-type compound	?	?	HfHf, TvHf				
31	Peaks too small		-	BaBa, TvBa				
32	Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (plasticiser)	C24H38O4	390	BaBa, TvBa				

a Present in malt control treatments.

examined produced at least five species-specific VOCs both during self-pairings and during interactions. It is unlikely that T. versicolor is responsible for the production of any of the 11 VOCs produced during interaction with S. gausapatum as none of these VOCs recur in pairings between T. versicolor and other species. We conclude that any volatile-mediated antagonism produced by T. versicolor is occurring through compounds, or at concentrations, undetectable by the present system. Lack of production of VOCs does not appear to be related to combative ability, as T. versicolor is more combative than the VOC-producing S. gausapatum, but less combative than the VOC-producing H. fasciculare.

Relationship between pigmentation and VOC production

The concurrent production of interaction-specific VOCs and pigments in the medium, as seen here in interactions involving S. gausapatum, has been reported previously for interactions between *H. fasciculare* and *R. bicolor* (Hynes *et al.* 2007). Pigment production occurs concurrent with production of aerial mycelium in P. radiata, and also in response to chemical stress; possibly as a result of a shift in metabolism (Griffith et al. 1994). Production of VOCs may be stimulated by pigment production, or be a by-product of the process, or simply correlated with aspects of secondary metabolism, including production of diffusible organic compounds. Pigmentation is not a prerequisite for VOC production, and did not occur during interactions involving B. adusta, even though VOCs were abundant. With H. fasciculare, pigmentation only appeared during later stages of interactions, after VOC sampling had finished. This contrasts with a previous study (Hynes et al. 2007) where a different isolate of H. fasciculare produced a yellow pigment immediately after mycelial contact had been established with R. bicolor. Pigmentation of H. fasciculare mycelium, and of agar on which it is growing, varies considerably between strains (T.D. Rotheray, unpublished data).

Antagonism at a distance and temporal changes

While there is clearly long-distance signalling, as evidenced by changes in extension rates in the double plate experiment, no gross morphological changes were evident nor interactionspecific volatiles produced prior to mycelial contact. The latter concurs with the previous study on VOCs produced during

Changes in volatile production





interactions between R. bicolor and H. fasciculare (Hynes et al. 2007). However, in view of the numerous reports of antagonism at a distance (Boddy 2000; Woodward & Boddy 2008), it seems extremely unlikely that this is always the case. Indeed, even in the interactions in the current study other VOCs may be present, and possibly produced prior to mycelial contact. SPME fibre-coatings differ in their detection limits for specific compounds – the PDMS fibre-coating used in the present study was chosen as it is especially good at absorbing terpenes, known to be involved in fungal interactions (Hynes et al. 2007). A much wider range of VOCs might be revealed using additional sampling devices and analytical approaches (Ewen et al. 2004).

The general pattern of VOC production suggests an increase with mycelial volume, with a decrease by later samplings. The decrease may be due to limited nutrients or space, but equally may reflect the stage of the interaction. Thus, cessation in production of both S. gausapatum- and interaction-specific VOCs by 19 d in TvSg correlates with complete replacement of the former by T. versicolor. The general trend of decrease in malt extract peaks in all combinations implies degradation of these compounds by the fungi. White rot fungi are known to be able to degrade a wide range of chemicals including plastics (Sutherland et al. 1997). The single exception to this trend – the increase in dibutylbenzene (Peak 1) in TvSg relative to the malt control – may result from fungal production, as a different isomer of dibutylbenzene (Peak 2) is also produced during the interaction.

Function of VOCs

Although the majority of VOCs produced during interaction between H. fasciculare and R. bicolor in a previous study were sesquiterpenes (Hynes et al. 2007), in the present study only three monoterpenes were identified: a-myrcene (Peak 10) specific to the TvSg interaction; putative carene (Peak 27) common to both B. adusta and H. fasciculare; and a putative monoterpene (Peak 11) specific to H. fasciculare. Terpenes are ecologically significant, in some cases possessing antifungal activity which could constitute an antagonistic mechanism during fungal interactions (Viiri et al. 2001). The effect of monoterpenes on fungal growth varies. Carene and myrcene in the volatile phase are known to inhibit Heterobasidion and Leptographium species, and the terpene-rich volatiles from tomato leaves inhibit the phytopathogens Alternaria alternata and Botrytis cinerea (Hamilton-Kemp et al. 1992; Zamponi et al. 2006). However, terpene mixtures characteristic of conifer wood stimulate the growth of conifer-pathogenic fungi (Gao et al. 2005).

The biological functions of several of the other VOCs identified are known. Many are scent compounds, including benzoic acid derivatives (Peaks 22 & 28) – components of the volatile oil of sage, and of the Agaricus blazei volatile fraction (Stijve et al. 2002). Benzoic acid methyl ester (Peak 28), another VOC identified from S. gausapatum, is part of the volatile profile of Tricholoma matsutake (pine mushroom; Cho et al. 2007). Several VOCs were identified as alkenols of different chain lengths (Peaks 17, 25 and 26), and two long-chain hydrocarbons were putatively identified (Peaks 7 and 14). Alkenols are common fungal VOCs. 1-Octen-3-ol is responsible for the characteristic mushroom odour (Ziegenbein *et al.* 2006), while undecanal and 2-decen-1-ol are components of the VOC profile of chicory, which has antifungal activity (Bais *et al.* 2003). The production of the same alkenol peaks in cultures of different species indicates these are general fungal VOCs. They could thus play a role in alerting fungi to the presence of foreign mycelia.

Whilst the nature of Peaks 5 and 8 could not be elucidated further than either methylbenzoate or isomers of anisaldehyde, both have interesting implications. Methylbenzoate is also found in the VOC profile of the brown-rot basidiomycete Coniophora puteana, and its derivatives are known to possess antifungal activity (Woodward et al. 1993; Wolf 1951). Anisaldehyde was one of the most abundant VOCs produced by cultures of six species of the basidiomycete Pleurotus spp., and was produced by cultures of Ischnoderma benzoinum, Clitocybe odora, Lentinellus cochleatus and Agaricus essettei (Berger et al. 1987; Gutierrez et al. 1994; Rapior et al. 2002). Thought to act as a redox-cycling agent for hydrogen peroxide production, anisaldehyde could play several roles in the highly metabolically active interaction zone, or in long-distance signalling of the presence of another mycelium (Guillen & Evans 1994).

The quinolinium-like compound identified from H. fasciculare (Peak 30) was also produced during interactions between H. fasciculare (a different isolate from that used in the present study) and R. bicolor (Hynes et al. 2007). Quinolinium compounds, and the related quinolines, have high antifungal activity, e.g. the quinoline alkaloid viridicatin produced by Penicillium sp., and some have been used to drive development of commercial fungicides (Bringmann et al. 1997). Moreover, fungi can also degrade a variety of quinoline-type compounds (Kaiser et al. 1996).

Clearly, a variety of fungal metabolites, with equally diverse ecological functions, are produced both constitutively and during interactions by wood-decay fungi. These compounds have potential roles as antifungal volatile chemical weaponry or 'infochemicals'. Increased extension rate in response to non-self VOCs may be an example of the latter, and may have evolved to maximise the territory possessed by a mycelium before contact with an opponent. The increased extension rate of *B. adusta* when exposed to the VOCs produced by a self-pairing of itself could function as a competitive response towards other mycelia, or a signal of a potential mate, or of a larger 'self' colony.

Acknowledgements

We thank the Natural Environment Research Council for provision of studentships (JAE and CAE), Mike O'Reilly for help with GCMS, and Juliet Hynes for technical advice.

REFERENCES

Abraham WR, 2001. Bioactive sesquiterpenes produced by fungi: are they useful for humans as well? Current Medicinal Chemistry 8: 583–606.

- Bais HP, Dattatreya BS, Ravishankar GA, 2003. Production of volatile compounds by hairy root cultures of Cichorium intybus L. under the influence of fungal elicitors and their analysis using solid-phase microextraction gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 83: 769-774.
- Berger RG, Neuhauser K, Drawert F, 1987. Biotechnological production of flavour compounds. III. High productivity fermentation of volatile flavours using a strain of Ischnoderma benzoinum. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 30: 987–990.
- Boddy L, 2000. Interspecific combative interactions between wood-decaying basidiomycetes. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 31: 185–194.
- Breheret S, Talou T, Rapior S, Bessiere JM, 1997. Monoterpenes in the aromas of fresh wild mushrooms (Basidiomycetes). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 45: 831–836.
- Bringmann G, Mader T, Feineis D, 1997. Determination of viridicatin in Penicillium cyclopium by capillary gas chromatography. Analytical Biochemistry 253: 18–25.
- Bruce A, Wheatley RE, Humphris SN, Hackett CA, Florence MEJ, 2000. Production of volatile organic compounds by *Trichoderma* in media containing different amino acids and their effect on selected wood decay fungi. Holzforschung **54**: 481–486.
- Chen CC, Chen SD, Chen JJ, Wu CM, 1984. Effects of pH value on the formation of volatiles of shiitake (Lentinus edodes), an edible mushroom. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 32: 999–1001.
- Cheng SS, Lin HY, Chang ST, 2005. Chemical composition and antifungal activity of essential oils from different tissues of Japanese cedar (Cryptomeria japonica). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53: 614–619.
- Cho IH, Lee SM, Kim SY, Choi HK, Kim KO, Kim YS, 2007. Differentiation of aroma characteristics of pine mushrooms (Tricholoma matsutake Sing.) of different grades using gas chromatography-olfactometry and sensory analysis. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55: 2323–2328.
- de Jong E, Field JA, 1997. Sulfur tuft and turkey tail: biosynthesis and biodegradation of organohalogens by basidiomycetes. Annual Review of Microbiology 51: 375–414.
- Demyttenaere JCR, Morina RM, de Kimpe N, Sandra P, 2004. Use of headspace solid-phase microextraction and headspace sorptive extraction for the detection of the volatile metabolites produced by toxigenic Fusarium species. Journal of Chromatography A **1027**: 147–154.
- Dick CM, Hutchinson SA, 1966. Biological activity of volatile fungal metabolites. *Nature* 211: 868.
- Ewen RJ, Jones PRH, Ratcliffe NM, Spencer-Phillips PTN, 2004. Identification by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry of the volatile organic compounds emitted from the woodrotting fungi Serpula lacrymans and Coniophora puteana, and
- from Pinus sylvestris timber. Mycological Research 108: 806–814. Fäldt J, Jonsell M, Nordlander G, Borg-Karlson AK, 1999. Volatiles of bracket fungi Fomitopsis pinicola and Fomes fomentarius and their function as insect attractants. Journal of Chemical Ecology 25: 567–590.
- Gao Y, Jin YJ, Li HD, Chen HJ, 2005. Volatile organic compounds and their roles in bacterioistasis in five conifer species. *Journal* of Intergrative Plant Biology **47**: 499–507.
- Griffith GS, Rayner ADM, Wildman HG, 1994. Interspecific interactions, mycelial morphogenesis and extracellular metabolite production in *Phlebia radiata* (Aphyllophorales). *Nova Hedwigia* **59**: 331–344.
- Guillen F, Evans CS, 1994. Anisaldehyde and veratraldehyde acting as redox cycling agents for H_2O_2 production by Pleurotus eryngii. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **60**: 2811–2817.
- Gutierrez A, Caramelo L, Prieto A, Martinez MJ, Martinez AT, 1994. Anisaldehyde production and aryl-alcohol oxidase and dehydrogenase activities in ligninolytic fungi of the

genus Pleurotus. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60: 1783–1788.

- Hamilton-Kemp TR, McCracken CT, Loughrin JH, Andersen RA, Hildebrand DF, 1992. Effects of some natural volatile compounds on the pathogenis fungi Alternaria alternata and Botrytis cinerea. Journal of Chemical Ecology **18**: 1083–1091.
- Heilmann-Clausen J, Boddy L, 2005. Inhibition and stimulation effects in communities of wood decay fungi: exudates from colonised wood influence growth by other species. Microbial Ecology **49**: 1–8.
- Humphris SN, Wheatley RE, Bruce A, 2001. The effects of specific volatile organic compounds produced by Trichoderma spp. on the growth of wood decay basidiomycetes. *Holzforschung* **55**: 233–237.
- Humphris SN, Bruce A, Buultjens E, Wheatley RE, 2002. The effects of volatile secondary metabolites on protein synthesis in Serpula lacrymans. FEMS Microbiology Letters **210**: 215–219.
- Hynes J, Müller CT, Jones TH, Boddy L, 2007. Changes in volatile production during the course of fungal mycelial interactions between Hypholoma fasciculare and Resinicium bicolor. Journal of Chemical Ecology **33**: 43–57.
- Jelen HH, 2002. Volatile sesquiterpene hydrocarbons characteristic for Penicillium roqueforti strains producing PR toxin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry **50**: 6569–6574.
- Jelen HH, 2003. Use of solid phase microextraction (SPME) for profiling fungal volatile metabolites. Letters in Applied Microbiology 36: 263–267.
- Kaiser JP, Feng YC, Bollag JM, 1996. Microbial metabolism of pyridine, quinoline, acridine, and their derivatives under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Microbiological Reviews 60: 483–488.
- Mackie AE, Wheatley RE, 1999. Effects and incidence of volatile organic compound interactions between soil bacterial and fungal isolates. Soil Biology and Biochemistry **31**: 375–385.
- Maga JA, 1981. Mushroom flavour. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 29: 1–4.
- Mumpuni A, Sharma HSS, Brown AE, 1998. Effects of metabolites produced by Trichoderma harzianum biotypes and Agaricus bisporus on their respective growth radii in culture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64: 5053–5056.
- Nilsson T, Larsen TO, Montanarella L, Madsen JO, 1996. Application of head-space solid-phase microextraction for the analysis of volatile metabolites emitted by *Penicillium* species. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **25**: 245–255.
- Owens EM, Reddy CA, Grethlein HE, 1994. Outcome of interspecific interactions among brown-rot and white-rot wood decay fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 14: 19–24.
- Rapior S, Breheret S, Talou T, Pelissier Y, Bessiere JM, 2002. The anise-like odor of Clitocybe odora, Lentinellus cochleatus and Agaricus essettei. Mycologia 94: 373–376.
- Rayner ADM, Boddy L, 1988. Fungal Decomposition of Wood: Its Biology and Ecology. Wiley, Chichester.
- Rayner ADM, Griffith GS, Wildman HG, 1994. Induction of metabolic and morphogenetic changes during mycelial interactions among species of higher fungi. Biochemical Society Transactions 22: 389–394.
- Rosecke J, Pietsch M, König WA, 2000. Volatile constituents of wood-rotting basidiomycetes. Phytochemistry 54: 747–750.
- Rostelien T, Borg-Karlson AK, Fäldt J, Jacobsson U, Mustaparta H, 2000. The plant sesquiterpene germacrene D specifically activates a major type of antennal receptor neuron of the tobacco budworm moth Heliothis virescens. Chemical Senses 25: 141–148.
- Savoie JM, Mata G, Mamoun M, 2001. Variability in brown line formation and extracellular laccase production during interaction between white-rot basidiomycetes and *Trichoderma harzianum biotype Th2. Mycologia* 93: 243–248.
- Schoeman MW, Webber JF, Dickinson DJ, 1996. The effect of diffusible metabolites of Trichoderma harzianum on in vitro

interactions between basidiomycete isolates at two different temperature regimes. Mycological Research 100: 1454–1458. Score AJ, Palfreyman JW, White NA, 1997. Extracellular

- phenoloxidase and peroxidase enzyme production during interspecific fungal interactions. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation **39**: 225–233.
- Stadler M, Sterner O, 1998. Production of bioactive secondary metabolites in the fruit bodies of macrofungi as a response to injury. Phytochemistry **49**: 1013–1019.
- Stijve T, Amazonas M, Giller V, 2002. Flavour and taste components of Agaricus blazei ss. Heinem. – a new gourmet and medicinal mushroom. Deutsche Lebensmittel-Rundschau 89: 448–453.
- Stinson M, Ezra D, Hess WM, Sears J, Strobel G, 2003. An endophytic Gliocladium sp. of Eucryphia cordifolia producing selective volatile antimicrobial compounds. Plant Science 165: 913–922.
- Strobel GA, Dirkse E, Sears J, Markworth C, 2001. Volatile antimicrobials from Muscodor albus, a novel endophytic fungus. Microbiology – SGM 147: 2943–2950.
- Sunesson A, Vaes WHJ, Nilsson CA, Blomquist G, Andersson B, Carlson R, 1995. Identification of volatile metabolites from five fungal species cultivated on two media. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61: 2911–2918.
- Sutherland GR, Haselbach J, Aust SD, 1997. Biodegradation of cross-linked acrylic polymers by a white-rot fungus. Environmental Science Pollution Research 4: 16–20.
- Tronsmo A, Dennis C, 1978. Effect of temperature on antagonistic properties of Trichoderma species. Transactions of the British Mycological Society 71: 469–474.
- Viiri H, Annila E, Kitunen V, Niemela P, 2001. Induced responses in stilbenes and terpenes in fertilised Norway spruce after inoculation with blue-stain fungus, Ceratocystis polonica. Trees – Structure and Function 15: 112–122.

- Wheatley RE, 2002. The consequences of volatile organic compound mediated bacterial and fungal interactions. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 81: 357–364.
- Wheatley RE, Hackett C, Bruce A, Kundzewicz A, 1997. Effect of substrate composition on production of volatile organic compounds from *Trichoderma* spp. inhibitory to wood decay fungi. International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation **39**: 199–205.
- White NA, Boddy L, 1992. Extracellular enzyme localisation during interspecific fungal interactions. FEMS Microbiology Letters **98**: 75–80.
- Wolf FT, 1951. Inhibition of pathogenic fungi in vitro by p-hydroxy methyl benzoate. Mycopathologia 5: 117–119.
- Woodward S, Boddy L, 2008. Interactions between saprotrophic fungi. In: Boddy, L., Frankland, J.C., van West, P. (Eds), Ecology of Saprotrophic Basidiomycetes. Academic Press, UK, pp. 125–141.
- Woodward S, Sultan HY, Barrett DK, Pearce RB, 1993. Two new antifungal metabolites produced by Sparassis crispa in culture and in decayed trees. Journal of General Microbiology 139: 153–159.
- Wu SM, Zorn H, Krings U, Berger RG, 2005. Characteristic volatiles from young and aged fruiting bodies of wild Polyporus sulfureus (Bull.:Fr.) Fr. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53: 4524–4528.
- Zamponi L, Michelozzi M, Capretti P, 2006. Effects of four monoterpenes on the growth in vitro of some Heterobasidion spp. and two Leptographium species. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection 113: 164–167.
- Ziegenbein FC, Hanssen HP, König WA, 2006. Chemical constituents of the essential oils of three wood-rotting fungi. Flavour and Fragrance Journal **21**: 813–816.



FUNGAL ECOLOGY XXX (2010) I-10

available at www.sciencedirect.com







Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor have similar combative, enzyme and decay ability

Jennifer HISCOX*, Christopher HIBBERT, Hilary J. ROGERS, Lynne BODDY

Cardiff University, School of Biosciences, Cardiff CF10 3AX, United Kingdom

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 18 December 2009 Revision received 22 February 2010 Accepted 24 February 2010 Available online Corresponding editor: Petr Baldrian

Keywords: Basidiomycete Dikaryons Interactions Laccase Monokaryons Peroxidase Trametes Heterokaryons (mated mycelia) are commonly used to study basidiomycete ecology, with little known about the relative abilities of homokaryotic (unmated) mycelia. Trametes versicolor is a common wood decay basidiomycete, which fruits prolifically, producing a high proportion of viable basidiospores that germinate readily. The 'fitness' of mono-karyotic T. versicolor mycelia was compared to that of dikaryons in terms of extension rate, decay rate, combative ability, and production of ligninolytic enzymes in agar culture and during growth on beech wood blocks. Eight monokaryons, four natural dikaryons and four artificially synthesised dikaryons (created by pairing monokaryotic cultures) were compared, and paired against 11 wood decay species to assess combative ability. There were no significant differences between monokaryons and dikaryons of T. versicolor in any of the characters examined, with as much variation within the karyotic groups as there was between them. When artificial dikaryons and their component monokaryons were considered individually, the dikaryon resembled one of the component monokaryons rather than being intermediate. This implies that dikaryons behave as functional diploids.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd and The British Mycological Society. All rights reserved.

Introduction

The life cycle of a typical wood decay basidiomycete involves two mycelial stages. Spore germination produces a primary, unmated mycelium (monokaryon/homokaryon), which, following hyphal fusion and nuclear exchange with a mating-type compatible conspecific may form a secondary mycelium (dikaryon/heterokaryon). The two haploid gametic types of nuclei are maintained indefinitely during vegetative growth, fusing only for karyogamy and meiosis which yields homokaryotic spores. The heterokaryotic state can also break down through the formation of asexual homokaryotic conidia (Hui *et al.* 1999 and references within). The heterokaryotic state is similar to diploidy in that two haploid genomes reside in each cell with full opportunity for genetic complementation, but is crucially different because the two haploid genomes remain separated in different nuclei (Clark & Anderson 2004).

The duration of the homokaryotic phase for a mycelium inhabiting woody organic resources is determined by a variety of factors, most important of which are probably the local abundance of the species and its mating-type structure. The homokaryotic phase persists until a compatible conspecific is encountered and there is evidence of an inverse relationship between the number of colonies of a species in the field and the number that are homokaryons (Stenlid 1994). Homokaryons are often considered short-lived with the heterokaryotic phase dominating the life cycle, but this is less likely to be the case in areas where mating potential is restricted as the homokaryons would necessarily persist for much longer. For common species, e.g. Trametes versicolor, homokaryons (in this species known to be monokaryons) might be expected to

E-mail address: evansja7@cf.ac.uk (J. Hiscox).

1754-5048/\$ – see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Ltd and The British Mycological Society. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003

^{*} Corresponding author.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

be short-lived. This has been observed in areas of high spore fall with a large area of resource open to colonisation (Williams et al. 1981). However, there is also evidence of homokaryons, including T. versicolor monokaryons, persisting in woody resources in the field for several years (Coates & Rayner 1985; Garbelotto et al. 1997; Redfern et al. 2001; Stenlid 2008).

Homokaryons and heterokaryons are subject to largely similar stresses during colonisation of, and proliferation within, woody organic resources, such as obtaining carbon and nutrients from recalcitrant lignified tissues, and antagonistic interspecific interactions. Antagonistic interactions between wood decay basidiomycetes occur between individuals competing for territory and the resources within (Boddy 2000). Whilst competition is regarded as a major factor influencing the distribution and abundance of wood decay fungi, only a few studies have considered the competitive ability of homokaryons (Crockatt et al. 2008). It has been hypothesised that the temporary nature of homokaryons requires less combative ability than heterokaryons (e.g. Gardes et al. 1990), but the reverse was found for several species including the rare Hericium coralloides (Crockatt et al. 2008). However, these results are species-specific as no differences in combative ability were found between homo- and heterokaryotic mycelia of Acanthophysellum lividocoeruleum (Fryar et al. 2002). It has also been suggested that the greater adaptive genetic potential of heterokaryons relative to homokaryons may increase the capacity to tolerate different stresses and thus improve combative ability (Clark & Anderson 2004).

Differences in growth and decay rate between homokaryons and heterokaryons have also been reported, although again no clear pattern emerges. Heterokaryons of Gloeophyllum trabeum, Phellinus weirii and Pleurotus ostreatus generally grew more rapidly than homokaryons (Bezemer 1973; Hansen 1979; Eichlerová & Homolka 1999), but there were no differences between different karyotic states of A. lividocoeruleum or H. coralloides (Fryar et al. 2002; Crockatt et al. 2008). Overall, no differences in decay rate were found between different karyotic states of G. trabeum (da Costa & Kerruish 1965; Amburgey 1970). Heterokaryons of P. weirii decayed wood more rapidly than homokaryons (Hansen 1979), but the reverse was true for Antrodia vaillantii and Ganoderma applanatum (Aoshima 1954; da Costa & Kerruish 1965). Decay rate by Serpula lacrymans was less in 57 % (of 138) of heterokaryons compared to their component homokaryons, intermediate in 33% and greater in 10% (Elliott et al. 1979). Homokaryons and heterokaryons sometimes have different morphologies, e.g. Schizophyllum commune and S. lacrymans (Clark & Anderson 2004; Kauserud et al. 2006).

T. versicolor produces high levels of ligninolytic enzymes including laccase and peroxidases which are crucial to the decomposition of woody tissues. These non-specific, highly oxidative enzymes attack the lignin polymer, allowing access to bound cellulose and hemicellulose nutrient sources. They also play a variety of roles in fruiting, morphological changes and stress mediation, and are known to increase in activity during interspecific interactions (Baldrian 2004; Ferreira-Gregorio *et al.* 2006; Chi *et al.* 2007). In a limited study the ability of monokaryons and dikaryons of T. versicolor to break down lignin was compared (Addleman & Archibald 1993). There were no differences in enzyme production or delignification between monokaryons and dikaryons though monokaryons were better able to bleach kraft pulp, but this was based on a very small sample size of isolates especially selected for high enzyme production. However, in S. commune, laccase activity was detected in heterokaryotic cultures only, implying different regulation in the different phases (de Vries et al. 1986). The greater genetic potential of heterokaryons may enable production of a more diverse range of isozymes of a particular enzyme, increasing substrate range, stress mediation, and adaptability to different resources. For example, two Trametes hirsuta homokaryons produced different laccase isozymes, both of which were expressed by the heterokaryotic product of their mating (Kojima et al. 1990).

In the limited number of previous studies performed so far there is no evidence of a trend for either karyotic state being more combative, growing faster or decaying wood more rapidly than the other. However, these studies have usually compared only one or two characters, rather than a wide suite. The aim of the study reported here was to compare a range of characters of T. versicolor monokaryons and dikaryons, including extension rate, wood decay rate, ligninolytic enzyme (laccase and peroxidases) production, and combative ability. As a secondary coloniser (Rayner & Boddy 1988), when T. versicolor basidiospores arrive at a woody resource it is already colonised, so monokaryons would be expected to have good combative ability. Likewise dikaryons must also be combative to avoid replacement. Thus no differences in combative ability are hypothesised. Neither is there any reason for expecting extension rates of mono- and dikaryons to differ. However, since the main role of monokaryons is initial establishment, presumably usually of a small focus, whereas that of dikaryons is persistance and utilisation of the woody resource, it is hypothesised that dikaryons will produce larger amounts of ligninolytic enzymes.

Methods

Isolates

Monokaryons and dikaryons of T. versicolor, and heterokaryons of other wood decay Ascomycota and Basidiomycota (Table 1) were maintained on 2 % (w/v) malt agar (MA: 15 g l^{-1} Lab M Agar no. 2 (Lab M, Bury, Lancs., UK), 20 g l⁻¹ Munton and Fison Spray Malt Light (Munton Plc, Stowmarket, Suffolk, UK)). Monokaryotic isolates were obtained by collecting spores from the fruit body of natural dikaryon TvA on a glass slide. Spores were suspended in sterile distilled water and diluted so that when 25 µl was spread onto a 2 % MA plate there was approximately 1 spore per field of view at $\times 100$ magnification. The plates were incubated at 20 °C in darkness for 1–2 d, and single, well-spaced germinating spores were transferred to fresh 2 % MA plates, by removing plugs with a sharpened tungsten wire. Cultures were checked for lack of clamp connections. 'Natural' dikaryotic isolates were obtained by fruit body tissue isolations. 'Artificial' dikaryons were

Please cite this article in press as: Hiscox J et al., Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor have similar combative, enzyme and decay ability, Fungal Ecology (2010), doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003

J. Hiscox et al.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor

Ecological role ^a	Species	Strain	Source	Isolated by	Date isolated created
Early secondary colonisers	Trametes versicolor	Natural heterokaryons	Photo Service		A COLOR COLOR
on standing		TvD4	Quercus robur Ccc	L. Boddy	
and fallen wood		TvD2	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy	
		Тујнс		J. Heilmann-Clausen	
		TVA	Fagus sylvatica Ccc	J. Hiscox	Apr-08
		Natural homokaryons		J. Hiscox	Apr-08
		A1			
		A2			
		A3			
		A4			
		A5			
		A6			
		A7			
		A8			
		Artificial heterokaryons		C. Hibbert	Oct-08
		A4 × A6			
		A5 × A8			
		A3 × A7			
		$A1 \times A2$			
	Bjerkandera adusta	MA313	WGP	M. Ainsworth	
Primary colonisers, latently	Stereum gausapatum	Sg1	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy	
present in standing trunks	Vuilleminia comedens	Vc1	Q. robur Ccc	L. Boddy	
and attached branches	Stereum hirsutum	Sh1			
	Daldinia concentrica ^b	Dc290594			
	Eutypa spinosa ^b	Es1	F. sylvatica Ccc	S. J. Hendry	Sep-05
Heart rotters	Fomes fomentarius	JHC001-201	F. sylvatica, Denmark	J. Heilmann-Clausen	
Later secondary cord-	Hypholoma fasciculare	GTWV2	Wenvoe, South Wales	G. Tordoff	2003
forming colonisers		DD2		D. Donnelly	
	Phanerochaete velutina	Pv29			
Tooth fungus ^c	Hericium coralloides	HcMA129-9	F. sylvatica, WGP	M. Crockatt	Nov-05

a Rayner & Boddy (1988).

b Ascomycota, all others are Basidiomycota.

c Ecological role not entirely clear, found both in central heart regions and outer sapwood (Boddy & Wald 2002).

generated by randomly pairing monokaryons on agar plates to produce stable dikaryotic mycelia (Table 2).

Extension rates

Plugs (6 mm diam.), cut from the actively growing margin of a colony using a no. 3 cork borer, were inoculated centrally onto 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes (Greiner Bio-one, Austria) of 2 % MA. Colony diameter in two dimensions perpendicular to each other was measured daily, to 0.1 mm using vernier callipers (Swiss Precision Instruments Inc., CA, USA) for all isolates.

Wood decay rates

Beech (Fagus sylvatica) blocks $(2 \times 2 \times 1 \text{ cm})$ were cut from a freshly felled trunk (Wentwood, Newport, UK) and stored at -18 °C until required. Blocks were defrosted by soaking overnight in distilled water and sterilised by autoclaving three times. They were then incubated on 14 cm Petri dishes (Greiner Bioone, Austria) of 2 % MA, fully colonised by T. versicolor, at 20 °C in the dark. Density (g cm⁻³) of wood blocks was determined destructively at the start and after 10 months incubation (10 replicates), and percentage weight loss estimated.

Interspecific interactions

Interactions were set up between all isolates of T. versicolor and 10 other species (Table 1), isolated from wood or fruit bodies (identified by colony or fruit body morphology), on 2 % MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Fungi were inoculated as 6 mm diameter plugs 30 mm apart, and plates were incubated in darkness at 20 °C. Timing of inoculation depended on extension rate, and where necessary was staggered to ensure that mycelia met in the centre of the dish. Three replicates were performed for each combination. Once colonies met, interactions were observed approximately weekly, with final outcomes recorded after 8–10 weeks. Outcomes were recorded as either deadlock (where neither mycelium captured territory from the other), replacement (where one fungus grew over and through the other so that it was no longer recoverable by re-isolation) or partial replacement, mutual partial replacement (where both fungi gained some of the territory of the other), or overgrowth (where one fungus grew over the other

Please cite this article in press as: Hiscox J et al., Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor have similar combative, enzyme and decay ability, Fungal Ecology (2010), doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003

Please cite : enzyme and ite this artice and decay : article in press as: cay ability, Fungal 1 : Hiscox l Ecology J et al., Monokaryons and dikaryons of (2010), doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003 Trametes versicolor have similar combative,

Table 2 - Outcomes of interactions on agar between Trametes versicolor homokaryons and heterokaryons and 11 antagonist wood decay species Bjerkandera Vuilleminia Eutypa Isolate Stereum Stereum Daldinia Hericium Hypholoma fasciculare Fomes Phanerochaete Cumulative Rank coralloides spinosa fomentarius velutina gausapatum hirsutum concentrica adusta comedens scores GTWV2 DD2 Natural heterokaryons R(2)PR PR PR(2)D TvD4 R R PR(2)pr pr* pr pr R R 26 9 R r(2)pr R R D R R(2)PR pr(2)D r pr(2)r PR(2)D 15 14 TvD2 R R R OG r* pr(2)r R R D R 20 13 TVJHC r R R R MPR(2)PR pr*(2)R PR(2)R PR(2)R R(2)PR R R(2)D R(2)PR 47 2 TVA Artificial heterokaryons $A4 \times A6$ R R OG MPR R(2)PR pr(2)D PR(2)R R D(2)PR R(2)MPR 37 3 R D R R R PR(2)D $A5 \times A8$ R R MOG r r R 26 9 R R R PR+og r*(2)pr PR(2)MPR r(2)pr R R(2)D R 35 R $A3 \times A7$ 4 R R R r(2)pr R(2)PR R D PR(2)R 31 $A1 \times A2$ R pog pr 6 Natural homokaryons pr(2)OG PR(2)R MPOG pr' pr(2)r R PR A1 R R R R 28 7 A2 R R OG r r(2)pr R R D R 19 R r 12 A3 R R R PR r r(2)MPR PR R(2)PR R R R 57 1 R A4 PR PR(2)OG pr+OG(2)pr r r r R(2)PR PR(2)R pr(2)D og -3 16 A5 R PR(2)R MPOG R r(2)pr R 34 R r(2)pr* R PR(2)R R 5 A6 R pr(2)R 28 R(2)PR R OG r r(2)pr R R R R(2)MPR 7 A7 R(2)PR R R MPR(2)r* PR D(2)PR R 24 11 R R r r A8 R R R D(2)MPR r r(2)MPR r R(2)PR R pr(2)R PR(2)r 14 15 Cumulative scores 91 96 82 -5 -68 -7 -58 107 71 94 32

R: replacement of competitor by T. versicolor; PR: partial replacement of competitor by T. versicolor; D: deadlock; MPR: mutual partial replacement; OG overgrowth by T. versicolor; og: overgrowth of T. versicolor by competitor; pr: partial replacement of T. versicolor by competitor; r: replacement of T. versicolor by competitor. * Indicates H. fasciculare overgrowth where T. versicolor has been killed but not yet replaced. Numbers in brackets indicate how many replicates had this outcome.

J. Hiscox et al

MORTH

but did not replace it). Outcomes were confirmed by reisolation from the base of the agar, which was essential for distinguishing between replacement and overgrowth.

The outcome of each pairing was given a score, as an aid to comparison of combative ability (following Crockatt *et al.* 2008): replacement of the antagonist by *T. versicolor* was assigned +2; partial replacement of the antagonist, +1; deadlock, 0; partial replacement of *T. versicolor*, -1; complete replacement of *T. versicolor*, -2. Mutual partial replacement was scored as -1 and +1, so a net score of 0. Where either antagonist had killed but not (yet) replaced the other, the outcome was scored as for replacement, and where overgrowth but not replacement had occurred the outcome was scored as deadlock. Cumulative scores were determined for each isolate by addition of scores from all replicate interactions.

Enzyme assays

Isolates of T. versicolor were grown on 16 ml 2 % MA in 9 cm nonvented Petri dishes in darkness at 20 °C. A plug of agar with mycelium (12 mm diameter; mycelial coverage 112 mm²; made using a no. 8 cork borer) was removed from just behind the growing margin of a 7 d-old colony. Each plug was cut into c. 12 pieces and transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube, to which 1 ml of deionised water was added. Tubes were shaken overnight at 4 °C, then 0.8 ml of extract was removed and centrifuged for 10 min at 8,000 g at 4 °C to pellet any debris. Extracts were also made from 6-month-old colonised beech wood blocks; these were roughly chopped (pieces $< 2 \times 2 \times 2$ mm, and c. 100 mg wet weight) and extracts prepared in 1.5 ml Eppendorfs as for agar cultures. Extracts were kept at 4 °C and used on the day of harvest. The wet weight of the agar plus mycelium, and the dry weight of the wood shavings plus mycelium, were used to normalise the data from agar and wood block cultures respectively. Three replicates were performed for each isolate.

Laccase (EC 1.10.3.2) activity was measured by monitoring the oxidation of ABTS (2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt) in a citrate-phosphate buffer (100 mM citrate, 200 mM phosphate, pH 5.0), following Niku-Paavola et al. (1990). The formation of green colouration was followed spectrophotometrically at 420 nm. Activity of manganese peroxidase (MnP; EC 1.11.1.13) was assayed according to Ngo & Lenhoff (1980) in succinate-lactate buffer (100 mM, pH 4.5). MBTH (3-methyl-2-benzothiazoline-hydrazone hydrochloride) and DMAB (3-(dimethyl amino)-benzoic acid) were oxidatively coupled by MnP action, and formation of purple colouration followed spectrophotometrically at 590 nm. The results were corrected by activities of samples: (1) without manganese, where manganese sulphate was replaced by EDTA (ethylene diamine tetraacetate) to chelate Mn present in the extract (Mn-independent peroxidase activity); and (2) in the absence of hydrogen peroxide to allow detection of activity of oxidases but not peroxidases. Lignin peroxidase (EC 1.11.1.14) activity was measured by monitoring the oxidation of veratryl alcohol (3,4-dimethoxybenzyl alcohol) to veratraldehyde in a 250 mM tartaric acid buffer (pH 2.5) containing 5 mM H₂O₂ (Collins et al. 1996). The change in absorbance at 310 nm was followed using a Helios UV-vis spectrophotometer (Tecan, USA). One unit of enzyme activity was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 mM of product per min.

The activity of $1,4-\beta$ -glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.21) was assayed in microplates using p-nitrophenyl-B-D-glucoside (pNPG, Megazyme Ltd, Ireland). The reaction mixture comprised 160 µl of 1.2 M pNPG in 50 mM sodium acetate buffer (pH 5.0) and a 40 µl sample. Reaction mixtures were incubated at 40 °C for 120 min. The reaction was stopped by addition of 0.5 M sodium carbonate, and absorbance read at 400 nm. Enzyme activity was calculated using the molar extinction coefficient of p-nitrophenol (11,600 M cm⁻¹). One unit of enzyme activity was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 µmol of p-nitrophenol per minute. Activity of phosphomonoesterase (acid phosphatase; EC 3.1.3.2) and 1,4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (chitinase; EC 3.2.1.50) were assayed using p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP; Megazyme International Ltd, Ireland) and p-nitrophenyl N-acetyl-B-D-glucosaminide (pNPN; Megazyme International Ltd, Ireland), respectively, using the same method. Spectrophotometric measurements for MnP and laccase were made in a Bioscreen II plate reader, those for LiP made in a UV-vis spectrophotometer (Helios, Tecan, USA), and all others in a Dynex microplate reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd., Sussex, UK).

5

Statistical analysis

Colony extension rates during the log phase of extension were estimated by linear regression and compared using one-way ANOVA, or Kruskal–Wallis when non-normal, in Minitab (v.15). Percentage density loss between isolates was compared in the same way, and so were differences in enzyme activity. Correlation between extension rate, enzyme activity, competitive score and decay rate was assessed using Spearmans rank correlation in Minitab.

Results

Extension rates

There was high variability in radial extension rate, ranging from 4.1 to 6.4 mm d^{-1} . Overall, natural dikaryon extension rate was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) greater than that of monokaryons $(5.7 \pm 0.3 \text{ mm d}^{-1} \text{ and } 5.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm d}^{-1} \text{ respectively;}$ mean \pm SEM). However, there was no significant difference (P > 0.05) between the mean extension rate of the natural monokaryons and 'artificial' dikaryons (the mating products of the monokaryons; $5.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ mm d}^{-1}$), nor between the natural monokaryons and their 'parent' dikaryon TvA $(5.1 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm d}^{-1})$. The extension rate of the artificial dikaryons was similar to at least one of the component monokaryons (Fig 1A). The dikaryon tended to be more similar to the faster of the two monokaryons, for example in combinations $A3 \times A7$ and $A5 \times A8$ where extension rate of both the faster monokaryon and the dikaryon were significantly different ($P \le 0.05$) from the slower monokaryon (Fig 1A).

Decay rates

Overall, dikaryons effected significantly ($P \le 0.05$) greater decay of beech wood blocks than monokaryons (natural heterokaryons, 30.1 ± 1.1 % weight loss; artificial dikaryons, 35 ± 1.4 %; natural monokaryons, 19 ± 0.5 %; mean \pm SEM).

ARTICLE IN PRESS

J. Hiscox et al.



Fig 1 – A: Mean extension rates of T. versicolor natural homokaryons and the heterokaryon products of their matings. B: Mean % weight loss of beech wood blocks after 10 months colonisation by T. versicolor natural homokaryons and the heterokaryon products of their matings. Dark grey bars, heterokaryons; light grey bars, 1st component homokaryon (e.g. for A3 × A7 this would be A3); striped bars, 2nd component homokaryon. Different letters indicate significant ($P \le 0.05$) differences in extension rate/% weight loss between component homokaryons and the related heterokaryon.

However, there were no significant differences (P > 0.05) between the weight loss from natural dikaryon TvA (18.3 ± 1.2 % weight loss) and any of the natural monokaryons. Artificial dikaryons caused greater weight losses than their component monokaryons but this was only significant ($P \le 0.05$) for A1 × A2, where the component monokaryons also had significantly different decay abilities to each other (Fig 1B). The component monokaryons of A3 × A7 and A5 × A8 did not cause significantly different weight losses to each other, but in both combinations decay by one of the component monokaryons was significantly lower ($P \le 0.05$) than the artificial dikaryon (Fig 1B).

Outcome of interactions

There was considerable variation in the combative ability of T. versicolor isolates. Outcomes ranged between complete replacement of the competitor to partial replacement of the T. versicolor isolate by that competitor (e.g. monokaryon A8 vs.

Fomes fomentarius), and between partial replacement of the T. versicolor isolate to partial replacement of the competitor (e.g. dikaryon TvD4 vs. H. coralloides; Table 2). Against this set of antagonists, T. versicolor was a successful combatant, completely replacing its opponent in over half of all interactions, and with 15 out of the 16 isolates having positive cumulative scores. The mean score for all isolates was 27.3 (out of a maximum of 66 if T. versicolor had replaced all competitors in all replicates, and a minimum of -66 if T. versicolor had been replaced by all competitors in all replicates; Table 2).

Overall, there were no significant differences (P > 0.05)between the proportion of successful interaction outcomes (i.e. where T. versicolor replaced or partially replaced the competitor) attained by monokaryons and dikaryons, both natural and artificial (Supplementary Fig 1). In some cases the artificial dikaryons outperformed both component dikaryons: for example, the complete replacement of A2 by Hypholoma fasciculare DD2, the mutual partial replacement with A1, compared to the complete replacement of H. fasciculare DD2 by $A1 \times A2$ (Fig 2; Table 2). In another example, A4 and A6 were both replaced by H. fasciculare GTWV2, but the outcome with their mating product A4 × A6 was mutual partial replacement or partial overgrowth by H. fasciculare (Table 2). Generally, the combative ability of the artificial dikaryon was similar to that of their "strongest" component monokaryon, for example A8 was replaced by H. fasciculare DD2 whilst A5 and A5 × A8 both replaced H. fasciculare DD2 (Table 2).

Enzyme assays

All enzymes assayed for were detected in agar cultures, except manganese peroxidase (MnP) and lignin peroxidase (LiP). The production of enzymes in agar culture varied widely between isolates (Table 3). There were no significant differences (P > 0.05) between natural monokaryons and their mated products - the artificial dikaryons - in activity of any of the enzymes. However, when considered individually, artificial dikaryons often had significantly lower enzyme activity than one of their component monokaryons in agar culture. The most dramatic was A4 × A6, which had significantly lower (P < 0.05) activity of 1,4- β -glucosidase, chitinase and acid phosphatase than its component monokaryon A4, but similar activity to its other component monokaryon A6 (Table 3; Supplementary Fig 2). The opposite occurred for laccase activity, with no significant difference (P > 0.05) in activity between A4 \times A6 and A4, but both had significantly (P \leq 0.05) lower activity than A6 (Table 3; Supplementary Fig 2).

There was much greater variability in enzyme activity between replicates of wood block cultures than in agar cultures (Table 4). MnP activity was detected in 10 of the 16 isolates in wood block culture, but again no LiP activity was detected. Whereas agar cultures of monokaryon A4 had significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher chitinase, acid phosphatase and 1,4- β -glucosidase activity than all other natural monokaryons, no significant differences (P > 0.05) in activity of A4 enzymes were found in wood block culture extracts (Table 4; Supplementary Fig 2). Where there were significant differences in activity of a particular enzyme between artificial dikaryons and a component monokaryon in agar culture, these were not consistent with activities in wood block culture

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor



Fig 2 – Differences in interaction outcomes at 2 months between T. versicolor heterokaryons and their component homokaryons. T. versicolor is always on the left hand side. Heterokaryon A1 \times A2 (A) and homokaryons A1 (B) and A2 (C) vs. H. fasciculare DD2. (Table 4; Supplementary Fig 2). For example, artificial dikaryon A4 × A6 had significantly (P \le 0.05) higher laccase activity than either component monokaryon in wood block culture, but was significantly (P \le 0.05) lower than A6 in agar culture.

Discussion

This is the first study to compare: (1) combative ability of monokaryons and dikaryons of a common species, and (2) the activity of a wide range of enzymes produced by monokaryons and dikaryons. As hypothesised, there was no evidence that T. versicolor monokaryons and dikaryons had significantly different combative ability; there was as much variability within the two states as between them. This contrasts with H. coralloides where homokaryons were more combative than heterokaryons in agar culture (Crockatt et al. 2008). This probably reflects the fact that as a rare species (as evidenced by the lack of fruit bodies) H. coralloides probably remains as a homokaryon for much longer than a common species and thus may require this state to be more vigorous. Macroscopic morphological changes during interactions did not differ between karyotic states in T. versicolor as they did with H. coralloides (Crockatt et al. 2008), though in Ganoderma orbiforme barrage formation occurred only in heterokaryon interactions and homokaryon morphology was linked to mating type (Pilotti et al. 2002). The results correlate with the position of T. versicolor in succession: high cumulative scores were achieved by nearly all isolates in combat with primary colonisers where outcomes were nearly always complete or partial replacement; lower cumulative scores were achieved against later colonisers and tooth fungi, but also against heart rotters. The latter was unexpected as heart rotters are primary colonisers and T. versicolor might be expected to replace them (Rayner & Boddy 1988); evidently the heart rotters were defensively combative. The average cumulative score of 27.3 was much higher than the mean score of 2.6 achieved by H. coralloides isolates, albeit with a slightly different profile of antagonists (Crockatt et al. 2008).

Enzyme activity of wood block cultures was highly variable between isolates, and between biological replicates, compared to that of agar cultures, probably due to the heterogeneity of wood blocks as a resource (e.g. variation in nutrient content, decay state of the wood, orientation of vessel elements). The reverse was found for homo- and heterokaryons of *P. ostreatus*, where ligninolytic enzyme activity was less variable between isolates when grown on wheat straw compared to growth on agar (Eichlerová et al. 2000). There was as much variability between monokaryons of *T. versicolor* as there was between dikaryons. This contrasts with results from *Lentinus tigrinus* and *P. ostreatus*, where protoplast- and basidiospore-generated homokaryons had higher variability in enzyme activity compared to heterokaryotic isolates (Homolka et al. 1995; Eichlerová & Homolka 1999).

The pattern of enzyme activity produced by an isolate relative to other isolates was also different during growth on agar compared to during growth on wood blocks, which might be expected as the strategy of enzyme production would differ on a nutrient-rich resource such as malt agar compared to nutrient-limiting beech wood. During growth on agar, natural monokaryon A4 generated high levels of chitinase, acid

J. Hiscox et al.

Table 3 – Extracellular enzyme activities of Trametes versicolor homokaryon and heterokaryon agar extracts								
Isolate	Activity mU g ⁻¹ wet weight							
	Laccase	Peroxidase*	β-glucosidase	Chitinase	Acid phosphatase			
Natural heterol	aryons				And the second second			
TvD4	181.8 ± 22.6	8.0 ± 0.3	10.8 ± 2.1	1.8 ± 0.3	2.8 ± 0.3			
TvD2	194.6 ± 37.2	6.6 ± 0.5	5.9 ± 1.3	1.5 ± 0.2	$\textbf{2.0}\pm\textbf{0.1}$			
TVJHC	$\textbf{204.8} \pm \textbf{30.3}$	4.9 ± 0.1	11.4 ± 1.5	2.4 ± 0.4	4.9 ± 0.9			
TvA	406.2 ± 49.4	5.2 ± 0.2	31.9 ± 2.7	1.9 ± 0.2	2.8 ± 0.4			
Average	226.3 ^ª ± 27.7	$5.7^{a} \pm 0.5$	$15.0^{a} \pm 3.1$	$1.9^{a}\pm0.1$	$3.1^{a} \pm 0.4$			
Artificial hetero	karyons							
A4 × A6	$\textbf{348.9} \pm \textbf{0.5}$	7.1 ± 0.7	20.5 ± 1.7	1.6 ± 0.2	3.1 ± 0.2			
A5 × A8	267.7 ± 19.4	6.2 ± 1.0	26.8 ± 2.1	1.1 ± 0.1	3.6 ± 0.2			
A3 × A7	343.7 ± 11.4	7.8 ± 0.9	24.3 ± 1.2	1.5 ± 0.2	2.9 ± 0.3			
$A1 \times A2$	279.0 ± 60.5	5.1 ± 0.4	27.6 ± 0.9	1.3 ± 0.3	2.9 ± 0.3			
Average	$303.1^{ab} \pm 17.6$	$6.6^{\text{B}} \pm 0.5$	$24.8^{b}\pm1.1$	$1.4^{b}\pm0.1$	$3.1^{a} \pm 0.1$			
Natural homok	aryons							
A1	224.2 ± 38.0	4.9 ± 0.4	13.8 ± 1.1	0.8 ± 0.1	2.8 ± 0.2			
A2	305.1 ± 26.8	6.2 ± 0.1	7.9 ± 0.7	0.9 ± 0.0	2.4 ± 0.2			
A3	327.5 ± 30.1	5.6±0.2	7.0 ± 0.6	1.2 ± 0.0	2.6 ± 0.2			
A4	299.1 ± 9.0	7.9 ± 0.2	57.2 ± 2.3	17.8 ± 2.3	15.2 ± 0.4			
AS	294.7 ± 6.6	5.3 ± 0.2	24.7 ± 3.3	1.3 ± 0.2	1.5 ± 1.0			
A6	537.0 ± 46.4	8.5 ± 0.6	11.6 ± 1.2	1.2 ± 0.1	3.0 ± 0.3			
A7	264.8 ± 4.9	6.8 ± 1.1	13.2 ± 0.9	1.4 ± 0.1	2.9 ± 0.3			
A8	446.2 ± 19.6	7.2 ± 0.3	7.9 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.2	5.0 ± 0.2			
Average	$328.6^{b}\pm19.4$	$6.5^{a} \pm 0.3$	$17.9^{ab} \pm 3.3$	$3.2^{ab}\pm1.2$	$4.4^{a}\pm0.9$			
Agar	0.1 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.1 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.0			

Values given are mean activity of 3 replicate cultures, \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). *, Manganese-independent peroxidase. MnP activity was not detected. Different letters imply significant differences in group average activity. Scores for each isolate are cumulative for all replicates against all antagonists. Scores for each replicate were -2 when T. versicolor was replaced, -1 when it was partially replaced, 0 for outcomes of deadlock, 1 when T. versicolor partially replaced its opponent and 2 when it completely replaced its opponent. Mutual replacement was scored as both -1 and +1, i.e. net score of 0.

phosphatase and 1,4- β -glucosidase activity; these enzymes function to release bound nutrients from the substrate. So the increased production on a nutrient-rich resource may imply problems with nutrient uptake and utilisation, which is supported because A4 was the slowest growing isolate and weakest combatant of all the isolates. The low scores of A4 may have distorted the results for monokaryons. The lack of MnP activity in agar cultures is surprising, but might be explained by a low manganese content of the substrate. MnP activity was present in younger colonies of T. versicolor on agar, but production ceased by 7 d (results not shown), perhaps as available Mn²⁺ was depleted.

Overall, there were no differences in radial extension rates of mono- and dikaryons, as hypothesised. Similarly, extension rates in H. coralloides did not significantly differ between homokaryons and heterokaryons (Crockatt et al. 2008). This contrasts with G. trabeum, P. weirii and P. ostreatus where heterokaryon extension rates were greater than those of homokaryons (Bezemer 1973; Hansen 1979; Eichlerová & Homolka 1999). Differences in extension rates between monokaryons and dikaryons imply a difference in control of gene expression in each karyotic phase (Clark & Anderson 2004), which we can infer is not the case for T. versicolor. Decay rates follow a similar pattern: overall, T. versicolor dikaryons had greater decay ability than monokaryons, but there were no significant differences in decay rate by the natural monokaryons and the 'parent' dikaryon TvA, and no significant differences between the artificial dikaryons and one or both component monokaryons. The lack of significant correlations between decay rate and enzyme activity in wood block cultures implies other factors are responsible for the differences in decay rate, or that there is a more complex relationship between lignin decomposition and weight loss.

Comparison of characteristics of artificial dikaryons with their component monokaryons indicated that where the monokaryons significantly differ in a particular character, the artificial dikaryon is similar to one of the monokaryons in this character rather than being intermediate. This occurred for agar enzyme activity, extension rate, decay rate and combative ability, but not for wood block enzyme activity where differences may be masked by substrate heterogeneity. The dikaryon was not consistently similar to either monokaryon, for example laccase activity of dikaryon $A4 \times A6$ was very similar to that of monokaryon A4, whereas chitinase and acid phosphatase activities were very similar to A6. Also, dikaryon enzyme activity was rarely significantly higher than activity of both component monokaryons. The trend for mated heterokaryons to resemble one component homokaryon rather than be intermediate also occurred in H. coralloides extension rates, although the extension rate of the heterokaryons was

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Monokaryons and dikaryons of Trametes versicolor

Table 4 – Extracellular enzyme activities of Trametes versicolor homokaryon and heterokaryon colonised beech wood block extracts									
Isolate		Activity mU g ⁻¹ dry weight							
	Laccase	MnP	Peroxidase*	1,4-β-glucosidase	Chitinase	Acid phosphatase			
Natural heter	rokaryons	44				Start Starter Bart			
TvD4	474.8 ± 250.4	51.2 ± 11.2	64.1 ± 32.5	71.6 ± 16.9	18.3 ± 3.0	22.1 ± 8.2			
TvD2	4.3 ± 3.0	0.0 ± 0.0	12.3 ± 7.1	50.4 ± 18.6	18.0 ± 4.5	49.8 ± 1.8			
TvJHC	207.1 ± 168.9	0.0 ± 0.0	57.7 ± 10.8	43.6 ± 20.5	11.6 ± 3.3	34.2 ± 7.8			
TvA	293.7 ± 111.6	17.1 ± 13.3	81.5 ± 17.4	48.9 ± 19.3	5.1 ± 1.1	10.1 ± 1.7			
Average	$245.0^{a} \pm 85.5$	$17.1^{ab} \pm 7.3$	$53.9^{a}\pm11.3$	53.6 ^a ± 8.7	13.3 ^a ± 2.1	$\mathbf{29.0^{a}\pm 5.1}$			
Artificial hete	rokaryons								
A4 × A6	278.1 ± 19.7	50.1 ± 12.3	90.3 ± 2.9	23.8 ± 2.7	2.6 ± 0.7	11.2 ± 4.0			
A5 × A8	452.1 ± 199.3	19.9 ± 11.9	63.1 ± 7.2	68.7 ± 22.7	12.8 ± 2.3	20.9 ± 5.4			
A3 × A7	95.2 ± 28.4	28.7 ± 16.8	79.5 ± 12.0	20.7 ± 2.4	1.8 ± 0.2	13.8 ± 0.1			
$A1 \times A2$	86.9 ± 57.9	$\textbf{10.7} \pm \textbf{3.1}$	73.3 ± 11.7	26.6 ± 6.7	4.6 ± 0.9	$\textbf{20.2} \pm \textbf{1.9}$			
Average	290.3 ^a ± 92.1	$23.2^{b} \pm 6.4$	$76.6^{a} \pm 4.9$	$45.6^{a} \pm 12.3$	$6.0^{b} \pm 1.4$	16.5 ^a ± 1.9			
Natural homokaryons									
A1	97.1 ± 50.1	0.0 ± 0.0	47.7 ± 19.6	92.2 ± 34.1	14.5 ± 3.9	9.9 ± 2.9			
A2	212.5 ± 83.2	0.5 ± 0.5	54.6 ± 22.5	21.9 ± 4.5	2.7 ± 0.4	10.4 ± 4.1			
A3	843.5 ± 102.7	5.9 ± 3.1	89.3 ± 7.7	32.1 ± 13.1	5.7 ± 2.3	16.2 ± 4.0			
A4	79.8 ± 36.7	0.0 ± 0.0	131.3 ± 11.1	20.6 ± 13.0	1.6 ± 0.2	9.7 ± 2.3			
A5	$\textbf{718.9} \pm \textbf{104.4}$	20.7 ± 11.9	46.1 ± 7.0	61.3 ± 13.0	5.2 ± 1.6	18.4 ± 3.2			
A6	70.4 ± 18.9	6.6 ± 6.6	48.1 ± 12.9	17.2 ± 6.9	4.9 ± 0.6	11.8 ± 3.1			
A7	372.8 ± 47.3	0.0 ± 0.0	22.4 ± 5.1	30.8 ± 3.5	$\textbf{3.8}\pm\textbf{0.2}$	22.8 ± 2.9			
A8	428.9 ± 28.9	0.0 ± 0.0	$\textbf{173.9} \pm \textbf{40.7}$	45.5 ± 4.1	21.5 ± 3.6	21.4 ± 1.6			
Average	$353.0^a\pm 61.3$	$4.2^{a}\pm2.0$	76.7 ^a ± 11.6	45.9 ^a ± 7.9	$7.5^{b}\pm1.5$	$15.1^{\text{a}} \pm 1.4$			
Wood	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.4	0.7 ± 0.2	1.0 ± 0.0	4.8 ± 2.5			

Values given are mean activity of 3 replicate cultures, ±standard error of the mean (SEM). *, Manganese-independent peroxidase. Different letters imply significant differences between the group averages.

occasionally faster than either component homokaryon (Crockatt et al. 2008). This would appear to suggest regulation of different genes in a dominant-recessive system, where heterokaryons are functionally equivalent to diploids. This further implies that nuclear ratios within T. versicolor are balanced (1:1) because if there were over-representation of one constituent nucleus, the dikaryon would resemble the corresponding monokaryon across all traits (James et al. 2008). The mycelium can thus be thought of as an 'individualistic mycelium' (Rayner 1991), analogous to a genetic individual rather than a situation where there is genomic conflict between the constituent 'haploid' nuclei (James et al. 2008).

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) for provision of funding (JAH), and Petr Baldrian for his help and advice with the assay techniques. Thanks also to three anonymous reviewers for their comments on the manuscript.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found in online version at doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003.

REFERENCES

Addleman K, Archibald F, 1993. Kraft pulp bleaching and delignification by dikaryons and monokaryons of Trametes versicolor. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **59**: 266–273.

- Amburgey TL, 1970. Relationship of capacity to cause decay to other physiological traits in isolates of Lenzites trabea. Phytopathology 60: 955–960.
- Aoshima K, 1954. Decay of beech wood by the haploid and diploid mycelia of Elfvingia applanata (Pers.) Karst. Phytopathology 44: 260–265.
- Baldrian P, 2004. Increase of laccase activity during interspecific interactions of white rot fungi. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 50: 245–253.
- Bezemer LD, 1973. Variability in mating behaviour and culture appearance of Lenzites trabea. Annals of Botany 37: 661–671.
- Boddy L, 2000. Interspecific combative interactions between wood-decaying basidiomycetes. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 31: 185–194.
- Boddy L, Wald P, 2002. Creolophus (=Hericium) cirrhatus, Hericium erinaceus and H. coralloides in England. English Nature Research Report No. 492. English Nature, Peterborough, UK.
- Chi Y, Hatakka A, Maijala P, 2007. Can co-culturing of two white rot fungi increase lignin degradation and the production of lignin-degrading enzymes? International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 59: 32–39.
- Clark TA, Anderson JB, 2004. Dikaryons of the basidiomycetes fungus Schizophyllum commune: evolution in long-term culture. *Genetics* 167: 1663–1675.

- Coates D, Rayner ADM, 1985. Fungal population and community development in cut beech logs: 1. Establishment via the aerial cut surface. New Phytologist 101: 153–171.
- Collins PJ, Kotterman MJJ, Field JA, Dobson ADW, 1996. Oxidation of anthracene and benzo[a]pyrene by laccases from Trametes versicolor. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62: 4563–4567.
- Crockatt ME, Pierce GI, Camden RA, Newell PM, Boddy L, 2008. Homokaryons are more combative than heterokaryons of Hericium coralloides. Fungal Ecology 1: 40–48.
- da Costa EWB, Kerruish RM, 1965. The comparative wooddestroying ability and preservative tolerance of monokaryotic and dikaryotic mycelia of Lenzites trabea (Pers.) Fr. and Poria vaillantii (DC ex Fr.) Cke. Annals of Botany **29**: 241–252.
- de Vries OMH, Kooistra WHCF, Wessels JGH, 1986. Formation of an extracellular laccase by a Schizophyllum commune dikaryon. Journal of General Microbiology 132: 2817–2826.
- Eichlerová I, Homolka L, 1999. Preparation and crossing of basidiospore-derived monokaryons – a useful tool for obtaining laccase and other ligninolytic enzyme higherproducing dikaryotic strains of Pleurotus ostreatus. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 75: 321–327.
- Eichlerová I, Homolka L, Nerud F, Zadrazil F, Baldrian P, Gabriel J, 2000. Screening of Pleurotus ostreatus isolates differing in ligninolytic properties. Folia Microbiologica **47**: 691–695.
- Elliott CG, Abou-Heilah AN, Leake DL, Hutchinson SA, 1979. Analysis of wood decaying ability of monokaryons and dikaryons of Serpula lacrymans. Transactions of the British Mycological Society **73**: 127–133.
- Ferreira-Gregorio AP, da Silva IR, Sedarati MR, Hedger JN, 2006. Changes in production of lignin degrading enzymes during interactions between mycelia of the tropical decomposer basidiomycetes Marasmiellus troyanus and Marasmius pallescens. Mycological Research 110: 161–168.
- Fryar SC, Kirby GC, Hyde KD, 2002. Interspecific competitive ability of monokaryotic and heterokaryotic wood decay basidiomycetes. Austral Ecology 27: 343–349.
- Garbelotto MM, Lee HK, Slaughter G, Popenuck T, Cobb FW, Bruns TD, 1997. Heterokaryosis is not required for virulence of Heterobasidion annosum. Mycologia 89: 92–102.
- Gardes M, Wong KK, Fortin JA, 1990. Interactions between monokaryotic and dikaryotic isolates of Laccaria bicolor on roots of Pinus banksiana. Symbiosis 8: 233–250.
- Hansen EM, 1979. Nuclear condition and vegetative characteristics of monokaryotic and heterokaryotic isolates of Phellinus weirii. Canadian Journal of Botany 57: 1579–1582.
- Homolka L, Voláková I, Nerud F, 1995. Variability of enzymatic activities in ligninolytic fungi Pleurotus ostreatus and Lentinus

tigrinus after protoplasting and UV-mutagenization. Biotechnology Techniques 9: 157–162.

- Hui C, Yamamoto H, Ohta T, Takeo K, Kitamoto Y, 1999. Nuclear selection in monokaryotic oidium formation from dikaryotic mycelia in a basidiomycete, Pholiota nameko. Mycoscience 40: 199–203.
- James TY, Stenlid J, Olson Å, Johannesson H, 2008. Evolutionary significance of imbalanced nuclear ratios within dikaryons of the basidiomycete fungus Heterobasidion parviporum. Evolution **62**: 2279–2296.
- Kauserud H, Sætre GP, Schmidt O, Decock C, Schumacher T, 2006. Genetics of self/non-self recognition in Serpula lacrymans. Fungal Genetics and Biology 43: 503–510.
- Kojima Y, Tsukuda Y, Kawai Y, Tsukamoto A, Sugiura J, Sakaino M, Kita Y, 1990. Cloning, sequence analysis, and expression of ligninolytic phenoloxidase genes of the white rot basidiomycete Coriolus hirsutus. Journal of Biological Chemistry 265: 15224–15230.
- Niku-Paavola ML, Raaska L, Itävaara M, 1990. Detection of white rot fungi by a non-toxic stain. Mycological Research 94: 27–31.
- Ngo TT, Lenhoff HM, 1980. A sensitive and versatile chromogenic assay for peroxidase and peroxidase-coupled reactions. Analytical Biochemistry **105**: 389–397.
- Pilotti CA, Sanderson FR, Aitken EAB, 2002. Sexuality and interactions of monokaryotic and dikaryotic mycelia of Ganoderma boninense. Mycological Research 106: 1315–1322.
- Rayner ADM, 1991. The challenge of the individualistic mycelium. Mycologia **83**: 48–71.
- Rayner ADM, Boddy L, 1988. Fungal Decomposition of Wood: its biology and ecology. Wiley, Chichester, UK.
- Redfern DB, Pratt JE, Gregory SC, Macaskill GA, 2001. Natural infection of Sitka spruce thinning stumps in Britain by spores of Heterobasidion annosum and long-term survival of the fungus. Forestry 74: 53–71.
- Stenlid J, 1994. Monokaryotic Heterobasidion annosum mycelia in Norway spruce stumps. In: Johanneson, M., Stenlid, J. (eds), Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Root and Butt Rots. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, pp. 249–253.
- Stenlid J, 2008. Population biology of forest decomposer basidiomycetes. In: Boddy, L., Frankland, J.C., van West, P. (eds), Ecology of Saprotrophic Basidiomycetes. Academic Press, UK, pp. 105–122.
- Williams END, Todd NK, Rayner ADM, 1981. Spatial development of populations of Coriolus versicolor. New Phytologist 89: 307–319.

Please cite this article in press as: Hiscox J et al., Monokaryons and dikaryons of *Trametes versicolor* have similar combative, enzyme and decay ability, Fungal Ecology (2010), doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.02.003

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Fungal Genetics and Biology xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Fungal Genetics and Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yfgbi

Changes in oxidative enzyme activity during interspecific mycelial interactions involving the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*

Jennifer Hiscox^{a,*}, Petr Baldrian^b, Hilary J. Rogers^a, Lynne Boddy^a

^a BIOSI 2, Cardiff University, King Edward VII Avenue, Cardiff, CF10 3AT, UK
^b Institute of Microbiology of the ASCR, v.v.i., Videnska 1083, 14220, Prague 4, Czech Republic

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 January 2010 Accepted 21 March 2010 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Interactions Basidiomycetes Trametes Oxidative enzymes Laccase Peroxidase

ABSTRACT

Interspecific fungal antagonism leads to biochemical changes in competing mycelia, including up-regulation of oxidative enzymes. Laccase, manganese peroxidase (MnP), manganese-repressed peroxidase (MRP) and lignin peroxidase (LiP) gene expression and enzyme activity were compared during agar interactions between *Trametes versicolor* and five other wood decay fungi resulting in a range of interaction outcomes from deadlock to replacement of one fungus by another. Increased laccase and Mn-oxidising activities were detected at all interaction zones, but there were few changes in activity in regions away from the interaction zone in *T. versicolor* mycelia compared to self-pairings. Whilst no LiP activity was detected in any pairing, low level LiP gene expression was detected. MnP activity was detected but not expression of MnP genes; instead, MRP could explain the observed activity. No relationship was found between extent of enzyme activity increase and interaction outcome. Similarities between patterns of gene expression and enzyme activity are discussed.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Fungal competition for territory and the resources within is brought about by antagonistic mycelial interactions and is inevitable where there is overlap between the niches of different species or strains (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2000; Woodward and Boddy, 2008). Interactions are crucial determinants of fungal community development, and affect decay rate and carbon turnover in woodland ecosystems (Owens et al., 1994; Boddy, 2000). There are two main interaction outcomes: replacement occurs when one fungus gains the territory of another; deadlock occurs when neither fungus gains headway. A spectrum of outcomes can occur between replacement and deadlock, for example, partial replacement of one competitor followed by deadlock, or mutual partial replacement by both competitors.

Antagonism leads to mycelial morphological changes, metabolic changes, and the production and release of secondary metabolites and extracellular enzymes (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Griffith et al., 1994; Score et al., 1997; Iakovlev et al., 2004). There is considerable evidence for up-regulation of oxidative enzymes during antagonistic interactions between wood-decay species (Freitag and Morrell, 1992; White and Boddy, 1992; Iakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Savoie and Mata, 1999; Baldrian, 2004; Chi et al., 2007; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2007). The extent of the increase in activity

Corresponding author.
 E-mail address: evansja7@cf.ac.uk (J. Hiscox).

1087-1845/\$ - see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2010.03.007 differs, depending on the innate enzyme producing ability of a species, and the combination of species interacting (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Chi et al., 2007). Within interacting mycelia, spatial patterns of activity are inconsistent between interaction combinations, although some general trends have been observed. For example up-regulation of mycelial laccase in response to interaction lessened with distance from the interaction zone (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). As yet, no study has fully investigated the links between oxidative enzyme activity during interactions and interaction outcome.

The main oxidative enzymes secreted by white rot basidiomycetes are laccase (phenoloxidase), manganese peroxidase (MnP) and lignin peroxidase (LiP). Laccase acts to oxidise a variety of phenolic compounds and aromatic diamines (Leonowicz et al., 2001; Mayer and Staples, 2002), whilst peroxidases utilise hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) to catalyse the oxidation of a range of organic and inorganic compounds. MnP and LiP differ in their reducing substrates: LiP catalyses the oxidation of a wide range of aromatic non-phenolic compounds; MnP catalyses the Mn-mediated oxidation of phenolic lignin compounds (Hofrichter, 2002; Martinez, 2002; Martinez et al., 2005). Other enzymes such as versatile peroxidase (VP), which combines features of MnP and LiP, may also play lesser roles. While the production of LiP and VP appears to be limited to a small group of white rot fungi, MnP is produced by most white rot and litter-colonising basidiomycetes (Morgenstern et al., 2008) and its genes have been recently detected in mycorrhizal fungi as well (Bodeker et al., 2009). Though their primary role is in lignin decomposition, the

Please cite this article in press as: Hiscox, J., et al. Changes in oxidative enzyme activity during interspecific mycelial interactions involving the white-rot fungus Trametes versicolor. Fungal Genet. Biol. (2010), doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2010.03.007
highly oxidative and non-specific nature of laccase and peroxidases enables a variety of other potential roles. Laccase activity increased dramatically during interactions (White and Boddy, 1992; lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Baldrian, 2004; Chi et al., 2007; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2007), and also in fungal cultures exposed to abiotic stress such as elevated temperature (Fink-Boots et al., 1999), heavy metals (Baldrian et al., 2005), and oxidative stress (Jaszek et al., 2006). MnP activity increased in certain interactions, although not to the same extent as laccase activity (Baldrian, 2004), and also in response to oxidative stress (Jaszek et al. 2006). General peroxidase activity increased in response to heat shock (Fink-Boots et al., 1999), but there have been no reports of stress-induced increases in LiP activity.

Production of laccase and MnP in response to stress implies a defensive function during interactions. A typical result of antagonistic interactions is oxidative stress, and accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and H_2O_2 is associated with interaction zones (Tornberg and Olsson, 2002; Silar, 2005). Increased laccase and MnP production occurred in response to chemically-induced oxidative stress in cultures of Trametes versicolor, Fomes and Tyromyces spp. (Jaszek et al., 2006; Jaszek et al., 2006a), and activity increases occurred along with superoxide accumulation in heatshocked cultures of T. versicolor, Cerrena unicolor and Abortiporus biennis (Fink-Boots et al., 1999). Laccase and peroxidases could mediate oxidative stress by removing H2O2 or generating melanins which protect hyphae from ROS (Henson et al., 1999). Melanins may also participate in the absorption of toxic compounds, which could also be detoxified by laccase; laccase is known to detoxify fungicides in yeast (Baldrian, 2006). Laccase and peroxidases also have roles in morphogenesis (de Vries et al., 1986; Thurston, 1994) and may be involved in the formation of defensive barrages or invasive hyphal cords (Griffith et al., 1994).

Aside from a defensive function, increased laccase and peroxidase activity during interactions may imply increased acquisition of nutrients, and there is evidence of increased production of other enzymes involved in nutrition. Activity of β-glucosidase, which primarily functions to hydrolyse the β 1-4 bonds between glucose monomers (such as the bonds found in cellulose), increased during interactions between T. versicolor and Trichoderma harzianum (Freitag and Morrell, 1992). Acid phosphatase occurs in ascomycetes and basidiomycetes, and functions to release Pi from organophosphates. Acid phosphatase activity could function during interactions to release bound organophosphates from captured opponent mycelium (Reyes et al., 1990). Chitinases function to hydrolyse the B1-4 bonds between N-acetylglucosamine monomers in chitin chains. Increased chitinase activity occurred during interactions involving Hypholoma fasciculare, Resinicium bicolor and Coniophora arida (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006). The chitinous cell walls of previous colonisers would be an important nitrogen source for later colonisers (Patil et al., 2000). Other roles of chitinases during interactions include morphogenetic changes, cell wall modifications, or permeabilisation of competitor cell walls to allow entry of toxic or antifungal compounds (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006).

Agar cultures have been used qualitatively to stain for laccase activity (White and Boddy, 1992; lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000), and to quantify laccase activity during the interaction between *Heterobasidion annosum* and *R. bicolor* (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). Although agar plates are not an ideal substrate in ecological terms, they allow sampling of different regions within the mycelia of interacting fungi.

The aim of the present study was to test whether laccase and peroxidases act as important determinants of the outcome of competition by direct action, or whether they are only an indirect consequence of stress or higher nutrient demand. To address this question, the spatial distribution of enzyme activities, their gene transcription, and the activities of other enzymes linked to nutrition were investigated during interactions involving *T. versicolor* that result in a range of outcomes. The role of oxidative enzymes as a defence mechanism against biotic and abiotic stress leads to the hypothesis that oxidative enzyme production is highest in interactions where *T. versicolor* is replaced by the competitor, compared to where it is successful (replaces or deadlocks with the competitor), and that enzyme activity declines as distance from the interaction zone increases. The effect of enhancing MnP production on laccase activity and interaction outcomes was also tested.

2. Methods

2.1. Isolates and culture conditions

Strains of *T. versicolor* (TvD2) and five other wood decay fungi were obtained from the Cardiff University Fungal Ecology Group culture collection (Table 1). Isolates were chosen to display a range of interaction outcomes during interactions with *T. versicolor* (Table 1). Cultures were maintained on 2% (w/v) malt agar (MA; 20 g Munton and Fison spray malt; 20 g Lab M agar No. 2; distilled water) in 9 cm plastic non-vented Petri dishes (Greiner Bio-one, Austria), incubated upside down at 20 °C in the dark. For each interspecific pairing 6 mm diameter plugs were removed from the margins of actively growing colonies using a No. 3 cork borer and inoculated 30 mm apart on 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Slower-growing species were inoculated earlier to ensure that competing mycelia met in the centre of the plate. Self-pairings of all isolates were used as controls.

2.2. Localisation of enzyme activity by staining

Interspecific interactions involving *T. versicolor* vs. *S. gausapatum*, *H. fasciculare* or *B. adusta*, and self-pairings, were set up in triplicate. Localisation of laccase activity was determined in 9 cm Petri dishes of 2% MA plus 250 mg l⁻¹ 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonic acid) diammonium salt (ABTS), which is oxidised to form a green/violet product. MnP activity was localised by growth on 2% MA plus 0.5 mM manganese chloride (MnCl₂·4H₂O), which is oxidised to form a brown precipitate (Steffen et al., 2000). Photographs of plates were taken, with a Nikon Coolpix camera, at 2 d, 8 d, 1 month and 2 months after establishment of mycelial contact, and interaction outcomes assessed after 2 months. For ABTS plates photos were taken on a lightbox in a dark room. Interaction outcomes were assessed visually after 2 months.

General peroxidase activity was visualized at three times, following methods adapted from Silar (2005). Briefly, 2, 5 and 8 dold interactions on 2% MA in 9 cm Petri dishes were flooded with 2.5 mM diaminobenzidine (DAB) in phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 6.9), and incubated with gentle rotation for 30 min. The stain

Table 1

Competitor isolates and the outcome of their interaction with T. versicolor D2.

Ecological role	Species	Strain	Outcome of interaction with <i>T. versicolor</i>
Primary coloniser	Stereum gausapatum ^b	Sg1	Replacement by T. versicolo
	Daldinia concentrica*	290495	Replacement by T. versicolo
Early secondary coloniser	Bjerkandera adusta ^b	MA313	Deadlock/partial replacement by B. adusta
Heart rotter	Fomes fomentarius ^b	Ff1	Deadlock
Late secondary coloniser	Hypholoma fasciculare ^b	GTWV2	Replacement by H. fasciculare

^b Basidiomycota.

was drained off and the location of a red precipitate was recorded after 4 h. Control plates were supplemented with buffer only.

2.3. Enzyme assays

Interspecific interactions between T. versicolor and the five combatant species (Table 1), plus all relevant self-pairing controls, were set up as previously described on 16 ml 2% MA in 9 cm non-vented Petri dishes. Material was removed for extraction at 2 d and 8 d after establishment of mycelial contact for combinations involving S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare - 8 d interactions showed the greatest differences in activity between treatments so material was removed at 8 d only for other interactions. Six plugs (5 mm diam.) were removed with a No. 2 cork borer from each of four regions of the interacting mycelia: the interaction zone itself (IZ); just behind the interaction zone in T. versicolor (A); 30-40 mm from the interaction zone within the T. versicolor mycelium (B); and just behind the interaction zone in the competitors' mycelium (C; Fig. 1). Total area of mycelium extracted was 118 mm² per region (approx. 200 mg wet weight). For self-pairings of combatant species, plugs were removed from the interaction zone only. Interactions were also set up on 16 ml 2% MA enriched with 0.5 mM MnCl₂·4H₂O, and plugs removed from 8 d-old interactions.

Plugs were cut in half and transferred to a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube, to which 1 ml deionised water was added. Tubes were shaken gently at 4 °C overnight, then 0.8 ml of extract removed and centrifuged (8000g) for 10 min at 4 °C to pellet any debris. Extracts were kept at 4 °C and assays performed immediately. Three replicate plates for each region, isolate and time-point were used. Data were normalised to the wet weight of agar plus mycelium extracted for each sample.

Laccase (EC 1.10.3.2) activity was measured by monitoring the oxidation of ABTS in citrate-phosphate buffer (100 mM citrate, 200 mM phosphate, pH 5.0), following Bourbonnais and Paice (1990). Formation of green coloration was followed spectrophotometrically at 420 nm. Manganese peroxidase (MnP; EC 1.11.1.13) activity was assayed according to Ngo and Lenhoff (1980) in succinate-lactate buffer (100 mM, pH 4.5), where MBTH (3-methyl-2benzothiazoline-hydrazone hydrochloride) and DMAB (3-(dimethyl amino)-benzoic acid) were oxidatively coupled by MnP action, and



Fig. 1. Sampling regions in interacting mycelia for enzyme extraction. *T. versicolor* is on the left. Six agar plugs were removed from each of four different regions. Region 'IZ' corresponds to the interaction zone; 'A' is just behind the interaction zone in the *T. versicolor* mycelium; 'B' is further back in the *T. versicolor* mycelium; 'C' is just behind the interaction zone in the mycelium of the competitor.

formation of purple coloration followed spectrophotometrically at 590 nm. The results were corrected by activities of samples: (1) without manganese, where manganese sulphate was replaced by EDTA (ethylene diamine tetraacetate) to chelate Mn^{2+} present in the extract allowing detection of Mn^{2+} -independent peroxidases; and (2) in the absence of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) to allow detection of activity of oxidases but not peroxidases. Lignin peroxidase (LiP; EC 1.11.1.14) activity was measured according to Collins et al. (1996) by monitoring the oxidation of veratryl alcohol (3,4-dimethoxybenzyl alcohol) to veratraldehyde in 250 mM tartaric acid buffer (pH 2.5) containing 5 mM H₂O₂, by the change in absorbance at 310 nm. One unit of enzyme activity (U) was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 mM of product per min.

The activity of 1,4-β-glucosidase (EC 3.2.1.21) was assayed in microplates using p-nitrophenyl-β-D-glucoside (pNPG, Glycosynth, UK) as described previously (Valášková et al., 2007). The reaction mixture comprised 160 µl of 1.2 M pNPG in sodium acetate buffer (50 mM, pH 5.0) and a 40 µl sample. Reaction mixtures were incubated for 120 min at 40°C. The reaction was stopped by addition of 0.5 M sodium carbonate, and absorbance read at 400 nm. Enzyme activity was calculated using the molar extinction coefficient of p-nitrophenol (11,600 M cm⁻¹). One unit of enzyme activity (U) was defined as the amount of enzyme releasing 1 µmol of p-nitrophenol per minute. Activity of 1,4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (NAG) and phosphomonoesterase (acid phosphatase) were assayed using p-nitrophenyl N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminide (pNPN; Glycosynth, UK) and p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP; Glycosynth, UK), respectively, using the same method. Spectrophotometric measurements were made in a Bioscreen C II plate reader (Oy Growth Curves Ab Ltd., Finland) for laccase and MnP, a UV-vis spectrophotometer (Helios, Tecan, USA) for LiP, and all others in a Dynex Revelation microplate reader (Dynex Technologies Ltd., Sussex, UK).

2.4. RNA extraction

Mycelia of T. versicolor were allowed to interact with S. gausapatum, B. adusta and H. fasciculare for 2 and 8 d. Mycelium was skimmed from the surface of the agar from regions IZ, A and B (Fig. 1), with a sterile spatula. Each RNA extraction "biological" replicate used material derived from 30-50 plates; two biological replicates were performed for each region of each interaction at each time point. Mycelium was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen with a mortar and pestle, and RNA was extracted using 2 ml tri-reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) according to manufacturer's instructions. After DNase treatment with RQ1 DNase (Promega, Southampton, UK), RNA was reverse-transcribed using M-MLV RNase H(-) Reverse Transcriptase (Promega) and oligo(dT) (Promega). cDNA presence was confirmed by PCR using the 18S rRNA primers EF4, GGA AGG GRT GTA TIT ATT AG, and fung5, GTA AAA GTC CTG GTT CCC C (Smit et al., 1999). The success of DNase treatment was confirmed by PCR using the treated RNA, where a lack of PCR product indicated successful DNase treatment.

2.5. Primer design

Laccase and peroxidase sequences were downloaded from Gen-Bank (The National Centre for Biotechnology Information, NCBI, Bethesda, MD, USA: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and aligned using BioEdit. Primers were designed to subgroup level rather than to individual sequences, using the programs Primer 3 (http:// www.frodo.wi.mit.edu) and Oligoanalyzer (http://www.idtdna.com). Primer sequences were (5'-3'): *lacc*, Lacc-F CTT CAA CGG CAC CAA CTT CTT, Lacc-R GAA GTC GAT GTG GCA GTG GAG; *MnP*, MnP-F CAT CTC TCC TTC CAT CGC CTC, MnP-R GGG GCA GTT GCT GAC ACC; *MRP*, MRP-F CAG GAC AAG GTT GAC GAC T, MRP-R GGA CTG AAG ACG GAA CTC; *LiP*, LiP-F ACG AAA TCT TGA CCG TGT G,

LiP-R GAG CGA GTT GAT GTC CTG. Specificity to *T. versicolor* sequences was confirmed by PCR with competitor cDNA (Supplementary Fig. 1). The amplified regions ranged between approx. 170–350 bp. Primer specificity was confirmed by cloning and sequencing of PCR products (results not shown).

2.6. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR

Reactions were perfomed in a Techne Flexigene thermocycler (Bibby Scientific, Staffordshire, UK) using Hotstar Taq polymerase (Qiagen, Crawley, UK), and the program: 94 °C for 15 min, [94 °C for 1 min, T_m for 1 min, 72 °C for 1 min] × 30–35 cycles, 72 °C for 6 min. T_m (annealing temperature) used was 50 °C for *MRP* and *MnP* primers, 55 °C for *lacc*, *LiP* and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GPD*) primers. At least three replicates were performed for each primer set with each cDNA sample to eliminate equipment variability. PCR products were separated by agarose gel electrophoresis and quantified using the Gene Genius bioimaging system and GeneSnap software (Syngene, Synoptics Ltd., Cambridge, UK).

Normalisation was performed to GPD trancript levels using the general fungal primers: GPD-F, GTT CAA GTA CGA CTC CGT CCA; GPD-R, ACT TTT CGG TGG TGG TGA AG (designed by the authors from published sequences). Normalisation of T. versicolor cDNA from the interaction zone, where there was also the presence of competitor cDNA, was performed to T. versicolor-specific GPD sequences obtained with the primers TvGPD-F, ACC GCA TAC ATC CTA ATC TCG; and GPD-R (as above; designed by the authors from published sequences). Reactions were cycled as above, and product quantitation from the GPD target used to normalise results for the other primer sets. Cycle number was optimised and limited for each primer set and cDNA batch combination, by running dilution series of the cDNA and checking for linear responses. This ensured that reactions were in the exponential phase at a particular cycle number, allowing product quantitation to be considered semiquantitative with respect to transcript abundance. This methodology has previously been used successfully for a range of experimental systems (including Parfitt et al., 2005; Wagstaff et al., 2005; Orchard et al., 2005; Price et al., 2008).

2.7. Statistical analyses

Statistical comparisons of enzyme activity were performed using one-way ANOVA, where data met the required assumptions, with significant results further tested using the Tukey-Kramer *a posteriori* test to determine significant differences between means. If data did not meet the assumptions of ANOVA, Kruskal-Wallis tests in combination with *post hoc* Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were used. Two-sample *t*-tests (or Mann-Whitney *U*-tests if data were non-normally distributed), were used to compare enzyme activity in different regions of interactions with the equivalent regions in *T. versicolor* or competitor self-pairings. Gene expression relative to other interactions in each region for each primer set were compared using one-way ANOVA (following arcsine transformation of percentage data), or with Kruskal-Wallis based on data meeting the assumptions detailed above. All tests were performed in Minitab (v. 15; Minitab Ltd., Coventry, UK).

3. Results

3.1. Location of activity by staining

Strong enzyme activity was associated with interaction zones in all three pairings irrespective of outcome (Fig. 2). However, for laccase activity, there was clearing at the interaction zone in TvSg (interaction with *S. gausapatum*, resulting in replacement by *T. versicolor*) and TvBa (interaction with *B. adusta* resulting in deadlock), but not in TvHf (interaction with *H. fasciculare*, resulting in replacement of *T. versicolor*; Fig. 2A, D and G). Clearing indicated greater laccase production in these interactions (with further oxidation of ABTS to a colourless derivative). There was distinct association of MnP activity along the length of the interaction zones in TvSg and TvBa (Fig. 2B and E), but it was patchy along the TvHf interaction zone (replacement by *H. fasciculare*) with activity in regions where *H. fasciculare* invasive hyphal cords began to develop (Fig. 2 H). The presence of Mn²⁺ affected the interaction outcome of TvHf, which resulted in deadlock, rather than the replacement of *T. versicolor* by *H. fasciculare* that occurred in the absence of Mn²⁺. General peroxidase activity was associated with interaction zones again irrespective of interaction outcome (Fig. 2C, F and I).

3.2. Enzyme activity of T. versicolor self-pairings on 2% MA

Activity of laccase, MnP, β -glucosidase, NAG and acid phosphatase were detected in culture extracts of *T. versicolor*; production by competitors varied (Table 2). LiP and Mn-independent peroxidase activity were not detected either 2 or 8 d after contact in *T. versicolor* self-pairings or during interactions (Table 2). There were no significant differences (*P* > 0.05) in laccase activity in any region of *T. versicolor* self-pairings at 2 or 8 d after contact (Table 2), but for the other enzymes detected there were significant differences (*P* \leq 0.05) in activity levels in different regions of the *T. versicolor* self-pairing (Table 2).

3.3. Enzyme activity

Differences in enzyme activity between regions were evident, with highly localised production at the interaction zone (Table 2). Differences in enzyme activity between interactions, or between regions within an interaction, were more pronounced at 8 d than 2 d (Tables 2 and 3; Suppl Fig. 2). At 8 d, laccase and MnP activities were highest in the IZ region in all interactions except TvFf (interaction with F. fomentarius; Table 2, Suppl Fig. 3). There were no significant differences (P>0.05) in laccase or MnP activity between the A and B regions of any interaction, with the single exception of 8 d TvSg where laccase activity in the A region was significantly ($P \leq 0.01$) higher than in the B region (Table 2). Thus in general there was a sharp drop from the IZ to regions behind the IZ. The activity in the C region, i.e. the competitor mycelium, varied depending on the species. In all interactions bar one (TvDc) the extracted C regions were colonised by competitor only. However, in TvDc, MnP was detected in the C region which implies overgrowth of D. concentrica by T. versicolor; as an ascomycete, D. concentrica would not produce peroxidases capable of oxidising Mn²⁺. This was not visually discernible when extractions were performed.

For all enzymes detected, there was significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher IZ enzyme activity in interactions compared to self-pairings of at least one of the competitors (Table 2). However, in TvFf noncontact inhibition occurred and the activity of all enzymes were distinctly lower in the IZ, A and C regions compared to other interactions (Table 2). There were few differences in activity in the A and B regions of interactions compared to the equivalent regions in *T. versicolor* self-pairings, with the notable exception of TvSg B region which had significantly ($P \le 0.01$) lower activity of all enzymes except MnP compared to *T. versicolor* self-pairing B region (Table 2). For β -glucosidase, NAG and acid phosphatase, differences in activity in different regions of interacting *T. versicolor* mycelia were small and varied depending on the competitor (Table 2).



5



Fig. 2. Localisation of laccase, MnP and peroxidase revealed by staining interactions involving *T. versicolor* on 2% MA. *T. versicolor* is on the left in all pairings. (A–C), vs. *S. gausapatum*; (D–F), vs. *B. adusta*; (G–I), vs. *H. fasciculare*. A, D and G, laccase activity generates a purple stain, 2 d-old interactions; B, E and H, MnP activity results in deposition of a brown precipitate, 8 d-old interactions; C, F and I, peroxidase reacts with DAB to form a red-brown precipitate, 8 d-old interactions.

Table 2

Enzyme activity of T. versicolor and competitors in 8 d-old interactions.

Enzyme	Region	Activity mU g ⁻¹ wet weight										
		ΤνΤν	SgSg	TvSg	DcDc	TvDc ^a	BaBa	Тува	FfFf	TvFf	HfHf	TvHf
Laccase	IZ	216.0	27.3	3218.9 ^{°-†} a	0.0	877.8 ^{°.†} a	1.0	871.6 ^{*.†} a	0.7	141.8 ¹ a	31.4	417.1°.†a
	A	238.3		449.8°b	-	263.4 b	-	376.6°ab	-	149.1 a		253.6 b
	В	243.7	-	74.5°c	-	189.7 b	-	222.2 b	-	215.5 a		202.7 bc
	С		- her	0.2 [†] d	-	221.7 ^t b	-	5.9 c	-	3.3 [†] b	-	112.6 [†] c
MnP	IZ	0.0	2.7	33.6°.†a	0.0	10.4°.†a	3.9	11.0°.†a	0.0	5.9°.†a	8.9	8.7*
	А	0.0	-	7.7° ab	-	0.9 b	-	6.8° ab	-	0.0 b	- 22	6.1
	В	0.0	-	2.6°b	-	0.0 b		4.7°b	-	0.0 b	-	6.3*
	С	-	-	6.0 b	-	3.8°a		6.0 ab	-	0.2 b	-	6.6
β-glucosidase	IZ	5.6 a	12.9	11.7°a	15.7	4.9 [†]	4.6	37.7°.†a	2.8	2.0°a	6.2	3.4 [†] a
	А	7.8 a	-	4.5°b	-	6.4"		6.0 b	-	4.4°b	-	10.5 b
	В	11.1 b	_	1.3°b	-	6.0	-	8.9 b	-	7.4°c	_	8.3 c
	С	19-11-11-11	-	3.9 ^t b	-	7.3 [†]		2.4 c	-	4.1 b	-	7.3 c
NAG	IZ	0.4 a	13.3	3.7 a	49.1	1.0 [†] a	3.8	10.0°a	9.4	1.1 a	0.6	1.5°.†a
	A	0.5 a	_	0.8 b	-	0.9 a	-	0.8 b	-	0.4 b		1.7°a
	В	1.0 b	-	0.3°b	-	0.8 a	-	0.8 b	-	0.7 ab	-	1.2 b
	С	-	-	4.7*a	-	19.5 ^t b	-	1.0 [†] b	-	10.4 c	-	0.1 b
Acid phosphatase	IZ	2.1 a	9.4	19.5°.1a	53.2	8.4 ^{*.} *a	0.4	10.0°.†a	3.2	4.4°	3.9	2.9 [†] a
	A	2.8 ab	-	2.0 b	-	3.7 b	-	1.8 b	-	3.2	-	2.9 a
	В	4.3 b	-	0.9°c	-	3.0 b	-	1.5°b	-	4.6	-	2.1°a
	С	-	-	10.5 d	-	44.7 c	-	0.4 c	-	3.8	-	6.0 [*] b

Values are means of 3 replicates. -, samples not taken from this region.

Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the corresponding region in the *T. versicolor* self-pairing (TvTv). Competitor probably overgrown by *T. versicolor*; IZ, interaction zone; A, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within *T. versicolor* mycelium; B, the region further back within T. versicolor; C. the region adjacent to the interaction zone within competitor mycelium (see Fig. 1); NAG, 1.4-N-acetylglucosaminidase. [†] Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the competitor self-pairing; different letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) in enzyme activity between

different regions within an interaction (no letters indicates no significant differences, P>0.05).

J. Hiscox et al. / Fungal Genetics and Biology xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

Table 3

clizyine activity t										
Enzyme	Region	Activity mU g ⁻¹ wet weight								
		ΤνΤν	SgSg	TvSg	BaBa	TvBa	HfHf	TvHf		
Laccase	IZ	318.9	6.2	907.2 ^{°,†} a	0.5	487.7°a	41.0	615.8 ^{°.1} a		
	A	261.6	-	330.7 b	-	349.4°b	-	333.0 b		
	В	303.4	-	329.2 b		361.5 b	-	368.0 b		
	С	-		12.2 °c	-	10.1 c	-	78.3 [†] c		
MnP	IZ	6.6 a	0.0	37.3°,†a	3.1	13.3 [†]	25.9	15.6 ¹ a		
	A	1.0 b	-	0.0 b		7.5°	-	1.8 b		
	В	0.5 b	-	0.9 c	-	9.1°	-	4.0 b		
	С			1.0 [†] c	_	9.61	-	5.4 [†] b		

Values are means of 3 replicates. -, samples not taken from this region; IZ, interaction zone; A, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within *T. versicolor* mycelium; B, the region further back within *T. versicolor*; C, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within competitor mycelium (see Fig. 1).

* Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the corresponding region in the *T*. versicolor self-pairing (TvTv);

¹ Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the competitor self-pairing; different letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) in enzyme activity between different regions within an interaction (no letters indicates no significant differences, P > 0.05).

Table 4

Enzyme activity of T. versicolor and competitors in 8 d-old interactions on Mn-enriched agar.

Enzyme	Region	Activity mU g ' wet weight							
		ΤνΤν	SgSg	TvSg	BaBa	TvBa	HfHf	TvHf	
Laccase	IZ	109.6	30.5	3060.5 ^{°,†} a	0.1	340.5 ^{°,†} a	9.1	1273.2°.†a	
	Α	102.3	-	170.7 b	-	125.7 b	-	201.8°b	
	В	116.7	-	31.3°c	-	53.2°c	-	60.8°c	
	С		-	12.6 c	-	0.1 d	-	8.4 d	
MnP	IZ	29.1 ab	1.5	193.8°.†a	70.7	57.4°	53.3	110.6 ^{°,†} a	
	A	35.3 a		61.9°b		49.2	-	38.4 b	
	В	19.9 b		49.9°b	-	49.0	-	32.8 bc	
	С	-	-	5.8°c	-	53.7	-	20.8 [†] c	
			A company of the local data and the						

Values are means of 3 replicates. -, samples not taken from this region; IZ, interaction zone; A, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within *T. versicolor* mycelium; B, the region further back within *T. versicolor*; C, the region adjacent to the interaction zone within competitor mycelium (see Fig. 1).

* Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the corresponding region in the T. versicolor self-pairing (TvTv).

Significant difference ($P \le 0.05$) in activity compared with the competitor self-pairing; different letters indicate significant differences (P < 0.05) in enzyme activity between different regions within an interaction (no letters indicates no significant differences, P > 0.05).

3.4. Enzyme activity during interactions on Mn²⁺-enriched agar

Growth on Mn²⁺-enriched agar stimulated laccase production in *T. versicolor* mycelia during interaction with *H. fasciculare* (Tables 2 and 4); laccase activities in the IZ and A regions of TvHf were significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher than the equivalent regions in TvTv on Mn²⁺-enriched agar, which did not occur during growth on 2% MA. *H. fasciculare* laccase activity appeared to be repressed on the Mn²⁺-enriched agar since there was down-regulation in the TvHf C region relative to growth on 2% MA (Tables 2 and 4). Growth on Mn²⁺-enriched agar stimulated MnP activity in *T. versicolor* self-pairings, and during interactions the pattern of MnP activity at the IZ was similar to the pattern of laccase activity: all interactions had significantly ($P \le 0.01$) higher activity than TvTv, with TvSg > TvHf > TvBa (Table 4). Similar patterns of activity in laccase and MnP did not occur in the A and B regions (Table 4).

3.5. Expression of laccase, MRP and LiP genes during interactions

lacc gene expression was detected in all regions of all the interactions and the TvTv self-pairing. There was significantly ($P \le 0.01$) higher *lacc* expression in the IZ region of TvHf compared to TvTv IZ, and this higher expression was maintained in the A region but not in the B region (Fig. 3). In the B region, expression in TvBa was significantly higher, and expression in TvSg B significantly lower ($P \le 0.05$) than in TvTv B (Fig. 3). No significant differences in *MRP* expression were detected in any region, although transcript levels were higher in the IZ regions of TvSg and TvHf compared to TvTv IZ (Fig. 3). *LiP* transcripts were detected in regions A and B though not at the IZ. However, a higher cycle number was required to measure *LiP* RT-PCRs than with for *lacc* and *MRP* primers, which may suggest a lower transcript abundance. In the A region, expression of *LiP* was similar in TvTv and TvBa, significantly ($P \le 0.05$) higher in TvHf and significantly ($P \le 0.01$) lower in TvSg compared to TvTv (Fig. 3). Expression of *LiP* in the B region was similar in TvTv and TvSg, with higher expression in TvBa B and TvHf B, but these differences were not significant (P > 0.05; Fig. 3).

No MnP transcripts were detected at 2 d using MnP-F/R primers. When tested on *T. versicolor* genomic DNA and cDNA, MnP-F/R amplified sequences from genomic DNA but not cDNA (Suppl Fig. 1B). Two other sets of primers specific for *MnP*, from Johansson et al. (2002), also did not detect expression in *T. versicolor* cDNA (results not shown) indicating that indeed expression was absent or at undetectably low levels.

4. Discussion

4.1. Oxidative enzyme activity increased during interactions but was not linked to interaction outcome

Of the enzymes assayed, laccase showed the largest increase in activity during interactions: 14-fold that of self-pairings in the TvSg interaction zone. This large laccase response agrees with previous findings for *T. versicolor* during interactions (White and Boddy, 1992; Baldrian, 2004; Baldrian, 2006). However, the increased MnP activity during interactions had not been previously reported in *T. versicolor*, although it has been reported in other species



J. Hiscox et al. / Fungal Genetics and Biology xxx (2010) xxx-xxx

Fig. 3. Expression of laccase, MRP and LiP genes by *T. versicolor* mycelia during self-pairings (TvTv) and interactions with *S. gausapatum* (TvSg), *B. adusta* (TvBa) or *H. fosciculare* (TvHf) at 2 d. Bars are the mean data for two biological replicates, each consisting of three technical replicates, ±SEM. Data are expressed as% transcript abundance of TvTv cDNA samples from each region. Different letters indicate significant differences ($P \le 0.05$).

(Baldrian, 2004; Chi et al., 2007). Enzyme activity was higher at the interaction zone than in other regions of the interaction, as has been previously reported (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). However, the extent of this increase varied because of production by the competitor and/or modulation of the *T. versicolor* response based on the identity of the competitor. Different levels of enzymatic response to different competitors has been reported for a variety of interactions, including those involving *Pleurotus ostreatus* (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000; Chi et al., 2007).

There were no clear patterns of laccase and MnP activity in interactions with different outcomes; similar patterns of activity occurred in the two interactions where *T. versicolor* replaced the competitor (TvSg and TvDc), one of the two interactions which resulted in deadlock (TvBa), and in the interaction that resulted in replacement of *T. versicolor* (TvHf). Enzyme activity in the interaction TvFf, which resulted in deadlock, was strikingly different to other interactions due to non-contact inhibition, with a clear zone occurring between the competing mycelia. These results differ

from liquid culture interactions involving *S. hirsutum* (demonstrated to be the likely source of laccase), where oxidative enzyme activity was much higher in interactions where *S. hirsutum* was replaced than where it was successful (Peiris, 2009). It has been suggested that saprotrophic fungi from later successional stages (i.e. more combative species) have higher laccase activity than those from earlier stages (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000), but this did not occur here as *S. gausapatum*, a primary coloniser, had roughly similar levels of laccase production during growth alone to those of *H. fasciculare*, a late-stage cord-forming species. *T. versicolor* had far higher levels of laccase production than *H. fasciculare*, despite being a late primary to early secondary coloniser.

4.2. Enzyme activity was highly localised to different regions within interactions

The increases in oxidative enzyme activity at the IZ were highly localised, which could result from very specific production of

enzymes and their co-factors, and implies very limited diffusion from the point of secretion. Similar localisation was found in interactions involving *H. fasciculare* and *Peniophora lycii*, with laccase activity highest in the interaction zone but much lower in other areas of the mycelium (Rayner et al., 1994). Staining for laccase, MnP and peroxidase also showed localised activity, although the laccase staining indicated more diffuse localisation than did the assays most probably due to the diffusion of the reaction products. The stark contrasts in activity between different regions could be caused by secretion of enzyme inhibitors by one or both of the antagonists, which has been suggested for interactions between *T. versicolor* and *T. harzianum* (Freitag and Morrell, 1992).

4.3. Minor changes in enzyme activity were found in the A and B regions of interactions

Minor changes in enzyme activity occurred in the A and B regions of interacting T. versicolor mycelia compared to the TvTv self-pairing. Qualitative changes in laccase activity have been reported in regions of interacting mycelia away from the interaction zone, but these changes were not large (lakovlev and Stenlid, 2000). Here, the only notable changes were the decreases in laccase activity in the B region of TvSg. An overall pattern for laccase and MnP activity can be expressed as $IZ > A \ge B$ (i.e. activity in the IZ was greater than in A or B), but this pattern did not consistently occur for β-glucosidase, NAG and acid phosphatase. Whilst some significant increases in activity did occur at the IZ, the decreases in activity in A and B regions suggest that increased nutrient acquisition does not occur during interactions. This may be due to the rich substrate: other regions do not need to support the interaction zone because nutrients are not limited. NAG is an exo-cleaving enzyme, involved in the final degradation of chitin, and might be expected to increase during interactions in order to hydrolyse competitor cell walls as a source of nitrogen. However, the rich growth medium may make this unnecessary. Endo-cleaving chitinases, however, could function antagonistically and have been shown to increase in activity in some interactions (Lindahl and Finlay, 2006). Production of β-glucosidase may be repressed on malt agar, where there is no cellulose; furthermore, activity of β-glucosidase and NAG in culture extracts may be underestimated because significant amounts of the exo-cleaving enzymes of T. versicolor are mycelium-associated to provide mono- and disaccharides for uptake into hyphae (Valaškova and Baldrian, 2006). Thus although no increases in secreted enzyme activity were detected during interactions, increased production of enzymes involved in nutrient acquisition cannot be excluded.

4.4. Overall, changes in gene expression were not dramatic

Despite the large changes detected in enzyme activity between interacting T. versicolor mycelia and self-pairings, changes in gene expression were not dramatic. This agrees with the microarray data for the T. versicolor A region during interactions, where few targets were up- or down-regulated by more than twofold during interactions (C.A. Eyre et al., unpub'd data). Transcriptional changes are thought to either be relatively minor compared to growth alone, or transient (C.A. Eyre et al., unpub'd data) reflecting the dynamic nature of mycelial responses. However, laccase and peroxidase enzymes are stable in the extracellular environment; high activity can thus be a result of a relatively short period of increased expression, and, with hyphal contact having been established 2 d prior to sampling, this window may have been missed. Also, expression of different isozymes with higher activity may have occurred. Changes in gene expression may also have been missed due to the methodology used.

4.5. Laccase gene expression at 2 d is similar to activity at 8 d in the A and B regions

Whilst RNA extractions were performed on 2 d cultures, the pattern of expression best matched laccase activity from 8 d cultures. In the B region, TvSg is down-regulated compared to TvTv, whereas TvBa and TvHf are the same or higher. In the A region, activity of laccase during the TvSg interaction at 8 d was greater than in TvTv, and this was reflected in slightly higher expression of the transcripts (though not statistically significant). Likewise the enzyme and transcript patterns for TvBa match, though again not fully supported by the statistics. The major difference was between activity in the A region of TvHf at 8 d, which was the same as TvTv, while the expression was elevated. The most striking difference was at the IZ; here the pattern of expression did not resemble activity at 2 or 8 d. Laccase activity increased relative to TvTv in TvSg and TvBa but not TvHf, whereas transcript levels of TvSg and TvBa were not different from TvTv but were higher in TvHf. However, at the IZ interpretation is difficult due to potential contribution from both interacting species, whereas the transcript levels were specific to T. versicolor. A lag between gene expression and enzyme activity is normal and has been reported in interacting cultures of P. ostreatus (Velazquez-Cedeño et al., 2007). Other discrepancies between expression and activity of laccase could be explained by rapid release of laccase from intracellular stores, thus not involving de novo transcription. Dramatic increases in laccase activity, attributable to activation of latent forms, have previously been reported in Lentinula edodes during interaction with Trichoderma sp. (Savoie et al., 1998).

4.6. MRP, not MnP, may be responsible for the detected Mn-oxidation

The increase in MnP activity during interaction differs from previous findings for T. versicolor (Freitag and Morrell, 1992; Baldrian, 2004), but it has been found for several other white rot species (Chi et al., 2007; Ferreira-Gregorio et al., 2007). MnP was detected in all regions of 8 d-old interacting mycelia but not in self-pairings, with activity consistently highest at the IZ, implying a specific role for MnP during interactions. However, there was an apparent lack of MnP gene expression, which was supported by detection of MRP expression, indicating low levels of manganese in the agar which would repress transcription of MnP genes (Collins et al., 1999; Johansson et al., 2002). MRP can function like MnP and LiP, with active sites capable of oxidising veratryl alcohol (LiP), and Mn24 (MnP), similar to the versatile peroxidase (VP) that occurs in a range of species (Ruiz-Dueñas et al., 2009). Whilst MRP has previously been isolated under conditions of Mn-repression, this transcriptional control does not exclude the ability of the enzyme to act like MnP when Mn^{2*} levels are rapidly increased such as in the assay substrate solution (Collins et al., 1999). MRP could thus be responsible for the MnP activity detected in the assays. The LiP-like isozyme LiP7 can also function like both LiP and MnP (Johansson et al., 1993), so could also contribute to the detected MnP activity, and would not have been detected by the LiP primers used

MRP transcript levels resembled more closely patterns of Mnoxidation at 2 d rather than 8 d. In the IZ, MnP activity was elevated in TvSg and TvHf interactions and an increase was also seen in transcripts of MRP, although not statistically significant. The enzyme activity in TvBa at the IZ was less well correlated with the transcripts, which appeared repressed. In the A and B regions, TvSg and TvHf enzyme activities did not differ from TvTv and the same is true for transcript levels. The only significant change in enzyme activity compared to TvTv in the A and B regions was in the TvBa interaction, where activity was higher; transcripts were a little elevated in the B region though again not significantly. This might

indicate a more rapid production of active secreted enzyme from transcripts for MRP compared to laccase.

4.7. Expression of LiP is not reflected in enzyme activity

LiP enzyme activity was not detected during growth alone or during interactions, but LiP gene expression was at measurable levels. Higher expression of LiP compared to TvTv occurred in TvHf in both A and B regions, and in TvBa in the B region (though not fully supported statistically). This might indicate a role for LiP during interactions. The lack of detectable activity was either attributable to low production (as suggested by the high cycle number necessary for RT-PCR), or caused by lower sensitivity of the assay. LiP has not previously been identified in the response to biotic stresses such as interactions (Baldrian, 2004). There is some evidence that, despite its extracellular role, LiP is stored intracellularly, which may explain why expression was detected from whole mycelia whereas there was no detectable secreted activity (Garcia et al., 1987).

4.8. Addition of Mn²⁺ to the medium increased oxidative enzyme production

Mn²⁺ is known to regulate MnP and MRP in T. versicolor, and it also alters the production of laccase (Mikiashvili et al., 2005). On Mn-enriched agar, there was a similar pattern of Mn-oxidation and laccase activity at the interaction zone, implying similar regulation of these enzymes in this region when there is ample Mn²⁺ MnP (rather than MRP) is likely to be the cause of the observed activity due to the abundance of Mn²⁺ in the substrate, but this has not been confirmed by gene expression analysis. At the TvSg and TvHf interaction zones, laccase activity relative to TvTv was much higher during growth on Mn-enriched agar compared to growth on 2% MA, but activity levels were similar in TvBa relative to TvTv on both substrates. This may be caused by different susceptibility of the competitor to Mn2+, or stimulation of laccase production by increased levels of quinone products of MnP activity, to function in their detoxification similar to the suggested role of laccase during lignin decomposition (Solomon et al., 1996; Thurston, 1994). The differences in laccase and MnP activity in the A and B regions of interactions during growth on Mn-enriched agar suggests that whilst the roles of MnP and laccase at the interaction zone may be similar, roles in other areas of the mycelium are not. Abiotic conditions have previously been shown to alter interaction outcomes (Rayner and Boddy, 1988; Boddy, 2000). Here, Mn²⁺ levels changed the outcome of interactions with *H. fasciculare* from replacement of T. versicolor to deadlock. This may have been caused by increased MnP production by T. versicolor, or the effects of Mn^{2+} on other factors. The Mn^{2+} levels used here were 5 to 10 times those in wood or leaf litter (Baldrian et al., 2005), but although not ecologically relevant, this manipulation of enzyme production shows the importance of abiotic conditions on oxidative enzyme production and suggests a possible link between enzyme production and interaction outcome.

5. Conclusions

There were large increases in the activity of laccase and MnP at interaction zones, but, as hypothesised, there were no large changes in activity in other regions of interacting T. versicolor mycelia. However, the hypothesis that laccase production is highest in interactions where T. versicolor is unsuccessful has to be rejected, since interaction outcome did not appear to affect the extent of the increase in laccase or MnP activity at the interaction zone, nor did it appear to affect the pattern of activity in other regions of the T. versicolor mycelia. Overall the small changes in laccase transcript levels compared to large changes in enzyme activity suggest transient changes in gene expression and the accumulation of stable enzymes over time. The lack of MnP gene expression but detection of MnP activity - peroxidase-mediated Mn-oxidation - is likely attributable to MRP, which has similar patterns of expression to the detected activity.

Acknowledgments

Thanks to the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) for provision of a PhD studentship (JAH) and to the the Institutional Research Concept of the Institute of Microbiology of the ASCR, v.v.i. (AV0Z50200510) for their support of PB.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2010.03.007.

References

- Baldrian, P., 2004. Increase of laccase activity during interspecific interactions of white rot fungi. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 50, 245–253. Baldrian, P., Valášková, V., Merhautová, V., Gabriel, J., 2005. Degradation of
- lignocellulose by Pleurotus ostreatus in the presence of copper, manganese, lead and zinc. Res. Microbiol. 156, 670-676.
- Baldrian, P., 2006. Fungal laccases-occurrence and properties. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 30, 215-242.
- Boddy, L. 2000. Interspecific combative interactions between wood-decaying basidiomycetes. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 31, 185–194.
- Bodeker, I.T.M., Nygren, C.M.R., Taylor, A.F.S., Olson, A., Lindahl, B.D., 2009. Class II Boucker, H. M., Hygren, C. M.K., Taylor, A. S., Olson, A., Endani, B.D., 2009. Class in peroxidase-encoding genes are present in a phylogenetically wide range of ectomycorrhizal fungi. ISME J. 3, 1387–1395.
 Bourbonnais, R., Paice, M.G., 1990. Oxidation of non-phenolic substrates. An expanded role for laccase in lignin biodegradation. FEBS Lett. 267, 99–102.
- Chi, Y., Hatakka, A., Maijala, P., 2007. Can co-culturing of two white rot fungi increase lignin degradation and the production of lignin-degrading enzymes? Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad. 59, 32-39.
- Collins, P.J., Kotterman, M.J.J., Field, J.A., Dobson, A.D.W., 1996. Oxidation of anthracene and benzo $[\alpha]$ pyrene by laccases from Trametes versicolor. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62, 4563-4567
- Collins, P.J., O'Brien, M.M., Dobson, A.D.W., 1999. Cloning and characterisation of a cDNA encoding a novel extracellular peroxidase from Trametes versicolor. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 1343-1347.
- Vries, O.M.H., Kooistra, W.H.C.F., Wessels, J.G.H., 1986. Formation of an extracellular laccase by a Schizophyllum commune dikaryon. J. Gen. Microbiol. 132, 2817-2826.
- Ferreira-Gregorio, A.P., da Silva, I.R., Sedarati, M.R., Hedger, J.N., 2007. Changes in production of lignin degrading enzymes during interactions between mycelia of the tropical decomposer basidiomycetes Marasmiellus troyanus and Marasmius pallescens. Mycol. Res. 110, 161-168.
- Fink-Boots, M., Malarczyk, E., Leonowicz, A., 1999. Increased enzymatic activities and levels of superoxide anion and phenolic compounds in cultures of basidiomycetes after temperature stress. Acta Biotechnol. 19, 319–330.
- Freitag, M., Morrell, J.J., 1992. Changes in selected enzyme activities during growth of pure and mixed cultures of the white-rot decay fungus Trametes versicolor and the potential biocontrol fungus Trichoderma harzianum. Can. J. Microbiol. 38, 317-323.
- Garcia, S., Latge, J.P., Prevost, M.C., Leisola, M., 1987. Wood degradation by white rot
- Garcia, S., Large, J.F., Prevost, M.C., Desona, M., 1987. Wood degradation by white for fungi: cytochemical studies using lignin peroxidase-immunoglobulin-gold complexes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 53, 2384–2387.
 Griffith, G.S., Rayner, A.D.M., Wildman, H.G., 1994. Interspecific interactions, mycelial morphogenesis and extracellular metabolite production in *Phlebia*
- radiata (Aphyllophorales). Nova Hedwigia 59, 331–344. Henson, J.M., Butler, M.J., Day, A.W., 1999. The dark side of the mycelium: melanins of phytopathogenic fungi. Ann. Rev. Phytopathol. 37, 447–471.
- Hofrichter, M., 2002. Review: lignin conversion by manganese peroxidase (MnP). Enzyme Microb. Technol. 30, 454–466.
 Iakovlev, A., Stenlid, J., 2000. Spatiotemporal patterns of laccase activity in
- interacting mycelia of wood-decaying basidiomycete fungi. Microb. Ecol. 39, 236-245
- lakovlev, A., Olson, A., Elfstrand, M., Stenlid, J., 2004. Differential gene expression during interactions between Heterobasidion annosum and Physisporinus sanguinolentus. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 241, 79–85. Jaszek, M., Grzywnowicz, K., Malarczyk, E., Leonowicz, A., 2006. Enhanced
- extracellular laccase activity as a part of the response system of white rot fungi Trametes versicolor and Abortiporus biennis to paraquat-caused oxidative stress conditions. Pestic. Biochem. Physiol. 85, 147-154.

- Johansson, T., Welinder, K.G., Nyman, P.O., 1993. Isozymes of lignin peroxidase and manganese(II) peroxidase from the white-rot basiliomycete Trametes versicolor. II. Partial sequences, peptide maps, and amino acid and
- carbohydrate compositions. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 300, 57–62. Johansson, T., Nyman, P.O., Cullen, D., 2002. Differential regulation of *mnp2*, a new manganese peroxidase-encoding gene from the ligninolytic fungus Trametes
- versicolor PRL572. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2077-2080. Lindahl, B.D., Finlay, R.D., 2006. Activities of chitinolytic enzymes during primary and secondary colonisation of wood by basidiomycetes. New Phytol. 169, 389-397
- Leonowicz, A., Cho, N.S., Luterek, J., Wilkolazka, A., Wujtas-Wasilewska, M., Matuszewska, A., Hofrichter, M., Wesenberg, D., Rogalski, J., 2001. Fungal laccase: properties and activity on lignin. J. Basic Microbiol. 41, 185-227.
- Martinez, A.T., 2002. Molecular biology and structure-function of lignin-degrading heme peroxidases. Enzyme Microb. Technol, 30, 425-444.
- Martinez, A.T., Speranza, M., Ruiz-Duenas, F.J., Ferreira, P., Camarero, S., Guillen, F., Martinez, M.J., Gutierrez, A., del Rio, J.C., 2005. Biodegradation of lignocellulosics: microbial chemical, and enzymatic aspects of the fungal attack of lignin. Int. Microbiol. 8, 195-204.
- Mayer, A.M., Staples, R.C., 2002. Laccase: new functions for an old enzyme. Phytochemistry 60, 551–565.
- Mikiashvili, N., Elisashvili, V., Wasser, S., Nevo, E., 2005. Carbon and nitrogen sources influence the ligninolytic enzyme activity of *Trametes versicolor*. Biotechnol. Lett. 27, 955-959.
- Morgenstern, I., Klopman, S., Hibbett, D., 2008. Molecular evolution and diversity of lignin degrading heme peroxidases in the Agaricomycetes: J. Mol. Evol. 66, 243-257
- Ngo, T.T., Lenhoff, H.M., 1980. A sensitive and versatile chromogenic assay for peroxidase and peroxidase-coupled reactions. Anal. Biochem. 105, 389–397.
 Orchard, C.B., Siciliano, I., Sorrell, A.D., Marchbank, A., Rogers, H.J., Francis, D., Herbert, R.J., Suchomelova, P., Lipavska, H., Azmi, A., van Onckelen, H., 2005. Tobacco BY-2 cells expressing fission yeast cdc25 bypass a G2/M block on the cell oxida Planet 144, 200, 200 cell cycle. Plant J. 44, 290-299.
- Owens, E.M., Reddy, C.A., Grethlein, H.E., 1994. Outcome of interspecific interactions among brown-rot and white-rot wood decay fungi. FEMIS Microbiol. Ecol. 14, 19-24
- Parfitt, D., Hynes, J., Rogers, H.J., Boddy, L., 2005. Development of a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay for the specific detection of the rare Creolophus cirrhatus and other tooth fungi in wood. Mycol. Res. 109. 1187–1194. Patil, R.S., Ghormande, V., Deshpande, M.V., 2000. Chitinolytic enzymes: an
- exploration. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 26, 473-483.
- Peiris, D., 2009. Interspecific Interactions Between Decomposer Fungi, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Westminster.
- Price, A.M., Aros Orellana, D.F., Mohd Salleh, F., Stevens, R., Acock, R., Buchanan-Wollanston, V., Stead, A.D., Rogers, H.J., 2008. A comparison of leaf and petal senescence in wallflowers (Erysimum linifolium) reveals «ommon and distinct patterns of gene expression and physiology. Plant Physiol. 147, 1898-1912.
- Rayner, A.D.M., Boddy, L., 1988. Fungal Decomposition of Wood: Its Biology and Ecology. Wiley, Chichester, UK. Rayner, A.D.M., Griffith, G.S., Wildman, H.G., 1994. Induction of metabolic and
- morphogenetic changes during mycelial interactions among species of higher fungi. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 22, 389-395.

- Reyes, F., Villanueva, P., Alfonso, C., 1990. Comparative study of acid alkaline phosphatase during the autolysis of filamentous fungi. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 10,
- Ruiz-Dueñas, F.J., Morales, M., Miki, Y., García, E., Martínez, M.J., Martínez, A.T., 2009. Substrate oxidation sites in versatile peroxidase and other basidiomycete peroxidases. J. Exp. Bot. 60, 441-452.
- Savoie, J.M., Mata, G., Billette, C., 1998. Extracellular laccase production during hyphal interactions between *Trichoderma* sp. And Shiitake, *Lentinula edodes*. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 49, 589–593.
- Savoie, J.M., Mata, G., 1999. The antagonistic action of Trichoderma sp. Hyphae to Lentinula edodes hyphae changes lignocellulolytic activities during cultivation in wheat straw. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 15, 369–373. Score, A.J., Palfreyman, J.W., White, N.A., 1997. Extracellular phenoloxidase and
- peroxidase enzyme production during interspecific fungal interactions. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad. 39, 225-233.
- Silar, P., 2005. Peroxide accumulation and cell death in filamentous fungi induced by contact with a contestant. Mycol. Res. 109, 137-149.
- Smit, E., Leeflang, P., Glandorf, B., van Elsas, J.D., Wernars, K., 1999. Analysis of fungal diversity in the wheat rhizosphere by sequencing of cloned PCR-amplified genes encoding 18S rRNA and temperature gradient gel
- electrophoresis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 2614–2621. Solomon, E.I., Sundaram, U.M., Machonkin, T.E., 1996. Multicopper oxidases and oxygenases. Chem. Rev. 96, 2563–2605.
- K.T., Hofrichter, M., Hatakka, A., 2000. Mineralisation of ¹⁴C-labelled synthetic lignin and ligninolytic enzyme activities of litter-decomposing basidiomycetous fungi. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 54, 819–825.
- Thurston, C.F., 1994. The structure and function of fungal laccases. Microbiology 140, 19-26.
- Tornberg, K., Olsson, S., 2002. Detection of hydroxyl radicals produced by wood-decomposing fungi. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 40, 13–20.
- Valášková, V., Baldrian, P., 2006. Estimation of bound and free fractions of Ingnocellulose-degrading enzymes of wood-rotting fungi Pleurotus ostreatus, Trametes versicolor and Piptoporus betulinus. Res. Microbiol. 157, 119–124.
- Valášková, V., Šnajdr, J., Bittner, B., Cajthaml, T., Merhautová, V., Hofrichter, M., Baldrian, P., 2007. Production of lignocellulose-degrading enzymes and degradation of leaf litter by saprotrophic basidiomycetes isolated from a
- Quercus petraea forest. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39, 2651–2660. Velåzquez-Cedeño, M., Farnet, A.M., Billette, C., Mata, G., Savoie, J.M., 2007. Interspecific interactions with *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* induce *Pleurotus* ostreatus defence reactions based on the production of laccase isozymes. Biotech. Lett. 29, 1583-1590.
- Wagstaff, C., Chanasut, U., Harren, F.J.M., Laarhoven, L., Thomas, B., Rogers, H.J., Stead, A.D., 2005. Ethylene and flower longevity in *Alstroemeria*: relationship between tepal senescence, abscission and ethylene biosynthesis. J. Exp. Bot. 56, 1007-1016.
- White, N.A., Boddy, L., 1992. Extracellular enzyme localisation during interspecific interactions. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 98, 75-80.
- Woodward, S., Boddy, L., 2008. Interactions between saprotrophic fungi. In: Boddy, L, Frankland, J.C., van West, P. (Eds.), Ecology of Saprotrophic Basidiomycetes. Academic Press, UK, pp. 125-141.



Please cite this article in press as: Hiscox, J., et al. Changes in oxidative enzyme activity during interspecific mycelial interactions involving the white-rot fungus Trametes versicolor. Fungal Genet. Biol. (2010), doi:10.1016/j.fgb.2010.03.007

10